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At the core of Acacia are excellent assets and great people and, while we
continue to work through the uncertain operating environment, we maintain a
strong focus over what we can control.

We have demonstrated our commitment to manage the business, develop our people and build long-term partnerships with our local communities,
governments and other key stakeholders.

Operating performance

SEE PAGE 36

Exploration and development

SEE PAGE 44

Strong cost discipline

SEE PAGE 50

Sustainability and partnerships

SEE PAGE 56

Acacia is one of the largest gold producers in Africa. We have three mines, all located in north-west Tanzania, and a portfolio of exploration projects
across the continent.



Highlights

Over the past year Acacia has successfully stabilised the business with a focus
on optimising operational performance. At the same time, we have continued to
demonstrate our long-term commitment to the development of Tanzania, its
people and its mining industry.

For more information, visit our website www.acaciamining.com

Financial highlights

Revenue

US$664m

2017: USE752m

Cash position

UsS$130m

2017: USS81m

EBITDA

US$226m*

2017: US5257m

Net earnings

US$59m

2017; (USS707m)

Operational highlights

Gold production

521,9800z

2017: 76788 oz

Cash cost

US$680/0z*

2017: US$587/0z

All-in sustaining cost ("AISC")

US$905/o0z*

2017: US$87502

Sustainability highlights
Sustainable Communities investment

UsS$8.8m*

2017: US$8.2m

Localisation of workforce

96.2%*

2017:96.2%

Total Reportable Injury Frequency Rate (“TRIFR")

0.19*

2017:0.45



Where we operate - Tanzania

Gold Doré Production 2018
1. North Mara

336,0550z

2. Buzwagi

145,4400z

3. Bulyanhulu

40,4850z

Concentrate Stockpile

185,8000z

of gold

12.1mlbs

of copper

158,90002z

of silver

Valued at

US$247m

at average 2018 spot metal prices

* Non-IFRS measures are defined in the Glossary of Terms on page 182




Delivering economic growth

Acacia is a major contributor to economic growth in Tanzania and supports the
country’s socioeconomic advancement in line with the Government’s
Development Vision 2025. Our financial contributions include royalties, taxes,
employee salaries, payments to suppliers and contractors, as well as investment
in our local communities.

US$3bn

In total we have spent over US$3 billion with Tanzanian suppliers to support our businesses since inception

10%

Acacia plans to increase its annual spend with Tanzanian-owned suppliers by 10% to US$140m by mid-2019

US$92.5m

Total investment in Tanzania in 2018

US$4.0billion

Acacia and its predecessor companhies have made over US$4 billion of capital investment in Tanzania over the past 15 years

US$1.3billion

Acacia has paid a total of over US$1.3 billion in taxes and royalties in Tanzania

US$441m

Acacia’s contribution to the Tanzanian economy in 2018 through suppliers, employees and taxes

US$273m

The amount Acacia spent with suppliers based in Tanzania in 2018

US$127m

The amount Acacia contributed in taxes and royalties to the Tanzanian Government in 2018

Last 11 years’ annual tax contributions to Tanzania '?
(US$million)

1. Inckides rayatties, comporate tax, payrol! tax, withtholding tax, import duties, and fue! and loca! levies.
2. Unaudited



Case study

Growing our Local Supply Chain

Our investment and operations in Tanzania open up unique opportunities for local industry and suppliers to establish and grow businesses while
also contributing to economic growth in the regions around our mines.

With this in mind, we have progressed a number of strategies within our Supply Chain function with the goal of further increasing our annual spend on goods
and services with suppliers based in Tanzania. As part of this we plan to increase our annual spend specifically with Tanzanian-owned businesses to
approximately US$140 million by mid-2019.

At all three of our sites we aim to support local businesses which have the opportunity to bid for valuable tenders at the mine. Hajoka Intemational is a Tanzanian
contractor based near our Buzwagi mine in the Shinyanga region and the company has benefitted significantly in recent years from contracts it has won with the
mine. The company was founded just five years ago and has quickly grown to be one of the region’s largest general contractors, winning tenders with Acacia
worth US$1.1 million in 2018 for services such as construction and facilities management.

Johansen Kajuna, Hajoka’s founder and managing director, recalls that the company received its big break in 2014 when he won a tender to manage
facilities at the Buzwagi mine. Since then the business has provided empleyment to around 300 staff and its revenue from contracts with Acacia has grown to
more than US$3 million.

“Acacia has had a huge impact towards the growth of our company,” Mr Kajuna explains. “Their business has helped us gain expertise and increase our
capital to source world-class equipment and expand our operations. | feel honoured that our growth has not only benefited us but also had a positive
impact in our communities and economy at large.”



Building a lasting legacy
From our in-house training programmes to our partnerships with leading

universities in Dar es Salaam, Acacia has always invested in people to shape the
future of Tanzania’s mining industry.

96.2%

A total of 96 2% of our employees are Tanzanian Nationals

100

At least 100 Tanzanian students enrolled in mining-related studies benefit from work and training at our mine sites each year

198

A total of 198 employees graduated from Acacia’s flagship "Rainbow" training programme in 2018

87.5%

We have reduced the number of international employees by 87.5% in the last six years

303

A total of 303 of our people have completed our Rainbow Leadership Programme since 2016

Investment in Tanzanian Talent

We are delivering tailored professional training programmes for our staff in an effort to create tomorrow’s leaders in the mining industry as we transition
key business support functions to Tanzania by mid-2019,

Case study

Cultivating the Leaders of Tomorrow in Tanzania’s
Mining Industry

In 2018 a total of 198 of our staff members graduated from the company’s Rainbow Leadership Development Programme, our flagship
professional development training course within Acacia.

The tatest graduations ook place as the Company progressed plans to transition key business functions in support of our Tanzanian operations — such as
Supply Chain, Sales and Payroll — into Tanzania.

“Rainbow” is a six-month programme that develops talent ameng staff in first-level management roles and forms part of our long-term strategy where we aim to
have our Tanzanian assets being led and operated by Tanzanian employees. Various company training programmes have enabled the business to reduce its
intermational workforce by 87.5% over the last six years. As of 31 December 2018, 96.2% of Acacia's employees were Tanzanian nationals.

"As Tanzania progresses its industrialisation agenda, Rainbow and other professional training programmes delivered by Acacia provide a crucial platform for
our Tanzanian employees to progress within the Company but also enable them to contribute more widely to the country's economic growth and
development goals,” Janet Reuben-Lekashingo, Acacia’s General Manager for Organisational Effectiveness, said.

At the same time we continue to advance our integrated Mining Technical Training (IMTT) programme. This Is an intensive vocatiortal course that ensures
young apprentices are equipped with the right skills, training and qualifications before they begin their careers in mining or other similar industries.

Over the last ten years the Company has invested in excess of US$1.4 million across its three mines — North Mara, Bulyanhulu and Buzwagi — to train
more than 380 apprentices. Tanzania’s minister for education, Professor Joyce Ndalichako, praised our IMTT offering and its alignment with the national
development agenda saying, “This programme serves to uplift training standards to produce highly skilled artisans in Tanzania, competent enough to
work in any mining or manufacturing operation.”

US$1.4m

Acacia has invested US$1.4m in training Tanzanian apprentices in the mining industry

70%

Around 70% of our management positions are held by Tanzanians




Creating a social impact

It is key for us to be a responsible and committed partner. We are proactive in
our partnerships and aim to add further value through investment in education,
health and infrastructure.

US$5.5m

We have invested US3$5.5m over the last seven years in improving the quality of healthcare available to our communities

38%

Approximately 38% of our Sustainable Communities investment over the last five years has been in education

150,000

In 2018 our Sustainable Communities projects positively impacted over 150,000 Tanzanians

US$92million

Our strategic social investment in the communities around our mines since 2010

US$8.8million

Our strategic social investment in 2018

Case study
Teacher Training Delivers Education Boost in Tarime
District

During the year, Acacia continued its support for the advancement of Tanzania’s education sector and the needs of schools in the communities
around our mines. In August, cour North Mara mine supported training for more than 240 primary and secondary teachers in the surrounding
Tarime district.

Participants in the three-day programme learnt important skills to help improve teaching standards in core subjects such as Mathematics, Science and
English Language. The teachers were also given training on how to improve lesson plans and provide effective learning aids to pupils.

The Assistant Secretary of the Tarime District Council Teacher's Service Commission, Julius Christopher Agutu, expressed his thanks to North Mara for the teacher
fraining inttiative stating that he was opfimistic that it would, “Help bridge the missing link between the already available infrastructure and academic performance.”

The teacher training programme has followed on the back of our support for the renovation and construction of several schools and educational facilities in
our local communities over the last six years. Between 2012 and 2018 our North Mara mine invested more than US$12 million (around TZS 28.6 billion} in
building vital educational infrastructure including classrooms, science laboratories, teachers’ houses, and librares.

In line with our social investment strategy the mine now seeks to add value to such public facilities by helping to deliver improvements in the delivery of
teaching and schooling while also developing a culture of learning that lends itself to academic achievement.

Case study

Investing in Local Healthcare for our Communities at
North Mara

We completed the construction and renovation of the Nyamwaga Health Centre in April 2018 and the facility now plays a critical role in the
delivery of health care services in the Tarime district.

The rencvation included a range of new medical facilities such as a surgical theatre, mortuary, matemity ward, consultation rooms and a drugs dispensary,
all of which now benefit around 75,000 residents in the North Mara area. The new health centre also boasts its own staff housing and sanitary facilities.

Since its renovation — at a cost of over US$600,000 — the health centre can treat 60% more patients than before (800 each month) thanks to the wider
availability of services. The facility has also reduced the distance people have to travel to access health services to a maximum of five kilometres.

60%

Acacia’s investment in the Nyamwaga Health Centre means it can treat 60% more patients



CEO STATEMENT

Strong operational performance
and commitment to Tanzania

“l am pleased to report that during 2018 we successfully stabilised the business with our focus
on operational performance across all three mines. We achieved gold production of 521,980
ounces for the year, substantially ahead of our initial 2018 production guidance of 435,000 to
475,000 ounces, and we maintained a strong cost discipline, achieving an all-in sustaining cost of
US$905 per ounce soid, well below the full year guidance range of US$935 to US$985 per ounce.

Al the same time, we continued to demonstrate our long-term commitment to Tanzania, its mining industry and our communities, contributing over
UsS$127 million in taxes and royalties, spending over US$273 million with local suppliers in Tanzania, maintaining a rate of 96.2% local employees and
investing US$8.8 mitlion in our Sustainable Communities strategy to improve the lives of thase living near our mine sitgs.”

Peter Geleta Interim Chiaf Executive QOfficer

Gold production 2018

521,980
ounces produced

All-in sustaining cost 2018

US$905

per ounce soid

Our commitrent to Tanzania 2018

US$127m

paid in taxes and royalties

US$273m

spent with suppliers based in Tanzania

96.2%

national employees

US$8.8m

invested in our Sustainable Communities strategy

“During 2018 Acacia continued its US$1 million investment in the Bugarama
Health Centre near Bulyanhulu and supported the construction of a surgical
theatre, general and specialised maternity wards, an outpatient department and
mortuary facilities. The health centre currently provides care for 60,000 people
living in the 14 villages in Kakola and its surrounding areas.”

During 2018, we successhllly stabilised the business, delivering a strong operational performance across all three mines and returmning the Company to free
cash flow generation in the second quarter which was then sustained throughout the second half of the year.

Despite an increasingly challenging operating environment the Company was able to achieve gold production of 521,980 ounces in 2018, substantially ahead
of the initial production guidance of 435,000 to 475,000 ounces for the year. We maintained a strong cost discipline across the group achieving an all-in



sustaining cost of US$905 per ounce sold, well below the full-year guidance range of US$935 to US$985 per ounce. At the same time our cash balance
increased by US$50 million to US$130 million due to the strong operational performance and the sale of a non-core royalty for US$45 million to end the year
with a net cash balance of US$88 million. This compares favourably to 2017 when the cash balance fell frorm US$318 million to US$81 million and net cash
balance to US$8 million at year-end, due to lost revenue resulting from the concentrate ban and a gross build-up of VAT receivables of US$91 millien. These
achievements are a testament to the sheer resilience, hard work and determination of all of our people within the Acacia Group.

Cur North Mara mine continued to perform well, achieving full-year gold production of 336,055 ounces, 4% higher than 2017, and benefited from the higher-
grade ore received from the eastem part of the Nyabirama open pit. All-in sustaining cost {(*AISC"} of US$866 per ounce sold was 8% higher than 2017,
primarily due to higher cash costs and sustaining capital investrments. We achieved full-year gold production at our Buzwagi mine of 145,440 ounces which,
although 46% lower than in 2017, was ahead of expectations due to the extended mining of the final cut of the higher-grade ore at the bottom of the pit and
switchbacks, combined with the better than expected performance of the processing plant with improved throughput and recoveries. AISC per ounce sold of
US$977 was 46% higher than 2017, mainly driven by the transition to processing lower grade stockpiles which drove higher cash costs. Our Bulyanhulu
mine remained on reduced operations throughout the year but was able to achieve gold production of 40,485 ounces from the retreatment of tailings. AISC
per ounce sold of LUS$786 was 43% lower than 2017 driven by reduced operating and capital spend, partly offset by the lower production base.

The operating environment became increasingly challenging for Acacia last year, culminating in October 2018 when criminal chargas were brought by the
Government of Tanzania (“GoT") against the Group’s operating subsidiaries in Tanzania and three current Acacia employees and a former employee. Each
of the companies and the three current employees and the former employee deny the allegations and are defending all charges. Three of those charged
continue to be held in jail under non-ballable offences.

During 2018, Acacia paid a total of US$127 million in taxes and royalties in our host country of Tanzania. We also continued to invest in our Sustainable
Communities Strategy with the aim of contributing to the development of “sustainable communities” around our mines in order that they enjoy a thriving local
economy, have access to social infrastructure and live in a safe and inclusive environment in line with the Tanzania Development Vision 2025 as well as the
United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals. To this end, during the year Acacia continued its US$1 million investment in the Bugarama Heatlth Centre
near Bulyanhulu, while construction began on a 55-kilometre pipeline to carry water from Lake Victoria to 60,000 residents in the Lake Zone which is due to be
completed in mid-2019. Construction of the Nyamwaga Heaith Centre at North Mara was compieted in Aprit 2018 while, at Buzwagi, we also began the
development and implementation of a three-year US$1.1 million agricuttural improvement project in partnership with Farm Concem Intemational.

One of the key focus areas at Acacia over the last six years has been the implementation of our Tanzanian localisation strategy. In 2018 we progressed a
number of strategies within our Supply Chain function with a view to further increasing our annual spend with Tanzanian-owned businesses to reach the goal
of US$140 million by mid-2019. We have also continued to focus on reducing the number of international employees and contractors within our business and
ensuring that our Tanzanian assets are increasingly led and operated by Tanzanian employees.

Looking ahead to 2019, we were highly encouraged by the provisional cutcomes of the Bulyanhulu optimisation study. Assuming a resolution of our disputes
with the GoT, the ability to economically produce and sell gold concentrate, and a successful resumption of underground mining operations, the provisional
outcomes of the study indicated that further capital investment of around US$120 to US$140 million could deliver an expected life of mine of 18 years with an
average steady-state production rate of 300,000 to 350,000 ounces per year at an AISC of US$700 to US$750 per ounce. This is subject to further detailed
work on cost estimates and a project schedule. We anticipate a pre-production start-up period of 12-18 months until first gold production followed by
approximately two years to ramp up to full preduction from the underground mine.

A final decision to resume underground mining operations and make necessary further capital investments would be dependent on achieving a
comprehensive settlement with the GoT.

The Group's Mineral Reserves decreased from 7.5Moz to 5.2Moz of contained gold during the year with Measured and Indicated Exclusive Mineral
Resources decreasing from 7.7Moz to 5.6Moz and Inferred Mineral Resources decreasing from 12.2Moz to 10.1Moz. This was primarily driven by the
provisional outcomes of the optimisation study conducted at Bulyanhulu in conjunction with a comprehensive review of the geological and resource models
including applying tighter drill spacings and enhanced stope-optirmisation techniques. A focused drilling programme has been designed in conjunction with
the optimisation study, targeting the higher value zones and planned to commence after a decision to resume underground mining operations. Given the
demonstrated continuity of economic mineralisation in the main Reef 1 shoot, that the Deep West is an extension of, there is a high level of confidence that
the planned drilling programme will convert Mineral Resources to Mineral Reserves and mineralised inventory to Mineral Resources.

Safety

Safety performance during 2018 demonstrated significant progress on the previous year. The Company recorded a group-wide Total Recordable Injury
Frequency Rate (‘TRIFR’} of 0.19, compared to 0.45in 2017, a 58% improvement. There was a significant reduction in the number of recordable injuries
from 45 in 2017 to 13 in 2018. The number of Lost Time Injuries {LT1) also decreased from 18 in 2017 to four in 2018, a 78% improvement, while the severity
of injuries decreased by 46%.

However, regrettably, on 11 June 2018, Sadock Crispin Tindahenile, an operator for one of our contractors at North Mara, passed away as a result of an
accident which involved a reversing vehicle at the Gokona deposit. We completed an investigation into the incident and have implemented the relevant
recommendations at all our operations. We continue to target zero injuries and remain committed to every person going home safely every day.

Update on Discussions between-Barrick Gold Corporation (“Barrick”) and the GoT

Barrick and the GoT continued their discussions through 2018 and into 2019 aimed at agreeing and documenting the details of the proposed framework they
announced in 2017. Acacia has continued to provide support to Barrick in its discussions with the GoT, but has not been directly involved in those discussions
to date. On 20 February 20189 the Company noted further announcements by the GoT and by Barrick regarding their direct discussions, but has not yet
received a detailed proposal agreed in principle between Barrick and the GoT for a comprehensive resolution of Acacia’s disputes with the GoT. Acacia
continues to engage with Barrick to understand Bamrick's plans for the next steps in its direct discussions with the GoT.

Any proposal received by Acacia in the future for a comprehensive resolution of the Company's disputes with the GoT that might be agreed in principle

between Barrick and the GoT as a result of their direct discussions will be subject to review by the Independent Committee of the Acacia Board of Directors
and, if recommended by the Independent Committee of the Board, would be put to a shareholder vote.

Operating Environment

In 2018, and particularly during the final quarter of the year, the operating environment became increasingly challenging for Acacia with criminal charges
brought by the GoT against three group companies as well as three current Acacia employees and a former employee, three of whom continue to be held
under non-bailable offences. All of the allegations made by the GoT are denied and the charges are being defended.



On 10 October 2018, one of the Group’s employees in Tanzania, a South African national, was charged by the Tanzanian Prevention and Combating of
Corruption Bureau (“PCCB") with an offence under the Tanzanian Prevention and Combating of Corruption Act. The employee pleaded not guilty and was
granted bail. The charges related to the historical activities of a Land Task Force conceived and agreed between the GoT and Norih Mara Gold Mine Limited
(“NMGML") in 2012 to create a transparent, safe, fair and inclusive process for valuing land that might be purchased by agreement around the North Mara
mine, and which operated between 2013 and 2015.

Laler in October 2018, two current and one former employee of the Company's Tanzanian businesses, together with three individual companies, were
charged by the PCCB with a number of different offences, including breaches of the Tanzanian Anti-Money Laundering Act. A tota! of 3% charges were
brought, either against the current and former employees and/or against one or more of the Company’s operating subsidiaries in Tanzania, Pangea Minerals
Limited (“PML"), Bulyanhulu Gold Mine Limited (“BGML"} and NMGML, as well as a Canadian company, Explorations Miniéres du Nord Ltd. The Company
notes with concern that under Tanzanian law, offences under the Anti-Meney Laundering Act are not bailable, and, accordingiy, two current and one former
employee remain detained without bail.

The majerity of the 39 charges and allegations brought by the PCCB appear to relate to the historical structuring and financing of PML, BGML and NMGML
dating back as far as 2008, prior to the creation of the Acacia Group. The charges are wide-ranging and include: tax evasion; conspiracy; a charge under
organised crime legislation; forgery; money laundering and comuption.

The GoT has sought to introduce the great majority of the allegations made in the criminal proceedings into the arbitration commenced by BGML and PML in
July 2017 regarding their disputes with the GoT under their respective Mineral Development Agreements, which are progressing towards a hearing and in
which the GoT are fully participating.

In addition, on 17 December 2018 the Company issued a news release noting media speculation claiming a UK Serious Fraud Office (“SFO”) investigation
into the Company. The Company confirmed that it was not aware that the SFO was investigating the Company, but that the Company had been in coritact
with the SFQO about the allegations of corrupt activities which are the subject of criminal proceedings in Tanzania. This position remains unchanged. The
Company has provided information to the SFO and will continue to do so, but has not been notified that the SFO has commenced a criminal investigation.

Post year-end an 10 January 20189, the North Mara mine received an Enviranmenta! Protection Order (“EPC’) from the National Environment Managerment
Council (*"NEMC”} requiring payment of a fine of US$130,000 in relation to alleged breaches of environmental regulations in Tanzania. NEMC’s reported
findings allege discharges of a hazardous substance at the North Mara mine. The mine has still not received any supporting reports, findings or testing data
in relation to the matters set out in the EPO and continues to assess the technical basis of the akeged non-compliances. The mine is also awaiting NEMC's
detailed reports, findings and testing data in relation to the allegations but is not aware of any such discharge. Acacia believes that the reports and
allegations relate to seepage from the Taifings Storage Facility (‘“TSF™), an issue well known to the Company and the GoT. This seepage is being managed
by pumps which retumn the water to the TSF and it is, therefore, contained on the mine site, does not flow into the surrounding environment or present a risk
of contamination to any public water source. Pending further factual dlarification from the GOT and NEMC, however, and to dispose of all regulatory or other
legal action, NMGML decided to pay the fine.

At the same time, the GoT also issued a directive to the North Mara mine to construct a new TSF. The mine had already recognised the need for additional
tailings management and storage capacity to meet its life of mine plans. The mine is working with the GoT on detailed plans and project schedules for the
construction of a new facility. Acacia expects that a new TSF is likely to be an economically viable alternative to further expansions of the existing TSF at
North Mara.

On 8 March 2019 the GoT directed the North Mara mine to resolve an incident that had resulted in the spillage of water into the local environment. The
spillage resulted from a security incident in which sections of the pipe used to transport water from the polishing pond to the TSF were either vandalised or
stolen. The incident led to the switching off of the pump used to tfransport water to the TSF, and the water level in the polishing pond subsequently
overflowed. Following North Mara mine’s remedial actions, the temporary overspill from the pond was stopped. North Mara mine welcomed the support of
the GoT on resalving the issue, and is working closely with the authorities to implement improvements to security measures around the polishing pond in
order to help prevent any reoccurrence. The North Mara mine’s technical team continues to work with the GoT within an agreed timeframe to address their
concems regarding seepage from the TSF and has undertaken to manage all seepage through the use of additional pumps and construction of other
containment facilities to return any seepage o the TSF and ensure it is confined to the mine site. All seepage is contained on the site, does not flow into the
surrounding environment or present a risk of contamination to any public water source. Operations at the North Mara mine remain unaffected.

Internationat Arbitration

A negotiated resolution remains the preferred outcome to the Company's ongeing disputes with the GoT. In 2017, BGML, the owner and operator of the
Bulyanhulu mine, and PML, the owner and operator of the Buzwagi mine each referred their current disputes with the GoT to arbitration in accordance with
the dispute resclution processes agreed by the GoT in its Mine Development Agreements with BGML and PML. The commencement of arbitration by BGML
and PML was necessary to protect their respective rights and interests and to promote a sustainable resolution of disputes.

These contractual arbitration processes have continued through 2018 and into 2019, with a number of necessary procedural steps and with the GoT fully
participating, including service of its defence in October 2018. Most of the criminal charges brought by the Government against Group companies and the
Group's current and former employees to date relate to matters which the Government has sought to introduce into these existing contractual arbitrations
with the GaT. The international arbitration claims are progressing. The hearings are scheduled for the beginning of the third quarier of 2019 and we expect
the Tribunal’s findings to follow in the later stages of the year.

Contribution to Tanzania

We remain committed to paying all applicable taxes and royalties to the Tanzanian Revenue Autharity as well as to supporting efforts towards the country’s
socioeconomic advancement, including the realisation of the Government’s Development Vision 2025, Since the inceplion of its businesses, cver 15 years

ago, the Group and its predecessors have invested over US$4 billion to build and sustain its mines and paid over US$1.3 billion in taxes and royalties. We

have also spent over US$3 billion with Tanzanian suppliers to support the operation of our businesses and, since 2010, invested over US$92 million in our

communities.

During 2018 alone, Acacia paid a total of US$127 million in taxes and royalties to the GoT. This comprised provisional and final corporate tax payments for the
year of US$42 million, royalties of US$51 million, payroll taxes of US$24 million and other taxes of US$10 million.

Acacia’s Sustainable Communities Strategy aims to contribute to the development of “sustainable communities” around our mines in order that they enjoy a
thriving local economy, have access to social infrastructure and five in a safe and inclusive environment achieved through strong and transparent
relationships with our businesses. The strategy focuses on education, health, water, roads, energy, and various economic development activities and is
aligned with the Tanzania Development Vision 2025 as well as the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals.



During 2018 Acacia continued its US$1 million investment in the Bugarama Health Cenire near Bulyanhulu and supported the construction of a surgical
theatre, general and specialised maternity wards, an outpatient department, and mertuary facilities. The health centre currently provides care for 60,000 people
living in the 14 villages in Kakola and its surrounding areas. Upon completion in 2018, the centre could, petentially, be designated as a district referral facility
and would then cater for over 60,000 peopie in the wider district.

At North Mara the construction of the Nyamwaga Health Centre was completed in Aprif 2018. The cenfre includes critical medical infrastructure including a
surgical theatre, pharmacy and a matermity ward, as well as staff housing and rainwater harvesting tanks. Since its renovation, the health centre can treat 60%
more patients (800 each month) thanks to the wider availability of services. Besides the development of crucial infrastructure, North Mara conducted its annual
eye screening initiative which has seen over 3,000 patients tested annually and the distribution of free spectacles. During the year North Mara also partnered
with the Medical Women Asscciation of Tanzania {MEWATA) for breast and cervical cancer awareness and testing reaching over 1,200 women.

At Bulyanhulu, construction began on a §5-kilometre pipeline to carry water from Lake Victoria to 60,000 residents in the Lake Zone. Under the Joint Water
Project Partnership (JWPP) with the GoT, the Company is investing around US$2 million to help provide vital water supply and sanitation services to local
communities. The pipeline will pass through 14 villages located in the vicinity of the mine and is scheduled to be completed in mid-2019.

At Buzwagi, we began the development and implementation of a three-year US$1.1 million agricultural improvement project in partnership with Farm
Concern International. Agriculture is an important economic mainstay for our local communities around Buzwagi and the project seeks to substantially
increase farmers’ incomes through greater preductivity and improved links to market.

An independent report released by Emst and Young last year based on 2017 unaudited financial information demonstrated the significant contribution that Acacia’s
three mines continue to make to Tanzania’s economy as well as the country’s broader social development. The report concluded that in 2017 Acacia confributed
US$712 million to the national economy. The 2017 contribution comprised US$200 million from our businesses, an indirect contribution via suppliers of

US$304 million and induced contributions of US$208 miillion. Furthermore, Acacia continues to grow its local staff-base in Tanzania; 96.2% of our employees are
Tanzanian naticnals thanks to an 87.5% reduction in the number of international staff in the past six years. Approximately 70% of our management positions are
currently held by Tanzanians.

Meanwhile in 2018 Acacia progressed a number of strategies within its Supply Chain function with a view to further increasing its annual spend with
Tanzanian-owned businesses. Acacia has always maintained a policy of sourcing from local suppliers first, where viable, and the plans form part of our
continued efforts to grow our annual local spend. Based on our current plans, we expect that by mid-2019 we will achieve a further increase of 10% in our
total annual spend with suppliers that are Tanzanian-owned. This will take the Group’s annual spend with Tanzanian-owned businesses on goods and
services — including construction materials, fuel and lubricants, as well as intemet and security services — to approximately US$140 million.

Bulyanhulu Optimisation Study Update

In the third quarter of 2017, Acacia took the decision to place Bulyanhulu on reduced operaticns due to the unsustainable losses experienced at the mine
due to the inability to export concentrate. During 2018 Acacia took the opportunity to progress essential capitat spend of approximately US$7 million,
primarily on the process plant, and progressed an optimisation study designed to ensure that when the mine resumes underground mining operations it does
50 in an optimised manner and reaches its full long-term potential.

The study work has progressed well during the year and the current stage is on track to be fully completed by the end of the first quarter of 2019. The study’s
provisional cutcomes include a future focus on mining the higher-grade cre in the deep west area to achieve higher margin ounces in line with the
Company’s focus on free cash generation. in addition, there is likely to be a significant reduction in development costs and requirements, as a result of
focusing solely on the deep west area at higher grades. There is also expected to be a reduction in the amount of tonnes required to be mined over any new
life of mine plan.

Indicative pre-production capital requirements are in the range of US$90 to 110 million with subsequent development and rehabilitation costs of a further

US$30 million, Additional ramp-up costs are expected to total approximatety US$20 miliion comprising Sustainable Communities initiatives and costs relating to the
existing processing plant, recruitment and freight for supplies which would be incurred over a 12 to 18 month period until first gold production from resumed
underground mining operations. It is expected to take approximately two years to ramp up to full production from the underground mine, with an estimated average
steady-state production rate of 300,000 to 350,000 ounces per year at an AISC of US$700 to US$750 per ounce over an indicative life of mine of 18 years.

All the estimates of the study so far are subject to further detailed work on cost and capital estimates, final decisions on recommended oplions and designs and the
schedule for resumption of underground mining, as well as Bulyanhulu's ability to economically produce and sell goid concenirate. A final decision to resume
underground mining operations would be dependent on achieving a comprehensive resolution of Bulyanhulu’s disputes with the GoT, including the ability to resume
cohcentrate sales.

Reserves and Resources

Due to the consistent performance of the gold price in the last three years and current outlook, we took the decision to increase the 2018 gold price
assumptions supporting our Mineral Reserve calculations. Qur Mineral Reserve pricing was increased to US$1,200 per ounce and our Mineral Resource
price assumption was maintained at US$1,400 per ounce.

The Group’s Mineral Reserves decreased from 7.5Moz to 5.2Moz of contained gold during the year with Measured and Indicated Exclusive Mineral
Resources decreasing from 7.7Moz to 5.6Moz and Inferred Mineral Resources decreasing from 12.2Moz to 10.1Moz. The changes were primarily driven by
the provisional outcoemes of the optimisation study conducted at Bulyanhulu in conjunction with a comprehensive review of the geological and resource
models through the year, including applying tighter drill spacings and enhanced stope optimisation techniques. A focused drilling programme for Bulyanhulu
has been designed in conjunction with the optimisation study, targeting the higher value zones and planned to commence afier a decision to resume
underground mining operations. Given the historical demonstrated continuity of economic mineralisation, we have a high level of confidence that the planned
drilling programme will convert Mineral Resources to Mineral Reserves and mineralised inventory to Mineral Resources.

At North Mara, Mineral Reserves decreased by 146koz of contained gold, from 2.3Moz at 2.74 g/t in 2017 to 2.2Moz at 2.59 g/, primarily driven by mining
depletion. As the Nyabirama Open Pit progressed further into the Cut 4 phase, there was significant improvement in reconciliation to the planned preduction.
The application of revised reconciliation factors added 238koz of contained gold to the Mineral Reserves. This supports the strong preduction that Nyabirama
Open Pit is scheduled to deliver in the coming years. The exclusive Mineral Resource at North Mara decreased by 200koz of contained gold to 1.7Moz at
3.10 g/t, mostly due to lower grade material that was removed from the Nyabirama Underground project, and infill drilling that better defined the orebody in
preparation fer opening new mining fronts at Gokona Underground.

At Bulyanhulu, underground Mineral Reserves decreased by 1.9Moz of contained gold, with the underground Mineral Reserve now amounting to 2.6Moz at
10.70 g/t compared to the previcusly stated 4.5Moz at 9.70 g/t. The change was driven by a comprehensive review through the year involving detailed



review and validation of data, review and refinement of the geclogical and mineral resource models, and mine scheduling and planning work through the
optimisation study, resulting in the re-classification of 2.23Moz of material from Mineral Reserves to Mineral Resources, and was partially offset by the
refining of block modelling practices which added 249koz of material to Mineral Reserves. This was part of the rigorous optimisation study that is seeking to
identify the oplimal designs and methods to resume underground mining operations al Bulyanhulu as a robust and sustainable business. 4Moz of marginal
Mineral Resource was reclassified as mineralised inventory due to the revised appreach and refinement of the Resource Model with exclusive Mineral
Resources of 7.8Moz at 10.58 g/t. This revised approach at Bulyanhulu establishes a baseline that will drive a programme of disciplined and focused drilling
targeting the higher value zones to continue to convert Mineral Resources to Mineral Reserves in the future. The Tailings Mineral Reserve decreased by
68koz to 107koz at 1.23 g/t due to mining depletion.

At Buzwagi, Minera! Reserves declined from 421koz of contained gold at 0.92 g/t to 308koz contained gold at 0.90 git, as lower grade stockpile processing
continued in 2018. The last mining activities of higher-grade areas in the open pit were completed in January 2018 (during 2018, these activities added
19koz beyond criginat expectations). Overall the exclusive Mineral Resources at Buzwagi remained unchanged.

At our exploration properties the Mineral Resources remained flat. However, the 50% interest in Tankoro, and 85% interest at Nyanzaga are both part of sale
processes; which were still pending as at 31 December 2018. On finalisation of the transactions, the quoted Mineral Resources for those two properties will
be removed.

Carrying Value Review

At the end of the reporting period, there remained a number of potential triggers for impairment testing, including the ongoing uncertainty surrounding a
potential resolution of the Company’s disputes with the GoT, the optimisation study and updating of the geologicat and resource models at Bulyanhulu, and
the fact that the Company’s market capitalisation has been lower than its carrying values during the current reporting period. As a result, the Group has
undertaken a carrying value assessment of its affected cash generating units ("CGUs") and long-life intangible assets. Using Management’s best information,
including its current understanding of the principles of the framework reached between Barrick and the GoT in October 2017, the carrying values of all cur
assels are still below the Company’s view of their recoverable vaiues at discount rates consistent with the prior year's impairment testing processes. Further
information on the carrying value review as at year end 2018 can be found in Note 6 to the consolidated financial information.

Indirect Taxation Update

The net indirect tax receivables balance increased for the year from US$170.7 million at 31 December 2017 to US$178.7 million at 31 December 2018. The
increase was driven by a further US$54.3 milfion of VAT outflows, net of adjustments, for which no cash VAT refunds were received and the part reversal of
prior discounting provisions of US$0.6 million, offset by the full year provisional corporate tax payments relating to North Mara of US$38.2 million, as well as
a final 2017 corporate tax payment of US$4.2 million and foreign exchange revaluation losses of US$4.5 million. The provisional corporate tax payments
have been offset against indirect tax receivables in line with an existing agreement with the Tanzanian Revenue Authority, resulting in a net cash impact of
Us$11.8 million.

As previously disclosed, Tanzania's new mining legislation includes an Amendment to the VAT Act 2015 to the effect that no input tax credit can be claimed
for the exportation of “raw minerals”, with effect from 20 July 2017, Bulyanhulu, Buzwagi and North Mara have each received notices from the Tanzania
Revenue Authority that they are not eligible for any VAT relief from July 2017 onwards on the basis that all preduction (both doré and concentrate)
constitutes “raw minerals” for this purpose. The total VAT claims submitted since July 2017 amount to approximately US$89 million. We have disputed this
interpretation of the legistation as a matter of Tanzanian law, while this is also a matter that is in contravention of the relevant terms of our Mineral
Development Agreements with the GoT and subject to cur angoing disputes with the GoT.

Nyanzaga Project Update

On 6 September 2018, the Tanzanian Fair Competition Commission (“FCC”) granted its approval for OreCorp Tanzania Limited (OreCorp Tanzania) to
increase its interest in Nyanzaga Mining Company Limited {*NMCL") to 51%. This move remains subject to: (i} the approval of the newly established Mining
Commission, the application for which was lodged at the same time as the application for FCC approval; and (i} the future payment of US$3 million to the
Acacia Group.

Members of the OreCorp Group also entered into a completion agresment with Acacia and other members of the Acacia Group to allow OreCorp Tanzania
to move to 100% ownership of NMCL, and thereby 100% ownership of the Nyanzaga Gold Project (the “Project”). This move remains subject to: (i) the
Tanzanian regulatory approvals referred to above; (ii} the grant of the Special Mining Licence in respect of the Project; and (jii) the making of a future
payment of US$7 million to the Acacia Group. Following completion Acacia will retain a net smelter return production royalty over the Project, capped at
US$15 million.

South Houndé Project Update

During the fourth quarter of 2018 Acacia signed a binding conditional agreement with its partner, Sarama Resources Ltd (TSX-V: SWA), to temminate the eam-in
agreement in respect of the South Houndé Project in south-westem Burkina Faso. The termination of the eam-in agreement is conditional on definitive
documentation being agreed by the parties before 30 April 2019. Acacia's divestment of South Houndé fits with the Company's strategy of divesting certain non-
core assets as parl of an ongoing review of its expioration portfofio. Acacia remains committed o expioration in Burkina Faso with various eam-in agreements stifl
active and which provide exposure to approximately 2,000 km? of the prospective Houndé Belt.

Asset Level Discussions

As announced in February 2018, in response to a number of indicative expressions of inlerest to Acacia from Chinese comparies, the Company engaged
with a small number of parties to explore the potential sale of a stake in one or more of its Tanzanian assets. The timetable and successful completion of any
discussions in relation to any such transaction would [ikely be inextricably linked to the Company's ability to reach a comprehensive agreement with the GoT
in order to settle historic disputes and provide a stable future operating envirenment.

Outlook

Our guidance for 2019 assumes a continuation of the current operating environment with Bulyanhulu remaining on reduced operations, Buzwagi continuing
to process stockpiles until early 2021 and North Mara fully operational. On this basis, we expect 2019 production of 500,000 to 550,000, with production
ramping up slightly in the second half of the year as North Mara comes dloser to the main ore zane at the Nyabirama open pit, at an all-in sustaining cost of
US$860 to US$S920 per ounce with cash costs of US$665 to US$710 per cunce. These are ali broadly in line with 2018 levels. All gold produced in 2019 is
expected to be in doré form.

At North Mara we expect production to be around 10% higher than 2018 at approximately 370,000 ounces. The Nyabirama open pit is expected to deliver
increased ore velumes at high grades as we gain access to the main ore zone in cut 4 while we also expect positive grade reconciliations at Gokona



underground, AISC is expected to be approximately 10% lower than 2018 at around US$790 per ounce sold, driven by the higher production base and lower
cash costs as a result of the higher grades in the open pit, offset by an increase in sustaining capital expenditure following the deferral of 2018 capital projects
which are now expected to be completed in 2019. We are also undertaking a pre-feasibility study for an underground mine beneath the Nyabirama open pit.
This is expected to be completed in mid-2019.

We expect Bulyanhulu to remain on reduced operations and to continue to reprocess tailings at a monthly reduced operations cost of approximately

LUS$2 million. These costs are excluded from AISC on the principle that they are not representative of sustaining operational costs. Acacia is finalising an
optimisation study which is designed to ensure that when underground mining operations can resume, the mine will operate in an optimised manner. The
current stage of the study is expected to be completed by the end of the first quarter of 2019. The mine will continue with the reprocessing of tailings through
2019 at an annual production rate of approximately 35,000 cunces and an AISC of approximately US$790 per ounce, which will partially offset the cost of
reduced operations. :

Buzwagi will continue to process stockpiles through 2019 and until mid-2021. Following completion of the mining of the final cut at the bottom of the pit in the
first quarter of 2019, the mill feed will be exclusively from stockpiles. Production for 2019 is expected to total approximately 115,000 ounces. As a result of
the lower production and release of non-cash high cost inventory of approximatety US$285 per ounce, reported AISC in 2019 is expected to increase to
approximately US$1,140 per ounce sold.

Woe expect to see Group capital expendilure in 2019 fall to approximatsly US$75 to 85 million compared to US$93 million in 2018. This will be comprised of
approximately US$65 million of capitalised development costs and sustaining capital, primarily at North Mara and US$15 million of expansion capital. Capital
expenditure at North Mara is expected to be notably lower than 2018 due to the cessation of deferred stripping as a result of a lower strip ratio from the
increased ore volumes expected to be mined in the Nyabirama open pit, partly offset by higher sustaining capital expenditure following significant deferrals
during 2018, increased capitalised underground development costs and additions to expansion capital which focuses on the Gokona and Nyabirama in-fill
and extensional driling programmes combined with the Nyabirama pre-feasibility study. Bulyanhulu’s total capital expenditure incorporates critical sustaining
capilal requirements for the TSF retreatment operations and water management pond upgrades as well as expansion capital for the optimisation study costs
and asset integrity work on the main process plant. Buzwagi is expected to incur limited sustaining capital during 2019 as it nears the end of its mine life.

We are committed to continuing our focus on strong cost discipline in 2019. To this end we are targeting corporate administration costs in the region of
US$18 to US$20 million for the year ahead compared to LUS$24 million in 2018, We are also expecting o incur legal costs of approximately US$18 to
US$22 million relating to the ongoing disputes with the GoT, Barrick negotiations, historical tax disputes and arbitration proceedings compared to legal costs
of US$28 million in 2018.

Following the exploration portfolio review carried out in 2018, we expect a reduced exploration budget of approximately US$10 million in 2012 compared to
US$13 million in 2018. In line with the results of the portfolio review, we expect to focus this spend on our targets in West Africa and with further work on the
Liranda scoping study which will mainly focus on a review of the mining methods in Kenya.

Finally | would tike to thank all of our people for their contributions to the Acacia Group this past year. Our significant achievements in the face of a continuing
challenging operating environment would not have been possible without their sheer resilience, hard work and determination. | would also like to thank the
Board and the Independent Committee for their unfailing support. We continue to prefer a negotiated solution to our disputes with the GoT, continue to
engage with and support Barrick in its direct discussions with the Government and remain hopeful for a resolution during 2019.

Peter Geleta Interim Chief Executive Officer



CHAIR'S STATEMENT

New Interim Chair Rachel English

“| was delighted to be appointed as Acacia’s Interim Chair on 1 September 2018. The ongoing
challenges facing our operations have continued to provide a backdrop to many of the Board’s
discussions during 2018. My priorities since my appointment have included ensuring that the
Company pursues all available avenues of engagement to resolve these challenges as well as
advancing plans for orderly Board succession and continuing our strong focus on corporate
governance. | would like to thank our shareholders and employees for their resilience and
commitment to Acacia throughout the year.”

Rachel English Interim Chair of the Board

Q. You were appointed as Interim Chair on 1 September 2018. What have the Board's and your priorities been since your appointment?

A, ' was delighted to be appeinted as Acacia’s Interim Chair following Kelvin Dushnisky's departure. On behalf of the Directors | would like to thank Kelvin for
his contribution to the Company during his five-year tenure as Chair. The ongoing challenges facing our operations since the Government of Tanzania

("GoT's"ydecision in March 2017 to ban the export of gold concentrate have continued to provide a backdrop to many of the Board's discussions during 2018.

The operating environment deteriorated further in October fast year with criminal charges brought by the GoT against three Group companies as weil as
three current Acacia Group employees and a former employee, three of whom continue to be heid under non-bailable offences. My priorities since my
appointment have included ensuring that the Company pursues all available avenues of engagement to seek to resolve these challenges, advancing plans
for orderly Board succession and continuing our strong focus on corporate governance.

Q. Acacia formed an Independent Committee of the Board in 2017. What have been the main challenges which the Independent Committee has
had to address this year?

A. From a strategic perspective the Board, through the Independent Committee, has monitored closely the ongoing discussions between Barrick and the
GoT, while continuing to protect our assets via the arbitration process pending the outcome of the Barrick discussions.

Q. How have you and the Board supported the Group's relationships with key stakcholders?

A. Throughout the year, the Board continued to be focused on the Group's relationships with all of its stakeholders: including our employees, suppliers and
local communities, as well as our shareholders. It has been a great pleasure meeting our people in my visits to Acacia's operations in 2018, and to see their
commitment, professionalism and strength despite the challenges we face in our operating environment. it has also been a pleasure to meet shareholders in
my capacity as Chair. We continue to demonstrate our long-term commitment to Tanzania, contributing over US$127 million in taxes and royalties to national
and regional governments, spending over US$273 million with local suppliers in Tanzania, maintaining a rate of 96.2% local employees and investing nearly
US$9 million in our Sustainable Communities initiatives, further details of which are set out on page 58 and 59. In the event that an appropriate resolution to
the disputes with the GoT is achieved allowing a resumption of full operations at Bulyanhulu, there would be a further significant increase in local taxes and
royalties, and expenditure with iccal suppliers.

Q. Please can you talk through the main changes in the Board during the year and any further changes you envisage regarding Board
composition?

A. The main change in the Board this past year was my appointment as Interim Chair in September following Kelvin Dushnisky’s departure. Following my
appointment, and with the Nominations and Govermance Committee, we have completed an analysis of the skills brought by Board members to ensure that
these reflect an appropriate range and balance of capabilities, as part of our wider review and discussion on Board effectiveness, Board composition and
succession planning. As a result of this review, the Board identified the need to appoint a permanent Chair, further Independent Non-Executive Directors,
including one with a strong background in technical mining, and one with strong financial experience to address Audit Committee succession planning
requirements. Skills and profile requirements for each role, against which various candidates could be assessed, have been prepared. One of the criteria on
which the selection of the successful candidates will be based is the extent to which the candidate will enhance the diversity of the Board.

The succession planning process is ongoing, and we will provide a further update prior to the 2019 AGM. At present, we have not received any indications of
Barrick’s intentions for nominating additional directors to the Board, as is their right under the Relationship Agreement between Acacia and Barrick. We will
continue o engage with Barrick on this as part of our overall Board composition assessments.

Q. You didn’t pay a dividend again in 2018 for the second year in a row, please ¢an you explain why?

A. The Board has not recommended a dividend for 2018 as a result of the continuing inability to export gold concentrate fellowing the impesition of the
concentrate export ban in 2017, the uncertainty around the ongoing reselution of the Company’s dispute with the GoT and the need to safeguard liquidity
requirements. The operating environment in Tanzania remains challenging and, while there remains such an uncertainty regarding future resolution of the
situation, the Board did not consider it prudent to declare a dividend.

Q. What do you think are the main challenges facing the Board in 20197

A. The Board remains focused on ensuring that the Company is able to achieve a full and comprehensive resolution to its disputes with the GoT, that Acacia
and its businesses and people rernain safe and secure in the meanwhile, and that our plans are optimised for the resumption of full operations at Bulyanhulu
as and when our disputes with the GoT can be resolved. In the meantime, 1 would like to thank our shareholders and employees for their resilience and
commitment to Acacia throughout the year. This is particularly the case for our employees who have shown outstanding commitment to perfermance
irrespective of the challenges they have faced in the operating environment.



Governance in focus:

Ensuring the best interests of all shareholders

Board composition

Executive Director 1
Non-Executive Director 1
Independent Non-Executive Directors 4

Board skills

Geology 1

African and Regional Affairs 1

Financial 4

[Member lSpeciaIty Nationality
Rachel English (Interim Chair) Finance K
Michael Keryon (Geology ICanada
[Steve Lucas Finance UK

jAndre Falzon Finance ICanada
[Stephen Galbraith Finance UK

Peter Geleta iAfrican and Regional Affairs [South Africa




MARKET OVERVIEW

The market price of goid and our host operating environment are
the most significant factors in determining the profitability of our
operations.

Commodities: Gold
US$ 1,335/0z

Peak gold price in 2018

Trend

The price of gold is subject to volatile price movements over short petiods of time and is affected by numerous industry and macroeconomic factors. In the
short term, gold is often driven by moves in interest rates and the US dollar; while longer term the price tends to follow supply and demand fundamentals. Gold
opened 2018 at US$1,291 per ounce and, for the first nine months of the year, the goid price was affacted by expectations that the US Federal Reserve would
foliow a policy of tightened fiscal policy, thereby strengthening the US dollar and pushing gold prices lower. From November last year this narrative changed
and gold prices rose on the expectation that the gold price would outperform the US dollar in real terms; following a decline in inflation rates and a perception
that the US Federal Reserve would follow a more dovish path. By December 2018 investors were also buying gold as insurance against 2019's likely continued
market volatility. Despite this safe-haven buying, gold’s reaction was fairly muted as some confusion around the long-term direction of US interest rates
persisted. Following a high of US$1,335 per ounce reached on 25 January 2018 gold closed the year at US$1,278 per ounce, trading in a range of US$1,178
per ounce to US$1,335 per ounce during the year, with an average price of US$1,269 per ounce (US$1,257 per ounce in 2017).

Our Response

While our policy is to sell gold at prevailing market prices, during 2018, we hedged 170,000 ounces of goid production for March to June, November and
December 2018 as well as 35,000 cunces for January 2019 to protect the downside risk. This accounted for approximately 66% of Group production in 2018.
During the year we added 205,000 cunces of gold put contracts with an average strike price of US$1,300 per cunce for 2018 and 2019. As at 31 December
2018, the Group had 35,000 ounces of gold put contracts outstanding and maturing in 2019 at a strike price of US$1,265 per ounce. The premiums paid on
gold put options amounted to a total of US$3.9 million in 2018.

Gutlook

+  While numerous political risks could cause a spike in the demand for gold in 2018; in the longer term, gold miners' reserves are declining and this is very
likely to lead to reduced supply which bodes well for the gold price.

* We continue to assess on a rolling basis opportunities to provide a floor price for future production in excess of our budget pricing through buying gold
put options in order to provide increased stability for our balance sheet.

We currently have 185,800 ounces of gold stackpiled in Tanzania within the concentrate that is unable v be expuiled due to the concentrate export ban.

The concentrate a'so includes 12.1 million pounds of copper and 158,900 ounces of silver. In total the concentrate stockpile net of government royalties

is valued at US$247 million at average 2018 spot metal prices.

Commodities: Fuel
US$86/bbi

Peak price of Brent Crude in 2018

Trend

At our operations we consume diesel within our mobile fleet and self-generate power when required. Diesel is refined from crude oil and is, therefore, subject
to the same price volatility affecting crude oil prices and has an impact on our production costs. We consumed approximately 231,363 barrels of diesel in
2018 (367,241 in 2017).

Crude oil (Brent) opened 2018 at US$66.73/bbl reaching a high of US$86.07/bbl on 4 October 2018. The oil price then fell sharply, by over 40%, to end the
year at US$50.57 down over 25% on the year as a global supply giut dragged on the market following US pressure on OPEC and Saudi Arabia to create a
low price environment. Saudi Arabia announced in November 2018, for example, that its production of crude oil had neared record levels at over 10.7 million
barrels per day while US crude stockpiles also increased. Brent Crude traded in a range of US$50.67/bbl and US$86.07/bbl during 2018 with an average
price of US$71.03/bbl (US$55.00 in 2017).

Qur Response

We did not add any further Brent oil collar contracts for 2018 during the year but we added 72,000 barrels of Brent oil collar contracts for the 2019 calendar
year. As at 31 December 2018 we had a total of 114,000 barrels of Brent crude oil net purchase options outstanding from our option collar strategy in 2017
and 2018. These contracts mature in 2019 and cansist of sold put options with an average strike price of US$48 per barrel and bought call options with an
average strike price of US$71 per barrel.

Qutlook



» We anlicipate that our consumptiocn of diesel will fall in 2019 compared to 2018 due to the completion of open pit mining at Buzwagi as well as the lower
total tonnes expected to be mined from the Nyabirama open pit at North Mara. While lower velumes will reduce our exposure to price changes, we
expect that these factors combined with the lower oil price environment compared to last year, will result in lower fuel costs in 2018.

+ However, we will continue to assess on a rolling basis whether further hedging strategies should be put in place.
Operating Environment

Political Developments

During 2018 the Government of Tanzania ("GoT") continued its reforms to the private sector, maintaining its focus on industrialisation, large infrastructure
projects and creating jobs as part of the national development agenda. Meanwhile, private sector policy continued to be acecompanied by changes in
regulation and tax legislation, particularly in mining and the wider extractives sector,

The ban on the export of metallic mineral concentrates announced by the then Ministry of Energy and Minerals in March 2017 remained in place throughout
the year. Despite the ban, the Treasury increased its revenues from the mining industry compared to prior years, mainly due te higher royalties applicable to
metallic minerals since the passing of new legislation in July 2017. The GoT plans to increase mining’s contribution to GDP to around 8% by 2020. In early
2018 new mining regulations were issued following the new legislation passed in July 2017, and post year-end in January 2019, President John Magufuli
appeinted Dotto Biteko as the new Minister for Minerals.

The mining sector remained under significant scrutiny with the GoT extending its examination of the sector to areas such as corporate social responsibility
spending and environmental issues. Post year-end our North Mara mine received an Environmental Protection Order ("EPQ") from the National Environment
Management Council (“NEMC") requiring payment of a fine of US$130,000 in relation to alleged breaches of environmental regulations in Tanzania. NEMC'’s
reported findings alleged discharges of a hazardous substance at the North Mara mine. The mine has not received any supporting reports, findings or testing
data in relation to the matters set out in the EPO.

Criminal Charges

In October 2018 the GoT brought criminal charges against three Group companies and three current Acacia employees and a former employee. Three of
those charged continue to be held in custody under non-bailable offences. On 10 October 2018 one of the Group’s employees in Tanzania, a South African
national, was charged by the PCCB with an offence under the Tanzanian Prevention and Combating of Corruption Act. The employee pleaded not guilty and
was granted bail, Two other current employees, including a senior manager, and one former employee of the Company’s Tanzanian businesses, together
with three individual companies, were charged by the PCCB with a number of different offences, including breaches of the Tanzanian Anti-Money
Laundering Act.

A total of 39 charges were brought, either against the current and former employees and/or against one or more of the Company’s operating subsidiaries in
Tanzania, Pangea Minerats Limited ("PML"), Bulyanhulu Gold Mine Limited ("BGML"), and North Mara Gold Mine Limited ("NMGML"). The charges are
wide-ranging and include: tax evasion; conspiracy; a charge under organised crime legislation; forgery; money laundering and corruption. The majority
appear to relate to the historical structuring and financing of the three businesses dating back as far as 2008, prior to the creation of the Acacla Group. All
allegations are denied and all charges are being defended.

Tax

An Amendment was passed to the VAT Act 2015 to the effect that no input tax credit can be claimed for the exportation of “raw minerals” (which covers both
doré and concentrate), with effect from 20 July 2017. During 2018 Bulyanhulu, Buzwagi and North Mara each received notices from the Tanzania Revenue
Authority in line with this Amendment.

The Company, along with its industry peers in Tanzania, continued to report further VAT outflows for which no cash VAT refunds were received. During the
year there continued o be a number of tax cases that are being handled through the Tanzanian courts which we are seeking to resolve.

Our Response

Barrick, the Company's maijority shargholder, continued its discussions with the GoT in an effort to identify and document a solution to the Company's
disputes. Post year-end Barrick and the GoT each announced they had amrived at an updated understanding regarding resolution of the Company's dispules
with the GoT. The Company noted the announcements and that any detailed proposal will be subject to review by the Independent Commitiee of its Board of
Directors.

Acacia continues to prefer a negotiated resolution to the Company’s ongoing disputes with the GoT, however the arbitration processes against the GoT
continued through 2018, with a number of necessary procedural steps and with the GoT fully participating. BGML and PML each referred their current
disputes with the GoT to arbitration in 2017, in accordance with the dispute resolution processes agreed by the GoT in the existing MDAs. The hearings are
scheduled for July 2019 and we expect the Tribunal’s findings to follow in the later stages of the year.

The criminal allegations and charges against the Group and current and former employees are denied and are being defended. The great maijority of the
allegations in the criminal proceedings relate to matters that the GoT has sought to introduce inte the arbitration process outlined above.

Conceming the issuing of the EPQ to North Mara, the mine continues to assess the technical basis of the alleged non-compliances. Pending further factual
clarification from the GoT and NEMC, however, and to dispose of all regulatory or other legal action, North Mara mine has decided to pay the fine. The North
Mara mine’s technical team continues to work with the GoT within an agreed timeframe to address their concerns regarding seepage from the TSF and has
undertaken to manage all seepage through the use of additional pumps and construction of other containment facilities to return any seepage o the TSF and
ensure it is confined to the mine site.

Acacia continues to monitor and assess the impact of legislative changes and the new mining regulations in light of its MDAs with the GoT. To minimise
further disruptions to the Group’s operations during 2018 the Tanzanian operating companies have continued to satisfy the requirements imposed by the
new 2017 legislation as regards the increased royalty rate and clearing fee on mineral experts. These payments are being made under protest, without
prejudice to the Tanzanian operating companies' legal rights under their MDAs.

In terms of the amendment to the VAT Act 2015 to the effect that no input tax credit can be claimed for the exportation of “raw minerals” with effect from July
2017, we have disputed this interpretation of the legistation as a matter of Tanzanian law, while this Is also in contravention of the relevant terms of our MDAs



with the GoT and subject to cur ongoing disputes with the GoT. We have continued o offset our provisional corporate tax payments against indirect tax
receivables in line with an existing agreement with the Tanzanian Revenue Authority, resulting in a net cash impact of US$11.9 million in 2018.

Ouring the year, Acacia’s three local businesses submitted preliminary local content plans to the GoT in response to the new local content regulations that
came into force in April 2018. These preliminary plans build on the work undertaken by Acacia over the past years to enhance and develop our local supply
chain and increase local employment in the workforce. Under Acacia’s existing MDAs, Acacia's businesses are protected from changes to laws that govern
their operations inctuding the introduction of the focatl content regulations, but as part of aur commitment to development in the country, the Company intends
to work with the GoT to clarify the requirements of the new local content regulations and o meet these requirements where practicable.

In light of the challenging operating environment in Tanzania we have taken a number of decisive steps o manage the changes and stabilise our business over
the last 18 months. From an operations perspective, the decision in the second half of 2017 to bring forward bypassing the flotation circuit at Buzwagi mine in
order to stop concentrate production early and to move Bulyanhulu mine to reduced operations helped to return the Group to free cash generafion in the
second quarter of 2018 for the first time since the fourth quarter of 2016.

Throughout 2018 we have remained committed to paying all applicable taxes and royatties to the Tanzanian Revenue Authority as well as to supporting
efforts towards the country’s sociogconomic advancement, including the realisation of the Govemment's Development Vision 2025,

During 2018 we paid a total of US$127 million in taxes and royalties and continued our localisation programme across all areas of the business. Despite
the continued challenges facing the business we delivered an annual investment of US$8.8 million in our Sustainable Communities programme.

Qur staff on the ground:

Name: Martin Wiiliam Lugassian

Job title: Warehouse Officer at Buzwagi
Tenure: 5 years

Role with Acacia: Martin has worked for Acacia since March 2014 having received specialist mining industry training at Bandari College, Dar es Salaam.
Martin is a quailified operator of a range of warehouse machinery.



OUR BUSINESS MODEL

Our vision

A responsible and committed mining partner that creates shared
value by enhancing the nation’s mineral wealth.

Our value inputs

What drives us

QOur business

Building a leading asset portfolic in Africa
Allocating capital effectively

Our people

Developing local talent

Our relationships

Creating shared stakeholder benefit

Our future

Creating a leading African gold producer and generating value for all of our stakeholders

Creating value
Discovering high-quality assets and operating them to their full potential

Production & Exploration

What we do

Operate our large-scale gold mines efficiently with a track record of producing 10.5Moz of gold since inception from a combination of open pit and
underground mines. Meanwhile we continue to invest in exploration across Africa as well as brownfield extensions at our mines.

How we add value

We continuously assess options lo improve mine design and working practices to improve efficiencies in order to reduce cost and/or increase production, We
undertake a systematic, grassroots approach fo exploraticn in order to make large high-grade discoveries.

US$905/0z

All-in sustaining cost below 2018 guidance range of US$935 to 985 per ounce

Building Partnerships

What we do

Develop our People, expand our local supply chain and invest in our Sustainable Communities strategy in support of Tanzania's Development Vision 2025
and the United Nation's Sustainable Development Goais.

How we add value

We undertake a systematic ‘local first’ approach to our supply chain and, in conjunction with rigorous in-house training programmes and university
partnerships, we nurture the best talent within our businesses and in Tanzania's mining industry as a whole. We continue to contribute to the development of
sustainable communities around our mines in order that they enjoy a thriving local economy, have access to social infrastructure and live in a safe and
inclusive environment.

US$273m

spend during 2018 with suppliers based in Tanzania



Output
The output of our value creation is the generation of free cash flow
REINVESTMENT

FREE CASH FLOW
DEBT REDUCTION

Long-Term Value Creation

Distributing and reinvesting the value created’

For governments
+ Tax contributions
«  Driver of economic development

US$127m

in taxes paid to Tanzania in 2018

For Tanzania

+ Disciplined reinvesiment of capital into exploration and operations

US$92.5m

total investment in 2018

For communities

+ Improving livelihoods and service delivery
s Delivering employment opportunities

US$8.8m

Sustainable Communities investment in 2018

For shareholders

« Strengthening the balance sheet
« Free cash flow generation

« Dividend policy

US$88.0m

Year end net cash position

1 Al figures apart from year end net cash position are unaudited

Rigorous controls underpin everything we do

Effective governance and risk management practices
page 30

Strong cost and capital discipline
page 50

Sustainability
page 56




OUR STRATEGY

Our business

Desired outcomes
Create value and cash flow by operating profitable mines and reasonably managing risks.

Operate as a partner for our host countries to ensure shared value for their people.
Strive to ensure that the work environment remains safe for everyone and that we constantly improve our safety performance.
Continue to provide our Discovery group the best opportunity to discover our next mines.

Strategic pathways
Bulyanhulu Optimisation Study: Development of a business case for the resumption of a new optimised Bulyanhulu mine, in the scenario that the
concentrate ban is lifted.

Nyabirama life extension (North Mara): Exploration development with the aim of developing an underground mine at Nyabirama.
Supply Chain Optimisation: Maximise efficiencies and reduce costs across our supply chain.

Asset Reliability Optimisation: Create standardised ‘best practice” Asset Management strategies and processes across all three sites.
Exploration Portfolio Optimisation: Enabling the discovery of our next mines. '

Key drivers
Planning — focused on sustainable cash flow and delivering shared value from our assels.

Allocating capital effectively.

Decentralised operations — minimal central systems.
Clear metrics to provide key drivers of performanca.
Focus on value-add activities.

Priorities for 2019

« Further optimise the efficiency of our operations with a strong focus on cost discipline
+ Complete the Bulyanhulu Optimisation Study

« Continue to demonstrate life of mine extension at North Mara

+ Transition key business functions into Tanzania

Our people

Desired outcomes
Identify, attract and retain talent. Support and develop our people for the benefit of the business and the country's socio-economic goals.

Ensure our assets are increasingly led and operated by national employees.
Creation of a high-performance culture where our pecple are held accountable, but are given the tools to succeed.

Our culture is underpinned by our Acacia Behaviours that are supporied by a set of tools and systems introduced in our Tufanikiwe Pamoja (Together
Woe Succeed) and Rainbow Leadership Programmes.

Qur goal is to have every person understand the work of their role and to be operating to their potential (with a clear understanding of their performance
and development).

Strategic pathways
I-People Project: Implementation of a fully automated human resources information system.

Organisational Design Project: Development of an efficient and effective organisation structure to support our Company Strategy.

Talent Management System: Design and implementation of a talent management programme and accompanying processes that enable the Company
to aftract and retain talent.

Key drivers
Attract and retain our talent.

Train and deveiop so that people can be their best.
Drive performance through the Accountable Management System (AMS).
Maintain high standards of technical expertise.

Priorities for 2019

+ Continue to improve TRIFR towards goal of zero injuries

« Train and develop our people to increase ratio of Tanzanians in management positions
«  Workforce planning for potential resumption of underground mining at Butyanhuiu



Qur relationships

Desired outcomes
Build the trust of hast governments, communities and other stakeholders by forming partnerships and being résponsible and transparent in our actions.
Develop a reputation as a credible business and trustworthy mining partner that supports local stakeholders and is an attractive investor.

Aim to be pro-active in our relationships with al! stakehelders to enable us to develop the appropriate support for our business and become a valued
driver for economic development in aur hiost countries.
Contribute to development priorities of our host governments through aligning our social investments with national efforts.

Strategic pathways

External Relationship Management: Build strong and trusting relationships that support a social licence to operate and a better business environment,

Reputation Management: Re-establish our relationships and reputation in Tanzania.
Local Content Project: Development of our local supply chain and increased local employment in the workforce,

NM Resaetting Relationships [ASM/Land): Imprave our relationships with host communities and local government authorilies in support of our social
licence and a secure operating environment.

Sustainable Communities Projects: To contribute to the development of sustainable communities that enjoy a thriving local economy, have access to
social infrastructure and live in safe, inclusive and equitable surrounding communities.

Key drivers
Create shared stakeholder benefit by working in partnership with host governments, local communities and other partners.

Seek to form and grow strong local relationships.

Support local economic advancement and national development agendas.
Manage non-technical risks effectively.

Monitoring and evaluation: measure the impact of our efforts using clear metrics.

Priorities for 2019
« Strengthen relationships with host governments

« Explore and support sustainabie and long-term solutions to our disputes with the GoT.

+ Implementation of our Sustainable Communities strategy and development of newly-formed Sustainable Community Reference Groups at all three
mings.

» Progress local content plans and increase spend percentage with Tanzanian-owned businesses

« Further reduce intruder numbers and community grievances at North Mara.



KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Our performance is assessed against the following key

performance indicators, which are linked to our long-term
strategy.

These KPIs are linked to Executive Directors’ remuneration. For full disclosure please see the Remuneration Report on page 87.

Strategic Pillars

Our Business

Our People

Qur Relationships

QOur Future

Gold production

Relevance to strategy
Gold produgction is the aggregate of the Group's equity interest in gold ounces preduced from our mines and one of the key measures used to track progress
made in increasing our productivity levels.

Performance

Gold production was 521,980 ounces, 32% lower than 2017 due to the transition to reduced cperations at Bulyanhulu and to stockpile processing at
Buzwagi.

Outlook and expectations

We expect gold preduction in 2019 of 500,000 to 550,000 ounces based on a continuation of the current operating environment with Bulyanhulu remaining
on reduced operations and Buzwagi continuing to process stockpiles.

Associated risk areas

« Strategic
+ Financial
e External

» Operational

Linked to remunaration?
Yes. Weighting: 30% of Company STI scorecard

All-in sustaining costs {AISC)

Relevance to strategy
AISC is used to provide additional information on the total sustaining cost for each ounce sold in order to provide additional clarity as to the full cost of
preduction. It is one of the key indicators that we use to monitor and manage those factors that impact production costs on a monthly basis.

Performance
AISC for the year was US$905 per ounce sold, well below the 2018 full year guidance range of US$935 to US$985 per ounce.

Qutlook and expectations
We expect all-in sustaining costs in 2019 of US$860 to US$920 per ounce sold, broadly in line with 2018.

Associated risk areas

+ Financial
s« External
+  QOperational

Linked to remuneration?
Yes. Weighting: 20% of Company STI scorecard.



Total Reportable Injury Frequency Rate

Relevance to strategy

Total Reportable Injury Frequency Rate (“TRIFR”} tracks ail employee and contracter reparted workplace injuries that require medical treatment, including
lost time and restricted duty. We use it to measure progress towards our heaith and safety goal of zero harm. It is calculated as total reportable injuries
multiplied by 200,000 then divided by total number of hours worked.

Performance
TRIFR was 0.18 for the year, compared to 0.45 in 2017. This represents a 58% reduction on the previous year.

Cutlook and expectations
We are targeting a reduction in cur TRIFR of at least 10% in 2019, with the goal of making sure everyone goes home safe and healthy every day.

Agsociated rigk areas
» Operational

Linked to remuneration?
Yes. Weighting: 10% of Company ST| scorecard.

Cash cost per ounce sold

Relevance to strategy

Cash cost per ounce sold is calculated by dividing the aggregate of cash costs by gold ounces sold. It is one of the key indicators that we use to monitor and
manage those factors that impact production costs on @ monthly basis.

Performance

Cash cost per cunce sold for the year was US$680 per ounce, well below the 2018 full year guidance range of US$690 to US$720 per ounce.

Outlook and expectations
We expect cash costs in 2019 of betwaen US$665 to US$710 per ounce sold, broadly in line with 2018 levels.

Associated risk areas

« Financial
« External
» Operational

Linked to remuneration?
No, but part of other KPls.

Cash cost per tonne milled

Relevance to strategy
Cash cost per tonne milled is calculated by dividing the aggregate of cash costs by ore tonnes milled. We use it 1o track cash costs against productivity.

Performance
Cash cost per tonne milled for the year was US$38 per tonne, marginally lower than 2017.

QOutlook and expectations
We have not provided guidance on this metric.

Associated risk areas
+ Financial

« External

+ Operational

Linked to remuneration?
No, but part of other KPlIs,



Total Reserves and Resources

Relevance to strategy
Calculated as the total of Proven and Probable Reserves, plus Measured, Indicated and Inferred Resources expressed in contained ounces. |t measures our
ability to discover and develop new ore bodies and io replace and extend the life of our operating mines.

Performance

Total Reserves and Resources for the year amounted to 20.9 million ounces of gold, a reduction of 6.5 million ounces from 2017. The Group's Mineral
Reserves decreased from 7.5Moz to 5.2Moz of contained gold during the year with Measured and Indicated Exclusive Mineral Resources decreasing from
7.7Moz to 5.6Moz and Inferred Mineral Resources decreasing from 12.2Moz to 10.1Moz.

Qutlook and expectations
We have not provided guidance on this metric but we have reasonabie expectations that the ongeing drilling programmes at North Mara will continue to grow
the Mineral Reserve and Mineral Resource inventory during 2019.

Associated risk areas
» Strategic

Linked to remuneration?
No.

EBITDA

Relevance to strategy
EBITDA is a valuable indicator of our ability to generate operating cash flow to fund working capital and capital expenditures and to service debt obligations.

Performance

EBITDA for the year was US$225.9 million, 12% down on 2017 mainty due to lower revenue, partly offset by the US$45 million gain on the sale of a non-
core royalty.

Associated risk areas

+ Financial

+ Operational

Linked to remuneration?
Ng.

Operating cash flow per share

Relevance to strategy
Operating cash flow per share is the cash generated from, or utilised in, operating activities, divided by the weighted average of the number of Ordinary
Shares in issue. It helps to measure our ability to generate cash from owr business.

Performance
Operating cash flow per share was US30.8 cents compared to US({5.6) cents per share in 2017, and was impacted by the concentrate export ban and a lack
of VAT refunds.

Associated risk areas
+ Financial
+« QOperational

Linked to remuneration?
No.

Net earnings/(loss) per share

Relevance to strategy
Net eamings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue. It serves as an indicator of our
profitability and is often used to determine share price and value.

Performance

Net eamnings per share was 14.4 cenls, compared to a net loss of 172.5 cents in 2017. The 2017 figure was primarily a result of an impaiment charge driven
by the impact of the concentrate ban.

Associated risk areas

« Financial

« Qperational

Linked to remuneration?

No.



Total shareholder return

Relevance to strategy
Tolal shareholder retum (“TSR”) is the return on investment a shareholder receives over a specified time frame based on our share price
appreciation/depreciation and dividends received. It is used to compare our performance against industry peers.

Performance
TSR in 2018 was negative 9.7% compared to negative 46% in 2017 as the ongoing impact of the concentrate ban continued to impact the share price and
cash flow generation as well as the ability to declare dividends.

Associated risk areas
« Financial

+« Operational

Linked to remuneration?
Yes. Relative TSR weighting 100% of LTIP.

Sustainable Communities expenses

Relevance to strategy
This represents the amount of money that we invest across our corporate social responsibility programmes. It helps us to track progress made against our
objective to support socioeconomic development in our operating environment.

Performance
Sustainable Communities expenses wera US$8.8 miillion, a slight increase on 2017 due to the revised Sustainable Communities strategy.

Associated risk areas

« Fimancial
« External
«  Operational

Linked to remuneration?
No.

GHG emissions
Relevance to strategy
GHG emissions are measured on the basis of total tonnes of CQ: equivalent produced by our operations as a way of assessing our carben footprint.

Performance
Total COze emissions for 2018 amounted to 176,939 tonnes, below 2017 due 1o energy saving projects and the move to reduced operations at Bulyanhulu
and the cessation of the float circuit at Buzwagi.

Further information as regards our GHG emissions reporting is provided on page 63.

Associated risk areas
«  Operational

Lirtked to remunaration?
No.

Relevant pages

p32

Principal risks and uncertainties

Non-IFRS measures are defined in the Glossary of Terms page 182



RISK MANAGEMENT

The successful delivery of our strategy depends on our ability to
manage risks appropriately in a manner that does not jeopardise
the interests of our stakeholders.

We assess the principal risks to our business as part of ongeing business performance and operational reviews, as follows:

s  We conduct Group-level risk workshops to consider overall strategic risks to the business.
« We conduct operational risk workshops focused on specific operational risks in the context of each of our operations.

« We conduct functional risk workshops to assess key matters which could affect underlying support functions, such as treasury, tax, technical services
and business improvement, required for our long-term business plans.

+ Wae ensure that principal risks are assessed as material components of our monthly operational and financial performance reporting.

Our annual business plan and budgeting process incorporates risks identified as a result of these reviews. Residual risks are identified based on the
effectiveness of existing controls. The principal risks identified via this process are then monitored, assessed and reviewed throughout the year by the
Executive Leadership Team in the first instance, the Audit and EHS&S and other Board Committees where relevant to their respective remits of
responsibility, and ultimately by the Board, as part of Acacia’s continuing assessment of risk trends and developments.

Further detail as regards to the outcome of the Board's internal control and risk management review for the year is provided on page 76 of the Corporate
Govemance Report — Intemal Control and below.

2018 Principal risk review

For 2018 our principal risks have continued to fall within four broad categories: strategic risks, financial risks, external risks and operational risks. There has
been no significant improvement in the operating environment, which remains challenging, influenced mainly by the continuing dispute with the Government
of Tanzania ("GoT") and delays in reaching a negotiated solution to disputes. This has led to the makeup of our principal risks remaining relatively consistent
throughout 2018.

However, in-country stakeholder reaction to the prolonged situation in Tanzania along with other global developments and trends affecting the wider mining
industry, have resulted in changes to our assessment of the risk profiles that principally affect our business; these being the following:

« Political, legal and regulatory developments

» Single country risk

» Aftraction and retention of employees

« Significant changes to commeodity prices

s Liquidity

+ Social licence to operate and key stakeholder support
« Reserve and resource estimates

+ Environmental hazards and rehabilitation

» Safety risks relating to mining operations

« QOperational security and theft

Overall, non-technical risks falling across a range of risk categories {strategic, external and operational} continue to rate highly across principal risks
identified. Together, these impact the rating of our liquidity risk.

In terms of political, legal and regulatory developments, throughout the course of 2018 the operating environment became increasingly challenging for Acacia
with criminal charges brought by the GoT against three current Acacia employess and a former employee, three of whom continue to be held under non-
bailable offences, and against three Tanzanian operating companies (see above, Market Overview).

The allegations made are denied and the criminal charges brought are being defended, but there is a risk of continuing and further legal or regulatory action
by the GoT, or of other regulatory or law enforcement action in Tanzania and/or the UK. There is a direct correlation between our assessment of political,
legal and regulatory risk and our assessment of single country risk, given the material exposure that the Group has to developments within Tanzania and
lack of geographical diversification of our operating assets. Similarly, risk ratings relating to the Group’s ability to attract and retain employees has increased
year on year given ongoing challenges within the operating environment and the impact that this may have on employees. A corresponding increase has
also been made to our assessment of risk that undermines our social licence to operate and the support we receive from stakeholders, given the impact that
ongoing disputes with the Government has on wider stakeholder perception. As a result of this, we have introduced social licence to operate and key
stakeholder support as a standalone and new principle risk this year. In addition, in light of industry-wide focus on risks relating to tailings storage facilities
and in light of increased Government inspections at North Mara, we have increased the residual risk impact assessment related to the risk of environmental
hazards and rehabilitation.

The continuation of reduced operations at Bulyanhulu has led to a reduction in the risk profile of safety risks relating to mining operations (fall of ground,
uncontrolled fires and mobile equipment incidents), however, we continue to monitor this as a principal risk due to the importance of health and safety to
our business.

The principal risk chart opposite shows how we have allocated residual risk ratings across these principal risks for 2018.

In additicn, the table entitled Principal Risks and Uncertainties overleaf sets oul a description of each of our principal risks, along with commentary regarding
management responsibility, Commitiee and Board oversight, relevance to strategy, mitigating action and the status of the risk in 2018 for further information
purposes. We also chart year-on-year trends and continuing impact assessments. In addition to those risks stated, there may be additional risks unknown to
Acacia and other risks, cumrently believed to be immaterial or that relate to the wider gold mining industry, which could turn out to be material to the Group.
Additional discussions of certain trends and uncertainties that may affect our operations are provided in other parts of this Strategic report.



Assessment of viability
In addition to annua) risk management reviews, we also conducted additional reviews relating to business viability relevant to our assessment of Acacia’s
ongoing viability and the related confirmations required to be made in this regard.

In assessing the viability of the business the Directors have taken into account the developments and trends across the Company’s principal risks and
related ongoing uncertalmties affacting our business gnd in particular the ongoing political, lega! and regulatory developments affecting our ocperating
environment, as explained in this Risk Management section and throughout this Annual Report.

In addition, the Directors’ consideration of viability is subject to all considerations and assumptions taken into account as part of the 2018 carrying value
review oullined on page 81 and the going concern stalement on page 55 of this Annual Report.

After making appropriate enquiries and considering the uncertainties described above, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Acacia Group
will continue to operate and meset its liabilities, as they fall due, for the next three years should the operating environment not further deteriorate. However
they have concluded that the combination of the above circumstances represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to remain viable,

We continue to assess viability over a three-year assessment period on the basis of the key components and criteria that continue to underpin the Acacia
Group’s life of mine planning process. This process is built on a mine by mine basis using a detailed physical and financial model.

It makes certain assumptions as regards the ongoing gold price environment and the performance level of each mine. Each component of the plan is then
siress tested for market sensitivities as part of ongoing reviews. The key components of the plans, associated principal risks and relevant scenario testing to
this planning process are reviewed by the Directors at least annually.

In addition, the life of mine planning process is underpinned by regular Board briefings as part of ongoing periodic operational performance reviews and the
discussion of any operational initiatives to be undertaken in the ardinary course of business. In addition to this and in light of the challenges faced in 2018
management has enhanced its liquidity assessments for going concemn and viability purposes.

The information relating to Acacia’s performance included on pages 36 to 49 (inclusive) of this Annual Report is incorporated by reference into this Strategic
report and is deemed to form part of this Strategic report.

Principal risk chart: residual risk ranking
1. Politice;l_,- i;agal and regula-a_t;ry Developmen_t; increase : |
2. Single country risk increase
[3. Aftraction and retention of employees increase
4. Significant changes to commodity prices increase
5. Liquidity risk increase
B. Social licence to operate and key stakeholder support (new) NEW
7. Reserve and resource estimales increase
8. Environmental hazards and rehabilitation increase
. Safety risks relating to mining operations decrease
10. Operational security and theft decrease

Ranking in 2017 Ranking in 2018

Low residual risk
High residual risk
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STRATEGIC REPORT
OPERATING REVIEW

Operational performance

Full year production of 521,980 ounces was ahead of the initial 2018 production
guidance of 435,000 to 475,000 ounces for the year, due to the strong operating
performance at all three sites, despite the challenging operating environment,
although 32% lower than 2017 due to the transition to reduced operations at
Bulyanhulu and to stockpile processing at Buzwagi.

1. North Mara
Gold preduction 336,05560z

AISC US$866/02
SEE PAGE 38

2. Buzwagi
Gold production 145,4400z
AISC US$977/oz

SEE PAGE 40

3. Bulyanhulu
Gold preduction 40,4850z

AISC US$786/0z
SEE PAGE 42

4_Exploration
SEE PAGE 44

Full year gold sales of 520,380 ounces were broadly in line with production. AISC of US$905 per ounce sold and cash costs of US$680 per ounce sold were
both below the 2018 full year guidance ranges of US$935 to US$985 per ounce for AISC and US$690 to US$720 per ounce for cash costs, mainly driven by
the higher production while AISC was further assisted by lower capital expenditure.

Total tonnes mined during the year amounted to 17.4 million tonnes, 47% lower than 2017, while ore tonnes mined of 4 million tonnes were 70% lower than
2017, mainly as a result of the cessation of mining activities and the focus on stockpile processing at Buzwagi and reduced operations at Bulyanhulu.

Cre tonnes processed amounted to .3 million tonnes, 6% higher than 2017 driven by the improved throughput of reprocessed tailings at Bulyanhulu
and better than expected processing plant performance at Buzwagi. Head grade for the year (excluding tailings retreatment) of 2.2g/t was 33% lower
than the corresponding figure of 3.3g/t in 2017. This was due to increased processing of lower grade stockpiles at Buzwagi, which was partly offset by
higher head grades at North Mara as a result of the higher grades received from the open pit mine.

Case study

Bulyanhulu Optimisation Study

Highly encouraging provisional outcomes with a focus on mining in the Deep West

In the second half of 2017 Acacia lock the decision te place Bulyanhulu on reduced operations due to the inability to export gold concentrate. However,
during 2018 with the mine on reduced operations Acacia tock the opportunity to progress an optimisation study designed to ensure that when the mine
resumes underground mining operations it does so in an optimised manner and reaches its full long-term potential.

The study work progressed well during 2018 and we were highly encouraged by the provisional cutcomes of the optimisation study with a focus on achieving
higher margin ounces in line with our strategy of free cash generation. The future focus is likely to be on mining the higher grade ore in the Deep West area
to achieve higher margin ounces. In addltion there is likely to be a significant reduction in development requirements as a result of focusing solely in the
Deep West area as well benefiting from a lower fixed costbase. Costs are, therefore, in line with the expected reduction in the ore tonnes {although at higher
grades) to be mined and processed over any new life of mine.

It is expected to take approximately 12 to 18 months to achieve first gold production once a decision is taken to resume underground mining operations,
which would be dependent on the ability to economically produce and sell gold concentrate and & comprehensive resolution of the disputes with the GoT. It
is then anticipated that it would take approximately two years to ramp up to full production from the underground mine thereafter, with an estimated average
steady state production rate of 300,000 to 350,000 ounces per year at an AISC of US$700 to US$750 per ounce over an indicative mine life of 18 years.




Key metrics (unaudited)

Life of mine 'Years - 18
Pre-production capital USSm 90-110
Fre-production rehabilitation and deveiopment lUS$m 30
Net other pre-production cost US$m 20
Steady state production’ ' . 300-350
Steady state AISC?® US$ioz 700-750
Steady state plant throughput Ktfyr 1,000-1,100
Pre-production period T Months 12-18
Underground Reserves 2.6Moz 10.70 g/t
M&! Resources 2 1Moz 8.360h
Inferred Resources 5.7Moz B 11.76gi
lRamp upto steady state from first production Months 18-24

Numbers above exclude reduced operations costs, impact of tailings processing and stockpiled concentrate
1 Steady state production and AISC is after ramp up and before ramp down.
2 Excludes pre-production capital and other costs.

North Mara

Progress in 2018
e 11% improvement in safety performance, with TRIFR of 0.25

» 4% increase in production to 336,05650z
+ Continued drilling programme at Gokona to finalise mine design and test long term potential of deposit
» Pre-feasibility study underway for potential underground mine at Nyabirama

Pricrities for 2019
« Targeting 10% increase in production to ~ 370,000 oz and 10% lower AISC of ~ US$790/0z

» 38,000m of extensional and infill drilling at Gokona

+ Completion of pre-feasibility study at Nyabirama Underground mid-2019

64%

Contribution to total Group cunces

0.25

TRIFR

Reserves & Resources

2.2Moz

Mineral Reserves

1.0Moz

Measured and Indicated Exclusive Mineral Resources

0.7Moz

Inferred Resources

Our staff on the ground.

Name: Mwanvua Saidi

Job title: Geolechnician, Geology at North Mara
Tenure: 4 years

Role with Acacia: Mwamvua has a diploma in Mining Engineering from the Madini Institute in Dodoma. Her role at North Mara includes exploration, grade

conirol, and controlling ore difution.



North Mara's gold production of 336,055 eunces was 4% higher than 2017, mainly driven by a 3% higher head grade due to higher-grade ore received from
the Eastern part of the Nyabirama open pit, combined with improved plant recovery rates. Gold sold for the year of 332,195 ounces was broadly in line with
production.

Ore tonnes from underground mining continued to increase and were 20% higher than 2017, due to the increase in the availability of developed mining areas
and improved equipment availability.

Cash costs of US$591 per ounce sokd were 19% higher than 2017 (US$498/0z), mainly driven by higher direct mining costs (US$117/0z), largely due 1o lower
capitalised stripping costs driven by a lower strip ratio in stage 4 of the Nyabirara pit, higher extenal services, energy and fuel, general administration and
consumables costs; combined with higher sales-related costs linked to the increase in the royalty rate and the higher sales base (US$24/0z). This was partly offset
by the higher production base (US$45/0z).

AISC of US$866 per ounce sold was 8% higher than 2017 {US$803/0z), primarily as a result of the higher cash costs discussed above (US$93/0z) and
higher sustaining capital expenditure (US$10/0z), partly offset by lower capitaiised stripping costs (US$41/0z).

Capital expenditure for the year before reclamation adjustments amounted to US$81.6 million, 13% lower than 2017 (US$93.9 millicn). Key capital
expenditure included capitalised stripping costs (US$28.2 milliorn), capialised underground development costs (US$19.3 million), capitalised drilling mainy
relating to resource and reserve development at Gokona underground and the Nyabirama underground studies {US$8.3 million), investment in mobile
equipment and component change-outs (US$15.5 mitlion) and investment in fixed aquipment and infrastructure (US$2.9 milfion;).

The drilling prograrmme at Gokona focused initially on infill driling to enable the finalisation of mine design and subsequently in testing for the long-term
potential of the deposit. The pre-feasibility study for a potential underground mine continues at Nyabirama; further extensional drilling will continue in 2012
and is expected to be compieted in mid-2019.

For 2019, we expect production to be around 10% higher than 2018 at approximately 370,000 gold ounces. The Nyabirama open pit s expected to deliver
increased ore volumes at higher grades as we gain access to the main ore zone in cut 4 while we also expect higher grades at Gokona underground with
potential for continued positive grade reconciliation. AISC is expected to be approximately 10% lower than 2018 at around US$790 per aunce sold, driven by
the higher production base and lower cash costs as a result of the higher grades in the open pit, partly offset by an increase In sustaining capital expenditure
foliowing the deferral of 2018 capital projects which are now expected to be completed in 2019.

. e s Twelve months ended
Key mine statistics «“» 3T Donember
{Unaudited} 2018 2017
Key operational information:

! Rutatibbahiintsoninihtliit it _
Ounces produced oz 336.051 323,607
Ounces soid [ 332,195 324,455
Cash cost per ounce soki' US$/oz 591 498
AISC per ounce sold’ US$/oz 1 866 803

e N SR SR ———
Open pit:

- —_— _t

|lonnes mined Kt 15,736 15,299

- ]
Ore tonnes mined Kt 2,875 3,147
Mine grade 1__ bt — z0) 17
Underground;

| Tonnes mined Kt T k_%l_ 1,199 1,084

- — - — — — — — —_ [ EE—

Ore tonnes mined Kt 782 654
Mine grade et - 1 7.8 8.7
Processing information:

| Ore milled Ik ' T 2847 2,801

M .- . |
Head grade 40 B 39]
Mili recovery 4 % 92.7% 92.0%
Cash cost per tonne milled’ T I 69 57
Capital expenditure
— Sustaining capital® IUS$('000) 25771| 22,563 |
— Capitalised development US$('000) 47,496 61,066
- Expansionary capital 4US$(’000) 8,335 10,278

21,602 93,899

— Non-cash reclamation asset
adjustments US$('000) (865) (2,951)
Total capital expenditure US$(’000} ) 50,737 00,948

1 These are non-FRS financial parformance measures with no standard meaning under IFRS. Refer to the Glossary of Terms on page 182 for definitions of “Non-FRS measures”.
2 Includes fand purchases recognised as long-term prepayments



Buzwagi

Progress in 2018
« Improved safety performance, with 50% reduction in TRIFR to 0.16

« Production of 145,4400z of gold from stockpile processing ahead of expectations

Priorities for 2019
+ Targeting production of 115,0000z from stockpiles

+ Continue to process gold from stockpiles untit mid-2021

28%

Contribution to total Group ounces

0.16

TRIFR

Reserves & Resources

0.3Moz

Mineral Reserves

0.2Moz

Measured and Indicated Exclusive Mineral Resources

1.2Moz

Inferred Resources

Qur staff on the ground:

Name: Francis Ndiflah

Job title: Process Plant Trainer at Buzwagi
Tenure: 10 years

Role with Acacia: Francis has completed a number of inlernal training programmes covering process plant operations, mobile equipment handiing, first aid as well as
the company's Rainbow Leadership Programime.

Buzwagi gold production of 145,440 cunces for 2018 was higher than expected, although 46% lower than 2017 as a result of Buzwagi transitioning primarily
to a low-grade stockpile processing operation compared to the processing of run-of-mine ore at higher grades in the previous period. Gold production
benefited from the extended mining of the final cut of the higher grade ore at the bottom of the pit and switchbacks and the better than expected processing
plant performance which drove 6% higher throughput and better than expected recovery rates. Gold sold for the year of 146,630 ounces was in line with
production.

Total tonnes mined of 0.5 million tonnes were significantly lower than 2017 due to the mining of only the final cut of the higher grade ore at the bottom of the
pit and switchbacks. This was delayed from the fourth quarter of 2017 due to the flooding of the pit but was largely completed by the end of 2018.

There was no copper production or sales for the year as the flotation circuit ceased operating in 2017.

Cash costs for the period of US$906 per ounce sold were 53% higher than 2017 (LUS$594/0z), mainly due to the higher average cost valuation relating to the
drawdown of lower grade stockpiles compared 1o the higher-grade mined ounces in 2017 {(US$$812/0z) and lower co-product revenue (US$15/0z), partially
offset by lower direct mining costs as a result of Buzwagi transitioning to a stockpile processing operation (US$491/0z) and lower sales related costs due to
lower sales volumes (US$21/0z).

AISC per ounce sold of US$977 was 46% higher than 2017 {US$867/0z). This was mainly driven by higher cash costs as explained above {US$312/0z) and
the negative impact of the lower sales volumes on individual cost items (US$7/0z), partly offset by lower corporate administration cost allocations (US$7/0z)
and lower sustaining capital expenditure {US%6/0z).

Capital expenditure before reclamation adjustments of US$3.5 miillion was 19% lower than 2017 (US$4.3 million). Capital expenditure for the year mainly
consisted of the expansion of the tailings storage facility (US$2.4 million) and other process plant upgrades (US$1.1 million).

Buzwagi will continue to process stockpiles through 2019 and until mid-2021. Following completion of the mining of the final cut at the bottom of the pit in the
first guarter of 2019, the mill feed will soon be exclusively from stockpiles. Production for 2019 is expected to total approximately 115,000 ounces. As a result
of the lower production and release of nan-cash high cost inventory of approximately {S$285 per ounce, reported AISC in 2019 is expecled to increase to
approximately US$1,140 per ounce sold.



Key mine statistics

Twelve months ended

31 December
{(Unaudited) O — 2018 2017
Key operational information:
| Qunces produced bz —_ 145440 268,785
ﬂces sold R - “—JF 146,630| 160,552
Cash cost per ounice soid ' USSioz 806 | 594
AISC per ounce sold JUSS/oz | emr 667
m()op_per_proc_iucilién ;‘_ 7 Jkibs _;7 h ; I ;__3.9971 )
[Coppersoid ks B I
Mining information: | Fﬁ‘l\
7Tonnes mined Kt 473‘ 15,368
Ore tonnes mined Kt 391 9,309
Reprocessed tailings: r ﬂ
Ore milled ke T T T asme|  42s6]
Head grade gt ‘__i:;H 14 ﬂ
Mill recovery % 89.4% 94.3%
Cash costper tonne mitled ' jUS$1t T e 22
Capital expenditure
— Sustaining capital JSS('000) 3,503 4,338
— Non-cash reclamation asset
adjustments US$(000) (5665  (1,978)
Total capital expenditure ~ |USS{000) (2162)| 2,360

1 These are non-IFRS financial petformance Measures with no standard meaning under IFRS. Refer to the Glossary of Terms on page 182 for gefinitions of “Non-IFRS measures”



Bulyanhulu

Progress in 2018
s improved safety performance, with TRIFR of 0.10 (0.80 in 2017) and zero LTI

« Following the transition to reduced operations in Q4 2017, produced 40,4850z from reprocessing of tailings
+ Progressed essential capital spend of US$7m on the process plant and optimisation study
* Reduced ROP costs to ~US$2m per month

Priorities for 2019
+ Complstion of the optimisation study by end of Q1 2019

« Continue reprocessing tailings at an annual production rate of 35,0000z of gold at an AISC of US$790/0z

+« Complete sustaining capital investment in the process plant

« Ensure reduced operations cost profile is optimised
o

8%

Contribution to total Group ounces

0.10

TRIFR

Reserves & Resources

2.7Moz

Mineral Reserves

2.1Moz

Measured and Indicated Exclusive Mineral Resources

5.7Moz

Inferred Resources

Our staff on the ground:
Name: innocent Msuya
Job title: Physiotherapist at Bulyanhulu

Tenure: 6 years

Role with Acacia: Jnnocent holds a diploma in Physiotherapy and treals employees at the Bulyanhulu Health Cenire as well as providing health education to
prevent work-related musculoskeletal disorders.

Gold production of 40,485 ounces was 77% lower than 2017, as a result of the transition of Bulyanhulu to reduced operations at the end of the third quarter
of 2017. Production consisted solely of the reprocessing of tailings which was 82% higher than 2017, due to operational efficiencies driving higher throughput
and recovery rates, as well as the impact of a drought in the Kahama district which led to a near four-month halt in production frorn reprocessed tailings in the
prior year. Gold sold for the year of 41,555 ounces was 3% higher than production due to the sale of gold on hand at the beginning of the year.

There was no copper production or sales for the year as a result of Bulyanhulu being on reduced operations.

Cash costs of US$599 per ounce sold were 29% lower than 2017 (US$840/0z), mainly due to the lower direct mining costs compared to the prior year as a
result of Bulyanhulu being on reduced operations, and lower sales related costs driven by lower sales volumes, partly offset by the lower preduction base
and co-product revenue,

AISC per ounce sold of US$786 was 43% lower than 2017 (US$1,373/0z) mainly due to lower capital expenditure, lower operating costs and lower corporate
administration cost allocations, partly offset by the lower production base. AISC per ounce sold excludes reduced operations costs of US$28.8 million, higher
than 2017 of US$24.8 million driven by 12 months of reduced eperations in 2018.

Capital expenditure for the year before reclamation adjustments amounted to US$7.1 million, 86% lower than 2017 (US§49.8 million). This was due to the
transition of Bulyanhulu to reduced operations and includes the Bulyanhulu optimisation study costs {US$2.6 million), asset integrity work to the processing
plant facilities (US$2 million) and water management pond upgrades {(US$1.2 million).

We expect Bulyanhulu to remain on reduced operations and to continue to reprocess tailings through the year, at a monthly reduced operaticns cost of
approximately US$2 million. These costs are excluded from AISC on the principle that they are not representative of sustaining operational costs.

Acacia is finalising an optimisation study which is intended to ensure that underground mining, processing and all supporting operations can be
optimised and fit for purpose when underground mining operations at Butyanhulu are in a position to resume, upon the resolution of the disputes with the
Government and the resumption of sales of concentrate. The current stage of the study is expected to be completed by the end of the first quarter



of 2019, The mine will continue with the reprocessing of tallings through 2019 at an annual production rate of approximately 35,000 ounces and an AISC
of approximately US$790 per ounce, which will partially offset the cost of reduced operations.

Key mine statistics Twee monihs onded
(Unaudited) T ) T T20e] 20w
Keyoporationalinformation: | |
Qunces producgd oz I 40,485) 175,491
Qunces sold ﬁoz 41,555| 107,855
Cash cost per ounce sold’ USS/oz 599 840
| AISC per ounce sold’ |usstez T ms| 13w
Reduced operations cost US$("000) | 28,817 24,804
Copper production TKIbs ] - 3,906
Coppersod - 4QE:Z: - ) N D
Run-of-mine: - ] ]
Underground ore tonnes hoisted [th - 596
Ore milled Kt -1 e12]
Head grade _ T
Mill recovery % - 90.1%
Qunces produced ez —ﬁ -| 153279
Cash cost per tonne milled’ sst ' 4 = 126
Reprocessed tailings: h ]
| Ore milled Tk {’——1ﬁ 9 o010
Head grade 1.2 1.4
Mil recovery kA _“—m‘_?sﬁ 48.0%
Qunces produced bz ] 40,485 B 22,212
Capital expenditure R N [ R
- Sustaining capital USS$('000) 3,164 9,033
— Capitalised development US$("000) - 39,543
— Expansionary capital USS('000) 3,899 1,190
7,063 49,766
— Non-cash reclamation asset
adjustments LS$('000) (1,955) [ ¢4,158)
Total bap’?ta] eitpenﬁi!ure ’ U§$(’066) ) 5,108 745,6075

1 These are non-IFRS financial performance measures with no standarc meaning under IFRS, Refer to the Glossary of Terms on page 182 for definitions of “Non-IFRS measures”.



Exploration and development*

“A review of our exploration portfolio in 2018 resulted in a much deeper
understanding of the potential of our licences and we are now in a position to focus on
those with the best potential in the year ahead. Meanwhile we took the decision to exit
the South Houndé JV in Burkina Faso and explore the possibility of divestment or
bringing in a partner for our licences in western Kenya”.

Hannes Henckel Head Of Discovery

*All financial information presented in the Exploration and Development section cf the Operating Review is unaudited

Tanzania

» Exit of Nyanzaga Project for US$10m and a US$15m capped royalty
+ FCC approval for OreCorp to increase interest to 51%

+ Completion agreement for CreCorp to move to 100%

+« Awaiting final approvals at year-end

Mali

« 5 permits across 191 sq km in Senegal Mali Shear Zone (“SMSZ")

+ SMSZ host to 50+Moz

o  Over 25 targets identified

s 2019 budget - US$3 million

Kenya

+« 1,587 sq km land package

+ First mover advantage

+ Declared 1.2Moz @ 12.6g/t

» Scoping study in progress

+ Review of economics looking at different mining methods to extract the resource
Burkina Faso

« 4 JVs over 2,700 sq km

¢« Houndé Belt host to 10Moz+

« Numerous targets across portfolio

« Agreement to divest Scuth Houndé JV to pariner Sarama Resources for US$4m, 1-2% NSR and 5m warrants exercisable for 5 years (subject to final
documentation)

* 2019 budget — US$5 million
e  2.1Moz @ 1.5 git inferred resource

Qur staff on the ground:
Name: Eida Mahenda

Job title: Organisational Effectiveness Qfficer
Tenure: 4 years

Role with Acacia: Eida holds a Bachelor's Degree in Public Relations and Markefing from Saint Augustine University in Tanzania. Through Acacia, Elda has
gained training in specialist fields of human resources and became an Organisational Effectiveness Officer in 2018,

Progress in 2018

+ Reviewed our exploration portfolio

¢ Approximalely 45,000 metres of drilling completed at Gokona

» Divestment of the Scuth Houndé JV in Burkina Faso.

s Completed drilling programme at Tintinba-Bané Project JV in Mali
Priorities for 2019

» Seek suitable partner for licences in western Kenya

»  Drilling of active JVs in Central Houndé, Burkina Faso
» Focus on Gourbassi Est licence in Mali

+ Continued drilling at Gokona, surface drilling programme planned at potential underground mining area for Nyabirama



Brownfield Projects
In 2018, brownfield exploration was focused exclusively at North Mara and restricted fo underground diamond drilling at Gokona.

Surface diamond drilling on the Nyabirama deposit was suspended in late 2017 but additional driling is planned in 2019 fo fest the underground potential
below the eastern side of the open pit.

North Mara

Gokona Underground
in addition to the grade control drilling, approximately 45,000 metres of infill and extensional diamond drilling was completed at Gokona Underground during
2018; with a maximum of four underground diamond drill rigs in operation.

Drilling fram the hanging wall exploration drill drive developed at the 1030mRL elevation defined the Upper Central area beneath the open pit for mine
development planning, with multiple significant intersections:

o UGKD453 15.0m @ 13.2g/t Au from 176m
. UGKD457 17.0m @ 6.3g/t Au from 225m
«  UGKD4T6 10.0m @ 10.8gt Au from 234m
o UGKD486 30.0m @ 4.3/t Au from 219m
«  UGKDS03 25.0m @ 4.6g/t Au from 269m
o UGKD441 30.0m @ 5.6g/t Au from 228m
«  UGKD451 30.0m @ 9.0g/t Au from 200m
«  UGKD480 30.0m @ 4.6/t Au from 163m

«  UGKD489 31.0m @ 7.0g/t Au from 184m
+ UGKD516 19.0m @ 6,74 Au from 222m

«  UGKD431 26.0m @ 4.8g/t Au from 165m

The Central mineralisation is cut by an east-west trending dolerite dyke that displaces the mineralisation; with additional driling required to adequately
delineate the depth extensions of the Central zone.

Drilling during 2018 also tested the third mining panel in the West zone; with better widths and grades seen below the lower grade base of the second panel:

«  UGKD448 20.0m @ 8.7g/t Au from 157m
o UKGC 01087 30.0m @ 6.1gi/t Au from 201m
«  UKGC_00440 34.0m @ 6.9g/t Au from 200m
o UKGC 01068 26.0m @ 5.2¢/t Au from 227m
s+  UKGC_01011 l 33.0m @ 8.4g9/t Au from 224m
+ UKGC 01050 30.7m @ 3.1g# Au from 221m
« UKGC 01076 24.0m @ 8.7g/ Au from 318m
o UKGC 01079 24.0m @ 3.5g/t Au from 233m
« UKGC 01083 26.0m @ 3.8g/t Au from 169m

A programme of initial holes to test the Far West zone was also undertaken, with some of the initial results showing more moderate grade mineralisation:
s  UGKD551 24.0m @ 5.5g/t Au from 176m
+  UGKDS553 13.0m @ 4.9g/t Au from 225m
+«  UGKD554 17.0m @ 4.3g/t Au from 234m

Late inr 2018, a programme was cornmenced to test for the presence of higher-grade mineralisation at depth immediately 1o the west of the Gokona Fault.
Initial results were highly encouraging with some significant downhole intersections:

« UGKD501 20.0m @ 5.0g/t Au from 564m

«  UGKDS502 10.0m @ 14.1g4t Au from 505m; and 18.0m @ 17 .9g/t Au from 537m

o  UGKD510 23.0m @ 110.2g/t Au from 426m; and 6.0m @ 14.8g/t Au from 502m; and 19.0m @ 3.2g/t Au from 549m
s UGKD546 18.0m @ 14.4g/ Au from 582m

Drilling of this deeper zone located 300-400 metres vertically below the current East Decline will continue in 2019; as well as infill driling of the Lower East
zone when the East Dedline reaches it in the second quarter of 2019



A total of 39,000 metres of underground infill and extensional diamond drilling is currently pianned for Gokona in 2019; with an additional 16,000 metres of grade
control drilling. An additional surface diamond drilling programme of 13,000 metres is planned for the eastem side of the potential underground mining area for
Nyabirama.

Bulyanhulu
No drilling was conducted at Bulyanhulu.

Greenfield Exploration

In 2018, Acacia commenced a review of its exploration portfolio and took the decision te consider divestment or explore the possibility of bringing in a partner
for its licences in westermn Kenya. In November 2018 the Company also signed a binding conditional agreement with its partner, Sarama Resources Ltd, to
terminate the eam-in agreement in respect of the South Houndé Project in south-western Burkina Faso. Acacia remains committed to exploration in Burkina
Faso with various eam-in agreements still active and which provide exposure to approximately 2,000 km? of the prospective Houndé Beit. In 2019 our
exploration plans focus on Burkina Faso and Mali.

Kenya

Liranda Corridor

In May 2017 a maiden resource of 1.31 million ounces of gold at 12.1 grams per tonne was declared for the Isulu prospect. This resource was
unconstrained.

A scoping study completed in September 2018 indicated a reduction in the mineable portion of the resource to 4.7 Mt at 5.92 g/t Au (fully diluted) containing
894 koz gold with a proposed mining scenaric giving an ore production rate of 400 to 500 kt/y using mechanised mining and treated through conventional
gravity and CIL processing. However, the resource can potentially improve with further drilling and the opportunity exists for the deposit to be mined using
conventional mining methods, which are typically used in ‘small scale’ mines. Therefore, Acacia is currently looking at different options and exploring the
possibility of bringing in a partner who has the necessary conventional mining expertise to take the project forward.

At the end of November BARA consulting was contracled to assess the economics of the project considering a conventional mining method and a different
production profile. It is expected that this will significantly enhance the economics of the project creating an opportunity for a partner with the necessary
conventional mining expertise. The study is expected to be finalised during the first quarter of 2019.

During the year drilling in the Isulu South East tested for structures parallel to Isulu within five kilometres along strike from the existing inferred resources.
Nine diamond holes for 3,400 metres were completed. Mineralisation within shears of similar orientation to the Isulu prospect was intersected as targeted.
Assays returned broad zones of lower-grade mineralisation including some medium-grade intervals:

+« LCDO0206: 205m @ 1.13 g/t Auand 1m @ 3.68 g/t Au

« LCD0209: 31.8m @ 1.29g/t Ay, incl. 7.7m @ 3.05 g/t Au
+ LCDO210: 13.5m @ 0.90 g/t Au, incl. Tm @ 7.56g/t Au

« LCDO0216 0.5m @ 4.2g/t Au and 1.8m @ 1.18g/t Au

Mutti-elernent analysis of the soils collected in early 2018 and modetling of strong VTEM geophysical anomalies identified a ‘blind’ target between the Isulu
and Bushiangala, the so-called GAP target. Interpretation of the geophysical signature and a weli-defined pathfinder element leakage soil anomaly pointed to
a mineralised infrusive body. Drilling on this target started at the end of June and was completed in August 2018. Three diamond holes, totalling 1514
metres, were drilled into the GAP target. The results received show several wide and weakly mineralised shear zones, best results include:

« LCDO0214: 0.5m @ 1.15 g/t Au,

The intersected mineralisation is hon-economic for an underground scenario and drilling was stopped.

Lake Zone
In the Lake Zone Camp geological mapping and scil geochemical surveys were completed across several potential target areas including Ramba-Lumba,
Rambi Aila, Aila Centre and Ochiegue-Ramula. Some of the targets were foliowed up by diamond drilling.

Aila-Centre target was covered by mapping and soil sampling. Previously unknown ultramafic rocks and diorite intrusion were identified supporting the
geological interpretation based on muiti-element soil geochemistry. These rocks are in contact with felsic volcanics, the conlact is strongly anomalous in gold.
Numerous artisanal workings exist along the Aita trend. The target was not tested further during 2018.

The Rambi-Aila target, related lo a colonial mine, was drilled by three DD holes for 1068.4 metres. Three zones of weak alteration and quartz-carbonale
veining with minor pyrite mineralisation were intercepted. The assays returned no significant intercepts.

The Ramba-Lumba target is characterised by multiple parallel and anastomosing shear structures and quartz veins mapped in a >3km long and up to 600
meters wide corridor. The shallow parts of the mineralisation were partially mined in the 1980s and 1990s. Previously unknown ultramafic and conglomerate
rocks have been identified. A total of 16 DD holes, totalling 5789 metres, were drilled into the target. All holes intercepted strong alteration, sheared and
mineralised structures and quartz veining. Significant intersections include:

¢ LZD0002: 1.5m @ 4.34g/t Au and 2.0m @ 30.7g/t Au.

+ LZD0004: 1.0m @ 1.10g/t Au and 1.6m @ 6.40g/t Au

« LZD0006: 0.5m @ 2.65g/t Au and 1.0m @ 3.30g/t Au

« LZD0007: 2.1m @ 4.81g/t Au; 1.0m @ 1.33g/t Auand 2.7m @ 2.91g/t Au
« LZDO0008: 0.7m @ 1.68g/t Au

« LZD0009: 0.5m @ 1.18g/t Au, 2.8m @ 1.42g/t Au



« LZD0010:4.2m @ 4.95g/ Au, 0.5m @ 2.34g/t Au and 0.9m @9.92g/t Au

s  LZD0014: 2.5m @ 0.93g/t Auand 1.2m @ 1.99g/t Au.

o LZD0016:0.5m @ 8.12g/t Au, 0.8m @ 1.33g/t Au, 1m @ 1.25g/t Au and 1m @ 1.15g/t Au.
» LZD0017: 0.5m @ 1.20g/t Au, 0.6m @ 1.34g/t Auand 1m @ 3.02g/t Au

« LZD0019: 0.5m @ 2.98g/t Au

The target does not appear to have potential 1o support a mid-tier mine. Remodelling of the mineralisation is in progress.

The Ochiegue-Ramula system consists of two targets: Ramula prospect and Ochiegue corridor. These targets, situated only one kilometre apart, have
potential for the discovery of a 300 to 500 Koz gold deposit which may be of interest to a potential partner with the necessary conventional mining expertise.
Praviously drilled and modelled in 2018, the diorite hosted Ramula mineralisation was estimated (unconstrained non-compliant resource) at 0.670Mt @
12.8g/t Au for 275Koz Au (uncapped) or @ 9.10g /t Au for 187Koz Au (grade capped @ 30g/t Au). 9 holes totalling 3161 metres were drilled inta the targets.

The holes intercepted multiple shear zones and veins of various orientations hosted by strongly altered (Fe-carbonate, sericite, silica) intermedliate volcanics,
as well as quartz-feidspar porphyries and diorite. Betler infercepts include:

»  RMDOO001: Tm @ 2.26 gt Au

¢ RMDO0002: 2.1m @ 1.15g/t Au from 66.9m and 1m @ 1.41 Au, 1.2m @ 9.15g/t Au, 5.6m @ 2.08g/t Au, 0.6m @ 24.9 g/t Au, 13.1m @ 3.26 g/t Au and
0.5m @ 18.55 gft

¢ RMD0003: 0.5m @ 22.9gt Au and 1m @ 2.23 g/t Au

« RMD0004: 3m @ 2.74 g/t Au, 1.1m @ 5.96g/ Au, 4.3m @ 0.93g/t and 1.3m @ 7.55 gt Au

e RMDO004: 3m @ 2.74 git Au, 1.1m @ 5.96g/t Au, 4.3m @ 0.93g/tand 1.3m @ 7.55 g/t Au

e RMDO005: 0.5m @ 1.95 g/t Au, 0.5m @ 1.56 git Au, 0.7m @ 1.24 git Au and 0.8m @ 27.0 gt Au
«  RMDO006: 1.1m @ 1.51 gt Au

e RMD000S: 0.8m @ 6.28g/t Au, 1.5m @ 1.58g/t Au, Tm @ 3.33g/t Au, Tm @ 2.23g/t Au

« RMDOO00S: 1m @ 1.94g/t Au and 4m @ 6.40g/t Au

Because of the potential divestment/JV process a minimum expenditure budget has been put in place for 2019. The number of staff members was reduced
to 15.

Burkina Faso

Through 2018, work in the Houndé Belt concentrated on the South Houndé JV ground. When the decision was taken to stop all work at Tankoro, activities
were direcled to the Central Houndé JV ground {Thor Explorations Limited) and the Pinarello-Konkolikan JV ground (Canyon Resources). Activities
comprised geological and regolith mapping, geochemistry sampling and |P surveys on regional targets. A total of 19,391 air-core/reverse circulation metres
were drilled into various targets.

South Houndé JV (Sarama Resources Limited)

Tankoro Corridor

In November 2018 Acacia signed a binding conditional agreement with its partner, Sarama Resources Lid, {o terminate the eam-in agreement in respect of
the South Houndé Project in south-western Burkina Faso. The termination of the eam-in agreement is conditional on definitive documentation being agreed
by the parties before 30 April 2019.

Acacia’s divestment of South Houndé fits with the Company’s strategy of divesting certain non-core assets as part of an ongoing review of its exploration
portfolio. The agreement will allow Sarama to move to 100% ownership of the South Houndé Project by making a payment of US$2 million in staged
payments. Acacia will also receive US$2 million once commercial production commences and retain an improved net smefter refum royalty (NSR} of 1-2%,
based on a sliding rate basis on gold price received and a capped gold production of 1Moz Au. In addition, Acacia will be granted 5 million warrants for
common shares in Sarama, exercisable for five years.

Central Houndé JV (Thor Explorations Limited)

Detailed field geological mapping and rock-chip sampling continued on the Légué-Bongui Corridor and on the Queéré soil anomaly. Regional scil sampling
covered the north-western part of the Ouéré license. An IP geophysical survey, comprising 40 line kilometres, was conducted on the Legué South-West
target.

A number of anomalies were identified and followed up by drilling. A programme of 6,658 melres of combined air-core and reverse circulation drilling was
completed. The programme was aimed at testing targets on the Légué-Bongui Corridor (LBC)} and on the recently identified targets on the Peké-Poya
Corridor (PPC). At LBC 4,406 metres were completed. The purpose of the drilling was to test a four-kilornetre-long arsenic go'd + IP chargeability shear
frend. Best results include:

«  CHAC00129: 4m @ 3g/t Au

»  CHACD0131: 18m @ 0.56g/t Au
o« CHAC00134: 4m @ 1.4g/t Au

+« CHACO00081: 6m @ 0.7g/t A

« CHACO00042: 2m @ 2.1g/t Au

» CHACO00017: 4m @ 1 g/t Au



The drilling defined a wide alteration halo consistently developed along the targeted trend (sericite, silicification, kaclinite and carbonate) with anomalous Au
grades, which confirms the presence of an Au fertile structure. Alteration and Au anomalism form a consistent trend over four kilometres that will require
follow-up testing, particularly considering the widely spaced drill lines completed (800-2,000 metre line spacing).

At PPC 2,252 metres were completed. The drilling aimed to test prospective gold anomalous soils, coincidental with mapped NE 8 NNW structures, sericite
altered diorite dykes and mineralised contacts with granitoids and intermediate volcanics. Best results received so far include:

o CHAC00165: 2m @ 10.5g/t Au
« CHAC00186: 4m @ 1.5/t Au
« CHACO0185: 5m @ 2.49/t Au
«  CHAC00190: 8m @ 0.5g/t Au

Both targets (PPC and LBC) are characterised by strong alteration and extensive soil anomalies. The limited amount of drilling to date was widely spaced
and cannot be seen as being representative for the full potential offered by the targets. Acacia gives both targets a high priority ranking; follow-up drilling is
planned for early 2019. A number of additional drill targets remain untested.

Pinarello & Konkolikan JV {Canyon Resources Limited)
Geology and regolith mapping and rock-chip sampling has been conducted on the Tankoro Corridor South Zone and on the regional soil anomalies.

An IP geophysical survey, comprising 53 line kilometres, was conducted on the Tangolobé target.

Air-core drilling started in mid-June 2018 on the Western part of the Tangolobé target. A total of 9,940 metres were drilled, returning only one significant
resutt (2m @ 1.11g/t Au). In view of these disappointing results it was decided to stop all exploration on the licence.

Detailed geology and regolith mapping and infill soil sampling was conducted over the 10-killometre-long Teninbo soil anomaly (Pinarello East). The mapping
shows the presence of sub-parallel sets of shears, moderate sericite alteration in a favourable structural setting, associated with extensive soil anomalism,
artisanal workings are found along the Teninbo trend.

No drilling has taken place to date. Air-core/ reverse circulation reconnaissance drilling is planned for 2019.

Frontier JV (Metallor SA)

No field work was conducted on Frontier during 2018; the area is difficult to access due to a lack of infrastructure, and there are also some security concemns.
The programme has been put on hold until further security assessments are completed. Earlier soil surveys conducted in 2017 revealed strong gold
anomalies associated with favourable structural settings. The ground is considered to be highly prospective and a drill programme is planned for 2019 once
infrastructure has been improved and measures have been taken to ensure that our staff can work in a secure environment.

Mali
During 2018 we coentinued to explore our properties in the Senegal-Mali Shear Zone (SMSZ) in southwest Mati.

Tintinba-Bané Project JV {Demba Camara and Cadem Gold)
A programme of 4,527 metres of combined air-core and reverse circulation driling was completed in 2018. The drilling aimed to continue testing different soil
anomalies and structural targets but failed to demonstrate significant or continuous gold mineralisation. Best results include:

«  TIACO0068: 8m @ 0.45g/t Au
«  TIAC00069: 6m @ 0.57g/t Au
o TIAC00074: 2m @ 1.3g/t Au

«  TIACO0067: 4m @ 0.56g/t Au

A full review of the exploration data in the fourth quarter of 2018 (including the participation of an external geological consultant) showed that the Tintinba —
Bane Project appears to have limited potential to host a significant deposit. A decision will be made in the first quarter of 2019 whether further work on the
project can be justified.

Gourbassi Est — 100% Acacia (ABG Exploration Mali SARL)

Work was limited to a regional soil sampling survey and geology and regolith mapping. The results from the Au seil survey show a strong >80 ppm Au, NNE
striking, scil anomaly in the westem portion of the tenement. The soil anomaly has a strike length of approximately three kilometres. A weaker NNE trending
two-kilometre-long anomaly was identified in the eastern part. The size and strength of these anomalies are highly encouraging and warrant follow up by
drilling. Drilling is planned in 2019.

Future Plans in West Africa
A review of our exploration portiolio resulled in a decision to exit the South Houndé JV in Burkina Faso. We also achieved a much deeper understanding of
the potential of our licences in the region and a decision will be taken with regard to other JVs in West Africa during 2019.

In Mali work in 2019 will focus on Gourbassi Est (100% Acacia) and will consist of infill soil sampling and an IP survey. Drilling is planned for late second
quarter. A recent review of all work done on the Tintinba — Bane licence led to the conclusion that an economic ore body is uniikely to be found on the JV
ground.

In Burkina Faso we have three active JVs, two of which (Central Houndé and Pinarelio} have seen limited drill testing. Results so far point e the Central
Houndé ground having the best potential to deliver a mine. Drilling of Central Houndé will therefore be a priority in 2019.

The western licences of the Pinarelio ground are seen as having fow potential to host significant mineralisation; activities in early 2019 wilt, therefore, be
directed at testing the substantial Teninbo anomaly at Pinarello East. A decision concerning the future of Pinarello will be made by the end of June 2019.

Surface exploration results at Frontier are exciting and under normal circumstances rigs would have tested the ground during 2018; however activities were
put on hold due to infrastructure and security issues. Should conditions allow, drill testing is planned for 2019.



STRATEGIC REPORT
FINANCIAL REVIEW

The strong operational performance and the gain on the sale of a non-core
royalty early in the year drove positive earnings and cash flow for 2018. In an
effort to minimise the impact of the current challenging operating environment,
we increased our focus on cost control, cash flow management and capital
allocation.

Jaco Maritz Chief Financial Officer

“The Group financial performance was resilient despite the impact of the planned transitioning to
low grade stockpile processing at Buzwagi and Bulyanhulu remaining on reduced operations.”

+ Revenue of US$663.8 million was US$87.7 million lower than 2017, with the US$12 per ounce higher average realised gold price potentially offset by the
12% lower sales base in line with lower production.

e Cash costs increased to US$680 per ounce sold in 2018 from US$587 per ounce sold in 2017, driven by the higher average cost valuation relating to the
drawdown of lower grade stockpiles at Buzwagi compared to the higher-grade mined ounces in 2017, the lower production base and lower co-product
revenue, partly offset by lower direct operating cosis.

s AISC of US$905 per ounce sold was 3% higher than 2017 (U S$875 per ounce sold), mainly due to higher cash costs, the impact of lower sales volumes
on individual cost tems and fower non-cash share-based payment revaluation credits, partly offset by lower capitaiised development costs at Bulyanhulu
and North Mara, lower sustaining capita! expenditure driven by Bulyanhulu being on reduced operations and lower comporate administration expenditure
due to the restructuring of corporate and shared services offices.

« EBITDA decreased from US$267.2 million in 2017 to U5$225.9 miflion in 2018, mainly due to the above-mentioned factors, partly offset by lower
exploration expenditure and lower other charges. Other charges of US$36.1 million is lower than the prior year of US$90.4 million driven by the gain
on the sale of a non-core royalty for LIS$45 million, partly offset by higher reduced operations costs at Bulyanhulu and higher legal fees.

« impairment charges of US$28.9 million, mainly refated to the Nyanzaga exploration project in Tanzania, following the agreement to self the Group's
stake in the project, combined with the impairment of historical exploration assets during the year end carrying value reviews.

« The tax expense of US$37.9 million compared to the tax credit of US$2.3 million in 2017. The tax expense for 2018 is driven by the current year profit
generated at North Mara, partly offset by losses incurred at Bulyanhulu. included in the current year expense is a 2017 final North Mara tax charge of
USS3.1million.

* As aresult of the above, net eamings amounted 1o US$58.9 million, compared to a net loss in 2017 of US$707.4 million (after a net impairment of
US$644 million), with eamings per share of US14.4 cents compared to a loss per share of US172.5 cents (afier impact of impairment of US157.1 cents).

»  Adjusted net eamings of US$44.3 million were US$101.9 million lower than 2017. Adjusted eamings per share amounted te US10.8 cents, down from
US35.7 cents in 2017.

« Operational cash inflows of LUS$126.1 million compared o outflows of US$23 million in 20717, primariiy as a result of lower working capital outfiows due to
the build-up of concentrate on hand which impacted 2017 compared to the draw-down of ore stockpiles at Buzwagi in 2018, partly offset by lower
adjusted EBITDA.

The following review provides a detailed analysis of our consolidated results for the 12 months ended 31 December 2018 and the main factors affecting
financial statements. )t should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial information and accompanying notes on pages 124 fo 163, which have
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted for use in the European Union ("IFRS").

Revenue

Revenue for 2018 of US$663.8 miltion was 12% (US$87.7 million} lower than 2017 due to a 12% decrease in gold sales volumes mainly from Bulyanhulu
(66koz) driven by lower production following the transition to reduced operations at the mine, and from Buzwagi (14koz) driven by the planned transition to
stockpile processing. This was partly offset by a US$12 per ounce increase in the average net realised gold price from US$1,260 per ounce sold in 2017 to
US$1,272 per ounce sold in 2018.

The net realised gold price for the year of US$1,272/0z was US$3/0z higher than the average market price of US$1,269/0z due to the impact of gold price
protection measures in the form of put options entered into during the year which delivered realised gains of US$1.8 million as a result of the strike price of
the put options of US$1,320 exceeding the average market price for the period. Included in tota! revenue is co-product revenue of US$3.8 million relating to
silver sales, 48% lower than the prior year (US$7.2 million), as a resuli of the lack of concentrate sales from March 2017 combined with the lower production
base. There have been no copper sales since the concentrate export ban commenced and copper production ceased in September 2017.

The unsoid concenfrafe on hand as a result of the concentrate ban remains unchanged at approximately 186,000 ounces of gold, 12.1 miilion pounds of
copper and 159,000 cunces of silver. These contained melals are in a condition to be sold, and will deliver revenue, net of government royalties of
approximately US$247 million {at 2018 average spot metal prices).

Cost of sales

Cost of sales of US$444.4 million for 2018 was 3% lower than 2017 (US$458.4 million). The key aspects impacting the cost of sales for the year include a
17% decrease in depreciation and amortisation mainly due to the lower production base and carrying value of assets at Buzwagi as mining was concluded
and at Bulyanhulu afler the 2017 impairment; and 72% fower third party selling costs due to the lower sales volumes; partly offset by a 13% increase fn
royalty expenses due to the higher average realised gold price and the increase in royalty rates from 4% to 6%, as well as the new 1% clearing fee on
mineral exports; and a 2% increase in direct mining costs as a result of lower capitalised mining costs at Bulyanhulu and North Mara.

1 These are non-IFRS measures, Rafer to page 182 for definifions,



The table below provides a breakdown of cost of sales:

(Us$'000) T Dovomber

2018 2017
ICost of Sales
Direct mining costs 304,614 299,591
Third party smelting and refining fees 2,679 9,675
Realised {gains)/ losses on economic hedges’ (4486) 743
Realised gains on gold hedges {1,784) (2,693)
Royalty expense 50,814 44930
Depreciation and amortisation? 88,497 106,201
Total 444,374 458,447

1 Economic hedges nclude zero cost collars for Brent crude and, in prior years, copper.
2 Depraciation and amartisation includes credits relating to the depreciation campanent of the cost of inventory for 2018 of US$5.5million (2017: US$26.9 million).

A detailed breakdown of direct mining expenses is shown in the table below:

(US$'000) T Docomber
2018 2017
Direct mining costs
lLabour 46,737 83,238
Energy and fuel 57,660 80,461
Consumables 66477 85,698
Maintenance 49,146 92,603
Contracted services 88,530 124,592
General administration costs 60,575 77.546
IGross diract mining costs 369,125 544138
Bulyanhulu Reduced operations cost’ {28,817 {14,227)
ICapitalised mining costs (35,694) (230,320)
[Total R 304,614 288,591

1 Includes non-sustaining costs refating te Bulyanhulu reduced operations costs.

Gross direct mining costs of US$369.1 million for 2018 were 32% lower than US$544.1 million in 2017. The overall decrease was driven by the impact of the
changes in mining activities at Bulyanhulu (US$127.1 millicn) and Buzwagi {US$72 million), partly offset by an increase in costs at North Mara as follows:

1. Higher underground contracted services at Gekona due to the improved performance of underground related contractors driven by higher productivity
rates (US$6.6 million).

2. Higher energy and fuel costs driven by increased power generation as a result of increased underground mining activities combined with a higher fuel
price (US$6.1 millien).

3. Higher general administration costs driven by a higher shared service cost allocation from corporate offices due to reduced activity at the other sites and
an increase in inventory obsclescence provisions due to the ageing of supplies (US$5.6 miliion).

4. Increased consumables mainly driven by higher underground support materials as a result of a 25% increase in backfill placed and higher open pit
explosives costs due fo an increase in tonnes mined (US$5.1 mitlion).



Capitalised direct mining costs, consisting of capitalised development costs and investment in inventory is made up as follows:

Twalve months ended

kuss'ﬂom 31 December

2918 2017

Capitalised direct mining costs

ICapitalised development costs {43,486) (85,388
KInvestment in)/ drawdown of inventory_{ 7,792 { 140,9_:3)‘
[Total capitalised direct mining costs (35,894)) (230,320)

Capitalised direct mining costs were significantly lower than 2017, primarily driven by the net drawdown of inventory in 2018 related to a drawdown in ore
inventory at Buzwagi after the transition to stockpile processing compared to the net investiment in inverttory in 2017 as a result of the buiid-up of finished
go'd concentrate inventory at Bulyanhulu and Buzwagi after the imposition of the concentrate ban, combined with a decrease in capitalised development
costs mainly driven by the cessation of development activities at Bulyanhulu and the lower stripping costs at North Mara, as a resull of a lower strip ratio at
the Nyabirama pit.

Central costs

Total central costs of US$23.7 million were 27% higher than 2017 (US$18.7 million) driven by a lower non-cash share-based payment revaluation credit
compared o the prior year which resulted from a greater decrease in the share price and share price performance compared to the global mining index,
impacting on the valuation of future share-based payment liabilities to employees. This was partly offset by a 12% reduction in corporate administration costs
mainiy as a result of lower labour costs after the restructuring of corporate and shared services offices, lower consulling and professional fees and the
increased focus on cost control.

Twelve months ended

KUS$000) 31 Dacember

— ]
2018 2017

ICorporate administration 23,813 26,913
[Share-based payments {74y (8,236)
Total central costs B 23,739 18,677

Exploration and evaluation costs

Exploration and evaluation costs of US$13.3 million were 46% lower than 2017 (US$24.8 million) in line with the reduced budget for the year. The key focus
areas for the year were Greenfield exploration programmes in West Kenya amounting to US$6.2 million and Greenfield exploration programmes in West
Africa amounting to US$5.5 million.

Corporate social responsibility expenses

Corporate social responsibility costs of US$8.8 million were in line with the prior year of US$8.2 million. Corporate soclal responsibility overheads and central
initiatives amounted to LUS$3.9 million in 2018 and were 15% lower than 2017. General community projects funded from the Acacia Maendeleo Fund
amounted to US$4.9 million, 35% higher than 2017, driven by the timing of projects and the number of qualifying initiatives identified.

Impairment charges

During the year, OreCorp, Acacia’s JV partner in the Nyanzaga Project in Tanzania, executed its option under the earm-in agreement to increase its stake to
51% in the project through the payment of US$3 million to Acacia. Acacia also signed a completion agreement fo transfer its remaining 49% stake to
OreCorp for USS7 million and a net smelter royalty capped at US$15 million based on future production. As a result of the agreement, and Management's
commitrent to a sale, Acacia expecls to recover the value of the asset through sale and not through value in use and as such has valued the asset at fair
value less costs to sell of US$10 millien and recorded an impairment charge of US$24.2 million and reclassified the associated non-current assets and
liabilities helkd for sale on the balance sheet.

In addition, as part of the year-end carrying value assessment we have impaired US$3.2 million of property plant and equipment mainly relating to previously
capitalised drilling costs in Tanzania and US$1.5 million relating to other historical exploration assets. Refer to Note 6 of the consolidated financial statements
for further details.

Other charges

Other charges amounted to US$36.1 million in 2018, compared to US5%$80.4 million in 2017. The main contributors include Budyarthulu reduced operations
costs not included within all-in sustaining costs of US$28.8 million, legal fees driven by the concentrate export ban and historical outstanding tax matters of
US$28.4 million, retrenchment costs of US$5.3 million, foreign exchange losses of US$5.3 million, one-off legal settiement costs relating to a North Mara
village royalty settlement of US$3 million, disallowed indirect taxes of US$2.6 million and unrealised losses on econemic hedges of US$2.3 million. The
charges were largely offset by the gain on the sale of a non-core royalty of US$45 million. Refer to note @ of the consolidated financia! statements for details.

Finance expense and income

Finance expense of US$13.2 million was 6% higher than 2017 of U$$12.4 million. The key components were premiums pald on gold put options (US$3.9
million), higher accretion expenses of US$3.6 million relating to the discounting of the environmental reciamation liability, US$2.3 million relating to the
servicing of the US$150 million undrawn revolving credit facility and borrowing costs refating to the Bulyanhulu CIL facility {US$1.9 mitlfon) which were lower
than the prior year due to a lower outstanding facility following repayments. Other costs include bank charges and other finance costs of US$1 million.

Finance income relates predominantly 10 interest received on money market funds and interest charged on non-current receivables. Refer to note 11 of the
consolidated financial statements for details.



Taxation matters

The tax expense of US$37.9 million compared fo a tax credit of US$2.3 million in 2017. The tax expense for 2018 is driven by the current year profit
generated at North Mara, partly offset by losses incurred at Bulyanhulu and an increase in the associated deferred tax asset. Included in the current year
expense is a 2017 final North Mara tax charge of US$3.1 million. The effective tax rate of 39% (2017: 0.4%) mainly reflects the impact of non-deductible
expenses and losses in exploration and corporate entities for which no deferred tax asset is recognised partly offset by the utilisation of previously
unrecognised tax losses at Buzwagi.

During 2018, we made provisional corporate tax payments of US$38.2 million relating to North Mara, which was based on North Mara's expecled full year
profitability. These provisional corporate tax payments have been offset against the indirect tax receivable covered under previous agreements with the
Tanzanian Revenue Authority, and as a result, were not paid in cash. In addition, we have also offset US$4.2 million relating to the final 2017 corporate tax
payment relating to North Mara.

Net earnings and earnings per share
As a result of the factors discussed above, net eamings for 2018 were US$58.9 million, against the prior year loss of US$707.4 million.

Eamings per share for 2018 amounted to US14.4 cents, compared to the prior year loss per share of US172.5 cents per share. The increase was driven by
the higher earnings, with no change in the underlying issued shares.

Adjusted net earnings and adjusted earmnings per share

Adjusted net earnings were US$44.3 million compared to US$146.2 million in 2017 and reflect the impact of the reduced eperations. Net earnings for the
year as described above have been adjusted for the impact of items such as the gain on sale of a non-core mineral royalty, impairment charges, prior year
tax provisions, discounting of indirect tax receivables, restructuring costs, legal settlements as well as Bulyanhulu reduced operations cost. Refer to page 183
for reconciliation between net profit and adjusted net eamings.

Adjusted eamings per share for 2018 amounted to US10.8 cenls, a decrease of US24.9 cents from 2017 adjusted earnings per share of US35.7 cents.

Financial position

Acacia ended the year with cash and cash equivalents on hand of US$130.2 million, 62% up on the balance as at 31 December 2017. The Group’s cash and
cash equivalents are with counterparties whom the Group considers to have an appropriate credit rating. Location of credit risk is determined by physical
location of the bank branch or counterparty. Investments are held mainly in United States dollars, with cash and cash equivalents in other foreign currencies
maintained for operational requirements.

During 2013, a US$142 million facility (“Facility”} was put in place to fund the bulk of the costs of the construction of the Bulyanhulu tailings retreatment
project (“Project”). The Facility has a term of seven years with a spread over Libor of 250 basis points. The seven year Facility is repayable in ten equal
instalments (bi-annual) over the term of the Facility, after a two year repayment holiday peried. The interest rate has been fixed at 3.6% through the use of an
interest rate swap. The full facility of US$142 million was drawn in 2013. During 2018, the 6th and 7th repayments amounting to US$28.4 million were made.
At 31 December 2018, the outstanding capital balance is US$42.6 million compared to US$71 million at the end of 2017.

The above complements the existing undrawn revolving credit facility of US$150 million, which runs until November 2019,

The net book value of property, plant and equipment decreased from US$770.6 million as at 31 December 2017 to US$761.2 million as at 31 December
2018 mainly due to depreciation charges of US$90.3 million, non-cash reclamation asset adjustment credits of US$8.5 million, assets impaired and
tfransferred to assets held for sale of US$3.9 million, partly offset by capital expenditure of US$92.2 million as discussed below. Refer to note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements for further details.

The current portion of inventories increased to US$312.9 million at 31 December 2018 from US$291.9 million at 31 December 2017 due to the reallocation of
ore stockpiles to be processed at Buzwagi in the short term and an increase in supplies inventory at North Mara and Buzwagi. Total finished gold ounces on
hand of approximately 199,000 ounces as at 31 December 2018 comprised approximately 186,000 ounces of gold in concentrate and 13,000 ounces of gold
in doré.

Total indirect tax receivables increased from US$170.7 million as at 31 December 2017 to US$178.7 million as at 31 December 2018. The increase was
driven by a further US$54.3 million of VAT outflows, net of adjustments, for which no cash VAT refunds were received and the part reversal of prior
discounting provisions of US$0.6 million, offset by the full year provisional corporate tax payments relating to North Mara of US$38.2 million, as well as a final
2017 corporate tax payment of US$4.2 million and foreign exchange revaluation losses of US$4.5 million. The provisional corporate tax payments have been
offset against indirect tax receivables in line with an existing agreement with the Tanzanian Revenue Authority.

Net assets increased from US$1.12 billion as at 31 December 2017 to US$1.18 billion as at 31 December 2018, reflecting the current year eamnings of
US$68.9 million.

Cash flow generation and capital management

Cash flow
(Us$'000) T December
2018 2017

iCash generated by/ (used in) operating activites | 126,133 |  (22,972)
ICash used in investing activities (47,504)] (151,711)
ICash used in financing activities (28,400), (62,785)
Increase/ (decrease) in cash 50,139 | (237.,468)
Foreign exchange difference on cash {457), 190
fOpening cash balance 80,513 N7 TN

Closing cash balance 130,195 80513




Cash flow from operating activities of US$126.1 million for 2018 was US$149,1 million higher than 2017 (a cash outflow of US$23.0 million). The increase
refates to lower working capital outflows of US$57 8 million compared to outlows of US$313.1 million in 2017 as a result of the build-up in gold in
concentrate ounces on hand in 2017 compared to the draw-down of ore stockpiles at Buzwagi in the current year, the smaller build-up of indirect taxes
receivable in 2018 due to the lower operating costs, and a stable level of accounts payable in 2018 compared to a decrease in 2017 as the Bulyanhulu mine
was transitioned to reduced operations. This was partly offset by lower adjusted EBITDA {US$127.2 million).

The working capital outflow relates mainly 1o an increase in indirect tax receivables driven by the lack of VAT refunds and corporate tax payments (US$54.3
million), & net increase in inventory of US$5.7 million mainly driven by investment in supplies inventory and a decrease in other liabilities as severance cost
provisions were utilised (US$2.9 million), partly offset by a reduction in accounts receivable of US$6.4 million.

Cash flow used in investing activities was US$47.6 million for 2018, a 69% decrease from 2017 of US$151.7 million, driven by lower capitalised development
and sustaining capital expenditure at Bulyanhulu due to reduted operations, lower capitalised stripping costs at North Mara and the proceeds of the sale of 2
non-core royalty of US$45 million.

Us$000) M

o 2018 2017
ISustaining capital {30,768) {45,226)
Expansionary capital {12,234) (11,673)
ICapitalised development {47.,496) {100,609)
[Total cash capital T T ﬂ (90,498) (157,408)
Proceeds from the sale of mineral royalty 45,000 -
Rehabilitation expenditure (4,689) (3.106)
Non-current asset movement' - ‘J - i% | 201
ICash used in investing activities (47,594) {151,711)

ICapital expenditure reconciliation:

[Total cash capital 90,498 157,408
and purchases 258 1.637
IMovement in capital accruals 1,748 (9.669
ICapital expenditure 92,504 149,376
Land purchases classified as long-term prepayments {258), {1.637),
L\lon—cash rehabilitation asset adjustment o &493) - (9,0372
lOother non-cash capital expenditure j 820 1,212
:al capital expenditure per segment note —‘—7 M,E\ \j39,864

1 Noh-current asset movernent refates o the movement in Tanzania government receivables and other fong-temm assets.

Sustaining capital

Sustaining capital expenditure includes investment in mobile equipment and component change-outs mainly relating to North Mara (U5$15.5 million),
investment in fixed equipment and infrastructure (US$2.9 million), the expansion of the tailings storage facility at Buzwagi (U5$2.4 miflion) and the upgrade
of the water management ponds and essential plant upgrade costs at Bulyanhulu (US$2.2 miliion). Capltal accruals increased by US$1.7 million during 2018
reflecting capital expenditure that has been accrued but not yet paid.

Capitalised development
Capitalised development includes North Mara capitalised stripping costs (US$28.2 million) and capitalised underground development (US$18.3 million).

Expansionary capital

Expansionary capital expenditure consisted mainiy of capitatised expansion drilling at North Mara of LIS§8.3 miflion, relating to drifting performed as part of
the Gokona resource and reserve development and Nyabirama underground studies, and Bulyanhulu optimisation studies (US$2.6 million} and processing
facilities upgrades (US$1.2 million).

Cash flow used in financing activities for 2018 of US$28.4 miilion, a decrease of US$34.4 million from US$62.8 miltion in 2017 as a result of a finat 2017 and
interim 2018 dividend not being paid. The 6th and 7th instalments of the borrowings related to the Bulyanhulu CIL facility totalling US$28.4 million were paid
in 2018.

Dividend

As a resuit of the continuing inability to export concentrates following the imposition of the concentrate export ban in 2017, the uncertainty around the
ongoing resolution of the Company’s dispute with Government of Tanzania (“GoT") and cumrent liguidity requirements, the Board of Directors has not
recommended a final dividend for 2018.



Significant judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Many of the amounts included in the consolidated financial information require management to make judgements and/or estimates. These judgements and
estimates are continuously evaluated and are based on management's experience and best knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances, but actual
results may differ from the amounts included in the consolidated financial statements included in this report. Information about such judgements and
estimatien is included in the accounting policies and/or notes to the consolidated financial statements, and the key areas are summarised below.

Areas of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements include:

1. Judgements around the prespect, timing and final terms of any comprehensive negotiated settiement that the Company might be able to agree with the
GoT, including by reference to the key terms of the Framework announcements made in October 2017 by Barrick and the GoT and including judgements
around the timing and quantum of any cash outflows that might be made in respect of historical tax matters;

Estimates of the quantities of proven and probable gold and copper mineral reserves and measured, indicated and inferred minerat resources;
. Estimates inchuded within the life-of-mine planning such as the timing and viability of processing of leng-term stockpiles;
. The capitalisation of preduction stripping costs;

. The capitalisation of exploration and evaluation expenditures;

& oA W N

. Review of goodwill, tangible and intangible assets' canrying value, the delermination of whether a trigger for an impairment review exists, whether these
assels are impaired and the measurement of impairment charges or reversals, and also includes the judgerment of reversal of any previously recorded
impairment charges;

7. The estimated fair values of cash generating units for impairment tests, including estimates of future costs to produce reserves and resources, future
commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and discount rates;

8. The estimated useful lives of tangible and long-lived assets and the measurement of depreciation expense;

9. Recognition of a provision for environmental rehabilitation and the estimation of the rehabilitation costs and timing of expenditure;

10. Whether to recognise a liability for loss contingencies and the amount of any such provision;

11. Whether to recognise a provision for accounts receivable, and in particular the indirect tax receivables from the GoT, a provision for obsolescence on
consumables inventory and the impact of discounting the non-current element of the indirect tax receivable;

12. Recognition of deferred income tax assets, amounts recorded for uncertain tax positions, the measurement of income tax expense and indirect taxes;

13. Determination of the cost incurred in the productive process of ore stockpiles, gold in process, gold doré/bullion and concentrate, as well as the
associated net realisable value and the split between the long-term and short-term portions;

14, Determination of fair value of derivative instruments;
15. Determination of fair value of share options and cash-settled share-based payments;
16. Judgements around the timing of Bulyanhulu’s resumption of underground mining operations and preduction ramp up.

Going Concern

in assessing the Acacia Group's going concern status the Directors have taken into account the impact of the concentrate export ban on ongoing operations
as well as the following factors and assumptions: the current cash position; the latest mine plans, the short-term gold price, and Acacia Group's capital
expenditure and financing plans.

In addition, the Directors have considered a range of scenarios around the various potential outcomes for the resolution of the current operating challenges in
Tanzania in the circumstances, including the cash flow impact of an extended concentrate export ban; and the potential impacts of the timing and final terms
of any comprehensive settlement which might be approved by the Company which refiect key terms of the framework announcements made by Barrick and
the GoT in October 2017, including the lifting of the concentrate export ban and staged payments of US$300 million relating to historical tax matters.

In addition, the Directors have assumed that the Group will not be required to sefttle its current cutstanding borrowing obligations and will repay these in
accordance with the current terms of the relevant agreements. After making appropriate enquiries and considering the uncertainties described above, the
Directors consider that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements, however have concluded that the
combination of the above circumstances represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concemn
should the assumptions referred to above prove not to be correct.

Jaco Maritz Chief Financial Officer



SUSTAINABILITY REVIEW'

Sustainability & partnerships

Our approach

We continue to develop our sustainability practices for the benefit of our stakeholder group as a
whole. We aim to maintain and improve our social licence to operate through acting responsibly
in relation to our people, the environment and the communities in which we operate.

The Acacia Group has put in place Community Relations, Community investment, Environmental, Human Rights, Responsible Supply Chain, Safety and
Health and Security policies, all of which are available on our website. These policies are in addition to our Business Ethics Policies, which include our

Code of Conduct and Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption policies, which are also available on our website:
hitp:/fwww.acaciamining.com/about-us/corporate-policies.aspx

1 Al figures in the Sustainability Review are unaudited

We aim to contribute to socio-economic development in the areas in which we
operate through ongoing stakeholder engagement and participation.

The Group’s direct economic contribution is made up of the economic value we add by paying our employees, governments, suppliers, shareholders,
conftractors and communities. Our overall direct economic contribution in 2018 was US$623 million compared to US$926 million in 2017, with US$441 million
being contributed to the Tanzanian economy directly through local suppliers, employees and taxes. The reduction is largely due to the transition of
Bulyanhulu to reduced operations.

However, our true economic confribution is far greater once the wider effects of our presence are considered. These include the indirect effects of people
spending their wages, govemments distributing tax and royalty revenues, and neighbouring communities using the infrastructure developed for our
operations.

The distribution of Group taxes includes royalties, indirect taxes (withholding taxes and non-claimable VAT), payroll taxes (inclusive of social security
payments and other taxes), stamp duties, local service levies and environmental levies. Geographically, the majority of our taxes are paid in Tanzania, which
is where our operating mines are located.

Qur net taxation contribution in Tanzania was US$127 million in 2018, compared to US$143 million in 2017. The drop was a result of lower production
and lower sales revenues, following the transition of Bulyanhulu (o reduced operations and Buzwagi to a low grade stockpile processing operation.



Acting responsibly for the whole community

01 Sustainable communities
Context

» Asa long-term partner for Tanzania, the Group invests in its local regions to support the creation of "Sustainable Communities”.

* We are aligned with Tanzania's Development Vision 2025 and regional development plans including "Kiwanda Changu, Mkoa Wangu", (My Industry, My
Region).

Achievements

+ We completed the US$600,000 upgrade of the Nyamwaga Hospital in Tarime district, increasing patient capacity by 60%.

«  Work began on the Joint Water Partnership Project pipeline in Kahama that will provide water to around 60,000 local residents.

» We provided support in education and health to bring value-add services to our infrastructure.

» We set up Sustainable Community Reference Groups for structured stakeholder consultations on future projects in Tanzania’s extractives sector.
Future objectives

» Continue fo be a partner for Tanzania and its Vision 2025 agenda.

« Progress our local content strategy.

o Further develop Sustainable Community Reference Groups as focal points for our community relations.

¢ Qur Sustainable Communities programme will support Small and Medium Enterprises and further value-add initiatives to help improve service delivery
around our mines.

02 Environment
Context

+ The Group remains committed to environmental protection and minimising harm to our surroundings.
+ Qur environmental priorities are under continuous review.

+ Ongoing projects to improve water reprocessing and reduce GHG emissions.
Achievements

+  Werecorded a 29% reduction in GHG emissions compared to 2017 levels.

« Our energy usage per tonne of ore milled was 39% lower than 2017.

+ We completed phase 2 of our water management infrastructure upgrade at Bulyanhulu.
« Weimproved water conservation across all three mines.

Future objectives

+ Embed Environmental Management System.

+ Continued reduction of our environmental impact.

« Planning for Buzwagi mine closure in consultation with the GoT.

» Address waler management challenges at North Mara.

03 Employees

Context

+ We have reduced intemational employees in our workforce by 87.5% over the last six years.

+ The planned ciosure at Buzwagi in mid-2021 and continuation of reduced operations at Bulyanhulu led to higher-than-normal employee turnover.
Achievements

« Tanzanian employees currently make up 96.2% of our workforce.

» Approximately 70% of management positions are held by Tanzanians.

+« Weincreased the percentage of women in our workforce to 11% (2017: 10%).

+ 198 slaff graduated from our Rainbow Leadership programme during the year.

Future objectives

» Continue to reduce the number of intemational employees.

e Training of Tanzanian staff to fill management roles and increasing the proportion of management roles held by women.

» Increase overall employment numbers in Tanzania in the event that the export ban is lifted and Bulyanhulu mine can resume its underground operations.



« Aftract and retain the best talent.

04 Safety
Context

« The Group targets zero injuries and gvery person going home safe every day.

« Regrettably, an operator for one of our contractors at North Mara passed away as a result of an accident which involved a reversing vehicle at the

Gokona deposit.
Achievements
e We recorded a 58% improvement in Total Reportable Injury Frequency Rate (“TRIFR”) in 2018.
« The number of Lost Time Injuries (“.TI") decreased from 18 in 2017 to 4 in 2017, a 78% reducticn.
+ The number of High Potential ncidents decreased from 36 to 23 in 2018.
+ We progressed occupational health and safety initiatives including malaria control assessments.
Future objectives
« Continue to target zero injuries.
« Progress occupational health and safety initiatives including malaria control assessments.

« Contractor managemenit.

05 Security and human rights
Context

+ The Group operates its ewin Human Rights Policy and Procedures alongside voluntary commitments to the VPSHR.

« Qur approach is in line with the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs).
Achievements

e We recorded a 25% reduction in the number of illegal incursions at North Mara compared with 2017.

e We supported more extensive human rights fraining targeting the Tanzanian police in the Tarime district.
Future objectives

+ Launch of revised Community Grievance Process at North Mara in 2019,

+ Continued review of our safety and security arrangements to minimise the risk of security incidents.



Sustainable Communities

Qur social investment focuses on education, health, water, roads, and energy, as well as a number of economic development activities, and is aligned with
the development agenda of our host countries, inciuding the Tanzania Development Vision 2025, as well as the United Nations’ Sustainable Development
Goals, In Tanzania in 2018 we made significant progress in delivering against the three central pillars of our Sustainable Communities strategy.

= huilding strong and trusting relationships with our communities through regular stakeholder engagement.

« adding value to the social infrastructure in our communities by moving beyond the construction of several public facilities we have invested in over the
last five years and ensuring that their intended benefits, as well as associated service delivery, are fully realised and long lasting.

« contributing to the development of a thriving local economy that is not solely dependent on the mine and can continue to grow beyond the life of mine.

Stakeholder engagement

During the year we focused on establishing Sustainable Communities Reference Groups ("SCRG") as platforms for consultation and engagement with
communities and the local government around our mine sites. The SCRGs comprise representation from regional, district and village authorities, as well as
community interest groups and special representatives for women and youth. The groups are responsible for identifying further priorities for development in
their regions, tracking progress of ongaing projects and, in tandem with the mine, liaising with and channelling information to the communities. Bulyanhulu
has set up two such groups — one in each of the two districts it covers —and Buzwagi has also established a group in Kahama District. Several meetings
were held at both sites in the latter part of 2018. North Mara has identified members of its SCRG and its first meeting was held post year-end in January
2019.

Further efforts to promote community cohesion and engage local stakeholders during the year included the hosting of 23 mine tours across all three sites
which reached over 580 community members. The mines also each organised outdoor public screenings of matches at the 2018 FIFA foctball World Cup in
Russia,

Social infrastructure and improving service delivery

Our community-related investments evolved significantly in 2018. We continued to deliver on our legacy commitments while also building the foundations for
more sustainable development projects. Under the strategy, we also took active steps to add value to physical infrastructure and improve service delivery for
our communities. This included the completion and/or initiation of the following projects:

Bulyanhulu: The construction of a 55-kilometre water pipeline from Lake Victoria to local villages began in the second quarter of the year at an estimated
cost of US$6.3 million (TZS 14 billion). Bulyanhulu is contributing US$2 million to this Joint Water Project Partnership which is jeintly funded by the Ministry of
Water and Imigation and four local district councils. The new pipeline will help improve access to clean water and sanitation for an estimated population of
60,000 living in 14 villages near the mine. In February 2018, Bulyanhulu also completed a landmark water project in the village of Kakola, Msalala District, to
install an electric water pump and a water tower to channel clean water to the locat residents.

During the year construction of upgraded facilities at the Bugarama Health Centre continued. This second phase of investment in the health centre will see
the addition of a surgical theatre, general and specialised matemity wards, an outpatient department, and mortuary facllities. The facility is scheduled to be
completed in 2019 and will serve as a district hospital for up to 60,000 people. Bulyanhulu has also entered into agreements to support government efforts to
build around 30 drug dispensaries in Geita region at a cost of US$250,000. Both Bulyanhulu and Buzwagi also supparted the government's drive for the
construction of additional school classrooms at local schools, contributing US$320,000 towards new infrastructure during the year.

Buzwagi: The mine supported the local council with upgrading and refurbishment of the Kahama stadium, a popuiar venue for major sporting events in the
town,

Our Buzwagi mine also supported a three-day sign language workshop to assist healtheare staff to communicate more effectively with patients with hearing
disabilities and thereby improve the treatment provided by local health centres. Over 60 medical staff from two health centres situated in nearby
Mwendakulima and Kagongwa wards attended this training which was facilitated by the Tanzania Deaf Development Organisation.

North Mara: As elsewhere, our Sustainable Communities strategy has seen our North Mara mine shift from supporting the construction of physical
infrastructure to adding value through supporting improvements to public services at the local level. The upgrade to the Nyamwaga Health Centre was
completed in April 2018 foliowing an investment of US$600,000. Two community libraries were also completed during the year.

We contributed to training over 60 healthcare workers from six health centres and dispensaries near our North Mara mine. A three-day workshep at the end
of December 2018 supported ongoing efforts by local government to improve maternal health and reduce child mortality rates and complemented the
Tanzanian administration’'s efforts to improve services in the health sector. North Mara also continued its support for the development of the education sector
in Tanzania and supported a teacher fraining programme for more than 200 teachers in Tarime district aimed at improving standards in core subjects such
as mathematics, science and English language.

Building a thriving local economy

In 2018 we continued to focus on our goal of helping to boost sustainable livelihoods within the communities around our mines. As such, small businesses
and agriculture remain important economic opportunities and means of diversifying the local economy. Based on studies that were conducted specifically to
identify viable options for reducing local dependency on our mines, each of our sites embarked on various initiatives to grow the economy within their zone of
influence. At Bulyanhulu we completed an income-raising project under the mine’s two-year partnership with Africare. The project - which aimed to develop
sustainable small businesses and improved value chains for poultry and high-value horticultural crops — reached 374 beneficiaries {(50% above its target) and
has enabled at least four individual beneficiaries to access loans from microfinance banks for their businesses. A further 14 groups — with a total of 50
members — were able to access inputs (chicks, feed, and seeds) on credit to grow their businesses.

During the year Buzwagi entered into a partnership with the non-govemmental organisation Farm Concem International (FCI) on a three-year agricultural
commercial farming project to the value of US$1.1 million. The programme's objective is to improve the income and productivity of 3,000 farmers in
Mwendakulima and Mondo villages. The project is based on an innovative business model thatis designed to support smallholder commercialisation,
aggregation and market access through enhanced logistics and supply chain management. Significant progress has been made since the project began in
June, with 18 demonstration plots in nine villages currently at varying stages of operation. The project is an important part of the mine’s closure plan as
operations are expected to complete in mid-2021.

During 2018 North Mara continued to support the Matongo Rice and Kemnyage Bakery projects which have been running for more than three years. We
also dedicated much of the year to laying the ground work for new agricultural projects and other initiatives to develop small to medium sized businesses in



the surrounding Tarime district. During the year we conducted engagement and awareness-raising activities for the communities that were aimed at
changing people’s mind sets and persuading them of the feasibility of viable economic projects that present an altemative to illegal mining. Implementation of
the projects began post year-end in early 2019.

Case study
Construction Begins on Water Pipeline from Lake Victoria

to our Communities

In October 2018 an agreement was sighed between our Bulyanhulu mine, Tanzania’s Ministry of
Water, the local water authority, and three district councils to support the construction of a 55-
kilometre water pipeline in Geita and Shinyanga.

The pipeiine wili pass from Lake Victoria through 14 viliages

Under the Joint Water Project Partnership (JWPP) Bulyanhuly is investing US$2 million (TZS 4 biliien) into a joint project to provide a vital water supply and
sanitation services to approximately 60,000 people living in 14 villages in Kakola and its surrounding areas. The pipeline will pass from Lake Victoria through the
14 villages located in the vicinity of the mine and is scheduled to be completed during 2019,

Accass to safe drinking water is one of the major challenges facing people who live in the villages throughout Kahama and Shinyanga where the prevalence
of water-borne diseases has ied to serious health problems amonyg the local populatiar.

The new pipeline will help to reduce the amount of time women and families spend sourcing clean drinking water every day, whilst it will also hefp to raise househoid
incomes and quality of life on account of better health and increased economic productivity.

A ready water supply is also expected to reduce incidences of vandalism o an existing fransmission pipeline from which local residents seek to tap-off
potable water,

Access and quality of water supplies and sanitation services in rural Tanzania currently lag behingd those found in urban areas, largely due to a lack of
infrastructure.

Under its current development plans, the Government of Tanzania ("GoT") aims to improve access to safe water in rural areas to 85% by 2020. The
construction of transmission pipelines such as that to be delivered by the JWPP is a significant contribution to the GoT’s plans to increase the
accessibility of clean water supplies in rural areas and thereby provide a platiorm for a higher standard of living and increased economic growth in the
local region.



Environment

The Acacia Group remains committed to responsible mining and environmental protection in order to minimise harm to the natural surroundings in which we
operate. During 2018 we conducted a review of our environmental priorities and objectives for the short to medium term to ensure they remain valid and
meet the overall Company strategy.

Qur overall performance during 2018 was good, with the Group Initiating and progressing key initiatives and imprevement programmes for the year. Key
milestones included the following: completion of Phase 2 of the water management infrastructure upgrade at our Bulyanhulu mine which involved the
installation of a concrete lining at a Mine Water Setfling Pond; the development of a2 new water balance model at North Mara mine; and the completion of a
rehabilitation trial at our Buzwagi mine.

Bulyanhulu mine was audited for its ICMI Cyanide Code recertification and the results were still under final review at year-end. North Mara mine continued to
implement various water management projects which are starting to show results. Implementation of the Acacia EMS in line with IS0 14001 was further
progressed during the year, with all three sites advancing programmes to manage their top environmental risks.

As part of efforts to improve our energy efficiency and reduce our GHG emissions we maintained the use of the static device (Static Synchronous
Compensator} at Bulyanhulu mine that controls voltage fluctuations and stabilises the power supply from the national grid. The benefits of this system reach
beyond the mine itself, as it stabilizes the power supply in communities as far as Kahama as weli as at our Buzwagi mine. The project — which meant we
could decormmission 15 1MVA Diesel Generators at Bulyanhulu in 2017 — ensures both the stability of our electricity supply and more effective utilisation of
low carbon emission electricity from the grid, thus resulting in the overall reduction of GHG emissions at Bulyanhulu and Buzwagi mines. Qverall, 2018 GHG
emissions equalled 176,939 tonnes of CO2e, which is 29% lower than 2017 levels. Meanwhile, our energy usage per tonne of ore milled decreased by 39%
on 2017 levels primarily on account of reduced operations at Bulyanhulu and Buzwagi transitioning primarily to a low grade stockpile processing operation.
Further information on Group GHG emissions is provided on page 102.

The Group recognises that water is a precious resource and its conservation and the protection of the surrounding water resources are therefore key pillars
of our mines’ water management efforts. Our understanding of our water balances acress our sites is being enhanced through the use of well-designed
water balance models and reliable records of our water flows and usage. Our total water usage in 2018 was in line with 2017 with all sites maintaining the
same level of fresh water usage despite an increase in ore tonnes milled compared to the previous year. This was due to improved water conservation and
our continued focus on the use of reclaimed water from our tailings storage facilities which accounted for 61% of total water used, a slight decrease
compared to the 2017 ratio (64%) because of maintenance and upgrade work at our Buzwagi tailings storage facility that prevented pumping of reclaimed
water for a short period.

At North Mara, no fresh water was drawn from Mara River during 2018, making the site fully reliant on the water generated from the open pits and the
underground mine, of which some is treated via the Reverse Osmosis and Microfiltration processes to make raw water. Buzwagi's usage of purchased water
reduced during the year as a result of a normal rainfall regime which allowed the mine to collect more water from the 75 hectare water harvesting area on
site. We will look to enhance our water balance models and identify areas of additional water conservation in 2019 as part of overall Group water
management programmes.

Bicdiversity

Our responsibility towards bicdiversity was maintained during the year by maintaining strict controls on land disturbances. A standard appiies to all our sites
that prohibits unauthorised land disturbances unless the Environment Department has reviewed the need and approved disturbances to lake place. Our
ultimate goal for biodiversity management remains to protect and minimise land disturbance as much as possible, and eventually rehabilitate disturbed land
to achieve land productivities of higher value than those that existed prior to disturbance. While there was no new disturbance made during the year at any of
our sites, progressive rehabilitation of disturbed land was undertaken for areas that were available. At Buzwagi, about 60 hectares of the Waste Rock Dump
was profiled and five hectares re-vegetated using native tree species.

At Bulyanhulu, rehabilitation earthworks continued at the TSF wall where more than 10,000 trees were scheduled to be planted at the beginning of 2019. At
North Mara, profiling of the Airstrip PAF dump was donhe at one of the two cells. In order to enhance biodiversity in the areas we operate only native tree
species are used for rehabilitation programmes. The disturbed areas that are not rehabilitated include areas where active operation still takes place. We
maintain active rehabilitation programmes for areas as soon as they become available.

Incident Reporting

We keep records of all environmental incidents occurring at our sites. Our Environmental Incident Management standard provides for three classes of
incidents, nameiy: High (reportable incidents), Moderate or Low. The incidents classified as High require a detailed investigation and subsequent reporting to
the GoT while Moderate and Low are only recorded internally and are reported to the Government through the annual environmental report submitted to the
GoT each year.

One reportable incident was recorded during the year {compared te two in 2017) at Bulyanhulu mine. A total of 103 non-reportable incidents were recorded
across our three sites during the year, a 13% increase on 2017. Further awareness programmes will be carried out in 2019 to ensure the necessary
preventive measures are put in place to avoid such incidents.

Post year-end our North Mara mine received an Environmental Protection Order (EPO) from the National Environment Management Council (NEMC)
requiring payment of a fine of US$130,000 in relation to alleged breaches of environmental regulations in Tanzania. NEMC’s reported findings allege
discharges of a hazardous substance at the North Mara mine. The mine has not received any supporting reports, findings or testing data in relaticn to the
matters set out in the EPO. Pending further factual dlarification from the GoT and NEMC, however, and lo dispose of all regulatory or other legal action,
North Mara mine has decided to pay the fine. At the same time the GoT issued a directive to the mine to construct a new tailings storage facility ("TSF™).
North Mara has commenced planning and design for a2 new TSF, and is working with the Government to progress the construction of a new TSF to support
its future mine production plans.

On 8 March 2019 the GoT directed the North Mara mine to resolve an incident that had resulted in the spillage of water into the local environment. The
spillage resulted from a security incident in which sections of the pipe used to transport water from the polishing pond to the TSF were either vandalised or
stolen.

The incident led to the switching off of the pump used to transport water to the TSF, and the water level in the polishing pond subsequently overflowed.
Following North Mara mine’s remedial actions, the temporary overspill from the pond was stopped. North Mara mine welcomed the support of the GoT on



resolving the issue, and is working closely with the authorities to implement improvements to security measures around the polishing pond in order to help
prevent any reoccurrence.

The Mine’s technical team is currently working with the GoT within an agreed timeframe to address their concerns regarding seepage from the TSF. North
Mara has undertzken to manage all seepage through the use of additional pumps and construction of other containment facilities to return any seepage to
the TSF and ensure it is confined to the mine site.

All seepage will be contained on the site, not flow inte the surrounding environment or present a risk of contamination to any public water source, Operations
at North Mara mine remain unaffected.

Case study

Looking to the Future: Training Tomorrow’s Talent in the
Mining Industry

During 2018 we further developed our relationships with two renowned academic institutions in
Tanzania as part of our commitment to the future of the mining industry in the country as well as
our ongoing efforts to boost the skills of Tanzanians studying or working in the sector.

Acacia signed a new Memorandum of Undersianding with Muhambili University for Health and Applied Sciences.

This year we have sponsored a post-graduate student from the University of Dar es Salaam to pursue a Masters' degree in Mining Engineening at the University
of Alberta in Canada. The study bursary is worth US$60,000 over two years and forms part of an ongoing partnership with the University of Dar Es Salaam that is
now in its tenth year. Meanwhile in August we extanded our relationship with Muhimbili University for Health and Allied Sciences (MUHAS) for another two years,
enabling us to continue to provide structured support to the university’s students and graduates in the field of Environmental and Occupational Health (EOH).

Each year we provide practical industrial training to approximately 70 second and thind year Mining Engineering and Mineral Processing Engineering students at the
University of Dar es Salaam. The focus of our eight-week programmes is to expose students o operational activities, including working as trainees within the mine or
the process plant itself. In addition, a further 30 final year students conduct work placements and complete their academic projects at one of our three mines.

Under the programme with MUHAS — which began in 2008 — students benefit from intemnships at our mine sites in the Lake Zone where they are equipped with the
right technical capabiliies and gain a unique understanding of occupational health and safety and environmental health within the mining sector.

Our partnership with MUHAS and the University of Dar es Salaam is part of our drive to advance the mining industry in Tanzania and up-skill
Tanzanians with a firm eye on the future of the sector. The Company's efforts in this regard over the last ten years seek to heip create a platform for the
country's economic advancement and the realisation of its development goals, including Development Vision 2025.

Employees

We continued to make noticeable progress across a variety of employse initiatives throughout 2078, although due to the continuation of reduced operations at
Bulyanhulu and with the planned closure date of our Buzwagi mine approaching we saw Group-wide annual tumover of 33.9% (2017; 55%).

One of our key focus areas over the last six years has been on reducing the number of expatriate employees and contractors within our business and ensuring
that our Tanzanian assets are increasingly led and operated by Tanzanian employees. Since 2013, we have reduced the number of expatriate employees
within our business by 87.5%; currently 96.2% of our pecple are Tanzanian (2017: 96.2%). In terms of leadership, approximately 70% of management
positions are held by Tanzanians.

Since the third quarter of 2017 we have been conducting life skills and entrepreneurship training for employees affected by the movement to reduced
operations at Bulyanhulu, and the planned closure of Buzwagi in mid-2021, The training is aimed at enabling our employees to manage change during their
transition to other companies or while setling up self-employment, as well as how to manage personal finances during a potential period of unemployment.

The Group’s Life Beyond Buzwagi training programme was recognised for a continent-wide award, winning the Reward and Recognition prize at the 2018
Employee Engagement Awards that took place in Johannesburg in June 2018.

We continued to invest in fraining and development programmes throughout the year, notably through the launch of our Future Leaders programme where in 2018
two of its members completed a leadership training programme and cne completed her Msc. Environment Degree.

We maintained our focus on longer-term training initiatives, such as our Rainbow Leadership Training programime for first line leaders which we first launched in
2016. To date, 307 employees have completed the training. A further 19 apprentices graduated from the Group's integrated Mining Technical Training (“IMTT")
programme during the year. We have jointly run iMTT since 2009 alongside the GoT through the Vocational Education Training Authority (VETA) and the Tanzania
Chamber of Minerals.

The latest crop of graduates brought the Iotal number of apprentices who have completed the training since its inception to 382.

Approximately 11% of our averall workforce are women (2017: 10%), something which is reflective of gender diversity generally within the mining
industry. We are focused on continuing to grow the proportion of women in our workforce, and the proportion of management roles held by women.

Our staff on the ground:

Name: Sarah Cyprian

Job title: Environmental Officer at North Mara
Tenure: 4 years

Role with Acacia: Sarah is part of the leam that oversees the Environmental Management Systern and Compliance programme at North Mara. She is a qualified
Environmental Engineer and is currently working towards her registration as a professional engineer with the Engineers Registration Board.



Safety

The group-wide Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR) was 0.19 compared to 0.45 in 2017, a 58% improvement. There was a significant
reduction in the number of recordable injuries from 45 in 2017 to 13 in 2018. The number of Lost Time Injuries (LTI} decreased from 18 in 2017 to 4 in 2018,
a 78% improvement. The injury severity rate decreased by 46%. Our safety vision is lo have every person going home safe and healthy every day.
Regrettably, however, on 11 June 2018, Sadock Crispin Tindahenile, an operator for one of our contractors at North Mara, passed away as a result of an
accident which involved a reversing vehicle at the Gokona deposit. We completed an investigation into the incident and have implemented the relevant
recommendations at ail our operations.

Acacia's 11 Critical Risk Control Standards have now been fully implemented at all sites and contributed to a reduction in the oceurrence of High Potential
Incidents during the year (these are incidents that could under slightly different circumstances have led to a fatality or permanent disability). The number of
High Potential Incidents fell from 36 in 2017 to 23 in 2018.

We continued to build a positive safety culture which is essential to improving our overall safety performance. The safety interactions process (visible felt
leadership) was further enhanced during the year with more than 100,000 safety interactions recorded across our three mines. The safety interactions and
stop-and-fix philosophy is now well embedded as part of our safety culture and is successfully practised by all our employees on a daily basis. Every person
is empowered and encouraged to stop any potentially unsafe activity.

Each site has a detailed Industrial Hygiene Monitoring Programme in place which is reviewed at least annually. A noticeable improvernent was observed in
compliance to the annual periodic medical process and industrial hygiene monitoring, both of which are key to being proactive in identifying potential health-
related concerns at an early stage.

CQur Malaria prevention strategies were reviewed and well-managed during the year, resulting in significantly fewer Malaria cases and days lost due to
sickness. There was a 39% decrease in the number of Malaria cases reported and a 63% reduction in the number of days lost due to Malaria in 2018.

Case study

North Mara Helps Train Local Health Workers

In late 2018 North Mara sponsored a training programme for approximately 60 health workers
from six health centres and dispensaries near the mine.

The workshop was part of North Mara'’s efforts to support improvements to service delivery in the health sector.

The three-day workshop supported ongoing efforts by local government to improve maternal health and reduce child mortality rates and complemented the
Tanzanian administration’s efforts to improve services in the health sector in line with the national Development Vision 2025.

Training participants benefited from an opportunity to boost their knowledge within their field of expertise, including leaming best practice around feeding and
vaccinations for infants. Anita, a health worker frorm Nyarwana, noted the benefits for both her and her colleagues.

“The training was an eye-opener for us, especially for matermnal risk factors,” she said on completing the workshop. “Being new to this field, there are some
things | have learnt from the training and | will apply them in my day-to-day activities.”

Representatives of the local health authority also noted the value of the training and thanked North Mara for its support.

“This is a unique opportunity and | believe health practitioners will acquire more skills to enhance their service delivery,” said Neema Alphonse, the acling
medical officer for Tarime District. “We thank the mine for sponsoring this training programme.”

Tarime’s district health coordinator, Beatrice Loumba, who was one of the facilitators of the training, said the programme was a timely one since the districtis
currently focused on improving local health services and, in particular, reducing maternal and child mortality rates.

“Qur training modules focus on quality improvement, After the training, we will be visiting various health centres and dispensaries and make a follow-up on whether
participants put in practice what they have learnt from the training,” Loumba said. ‘

In recent years North Mara has invested heavily in the development of the health sector in Tarime. Notable projects spearheaded by the mine include
the building of the Nyamwaga Health Centre at a cost of US$1 million, the upgrading of Sungusungu Hospital and Genkuru Dispensary, the renovation
of the Kerende medical clinic and an upgrade of the dispensary in Matongo.



Case study

Buzwagi Embarks on Agricultural Improvement Programme

Agriculture js an important economic mainstay for our local communities and is a key priority within
the company’s Sustainable Communities strategy.
At our Buzwagi mine, where 75% of the local population are farmers, we have developed and begun implementing a three-year US$1.1 million agricultural

improvement project in partnership with the non-governmental organisation Farm Concern intemational (FCI). As the country's largest employer, agriculture
accounts for 26% of the country’s gross domestic product and contributes 65% of Tanzania’s export earnings.

The proiect will support over 3,000 farmers (50% of whom are women) and will not only help to create jobs in the community but also seeks to substantially
increase farmers’ incomes through greater productivity and improved links to market.

Under the project Buzwagi mire will help local farmers develop private seclor partnerships and train Government exiension officers to assist in the project’s
sustainability. The project will also provide farmers with an imgation assistance programme and establish two model farms and resource centres locally.

With the imminent closure of Buzwagi in mid-2021, the initiative is designed to strengthen the community’s social and econamic development through
job creation and improved incomes to ensure sustainable livelihoods. In line with our strategy, the project contributes to the development of communities
that enjoy a thriving local economy, have good access to social infrastructure and, live in safe, inclusive and equitable environments.

Qur staff on the ground:

Name: Andrew Lutalagula (40)

Job titie: Section Leader, Management Accounting al North Mara
Tenure: 6 years

Role with Acacia: Andrew is a qualified accountant and graduated from the institute of Finarice Management in 2003. He has completed Acacia’s Rainbow
Leadership Programme and implemented a range of cost-savings for the business since he joined the team at North Mara.

Qur staff on the ground:
Name: Joash Nyambaya (29)
Job title: Electrician at Buzwagi
Tenure: 5 years

Role with Acacia: Joash joined Acacia having graduated from the company's Infegrated Mining and Technical Training (IMTT) course in 2013, In his role Joash
maintains the functioning power supply to all mining and processing operations as well as o key support facilitles on site.

Our staff on the ground:

Name: Mwanaisha Mosha (27)

Job title: Organisational Effectiveness Officer at Bulyanhulu
Tenure: 3 years

Role with Acacia: Mwanaisha is a human resources professional who has undertaken a range of projects {o recruit and relain the best talent af our Bulyanhulu
ming. She has a Law Degree from Mzumbe University in Dar es Salaam and is a graduale of Acacia's future leaders - “Rainbow” — prograrme.



Human Rights

We seek to respect human rights throcughout our organisation. We have established and maintained govemnance and pelicy frameworks to guide our approach to
identifying and mitigating our salient human rights risks. We have our own Human Rights Policy and Procedures and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, as well as
a Supplier Code of Business Canduct and Ethics. We also encourage the govemments of the countries where we are active to protect human rights in accordance
with the international human rights treaties to which they are parties. We have made voluntary commitments to the Voluntary Principles on Security and Hurman Rights
(VPSHRY) through our majority shareholder and our approach to human rights is consistent with the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights
(UNGPs).

Our most salient human rights issues can be best addressed in collaboration with government and include those relating to security; land access and resettiement,
environment, including access to water; labour nights; and impacts on local communities and infrastructure, such as access to health services, education and
employment. In 2018, we continued to work with the GoT to improve security and human rights awareness and training of members of the police force who maintain
law and order in the communities sumounding cur mines. We also engaged with civil society and community members on issues related to our operations, as well as
those of other parties linked to our operations.

We seek to ensure that our operations do not cause or contribute to any negative human rights impacts on neighbouring communities and to provide appropriate
access to remedies when negative impacts are alleged to have occurred. We recognise that feedback from our own people and extenal stakeholders helps to identify
and manage the risk of potential negative human rights impacts. Processes are in place at each of our mines for the reporting of suspected violations of our code of
conduct or human rights policy to management. Each of our mine sites also operates a grievance process designed to comply with the effectiveness criteria for
company grievance mechanisms set out in the UNGPs, as discussed further below.

We seek to apply our standards, pelicies and procedures as they pertain to human rights at all of our operations, while we also require our suppliers and contractors to
do the same. Qur employees are required to underge human rights training as part of our code of conduct training, and employees in higher risk positions are required
o undergo bespoke human rights training.

Security and human rights

In 2018, we continued to review our safety and security arrangements, as we seek to mitigate the risk of any human rights incidents. We confinued to support the
NGO Search for Common Ground in providing extensive human rights training for the Tanzanian police in the Tarime district (including on intemational standards on
the use of force and firearmss, sexual violence and treatment of vulnerable groups). The police face challenges in maintaining law and order in the remote area around
the North Mara mine, which is prone to violent crime and mine infrusion, and North Mara continued to engage directly with the regional police to convey our
expectations about respect for human rights.

The number of times to which the police or mine security were required to respond to security threats, violence and theft by infruders on our mine sites continued its
year-on-year decline. The number of illegal incursions onto the mining lease (including waste dumps) at North Mara decreased by 25% and incursions into the active
mining areas further decreased by 42% in 2018, compared with 2017, There was a minor increass in illegal mining incursions at Bulyanhulu while Buzwagi remained
flat year-on-year.

At North Mara, there were four incidents invofving the police on or in the vicinity of the mine that raised, or were alleged by others to raise, possible human rights
impacts (two more than in 2017). We forwarded information about these alleged incidents to the authorities for investigation and requested follow-up. One police officer
was removed from his post near North Mara on acoount of conduct that appeared not b comply with international standands for policing. Another was removed for
involvernent in a fatal traffic accident while driving without an appropriate licenoce; we understand an investigation of whether he was driving recklessly is ongoing.
There were no reported accidents or use of force incidents resulting in injury involving mine security guands.

During 2018, three individuals tragically lost their lives white illegally mining at North Mara. In three separale incidents the illegal mine workings they were excavating
caved in on them. We will continue to review our security and safety arrangements, and seek to further reduce the risk of incidents occurring and towards gliminating
such incidents altogether.

Community grievance process at North Mara

In 2018, we conducted further extensive consultations in relation to North Mara’s modified Community Grievance Process (CGFP}), which was piloted in 2017 and
described in our 2017 Annual Report. In total 38 consultation sessions have been held atand around North Mara, including 10 one-day sessions for govemment
officials from Tarme district, local norn-governmental organisations, village and clan leaders, as well as company employees and contractors. A further 28 theatre
performances and community consultations were delivered in 13 villages as part of our efforts to build awareness of the CGP within our zone of influence around the
mine. |n total an estirmated 14,400 people have attended consultation and awareness-raising events on the modified CGP. A consultation event was also held in
London during 2018 with intermational experts and interested observers on company-led grievance processes and security and human rights, and interested non-
govemmental organisations. The full range of stakeholders provided valuable feedback on the CGP and made important recommendations for improvement.

The CGP and the various consultation mechanisms are part of a process of continuous leaming. North Mara continues to incorporats feedback from consultations and
lessons leamed into the grievance process, to continue to enhance its effectiveness in line with the UNGPs. The current versions of the Standard Operating Procedure
and a Handbock for Grievants that explain the process are both available on the Acacia website. The mine has appointed a Grievance Team Leader to oversee and
administer the process.

North Mara's new Community Grievance Process admits all types of community grievances, including grievances about security and human rights, the environment,
enjoyment of land or other property, housing and livelihoods, or health and safety. Apart from grievances regarding rights to land and resetflement (which require State
involvement and go to the mine's Land Department), grievances are resolved through the Community Grievance Process through & two stage process. First, the mine
and the grievant seek to resolve the grievance through facilitated engagement and dialogue; and then, if engagement and dialogue do not resolve the grievance, an
independent three-member Grievance Commitiee reviews the grievance and makes a determination.

Grievances in 2018

In 2018, a total of 40 new grievances were received at North Mara, one at Bulyanhulu, and none at Buzwagi. Following the implementation of a new grievance
process at our exploration sites we registered a total of seven new grievances in relation to our licences in westen Kenya. The total number of new grievances
represents an increase of 10 compared to 2017, largely a direct result of our engagement with the community at North Mara around the new Community Grievance
Process which has led community members to register grievances that relate to historical incidents that occurred prior to 2018. Of the 40 new grievances at North
Mara, 24 relate to incidents that occurmed prior to 2018.

Of these new grievances, 11 relats to land and property, an increase of one compared to 2017, A further 18 relate 1o security and human rights, an increase of one
from 17 in 2017. Of these 18, only eight relate to incidents that occurred during 2018. Three grievances relate to a public order incident involving the Tanzanian Police



Force at the mine site entrance over three days in July 2018. One grievance relates to damage to a house that resulted from the actions of the Tanzanian Police
Force. There were no grievances related 1o mine security personnel, compared to five such cases lodged in 2017. A further four accident-related grievances were also
recorded in 2018, regarding accidents on the mine site without any allegation of mine invotvemnent.

North Mara’s new Community Grievance Process admits a range of community grievances as part of the mine'’s corporate social responsibility commitments including
to the principles of the UNGPs. North Mara also raises concems with the Tanzanian State about credible allegations regarding conduct by the Tanzanian Police Force,
and will provide access to remedies through the Grievance Process to members of the North Mara community in respect of police actions only o the extent that such
remedies are not forthcoming from the State itself.

In 2018 the new Community Grievance Process considered 38 security-related human rights grievances, of which a tolal of 22 cases remained under consideration at
year-end.

The process of engagement and dialogue successfully produced an agreement between the mine and grievants about whether there had been a human rights impact
in one case. In a further eight cases an agreement was not reached and these cases were referred to the Community Grievance Committee for determination.

The Community Grievance Committee, which independently reviews grievances that are not resolved through engagernent and dialogue, heard a tolat of 15 security-
related grievances in 2018, compared to 28 cases in 2017. The mine does not refer grievances to the Committee where the mine accepts that there has been a
human rights impact, however the requirement of delivering greater fransparency under the new CGP has led to a fall in the rate at which cases are resolved. Of the
15 security-related grievances, nine requested the Committee to consider whether there had been a human rights impact and the Committee determined that there
appeared to have been 2 human rights impact in one case. In the other six cases the Committee was asked to consider the remedy that had been previously provided
1o the grievants. in three cases the Committse declined to increase the previous remedy. In a further two cases the Committee agreed with the mine's increased
remedy proposal and in the final case the Cormmilise detsrmined that the mine should increase ils revised remedly proposal.

Remexiiation plans were established in 19 cases, 16 of which were from past years, with the remedies designed to provide effeclive reparation in accordance with
local and international human rights standards.

The average lum-around ime was seven and a half months from the time of lodging the grievance to its resolution through engagement and diglogue. The resolution
of grievances through engagement and dialogue or through the Communtty Grievance Committee can be delayed for several reasons, including the volume of
grievances that are being processed at any given bme, the adoption of new processes under the new CGP, as well as the location and availability of documents,
witnesses and grievants.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
OVERVIEW

Rachel English
Interim Chair of the Board

Dear shareholders,

During 2018, the ongoing operating challenges in Tanzania have continued to provide the
backdrop to the Board’s discussions.

The Strategic Report contains details of steps that the Company has taken, overseen by the Board, to ensure its ongoing resilience during this period and to
optimise its mine plans in preparation for when full operations are able to recommence. From a strategic perspective the Board, through the Independent
Committee, also continues to monitor closely the ongoing discussions between Barrick and the Govemment of Tanzania ("GoT"), and our position with
respect to pursuing arbitration claims against the GoT.

i was appointed as Interim Chair with effect from 1 September 2018 as a result of Kelvin Dushnisky stepping down from the Board following his departure as
an executive of Barrick. On behalf of the Directors | would like to thank Kelvin for his contribution to the Company during his five-year tenure as Chair. My
priorities since my appointment have included ensuring the Company pursues all available avenues of engagement to resolve these challenges, advancing
plans for orderly Board succession and continuing our strong focus on corporate governance.

} am grateful for the support of my fellow Directors in my role as Interim Chair and value the range of skills that the various members of the Board bring. An
analysis of those skills brought by Board members, to ensure that these reflect an appropriate range and balance of capabilities, has been a major area of
focus for the Board during the latter half of 2018 as part of our wider review and discussion on Board effectiveness, Board composition and succession
planning. This review follows changes to the Board during 2017 and 2018, including the departure of Kelvin Dushnisky in 2018.

As a result of this review, the Nomination and Governance Committee recommended, and the Board agreed, that the Board should seek to appoint new
Independent Non-Executive Directors in due course, including one with a strong background in technical mining expertise and one with a strong financial
background and audit committee experience, to address Audit Commitiee succession planning requirements. In addition, ene of the criteria on which the
selection will be based is the extent to which the candidate wili enhance the diversity of the Board. Compensation Comrnittee suceession planning would also
be addressed by virtue of these appointments.

At present, we have not received any indications of Barrick’s intentions for future nominee Directors under the Relationship Agreement between Acacia and
Barrick. We will continue to engage on this as part of overall Board composition assessments.

Our Board succession planning activities remain ongoing and we will provide a further update prior to the 2019 AGM.

In addition to overall Board succession planning, following my appointment as Interim Chair, the Board specifically assessed the skills and profile
requirement for the Chair position going forward. As part of this, a Chair profile was agreed against which various candidates could be assessed. Further
information on this profile is set out on page 71.

Throughout the year, the Board continued to be focused on the Group's relationships with all of its stakeholders: including employees, suppliers and local
communities, as well as shareholders. The Board continues fo recoghise the important role the Group plays in supporting both local communities around its
existing operations as well as the wider socioeconomic advancernent of Tanzania. As well as specific projects as part of our Sustainable Communities
initiatives, further details of which are set out on pages 56 to 70, the Group also continues fo progress its review of its supply chain with a view to further
increasing annual spend with Tanzanian-owned businesses. While the Group has always pursued a policy of sourcing locally first, where viable, we have
looked to further increase our commitment here. We plan to increase our annual spend on goods and servicas with Tanzanian-owned businesses by 10%
during the first half of 2019 compared with the equivalent period in 2018. There woukl be a further significant increase in local spend in the event that an
appropriate resolution to the disputes with the GoT is achieved, so as to allow for the resumption of full operations at Bulyanhulu.

The Board remains focused on ensuring that Acacia is as resilient as it can be while continuing to work towards a comprehensive resolution of our disputes
with the GoT, and on ensuring our plans are optimised for the resumption of full operations as and when the disputes are resolved.

Rachel English
Interim Chair of the Board



Board structure

Board
Management committees

Further support the Board and comprise the following key committees:
— Disclosure

— Reserves and resources

— Capital allocation

Executive leadership team
Responsible for day-to-day management of our business and operations and for manitoring detailed performance of all aspects of our business

Board committees
Audit Committee
« reviews and monitors financial statements

« oversees relationships with internal and external auditors
+ oversees extenal audit process

« reviews intermal audit plans

+« compliance matters

2018 Membership

+ André Falzon (Chair)

+ Rachel English

e Steve Lucas

EHS&S Committee
« oversees the development of strategy and policy on Sustainable Communities, environmental, health and salety and security matters

« reviews the effectiveness of Sustainable Communities, environmental, heatth and safety and security management programmes and systems
2018 Membership

« Rachel English {Chair)

« Peter Geleta

e André Falzon

Nomination & Governance Committee
« makes recommendations to the Board on its composition and that of its Committees

« reviews and oversees the formulation and adoption of Acacia corporate govemance policies and procedures
2018 Membership

« Rachel English (Chair}

« Michael Kenyon

» Steve Lucas

Compensation Committee
+« reviews and recommends overall remuneration policy and stralegy

+ reviews and approves remuneration arrangements for Executive Directors and Executive Leadership Team
2018 Membership

« Michael Kenyon (Chair)

+ Rachel English

e Steve Lucas

Independent Committee

« oversees all aspects and implications of the discussions between Barrick and the GoT, and any related propesals
2018 Membership

= Michael Kenyon (Chair)

s Rachel English

s André Falzon

* Steve Lucas



Non-Executive Chair The Chair creates the conditions for overall Board and individual Director effectiveness. The Chair is required to demonstrate the
highest standards of integrity and probity, and set clear expectations concerning the Company's culture, values and behaviours, and the style and tone
of Board discussions. The Chair's role is wide-ranging and includes: demonstraling ethical leadership; setting a Board agenda which is primarily focused
on strategy, performance, value creation and accountability, and ensuring that issues relevant to these areas are reserved for Board decision; making
certain that the Board determines the nature, and extent, of the significant risks the Company is willing to embrace in the implementation of its strategy,
regularly considering succession planning and the composition of the Board; making certain that the Board has effective decision-making processes and
applies sufficient challenge to major proposals; encouraging all Board members to engage in Board and Committee meetings by drawing on their skills,
experience, knowledge and, where appropriate, independence; and consulting the Senior Independent Director on Board matters, as necessary in any
given context.

Executive Director The CEO is an Executive Director and has responsibility for proposing strategy to the Board, and for delivering the strategy as
agreed. The CEC has, with the support of the Executive Leadership Team (ELT), primary responsibility for setting an exampie to the Company’s
employees, and communicating to them the expectations of the Board in relation to the Company’s culture, values and behaviours. The CEO is
responsible for supporting the Chair to make certain that appropriate standards of governance permeate throughout Acacia. The CEQ ensures thal the
Board is made aware, when appropriate, of the views of employees cn issues of relevance to the business. In addition, the CEQ ensures the Board
knows the ELT's views on business issues in order to improve the standard of discussion in the beardroom and, prior to finat decision on an issue,
explain in a balanced way any divergence of view in the exaecutive team.

Non-Executive Directors Non-Executive Directors have a responsibility to uphold high standards of integrity and probity and are required to have a
strong command of the issues relevant to the business in order to make a positive contribution to the Board. Non-Executive Directors support the Chair
and the CEO in instilling the appropriate culture, values and behaviours in the boardroom and beyond. All Non-Executive Directors are required to
ensure that there is sufficient consideration of business issues prior to, and informed debate and challenge at, Board meetings. In making decisions,
they take into account the views of shareholders and other stakeholders, given that such views may provide different perspectives on the Company and
its performance.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Our Directors have a broad range of relevant skills and experience to assist
Acacia in achieving its strategic goals.

Michael Kenyon {69)

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Year appointed: 2010

2018 Committee membership
» Compensation Committee

s Independent Committee
« Nomination & Govemnance Committee

Skills and experience

Mr Kenyon has more than 40 years of experience in the mining and mineral exploration industry and is a geologist by training. He was previously
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Detour Gold Corporation for nine years to mid-2018 and then Interim CEO of Detour Gold Corporation for the last
six months of 2018. He was also previously Chairman of the Board of Directors of Troon Ventures Ltd, President and Chief Executive Officer at both
Canico Resource Corp and Sutton Resources Ltd, and a Director of Cumberland Resources Ltd until their respective acquisition by third parties.

Mr Kenyon holds an MSc degree in Economic Geology from the University of Alberta in Canada. He was also the recipient of the 2005 Developer of the
Year award from the Prospector and Developers Association of Canada in recognition of his mining development accomplishments.

Board meetings attended
6

Independent
Yes

Peter Geleta (55)

Interim Chief Executive Officer
Year appointed: 2018

2018 Committee membership
+ EHS&S Committee

Skills and experience

Mr Geleta was appointed as Acacia’s interim Chief Executive Officer on 1 January 2018, having previously been Head of People. Mr Geleta joined
Acacia in May 2012. He has 36 years of mining industry experience in both operational and corporate leadership positions, and has extensive
experience on the African continent. During his time with Acacia he has served as General Manager of the Bulyanhulu mine and helped lead the
successful restructuring of the business, .

Prior to joining Acacia Mr Geleta held a number of roles at Barrick, including Organisational Effectiveness Director for Barrick Africa, Human Resources
Director for the Australia Pacific Region and General Manager for Barrick's Cowal Gold Mine in New South Wales. Before joining Barrick, he worked for
AngloGold Ashanti for 25 years, where he held a number of roles including Head of Human Resources and Sustainability for AngloGold Ashanti's Africa
Operations and Generai Manager of the Navachab Mine in Namibia. Mr Geleta holds an Executive MBA qualification from the University of Cape Town.

Board meetings attended
6

Independent
Not applicable



Rachel English (55)

Interim Chair of the Board

Year appointed: 2013

2018 Committee membership

Audit Committee

Compensation Committee

« EHS&S Committee

» Independent Committee

+« Nomination & Governance Committee
Skills and experience

Ms English was appointed as the Interim Chair of the Board on 1 September 2018 following the resignation of Kelvin Dushnisky from the Board.

Ms English has held a number of non-executive positions over the past 10 years. Previously, she held senior positions in BG Group and Royal Dutch
Shell, with responsibilities spanning finance, corporate strategy, mergers and acquisitions, and business development. She began her career at
PricewaterhouseCoopers and subsequently worked for the World Bank Group and European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), where
she was involved in policy development and lending operations. Currently, Ms English is a Director of Helios Social Enterprise, which she founded to
develop renewable energy access projects in rural sub-Saharan Africa and the Private Infrastructure Development Group, a multi-lateral development
and finance crganisation delivering infrastructure in Africa and Asia.

Ms English holds an MA {Hons) in Politics, Philosophy & Economics from Oxford University and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Board meetings attended
6

Independent
Yes

Stephen Galbraith (47)

Nen-Executive Director
Year appointed: 2010

2018 Committee membership
None

Skills and experience
Mr Galbraith has been employed by Barrick since August 2000 in treasury and finance functions, and is currently Managing Director of Barrick
International (Barbados) Corporation. Mr Galbraith previously held the role of Audit Manager for PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr Galbraith holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from Strathclyde University, is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Scotland and is a Chartered Financial Analyst Charterhoider.

Board meetings attended
6

independant
No

André Falzon (64)

Independent Non-Executive Director
Year appointed: 2010

2018 Committee membership

+« Audit Committee

» EHS&S Committee

+ Independent Committee

+ Skills and experience

Mr Falzon is a senior finance executive with more than 30 years of internaticnal financial and management experience in the mining industry. He brings
extensive financial, compliance, and intemmal audit expertise along with a wealth of experience in business acquisitions, and corporate governance that
was built over a more than 23-year career with Barrick Gold Corporation, one of the largest gold mining companies in the world. During his long career at

Barrick Gold, Mr Falzon held increasingly senior positions, including Vice President and Controller. Mr Falzon is also a Director of Detour Gold
Corporation and was previously a Director and Audit Committee chair of a number of publicly listed gold mining companies.

Mr Falzon was an active member of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petreleum (CIM} production cost reporting committee. He has been
an active participant in a number of important industry working groups: advisory panel member for extractive activities of the Intemational Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), and member of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) mineral reserves and mining industry working groups.

Mr Falzon is a Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA, CA, and CGA (Canada)) with a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Toronto.

Board meetings attended
6

Independent
Yes



Steve Lucas (64)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Year appointed: 2013

2018 Committee membership
«  Audit Committee

+ Compensation Committee

» Independent Committee

+ Nomination & Govemance Comrnittee

Skills and experience

Mr Lucas is a Chartered Accountant with long and wide-ranging financial experience as an executive and non-executive director in the energy and

extractive industries. He was finance director at National Grid plc from 2002 to 2010 and previously worked for 11 years at Shell and for six years at BG
Group, latterly as group treasurer. He is currently Non-Executive Chairman of Ferrexpo ple and a Non-Executive Director of Tullow Qil plc.

Mr Lucas holds a BA in Geology from Oxford University.

Board meetings attended
6

Independent
Yes



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM

In addition to Peter Geleta, Interim Chief Executive Officer, the Executive Leadership Team, includes:

Jaco Maritz (43} Chief Financial Officer Year appointed: 2018

Skills and experience

Jaco Maritz was appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2018. Jaco has been with Acacia and its predecessor companies since 2001 in a
range of increasingly senior finance roles covering all aspects of the finance function. He was initially employed by Placer Dome, which was acquired by
Barrick in 2006, and was part of Acacia at its inception. Jaco is a member of the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Charlie Ritchie (49) Head of Legal & Compliance Year appointed: 2017

Skills and experience

Charlie Ritchie joined Acacia as Head of Legal & Compliance in January 2017. Charlie came to Acacia after more than 20 years in corporate and private
legal practice across Australia, the UK and the USA. His legal career includes 13 years at the Rio Tinto Group, including considerable experience in the
African mining sector.

Until the end of 2016, he served as Rio Tinto's General Counsel Diamonds & Minerals and United States, based initially in Londen and then Salt Lake
City. Prior to this, he was Legal Counsel and Company Secretary for the ASX-listed Energy Resources of Australia Limited (Rio Tinte: 68%) between
2007 and 2010, and he first joined Rio Tinto in 2004 to manage significant disputes and litigation in the Australia-Pacific region. Before joining Rio Tinto,
Charlie worked at private law firms in London and Melbourne, specialising in international commercial litigation and dispute resolution. Professionally
qualified in both the United Kingdom and Australia, Charlie holds Bachelor of Laws (Hons.) and Bachelor of Arts degrees from the University of
Melbourne.

Hannes Henckel (68) Head of Discovery Year appointed: 2018

Skills and experience

Hannes Henckel has been with Acacia and its predecessor companies since 2002 and prior to becoming Head of Discovery was involved in Africa wide
target generation, project evaluation and exploration as Chief Geologist Discovery. He has extensive experience in the field of exploration, covering
various commodities. After a short stint at the University of Munich he worked at the Chamber of Mines Research QOrganisation of South Africa doing
research on Witwatersrand gold deposits. He then joined Goldfields working on exploration projects in southern Africa. He was seconded for several
years to South America as Chief Geologist for Goldfields’ Latin American Operations. From 2002 he was part of Placer Dome’s Platinum Division which
was acquired by Barrick in 2006.

Hannes holds an MSc and PhD in geology from Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich. He is a fellow of the GSSA and SEG.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board composition
As at 31 December 2018, the Board comprised a Non-Executive Chair, who was independent upen appeintment, one Executive Director and four Non-
Executive Directors, of whom three were independent.

Board changes during 2018
There were no new Board appcintments during the reporting period. Kelvin Dushnisky resigned from the Board with effect from 31 August 2018 following the
announcement of his deparfure from Barrick.

Retirement and re-election
Given ongoing succession planning activities, full details on Directors’ infentions, with respeci to potential retirement from and nominations for re-elections to
the Board, will be provided prior to the 2019 AGM as part of the AGM materials.

Board leadership

Chair and Chief Executive Officer

In line with best practice, the roles of Chief Executive Officer and Chair, and their related responsibilities, are separated. The divisions of responsibility and
the specifications of each role are set out in writing and reviewed periodically as part of annual corporate govemance reviews. Responsibilities are divided so
as to ensure that the Chair remains principally responsible for the leadership of the Board and ensuring that the Board plays a full and constructive part in the
development and detemmination of the Company’s strategy and overall commercial objectives. The Chief Executive Officer is primarily responsible for all
executive management matters affecting Acacia and is principally responsible for running the Company’s business. All members of the Executive Leadership
Team report directly to him.

Senior Independant Director
Michael Kenyon is currently Acacia’s Senior independent Director {SID). The responsibilities and duties of the SID are determined in accordance with the
requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code. In particular, the S\D is required to:

« actas a sounding board fer the Chair;
* actas an intermediary for other Directors, when necessary;
« ensure that an annual appraisal of the Chair is conducted by the Non-Executive Directors, without the Chair present; and

» be available to shareholders for discussion purposes, in cases where contact between such shareholders and the Chair and/or CEO has been ineffective
or is otherwise inappropriate.

Succession planning for the SID position is under consideration as part of overall Board succession planning and composition activities.

Matters reserved

There is a schedule of matters that the Board has specifically reserved for its decision. This schedule was reviewed during the year and includes matters
such as setting the Group’s strategic aims and objectives, approving significant contractual commitments (including merger and acquisition activity),
approving capital-raising, approving changes 1o the Group’s share capital and corporate siructure, approving financial reports and ensuring maintenance of a
sound system of internal control and risk management.

Detegation of authority

The Board has delegated responsibility for certain matters to five committees: the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, the EHS&S Committee,
the Nomination & Govemnance Committee and the Independent Committee. The membership, chairship and activities of each of these Committees during
2018 are set out in each Committee report on pages 80 to 186.

Board effectiveness

Board meetings and attendance

Board decisions are predominantly made by achieving a consensus at Board meetings. In exceptional circumstances, decisions may be taken by the
maijority of Board members. Questions arising at any meeting are determined by a majority of veles. In the case of an equality of votes, the Company's
Articles of Association do not provide the Chair with a second or casting vote. All Directors are required to take decisions objectively and in the best interests
of the Company. As part of their duties as Directors, Non-Executive Directors are expected to apply independent judgement to contribute to issues of
strategy and performance and to scrutinise the performance of management.

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year, and at such other times as are necessary to discharge its duties. The Board met a total of six
times in 2018. Meetings occurred in person and by teleconference. Details of individual attendance are provided in the table overleaf.

Board briefings and development

The Board receives monthly management reports and quarterly reports outlining all matetial operational, financial and strategic developments. These ensure
that Board members remain properly briefed on the performance and financial position of the Group on a continuous basis. Beard and Committee papers are
circulated prior to all meetings to aflow Directors to be briefed in advance of discussions. Board meetings include quarterly operational, financiaf and
exploration project performance reviews to ensure that, in addition to specific scheduled matters and any other business, core business performance is
monitored and assessed on a continuous basis. In addition to scheduled Board meetings, all Directors have access to members of the Executive Leadership
Team and to whatever further information they need to perform their duties and to satisfy their responsibilities. Acacia's independent Non-Executive Directors
and Committee Chairs meet with members of the Executive Leadership Team to receive more in-depth briefings on Board and Commitiee matters whenever
required or requested. In addition, all Directors continue to have free access to visit operations outside scheduled Board arrangements. Board training and
development needs are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Directors may take independent professional advice, as necessary, at the Company’s expense in the
furtherance of their duties. In addition to this, each Board Committee is entitled to seek independent professional advice at the Company's expense, where
hecessary, to assist or guide the Committes in the performance of its functions.

Internal control

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of intema! control and risk management and for reviewing its effectiveness. In line with this responsibility,
the Board has established ongoing processes and systems for identifying, evaluating and managing principal risks that the Group faces, which have been in
place throughout the year and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report.



The Board principally bases its monitoring and review of the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems on its review of management
reports and assessments, and on the quarterly reports it receives on the status of the Group’s risk management and intemat control environment. This is
supported by the risk profile reviews that our intemal audit function carries out to help the Board identify and manage the most significant risks and events
that could affect the Company’s operations, financials and performance on an ongoing basis. YWhere necessary, the Board is assisted by its Committees in
reviewing internal syslems and controls, particularly the Audit Committee, which is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
and risk management framework syslems, as components of the Company's intemal control framework.

In compliance with its obligations, the Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and intemal control systems for the
reporting period. The review also covered a review of all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and considered all
significant aspects of internal control for the reporting period. During the course of the review the Board did not identify or hear of any failings or weaknesses
that it determined to be material. Therefore a confirmation of any necessary actions undertaken is not required.

Additional information regarding the internal control and risk management process specifically in relation to the financial reporting process and the
preparation of the consolidated finzncial slatements is provided as part of the Audit Committee report and the notes to the consclidated financial statements.

Further detail as regards the govemance structure used for Acacia’s approach to risk management and the processes and procedures used in the context of
risk management is provided on pages 30 to 36 of this Annual Report. The Company’s viability statement is also provided in this context on page 31.

Compensation Nomination &
Board meetings Audit Committee Commitiee Governance Comimnittee EHS&S Committee Independent Committee
Number] Maximum Number] Maximum Number Maximum| Numberd Maximum Number] Maximum Number] Maximum
attended] possiblel  attended possiblel  attended| possible)  attended possiblel  attended possibly  attended] possible|
Current Directors ‘
Rachel English’ & 6 5 Eﬂ 4 4 2 2 4 4 17] 18
Kelvin Dushnisky' 1 4 - - - - 1 1 . . . _
Peter Geleta 6 6 — — - - — - 4 4 . .
Andre Falzon & 5 5 5 - — — - 4 4 14 18
Michael Kenyon (& & — — 4 4 3 3 — - 18 18
Steve Lucas & 6 4 5 3 4 2 3 - - 15 18
Stephen Galbraith & — - - - . — - - . —

1 Kelvin Dushnisky stepped cown from the Board with effect from 31 August 2018. With effect from 1 Septembar 2018, Rachel English, who was already an independent Non-Executive Director, assumed
the role of Interim Chair and also became chair of the Nomination & Governance Committes.

Maijority shareholder

Barrick is the Group majority shareholder, holding approximately 64% of Acacia’s issued shares as at the date of this report. Acacia's relationship with
Barrick is governed by the terms of a Relationship Agreement, the principal purpose of which is to ensure that the Acacia Group is capable of ecarrying on its
business independently of the Barrick Group and that any transactions and relationships with the Barrick Group are conducted at arm’s length and on normal
commercial terms. The Relationship Agreement will continue for so long as Acacia is listed on the London Stock Exchange and Barrick owns or controls at
least 15% of Acacia’s issued share capital or voting rights.

The Relationship Agreement provides Barrick with certain Director appointment rights in line with a sliding scale, structured as follows:

arrick percentage shareholding Barrick Director appointment rights

0% or more [The higher of three Non-Executive Directors and the maximum that may
be appeinted under the UK Corporate Govemnance Code

25% up to 40% [The higher of two Non-Executive Directors and one less than the
maximum number of Non-Executive Directors that may be appointed
under the UK Corporate Governance Code

15% up to 26% [The higher of one Non-Executive Director and two less than the
maximum number of Non-Executive Directors that may be appointed
uinder the UK Corporate Governance Code

Kelvin Dushnisky, a Director nominated by Barrick, stepped down from the Board on 31 August 2018 following his resignaticn as President of the Barrick
Group. As a result, the sole Director on the Board appointed by Barrick at the current time is Stephen Galbraith.

In addition to Director appointment rights, and subject to certain exceptions, as part of the terms of the Relationship Agreement, Barrick has undertaken that
members of the Bamrick Group will not carry on exploration for gold or silver in Africa, or acquire, whether through an asset purchase or the purchase of
securities, a gold or sitver mining business in Africa without giving Acacia the opportunity to exercise certain rights of first refusal for so long as Barrick holds



309% or more of the issued share capital or voting rights of Acacia (the Pre-emption Right). Acacia has given a reciprocal non-compete commitment to Barrick
in this regard.

On 24 September 2018, Barmick and Randgold Resources Limited (Randgold) announced that they intended to merge. At the time, Randgold had a portfolio
of gold mines and exploration programmes in West and Central Africa. Accordingly, the transaction triggered the Pre-erption Right in favour of Acacia under
the Relationship Agreement. After consideration by the Independent Committee and consultation with its advisers, Acacia concluded that it would not
exercise its Pre-emption Right with respect to Randgald. The merger between Barrick and Randgold became effective on 2 January 2019 and the merged
entity is known as Barmick. Acacia has reserved its position regarding the exercise of the Pre-emption Right with respect to any future proposals by Barrick to
acquire or to increase any African gold or silver mining or exploration rights, irrespective of scale, that Barrick might consider in the future and in respect of
which Acacia’'s Pre-emption Right applies.

Acacia entered into the Relationship Agreement at the time of its initial public offering in 2010. It was amended in 2014 to ensure full compliance with the
independence requirements introduced to the Listing Rules, which took effect in November 2014, Fotlowing these amendments the Relationship Agreement
expressly provides that:

(i) any and all transactions with Barrick {or its agsociates) shall be conducted at arm’s length and on normal commercial tarms;
(ii} neither Barrick, nor any of its associates, will take any action that will prevent Acacia from complying with its obligations under the Listing Rules; and

{iiiy neither Barrick, nor any of its associates, will propose or procure the proposal of a shareholider resolution which is intended or appears to be intended to
circumvent the proper application of the Listing Rules.

In addition, the Listing Rules require premium listed companies with controlling shareholders to provide a confirmation in their annual reports that all of the
independence provisions contained in their relationship agreements have been compiied with. iIn fine with this requirement, the Board has assessed Barrick
and Acacia's compliance with the Relationship Agreement’s independence requirements as amended, and has sought advice where appropriate from ils
professional advisers. In this regard, responsibility for monitering the Company’s ongoing compliance with refevant independence requirements in connection
with the discussions between Barrick and the GoT has been delegated to the Independent Committee. As such, the Board can confirm that Acacia has
complied with the independence requirements stated above since their adoption and, so far as the Board is aware, Barrick and its associates have also
complied with these requirements. In this regard, all members of the Board support the giving of this statement and no independent Non-Executive Director
has raised any objections in this regard.

Dialogue with the investment community

Acacia has a designated investor relations team which acts as the primary point of contact with the investment community and is responsible for maintaining
Acacia's ongoing relations with investors and shareholders. Acacia conducts regular investor meetings and telephone calls with the investment community to
discuss results, and participates in mining conferences to meet with current and prospective investors. In addition to its annual and half-year reports, Acacia
publishes quarterly reports to the market, which provide further information on production and financial results, and updates on its business and operations.
Acacia’s investor relations team alsc arranges operational site tours for members of the analyst community, as ang when appropriate.

AGM

Acacia’s 2019 AGM will be held on 23 May 2019 at 13.00 BST. The business of the meeting will be conducted in accordance with Companies Act 2006
requirements and standards promoted by the UK Corporate Govemance Code. The Chair of the Board and the Chairs of the Audit, Compensation, EHS&S,
Nomination & Governance and Independent Commitiees will be available to answer guestions put to them by shareholders at the meeting. The AGM Notice
will, in accordance with best practice, be sent to shareholders at least 20 business days prior to the date of the meeting. It will also be made available an the
Company's website.

Conflicts of interest

Mr Galbraith is a nominee Director appointed by Barrick, and, during his tenure on the Board, Kelvin Dushnisky was also a nominee Director appointed by
Barrick. Mr Galbraith holds (and Mr Dushnisky previcusly held) a number of cross directorships with members of the Barrick Group which give rise to
situations in which these Directors could have a direct or indiract interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with thase of Acacia. in addition, as a result
of their employment within the Barrick Group, these individuals also hold interests under Bamick's restricted stock unit plan and other employes incentive
plans.

The Companies Act 2006 requires directors 1o avoid situations where they have, or can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or may possibly
conflict, with company interests. However, the Act does allow directors of public companies to autharise confiicts and potential conflicts of interest where a
company’s articles of association contain a provision to that effect. Acacia’s Articles of Association contain such provision and a procedure for this. in
accordance with this procadure, the conflicts outlined above were declared and authorised by the Board. The monitoring and, if appropriate, authorisation of
any actual or potential conflict of interest is an ongoing process. Directors are required to notify the Company of any material changes in positions or
situations that have already been considered and any new situations.

In addition, Directors are required to declare interests in potential or actual transactions and are required to abstain from voting on such transactions, subject
to permitted exceptions. If a question arises as to whether any interest of a Director prevents him or her from voting or being counted in a quorum in the
context of a potential or actual transaction, the matter is referred to the Chair, whose findings are final and conclusive. In the context of questions relating to
any such conflict of the Chair, the question may ultimately be decided by a resclution of the other Directors. The Board reviews conflicts of intereston a
periodic basis and maintains a record of all declared conflicts.

Specifically as regards nominee Directors appointed by Barrick, the Relationship Agreement provides that if any transaction or arrangement arises directly
between a member of the Barrick Group and a member of the Acacia Group and dees or could, in the opinion of a majority of Directors (excluding any
Director(s) appointed by Barrick), give rise to a conflict of interest between Acacia and any Director appointed by Barrick, any such matter must be approved
and autherised at a duly conwvened Board meeting or in writing by a majority of Directors (excluding any Director(s) appointed by Barrick) prior to the
Company taking further action in relation to such matter. Save for the matters set out on the previous page, no other conflicts of interest were disclosed to the
Board during the reporting period.

Performance evaluation and succession
The Board believes that annual evaluations are helpful and provide a valuable opportunity for continuous improvement.

in 2018, with the assistance of Lintstock, we developed tailored surveys that reflected the Company’s specific circumstances in 2018 and built upon themes
and outputs from the review conducted in 2017. All Board members were requested to complefe online surveys addrassing the performance of the Board
and its Committees. The anchymity of all respondents was ensured throughout the process in order to promote the open and frank exchange of views.



In early 2019, Lintstock produced a report addressing the following areas of Board performance:

« The appropriateness of the Board's composition and the attributes that ought to be prioritised in any new Non-Executive Director appeintments, including
in light of the potential retirement from the Board of Michael Kenyon and André Falzon during 2019.

+ The Board's understanding of the operating and political environment in the countries in which the Company is active.

+ The relationships between Board members and management, and the atmosphere in meetings.

» The Board's oversight of the Company’s strategy and its implementation.

» The Board's focus on risk and the effectiveness with which the Board oversees culture and behaviours througheut Acacia.

« The Board's oversight of succession plans for members of senior management.

« In addition, Directors were asked to provide their views as to the top strategic issues facing the company and those matters to prioritise in 2019.

While the Board had continued to operate effectively throughout 2018, some opportunities for improvement and specific priorities were identified of which the
top priorities for 2019 were: {i) continuing to review all options available to achieve a resolution to ongeing challenges and disputes affecting the operating
environment in Tanzania; (i) continuing the appropriale management of the Company’s relationship with Barrick, particularly in the context of Barrick's
discussions with the GoT; {iii) continuing to attract and retain key emplayees; and (iv) Board succession planning.

In the context of succession planning, in order to determine the overall requirements for composition of the Board, we conducted a Board skills assessment,
based on the Company’s strategic pricrities. This resulted in the production of a skills matrix which assessed the Board’s skills across six categories, being:

s« The Group’s people

+ The Group's relationships

« Technical expertise relating to the Group’s business

+ Non-technical expertise relating to the Group’s business
+ Financial expertise relating to the Group’s business

+  Governance/Execulive experience.

The analysis took into account the potential retirement from the Board during 2019 of Michael Kenyon and André Falzon. The principal finding was that an
additional appointment should be made to enhance the technical mining expertise available to the Board. It was also recognised that an appointee with a
strong financial background and audit committee experience should be identified to replace André Falzon as chair of the Audit Committee. in addition, cne of
the criteria on which the selection of the successful candidate will be based is the extent to which the candidate will enhance the diversity of the Board. As
noted above, the process for the selection of additional non-executive directors remains ongoing and we will provide a further update prior to the AGM.

In addition, following the resignation of Kelvin Dushnisky from the Board and the appeintment of Rachel English as interim Chair, work was undertaken by
Lintstock to support the Board in assessing skills required for any potential permanent appointees to the position as Chair. As part of this process, each
member of the Board was interviewed o cbtain their views on the skills and attributes that should be prioritised in making this appointment, as well as their
views on the top priorities for the Chair upon taking on the position, as well as any other recormmendations for ensuring an effective appointment. In terms of
the attributes to be prioritised, proficiency in the following areas was highlighted: {i} dealing with complexity and building consensus, recognising the
operational challenges currently faced by Acacia, and the related geopolitical issues; (i) negofiation and communication skills, in the context of the
discussions with the GoT; and (iii) management of the Company’s relationship with Barrick.

Corporate governance compliance

For the year under review, as a UK company with a premium listing on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange, Acacia is required to make certain
statements regarding the way it is governed, as required by the 2016 edition of the UK Corporate Governance Code, which is available at www.fre.org.uk.
Accordingly, this report explains how Acacia has applied the Main Principles of the UK Corperate Govermnance Code during 2018.

Generally, Acacia seeks to comply with all relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code wherever possible and for the reporting year it is the
Board's view that Acacia has complied with all such provisions, save for the foliowing:

«  Mr Dushnisky, who was Chair of the Board until 31 August 2018, was not independent on appointment as Chair and an external search consultancy was
not used in connection with his appointment. Given Mr Dushnisky’s experience within the mining sector, his skill set and his familiarity with the operating
and geographical envirenment in which the Company’s assels are located, the Board believed his appointment to be in the best interests of the
Company irespective of this {Provisions A.3.1 and B.2.4). The Interim Chair of the Company, Rachel English, is independent. Accordingly, from 1
QOctober 2018, Acacia complied with this provision of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

» The Company has not adopted a formal diversity policy. As a Group we remain committed to diversity. In particular, we are committed to increasing
Tanzanian representation in senior positions within the Group. However, given the current climate in Tanzania, and in particutar following the arrestin
Oclober 2018 of a senior manager of Acacia's Tanzanian businesses who was a Tanzanian national, we are highly conscious of the increased risk to
which senior managers in Tanzania are currently exposed. Accordingly, the Board's view is that adoption of the policy should be deferred pending
resolution of the issues with the GoT. That will also enable the policy to be aligned with the Group’s growth strategy following that resolution. As a
Company we will continue to base all recruitment on the premise that we strive to attract a broad mix of individuals from both the traditional and non-
traditional mining labour markets in order to create a diverse workgroup and maintain a unique company culture. (Provision B.2.4) In connection with our
current process for identifying and appointing new non-executive directors as parl of our succession pianning activities (as discussed in more detail on
page 70), one of the criteria on which the selection of the successful candidates will be based is the extent to which the candidate will enhance the
diversity of the Board.

« Rachel English, who became Interim Chair on 1 September 2018, has remained as a member of the Audit Committee. This reflects the need to maintain
appropriate depth of expertise on the Audit Committee for the time being, as well as Rachel's appointment to the Chair being on an interim basis. The
compaosition of the Audit Committee will be reassessed following conclusion of the current Board succession planning activities. (Provision C.3.1)

The UK Corporate Govemnance Code requires that the Board provides a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of Acacia’s position and prospects in
its external reporting. Accordingly, the Directors were responsible for the preparation and approval of this Annual Report and consider the Annual Report and
Accounts for 2018, taken as a whole, to be fair, balanced and understandable and believe that it provides the information necessary for shareholders to
assess Acacia’s position and performance, business model and strategy.



In addition lo compliance with the UK Carporate Govermnance Code, as part of commitments given in connection with Acacia’s secondary listing on the Dar
es Salaam Stock Exchange, the Board has undertaken to comply with the Corporate Govemance Guidelines issued by the Tanzanian Capital Markets and
Securities Authority to the extent that these requirements are equivalent to appiicable UK corporate govemnance standards. In the case of any conflict
between the two, the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code prevail.

Acacia’s extemal auditors have reviewed those parts of this statement which they are required to review under the UK Listing Rules.



AUDIT COMMITTEE
André Falzon
Committee chair

Meetings|Percentage of meatings|
Members attende attended
André Falzon (Chair) 5 100%
Rachel English 5 100%
Steve Lucas 4 80%
Introduction

| am the Chair of the Committee and a CPA, CA, CGA (Canada), with over 30 years of financial and management experience within the mining industry.
During the year, Rachel English and Steve Lucas acted as the other members of the Committee. Details of members’ experience and qualifications are
provided as part of the Beard of Directors’ biographies.

The composition of the Audit Committee, whose members have a wide range of experience with an emphasis on financial and audit committee experience
across the extractive industry, meets the enhanced requirements of the 2016 edition of the UK Corporate Governance Code and of the revised FRC Audit
Committee Guidance published during 2016 which became effective during 2017.

Our terms of reference require us to meet at least four times a year, and in 2018 we met five times, holding meetings in person and by conference call. The
Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Legal and Compliance, the Chief Compliance Officer, the Head of Risk and internal Audit,
members of the Company’s finance function and the external auditors also attend Commiftee meetings on a regular basis by invitation.

We alse hold individual meetings with Acacia's external auditors and the Head of Risk and Intemal Audit without management present to discuss matters
within our remit of responsibilities.

Key responsibilities

Our key responsibilities include oversight of financia! reporting and intemal controls over financial reporting, overseeing the Group’s relationship with its
external auditors and Acacia's internal audit function, overseeing the external and internal audit processes generaily and reviewing the effectiveness of the
Group's systems of internal control, including its risk management framework. In addition, we receive reports from the Chief Compliance Officer as regards
anti-fraud, anti-bribery and anti-corruption compliance programmes, these being directly related to our oversight of whistlablowing arrangements and related
policy reviews.

Activities in 2018 and plans for 2019

Qur activities during the year were wide ranging, and comprised the following in particular:

IObjective JAchieved
Reviewing Committee composition based on succession planning, skill set and qualification requirements. yes
Reviewing our terms of reference and our remit of respensibilities in light of corporate governance developmenis. yes

Reviewing the external auditors’ terms of engagement, plans, scope of work, compensation, the findings arising from all external audit work and external auditor | yes
lperformance.

Reviewing Acacia's periodic financial reporting. yes

Reviewing key accounting policies and developments in ﬁnanc—i;1;porting and regulatory environment. yes
[Reviewing the internal audit plan together with internal audit reparts, findings and monitoring related a_cvlion plans. yes
[Reviewing enterprise risk registers, tax disputes and other litigation. ) 7 yes
[Reviewing the pregress of the annual anti-corruption compliance programme, yes

Reviewing whistieblowing arrangements to support reporting requirements under Acacia’s Code of Conduct and Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption policies and other| yes
reports from the Company’s compliance function.

Receiving periodic risk management reports and updates as regards the principal risks for which the Committee has delegated oversight on behalf of the Board. | yes

Participating in the Committee’s annual performance assessment. yes
Review of carrying value of assets, in light of, among other things, ongoing uncertainty arising from the continuing operational challenges in Tanzania yes
Review of appropniate measures to be taken to preserve cash and to protect the Company's balance sheet, in light of continuing operational challenges in yes
[Tanzania.

In 2019, the Committee will continue to focus on the majority of the above matters, these being core to its remit of responsibilities.



Significant issues considered by the Committee in 2018

Impact of mineral concentrate export ban and negotiations with the Government of Tanzania (“GoT")

The Commitiee has considered the ongoing impact of the mineral concentrate export ban in Tanzania on Acacia’s assels, liabilities and cash flows. The
Committee has also considered the status of negotiations with the GoT, the prospect, timing and final terms of any comprehensive negotiated settiement that
might be agreed with the GoT and approved by the Company, and the possible impact of the terms of any such settiement.

Carrying value review

Management identified a number of potential triggers for impairment testing of the catrying value of the Company’s assets, including the ongoing uncertainty
surrounding a potential resolution of the disputes with the GoT, the revised Bufyanhulu business modef, the updated geological modefs at North Mara and
Bulyanhulu, and the fact that Acacia's market capitalisation has been lower than its carrying value during the 2018 reporting period. As a result, management
has undertaken a carrying value review of the Group's affected Cash Generating Units (CGUs), being Bulyanhulu, North Mara and Buzwagi, based on an
assessment of their recoverable value, and long life intangible assets.

The determination of recoverable value was based on the higher of value in-use, being the net present value of future cash flows expected to be generated
by the asset, and fair value less costs to dispose. There is no active market for the CGUs. Consequently, fair value less costs to dispose was derived using
discounted cash flow techniques (net present value of fulure expected cash flows of a CGU), which incorporate market participant assumptions. Cost to
dispose was based on management's best estimates of future selling costs; costs attributable to the disposal of a CGU are not considered significant.

For the purpose of carrying value assessments, management based its calculation of future cash fiows of the affected CGUs by reference to the key terms of
the framework announcements by Barrick and the GoT in October 2017. Based on Barrick's announcements, and absent any changes in its position in
discussions and exchanges with Acacia, Acacia understands that it remains Barrick’s belief that it will be able to agree with the GoT a detailed proposal for a
comprehensive settiement of the situation, and that this will be in a form that Barrick could recommend to Acacia for review. Key assumptions applied by
management in these calculations inciude a 50% share of future economic benefits for the GoT in the form of taxes, royalties and a 16% free carry interest in
the CGUs, as well as a US$300 million payment in relation to historical tax claims paid in instalments as concentrate sales recommence. In addition, the
framawork announcements provided for Acacia to contribute certain monies to fund specific projects in Tanzania. With no updated information from Barrick,
management had to make a best estimate of what can reasonably be assumed for timing of conclusion of discussions between Barrick and the GoT and an
agreement of a proposal to be put o Acacia for review, with consequent timing for the commencement of concentraie sales and potential resumption of
underground mining at Bulyanhulu. Management considered that it is reasonable for review purposes to assume a six month prolongation (to the end of H1
2019) of the discussions between Barrick and the GoT, and that in these circumstances there would be a further three to six moniths delay thereafter for the
resumption concentrate sales and exports, with concentrate revenues recommencing in Q1 2020 and the resumption of production from underground mining
at Bulyanhulu in late 2020, VAT refunds were assumed by management to recornmence and historic carried forward tax losses assumed to continue to be
available to offset against future taxable profits from 1 January 2020.

Management considered that, in conducting the review of camying values in accordance with applicable accounting standards as at 31 December 2018, the
discount rate used should: {a) refiect the uncertainty around the final terms of any comprehensive settlement that might be agreed or whether settlement will
be reached at all, and (b) best refiect the potential reduction in value as a result of the proposed 16% free carry interest for the GoT which cannot otherwise
be included in calculations of value at a CGU level conducted on a 100% basis. Therefore, for the purposes of the carrying value review of the affected
CGUs, management used a discount rate of 11% compared to Acacia's calculated weighted average cost of capital of 5.5%.

In light of these assessments by management, as well as management's assessment of variables such as future commodity prices and timing and approval
of future capital and operating expenditure, managernent estimated thal the recoverable amounts for each of the CGUs supported the carrying value for
those assets as at 31 December 2018. Accardingly, no impairment charge was considered necessary.

The Committee has reviewed and examined key assumplions used by management for impairment testing. In particular, the Committee has reviewed and
challenged in this context the assessment as to the likelihood of a settlement being reached with the GoT, and as to the terms of such setiement, given that
Acacia has not yet recejved for review and approval a detailed proposal that has been agreed between Barrick and the GaT, and no conclusions can be
made by Acacia as to whether any particular terms of settlement would be approved by Acacia, in the event that any proposal is received in the future. In
addition, the Committee has reviewed other assumptions used, such as the long-term average gold price, and the discount rate used and the factors relevant
te this selection, such as operating cash cost levels and related factors underpinning relevant mine planning, budgets and forecasts. Views and contributions
of the external auditors as regards the impairment testing procedures and key assumplions used fonned part of the Committee’s review of these matters.
Following these reviews, the Commitiee satisfied itself that the process used to ascertain the camying value of the Company’s CGUs had been appropriately
reviewed and challenged and that the resulting assessments of such camying value were therefore sufficiently robust for use. The Committee also reviewed
the disclosures contained in this Annual Report, including the disclosure contained in the notes to the consolidated financial statements relating to the
sensitivities provided with respect to the CGUs, in order to satisfy itself of the accuracy and suitability of the disclosures so made.

Uncertain deferred tax positions

The Group has material deferred tax balances which include prior year tax foss assessments that continue to be in dispute with the Tanzania Revenue
Authority (TRA). The Group also has US$300 miliion of provisions for uncertain deferred tax positions, on the basis it is more probable than not that this
amount may be paid to settle outstanding assessments as part of a broader negotiated settiernent with the GoT. This is based on a review undertaken by the
Company in 2017 of its position in light of Barrick’s announcement in October 2017 that Barrick had increased its provision with respect to historical uncertain
tax positions from US$128 million to US$300 million.

The Committee has reviewed and examined the key assumptions used by management for the purposes of assessing the defarred tax balances and the
provision for uncertain deferred tax. In particular, the Commitlee has reviewed and challenged in this context the assessment as to the Tikelihood of a
setilement being reached with the GoT, and as to the terms of such seltlement, given that Acacia has not yet received for review and approval a detailed
praposal that has been agreed between Barrick and the GoT, and no canclusions can be made by Acacia as to whether any particular terms of setflement
would be approved by Acacla, in the event that any proposal is received in the future. Views and contributions of the external auditors as regards the key
assumptions used by management formed part of the Committee’s review of these matiers.

Based on this review the Committee concluded that the Company has sufficiently provided for any uncertain lax positions. The Committee is alse satisfied
with the suitability of the related disclosures contained in this Annual Report. In addition, the Committee reviewed the amount of deferred tax recognised with
respect to losses incurred in previous periods and was comfortable with the amounts recognised. Once a formal detailed proposal is received regarding the
framework between Barrick and the GoT, the Company will conduct a further assessment of the petential impact of the arrangements on the Company’s
historical tax position.



Indirect tax recoverability

As part of ongoing monitoring and review of taxation matters, the Committee has reviewed the status, recoverability and classification of the Group’s indirect
tax receivables refating to VAT charged on imports and the domestic supply of goods and services. In this regard, the Committee has received reports from
management on the status of discussions and negotiations of such matters between management and the TRA. We have also reviewed management's
ongeing calculations of amounts so outstanding, the procedure established to recover refunds and amounts due under the escrow account established to
fund refunds due in respect of portions of the receivable, the audit process followed to confirm such refunds, and the overall time frame for the receipt of such
refunds against amounts outstanding under the receivable from time to time. The Committee has also taken into account the views and contributions of the
external auditors regarding recoverability and classification of relevant indirect tax receivables. Based on the foregoing, the Committee has satisfied itself that
the Group's indirect tax receivabies remain recoverable and appropriately classified in the circumstances and is satisfied with the suitability of the related
disclosures contained in this Annual Report.

Going concern review

In addition to the matters stated above, all of which are relevant to the Board's assessment of Acacia's position as a going concem, the statement relating to
which is provided on page 55, the Committee also reviewed other matters relevant to Acacia’s liquidity, namely the ongoing availability of net cash balances,
mine plans, the cash flow impact of an extended concentrate export ban, the potential impacts of any comprehensive setlement with the GoT, including
payments relating to historical tax matters, gold prices and Acacia’s hedging strategy and palicy, capital expenditure and financing plans, and material
contingent liability exposure and various cash optimisation opportunities, the latter also being a focus for the Board. Management reported to the Committee
on each of these matters and was questioned accordingly. In this regard, the Committee has also taken into account the views of the extemal auditors in
order to satisfy itself of the position taken by the Board as regards to the appropriateness of the going concern assumption contained in this Annual Report.

Risk reviews

Throughout the year, the Committee has continued to have delegated oversight of certain financial-related principal risks and the Company’s rigk
management framework itself, as a component of intemal controls systems generally. Further information regarding risk management and risk govemance is
provided and the principal risks for which the Committee retains oversight are identified on pages 30 to 35. In this regard our risk monitoring activities involve
receipt of periodic risk reports and the monitoring of trends and development relevant to risk environment, as supported by management’s oversight and
implementation of day to day risk management across our operations.

Fair, balanced and understandable review

At the request of the Beard, the Committee has also reviewed the narrative content of the Annual Report in order to make a recommendation that the report
satisfies the narrative reporting requirements in that the Annual Report, when taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company's position and performance, business model and strategy. In this regard the Committee has
taken advice from the Company's legal function to satisfy itself of the relevant legal and regulatory framework underpinning this disclosure standard.

Internal and external audit reviews

Throughout the year, the Committee received regular reports on matters under review by the internal audit function, and has reviewed such matiers and
raised questions with the Head of Risk and Internal Audit accordingly. We also reviewed the internal audit charter, mandate and performance in order to
assess ongoing effectiveness, following which the Committee concluded that the internal audit function remains effective and performs in accordance with
requirements of the business. We have also assessed the effectiveness of the external audit process via responses to surveys received from the Chief
Financial Officer, members of the finance and treasury function, and in particular members of the Company’s financia! reporting team and the Company
secretariat. The survey comprised a range of factors including the following:

s« Progress achieved against the agreed external audit plan

+ Competence with which the external auditors handled key accounting and audit judgements and communication of the same between management, the
Committee and the external audit team

« Compliance with relevant regulatory, ethical and professional guidance on rotation of lead audit partners
+ Qualifications, expertise, resources and the extemnal auditors’ own assessment of their quality control procedures

« The stability and continuity provided to the business as a result of the continued appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) as external
auditors. Based on this assessment, the Committee concluded that the external auditors remain effective and we will be recommending the
reappointment of the external auditors at the forthcoming AGM in light of this assessment. As regards external audit tender considerations, PwC have
acted as external auditors for the Group since its listing on the London Stock Exchange in March 2010. The Committee has reviewed the requirements
of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies Market Investigation (Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender Processes and Audit Commitiee
Responsibilities) Order 2014 (Order), which requires mandatory tendering of audit services every ten years by FTSE 350 companies, and determined
that an audit tender will be required in respect of the 2020 financial year at the earliest. We are therefore compliant with the requirements of the Order.
We intend to conduct our first audit tender in 2019,

With respect to non-audit services provided by the external auditors, the Committee reviews the status of all non-audit services on a quarterly basis and is
required to consider, and where appropriate provide prior approval for, the provision of ail non-audit work by the extemal auditors to ensure that any such
work can be conducted without adversely affecting audilor independence. The Committee also reviews the proposed provision of non-audit services against
the backdrop of UK and EU prohibitions regarding the provision of non-audit services to ensure the Company complies with all restrictions and requirements
applicable to it.

The auditors are precluded from engaging in non-audit services thal would compromise their independence, cbjectivity or violate any professional
requirements or regulations affecting their appointment as auditors. The auditors may, however, provide non-audit services which do not impair their
independence, and where their skills and experience make them a logical supplier, subject to pre-approval by the Committee. For example, this may include
the conduct of certain matters relating 1o Tanzanian taxation assessments, given PwC's expertise and knowledge locally in Tanzania and their understanding
of the historical issues. The Company's procedures require that any non-audit services proposed to be provided by the auditors be supported by a
justification as to why the appointment of the external auditors to provide the services is in the Company’s best interests, and how auditer independence
wauld be safeguarded in the specific context of the proposed services. In addition to this, the lead audit pariner rotates at least every five years. The current
lead auditor partner Jonathan Lambert began his tenure for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 and has therefore completed his five years. Simon
Morley, will replace Jonathan Lambert having shadowed him through the 2018 audit.

Fees for non-audit services incurred during the year amounted to approximately US$0.3 million {2017: approximately US$0.3 million) representing 19% of
the 2018 audit fees. Audit related and non-audit services provided by the external auditors included their review of the Company’s half-year report. Further
information on audit and non-audit fees paid to PwC can be found in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.



As a Company we also maintain a strict discipline on the recruitment of any former employees of the external auditors to ensure independence is not
undermined. The Commitiee has adopted a formal written policy regarding the recruitment of former employees of the extemal auditor. The policy prohibits
the hiring of any former member of the external audit team into any financial oversight role or as an officer of the Company for a period of two vears following
their association with the audit, save in instances where the appointment has been pre-approved by the Committee. Between meetings, the Committee Chair
has delegated authority to deal with such appointments at his discretion. Any such interim approval must be ratified at the next meeting of the Committee. In
addition, any employee of the external auditor who accepts employment with the Acacia Group whatever the role must cease all audit activity immediately
and tender their resignation to the audit firm.



EHS&S COMMITTEE

Rachel English Committee chair

Members Meetings Percentage of

attended meetings attended
Rachel English {Chair} 4 100%
André Falzon 4 100%
Peter Geleta 4 100%
Introduction

| am the Chair of the Commitiee, with extensive experience of corporate social responsibility and Sustainable Communities from my work with the World
Bank Group, as well as Helios Social Enterprise, which | founded to develop renewable energy access projects in rural sub-Saharan Africa. Peter Geleta was
appointed to the Committee upon becoming Interim Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 January 2018.

Details of members’ experience and qualifications are provided as part of the Board of Directors’ biographies. Our terms of reference require us to meet at
least twice a year. In 2018 we met four times. Those involved in the Company’s environmental, health, safety and security (EHS&S) and Sustainable
Communities (SC) functions also attend Committee meetings on a regular basis by invitation, in order to report on EHS&S/SC developments and
performance.

Key responsibilities

Our key respensibilities focus on the oversight and review of activities that are of core importance to Acacia's social licence to operate. These include
Acacia's strategy and policy on environmental, occupational health and safety, SC and security matters; reviewing the effectiveness of Group EHS&S
systems and controls; and generally overseeing management's monitoring and evaluation of emerging SC issues to assess the potential impact on Acacia’s
business and operations. In addition, we also have delegated oversight of human rights from the Board, in line with simitar oversight responsibilities assumed
by EHS&S Committees or their equivalent in peers across the mining industry.

Activities in 2018 and plans for 2019

Our activities during the year were wide ranging, and comprised the following in particular:

[Cbiective JAchieved
Reviewing Committee composition, based on sucoession planning, skill set and qualification requirements. yes
Reviewing our terms of reference and our remit of responsibilities in light of ongoing developments within the Company’s business and operating environment. yes
Reviewing Group-wide EHS&S and SC strategies and priorities, performance, metrics, rends and incident reports. yes
[Overseeing the development of our SC strategy and programme as a driving component of our approach to strategic Q m)v‘es-lkmewn: 7 yes
Reviewing key risks in the Group's operating environment regarding EHS8S and SC. yes |
Feviewing key regulatory and other developments relevant to the EHS&S and SC operating environment. 7 yes
Reviawing and monitoring the status of occupational, health and safety targets and systems. yes T
identifying and reviewing spedific focus areas in the context of performance and strategic reviews, as relevant to EHS&S and SC matters. T yes
Receiving periodic nsk management reports and updates regarding the principal risks for which the Committee has delegated oversight on behalf of the Board. yes
Participating in me Committee’s annual performance assessment. “ yes

In light of the tragic fatality suffered by an operator of one of our contractors in a vehicle-related accident at North Mara during the first half of 2018, the Committee has
monitored the investigation into the incident, has reviewed and challenged the findings from that investigation, and has monitored the implementation of the
recommendations arising from that investigation. The Group continues to target zero injuries, and a key role of the Committee is to ensure that Acacia’s culiure and
operational procedures create an environment in which this target is achieved.

In 20119, the Committee will continue to focus on the majority of the above matters, these being core to its remit of responsibilities. From a risk management and
oversight perspective, the specific EHS&S-related principal risks for which the Commitiee has delegated oversight are identified as part of the principal risks and
uncertainties table on pages 32 to 35. In this regard our risk monitoring activities involve receipt of periodic risk reports and the monitoring of trends and developments
relevant to risk environment, as supported by management's oversight and implementation of day-to-day risk management across our operations.

We have not changed our commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility notwithstanding the ongoing challenges faced in our operating environment and the
continuation of reduced operations at Bulyanhulu during 2018. Acacia recognises the important role that it plays in supporting local communities around its existing
operations. Hence the EHS&S Committee takes great care to ensure that the SC programme is appropriately shaped, implemented and monitored. During this year
the Committee has also been involved in establishing the Group’s initiative to increase further our commitment to sourcing locally first, where viable. We plan to
increase our annual spend on goods and services with Tanzanian-owned businesses by 10% during the first half of 2019 compared with the equivalent period in
2018. There would be a further significant increase in local spend in the event that an appropriate resolution to the disputes with the GoT is achieved, so as to allow for
the resumption of full operations at Bulyanhulu. The Committee will continue to monitor these activities during 2019 o ensure that they are appropriately executed.



NOMINATION & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Rachel English Committee chair

Members Meetings Percentage of

attended meetings attended"
Rachel English {Chair)* 2 100%
Kelvin Dushnisky 2 1 100%
Michael Kenyon 3 100%
Steve Lucas 2 H‘

1 Based on the number of meetings held during the relevant individual's petiod of membership of the Committee.
2 Kelvin Dushnigky stapped down from the Committee upon his resignation from the Board with effect from 31 August 2018, With effect from 1 Seplember 2018, Rachel English was appointed to the
Committee in the role of Chair.

Introduction

| act as Chair of the Nomination & Governance Commitiee since my appointment as Interim Chair of the Board with effect from 1 September 2018. Michae!
Kenyon and Steve Lucas act as the other members of the Committee.

Details of members’ experience and qualifications are provided as part of the Board of Directors’ biographies. Our terms of reference require us to meet at
least twice a year. In 2018 we met three times. The Chief Executive Officer and members from the Company secretariat also attend Committee meetings by
invitation to discuss matters within our remit of responsibilities.
Key responsibilities

We play a leading role in reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and in reviewing prospective new Board appointments and succession
planning requirements. We also have primary responsibility for making recommendations to the Board on the compasition of Board Committees and we
manage recommendations for the retirement and replacement of Directors. In addition, our remit of responsibilities includes delegated authority from the
Board to oversee and review Acacia’s corporate govemance policies and procedures, including independence reviews and the monitoring of Company
procedures for the management of actual and/or potential conflicts of interest.

Activities in 2018 and plans for 2019

Qur activities during the year were wide ranging, and comprised the following in particular:

Objective Achieved
Reviewing Committee composition based on succession planning, skill set and qualification requirements. yes

Reviewing our terms of reference and our remit of responsibilities in light of ongoing developments within the Company's business and operating environment|ves
and developments within a corporate governance context.

Reviewing the Board's structure, size and compasition in the context of the Company's strategic and business objectives. yes
Rewviewing the Company's core corparate govemance policies in line with best practice developments and recent trend developments. yes
Participating in the Committee’s annual performance assessment. yes

Providing oversight and review of the Board's and Board Committees’ annual performance evaluation and overseeing the adoption of recommendations for  |yes
2019 work plans. (An overview of the 2018 performance evaluation is provided on page 78.)

Reviewing and mapping the skills brought by Board members, in light of anticipated departures, to assist with suceession planning. yes
Recommending the appointment of Rachel English as Interim Chair following the resignation of Kelvin Dushnisky as Chair. yes
Reviewing periodic training and development requirements for Directors. yes

In 2019, the Commitiee will continue 1o focus on the majority of the above matters, these being core to its remit of responsibifities.

An overview of the succession planning activities overseen by the Commitiee is provided on pages 17 and 70. As noted, an update on these activibes will be provided
prior to the 2019 AGM.

During early 2019 the terms of reference for the various board committees and the Group's various corporate governance policies have been reviewed and, where
appropriate, revised to refiect the requirements of the 2018 edition of the UK Corporate Governanoce Code, which applies from 1 January 2018, as well as other recent
trends and developments in corporate govermnance best practice.

As a Group we continue to base all recruitment on the premise that we strive to attract a broad mix of individuals from both the traditional and non-traditional mining
labour markets in order fo create a diverse workgroup and maintain a unique company cutture. We recognise the value of a diverse workforce and the creative
potential that individuals of different backgrounds and abilities bring to their work, fo increase and leverage diversity of thought, enhance our risk management
capability, drive innovation and remove barriers to suceess. In connection with cur current process for identifying and appointing new non-executive directors as
part of our succession planning activities, one of the criteria on which the selection of the successful candidates will be based is the extent to which the
candidale will enhance the diversity of the Board.

We have employment policies in place which demonstrate the Group’s commiment to equal opportunities for all employees, workers and applicants for employment,
and to ensuring that they will net be subject to any discrimination, bullying, harassment or victimisation on the grounds of age, colour, disability, ethnic or national origin,
gender, gender expression, gender identity, marital status, pregnancy, race, religion or belief, or sexual orientation. These policies are supported by appropriate
haragsment, disciplinary and grievance procedures,
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Save for appointments made by Barmick under nomination rights contained in the Relationship Agreement, Board appeintments are made on the basis of pre-
determined job descriptions which include, as regards independent Non-Executive Direclors, estimates of time commitment requirements. From a recruitment and
candidate search perspective, our existing Directors provide access to a wide network of potential Board appointment candidates, particularly within the extractive
industry, as a result of their collective experience and standing within the extractive sector. In addition to this, we look to retain external search consultants to assist us
in identifying potential candidates for Board positions, when appropriate to do so. We did not make any new appointments to the Board in 2018, however, Heidrick &
Struggles have been engaged by the Company to assist with the process for appointing a permanent Chair and the process for appointing new independent non-
executive directors. Heidrick & Struggles have no other connection with Acacia or with any of the Directors. In addition, we have satisfied ourselves that Heidrick &
Struggles take active steps as part of their process to identify a diverse range of credible candidates.



INDEPENDENT COMMITTEE

Michael Kenyon Committee chair

Members Meetings Percentiage of

attended mestings attended
Michael Kenyon (Chair) 18 100%
Rachel English 17 94%
André Falzon 18 100%
Steve Lucas 15 83%

Introduction

The Independent Committee was formed by the Board during 2017 as a result of the commencerent of discussions between Barrick and the Govemment of Tanzania (*GoT") regarding
the issues impacting the Company’s operations in Tanzania.
The Commitiee comprises the indepenident Directors of the Company. Details of members’ experience and qualifications ane provided as part of the Board of Directors’ biographies.

Meetings are held at such frequency as | consider appropriate. During 2018 we met 18 times. The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and other members. of senior
management and extermal advisers may also attend Committee meetings by invitation to discuss matters within our remit of responsibilities.

Key responsibilities

We are responsible for overseeing all aspects and implications of the discussions between Barick and the GoT, and any related proposals.

This includes responsibility for ensuring that due congideration is taken of Acacia's interests with regard to Barrick’s discussions with the GoT and any related proposals. In discharging its
role, the Committee must ensure that due consideration is given to the Board's overall responsibility to promote the long-term success of Acacia, and the responsibility of the Board to
exercise its independent judgement in the context of Barrick's discussions with the GoT and any related proposals.,

The Committee reports back to the Board and shall make recommendations as it sees fit as regards any deliberations and decisions that the Board may consider in the context of this
process. The Committee is entitled to communicate directly with third parties (inciuding Barrick) or any of their advisers.

In my role as Chair, | provide leadership to the Committee and preside over Commitiee meetings. | also facilitate the flow of iformation to and from the Committee and foster an
environment in which Commitiee members may ask questions and express their viewpoints, My responsibilities aso include reporting to the Board with respect to the significant activities
of the Committee and any recommendations of the Committee.

During 2018, the Committee considered the implications of the merger between Barmick and Randgold with respect to Acacia’s rights under the Relationship Agreement between Acacia
and Barrick. Under the Relationship Agreement, Barrick has undertaken that members of the Barrick Group will not carry on the exploration of goki or silver in Africa, or acquire, whether
through an asset purchase or the purchase of securities, a gokd or silver mining business in Africa that competes with Acacia, without giving Acacia the oplion to exercise certain rights of
first refusal for 50 long as Barrick holds 30% or more of the issued share capital or voting rights of Acacia {the Pre-emption Right).

Randgcld had a portfolio of goid mines and exploration programmes in West and Central Afiica. Accordingly, the transaction triggered the Pre-emption Right in favour of Acacia under the
Relatonship Agreement. After consideration by the Committee and consultation with its advisers, Acacia concluded that it would not exercise its Pre-emption Right with respect to
Randgold. Acacia has reserved its position regarding the exercise of the Pre-emption Right with respect to any future proposals by Barrick to acquire o 1o increase any African gold or
silver mining or exploration rights, irespective of scale, that Barick might consider in the future and in respact of which Acacia's Pre-emption Right applies.

Activities in 2018 and plans for 2019

QOur activities during the year included the following in particular:

Objective Achieved
Monitoring the nature and extent of engagement by the Company in the discussions between Barrick and the GoT. yes
Reviewing the disclosure of information by the Company to Barrick, having due regard, among other things, to the Relationship Agreement between the yes

Company and Barrick.

Reviewing the Company's strategy in connection with the operational challenges in Tanzania, including strategies and actions that may be appropriate in light (yes
of these challenges.

Commuricating with Barrick regarding the discussions between Barrick and the GoT. yes
Monitaring the need for disclosure to the market in connection with develepments in the discussions of which the Company becomes aware. yes
Communication with sharehoklers regarding the discussions between Barrick and the GoT. yes

Monitoring ongoing compliance with the independence requirements of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulations in connection with the discussions  yes
between Barrick and the GoT.

Assessing the implications of the announced merger between Barrick and Randgold Resources Limited with respect to Acacia's rights under the Relationship |yes
Agreement between the Company and Barrick.

In 2019, the Cormmmittee will continue to focus on the majority of the above matters. As and when any detailed proposal is provided to the Company for a
comprehensive resolution of the Company’s disputes with the GoT, the Independent Commitiee will be responsible for reviewing and evaluating these arrangements,
including the terms of any document or agreement proposed 1o be entered into by the Company. We will then provide a recommendation to the full Board of Acacia on
the appropriate course of action. In considering its strategy, the Committee will consider all of Acacia’s alternatives including its rights under its existing confracts with
the GoT, the existing contractual international arbitration claims and proceedings brought in respect of the Bulyanhulu and Buzwagi mines, and Acacia’s position with
respect to pursuing arbitration claims against the GoT under the bilateral investment treaty between the United Republic of Tanzania and the United Kingdorm.

Any proposal for a resolution of Acacia’s disputes with the GoT will require Acacia’s approval.
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REMUNERATION REPORT

Michael Kenyon
Compensation committee chair

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

Implementation of Remuneration Policy during 2018

Peter Geleta was appointed 1o the role of Interim Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 January 2018 and received a salary of £400,000 per annum. The
Commitiee reviewed the Chief Executive’s remuneration during the year, taking into account Peter’s progression in the role, the performance of the
Company and with an eye to market data for other intemational miners. As a result of this review, the Committee approved an increase to Peter’s salary to
£425,000 and an increase in his target annual bonus from 756% of salary to 100% of salary, each effective 1 November 2018.

The annual bonus for 2018 paid out at 78.1% of maximum (equivalent to 124% of Peter’s average salary across the year), reflecting performance against the
stretching financial, operational and individual targets set at the start of the year. Across the year, the Group significantly exceeded its free cash flow targets,
ended between stretch and wall for production and exceeded budget on AISC. Safety performance, as measured by TRIFR, saw a Group-wide improvement
of 58% during the year, however as a result of a fatality at North Mara in June, the Committee and management unanimously agreed that there should be no
reward under this element of the bonus. Our sincere condolences go out to the family and colleagues of Mr. Tindahinile. Further details as regards the CEO's
2018 bonus assessment are provided on pages 96 to 98.

On leng-term incentives, PRSUs granted to senior executives in February 2016 — including to Peter Geleta in his prior role of Head of People — were tested
for performance in February 2019. Vesting of these awards was based on Acacia's TSR performance against the constituents of the EMIX Global Gold
Index. Over the relevant performance period, Acacia’s TSR was below the median of constituents and accordingly these awards lapsed in full.

As noted last year, and in accordance with the current Remuneration Policy, Peter was granted an LTIP award in the form of nil-cost options representing
400% of base salary on 28 February 2018, with vesting subject to five-year relative TSR performance against a group of listed gold miners. Further details on
this award are included later in this report.

Implementation of policy for 2019

Peter will be eligible for an ST! award of up to 150% of salary based on a combination of Group and individual performance, weighted 80% and 20%
respectively. The Committee will continue to adopt strenuous performance requirements for the vesting of bonus awards to ensure that vesting levels remain
focused on the achievement of target and above target performance, with further details to be provided in next year's Annual Report on Remuneration. In line
with the change adopted effective 1 November 2018, Peter's target bonus opportunity for 2019 will be 100% of salary, this being consistent with the
approved Remuneration Policy, the previous CECQ bonus structure and reflecting Peter's progression in the CEO role.

In 2019, Peter will be granted an LTIP award over nil-cost options representing 400% of salary, with vesting subject to five-year relative TSR performance
against a group of listed gold miners.

Remuneration Policy considerations
The Committee last submitted the Remuneration Poticy to sharehokders at the 2017 AGM, receiving 88% support for the relevant resolution. Payments made
during 2018 were made in accordance with this new policy which is repeated on pages 88 to 92 of this report for ease of reference.

The 2020 AGM will mark the third anniversary of the adoption of the current Remuneration Policy and, in line with UK reporting regulations, we will need to
submit a new Policy to shareholders for approval at that time. Given this, the Committee will be conducting a detailed review of the existing remuneration
amangements over the course of 2019 and will seek to engage major shareholders to seek their input as part of this process. The review will take into
account recent market trends and developments in best practice — including recent changes to the UK Corporate Governance Code and investor voting
guidelines — with the ultimate aim of ensuring the Company’s remuneration arrangements are able to atiract, motivate and retain executives of the calibre
required to continue to deliver against Acacia’s longer-term strategy.

As required under the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013, the remaining content of
this Remuneration Report is divided into the Directors’ Remuneration Policy (pages 88 to 92) and the Annual Report on Remuneration for 2018 (pages 93 to
101).

Michael Kenyon
Chair of the Compensation Committee



This section of the repart sets out the Palicy for Executive Directors, which shareholders appraved at the 2017 Annual General Meeting on 20 April 2017,
and which came into effect from that date. No changes have been made to the Policy since the 2017 AGM but the disclosure below has been enhanced to

provide more details around the malus and clawback framework available to the Compensation Committee.

Summary table for Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Base salary

|Pension

Benefits

Fixed remuneration

and other employees. no maximum salary is set under
the Remuneration Policy. It is not anticipated that
salary increases for Executive Directors will exceed
those of the wider workforce over the period during
which this Remuneration Policy is effective. Where
increases are awarded in excess of the wider employee
population, the Committee will provide the rationale in

Purpose To provide an appropriately competitive leve! of base | To help provide for an To provide benefits which are competitive in the market
salary with due regard to the size and nature of the appropriate retirement in which the individual is employed.
responsibilities of each role, as well as an individual benefit.
executive's experience.

Operation Reviewed annually, with any adjustments effective 1 Executive Directors receive  |Executive Directors receive benefits, which usually
January and made at the discretion of the contributions into a personal |include the provision of a company car or cash
Compensation Committee. pension schame of their alternative, health andg life insurance, lfability insurance,
Salaries are benchmarked against interational goid ~ |chaice, or a cash supplement |fitness club membership and professional membership;
mining, general mining and FTSE listed companies of |of commensurate value. however, the Compensation Committee retains
similar size and complexity. The Group does not operate |discretion to approve any other form of benefit that it
The Compensation Committee also takes into account |any defined benefit schemes. |deams appropriate to award depending on individual
corporate and individuai performance and experience; circumstances. For example, relocation allowances and
general market conditions; and salary increases intemational transfer-related benefits are often provided
applied within the Company as a whole. for, when required, in line with general industry

practices for the recruitment of international employees.
Opportunity To avoid setting expectations of Executive Directors Executive Directors receive  [The value of benefits will generaily be assessed on the

pension contributions or an
equivalent cash supplement
equal to a percentage of
gross base salary in line with
market norms at the relevant
point in time.

basis of market norms at the relevant paint in time.

The Compensation Committee retains the discretion 1o
apprave a higher total cost of benefits in exceptional
circumstances (e.g. relocation) or in circumstances
where factors outside the Company's control have
changed materially (e.g. increases in medical coverage
inflation).

the relevant year's Annual Report on Remuneration,

Short-Term Incentive {(“ST1")

Purpose To reinforce the delivery of key short-terrn operational objectives on an annual basis in order to promote performance as regards business

| priorities for each financial year in the context of individual and Company performance.

Operation Performance measure weightings and targets are set at the start of the year and weighted 1o reflect business priorities. At the end of the year,
the Compensation Committee determines the extent to which targets have been achieved, taking into account Company-wide performance
and the individual performance of each Executive Director.

STI payments are delivered in cash and are subject to appropriate clawback pravisions, further details of which are included as a note to the
policy table.

Opportunity The STl provides Executive Directors with an annual bonus opportunity in the range of 0% to 150% of base salary, with target bonus
opportunity of up to 100% of base salary, unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee.

Performance Bonus oulcomes are assessed by the Compensation Committee on a scorecard assessment, based on the achievement of the targets set for

measures each performance measure and the Committee’s broad assessment of Company performance.

Performance measures are based on challenging budget and stretch targets for Company-wide financial and operational performance and,
where appropriate, individual performance. Performance measures may include financial, operational, growth, production, ¢ost and capital
expenditure control and sustainability metrics. PeHormance measures are selected annually to reflect key strategic initiatives and matters
underpinning the key financial and non-financial performance indicators used to manage performance across the Acacia Group. Performance
mesasures will be weighted appropriately each year according to the business plan. Weightings of performance measures may vary, typically
up to 10% and 50%, with the range of performance required under each measure calibrated to reflect the Company’s annual published
guidance range, particularly as regards production, cash costs and capital expenditure,

Whilst performance measures, weightings and targets for any given year will not be disclosed on a prospective basis due to commertial
sensitivities, the Compensation Commitiee aims fo provide such detaifs retrospectively as part of the Annual Report on Remuneration, uniless
ongoing commercial sensitivities discourage such disclosures.

Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP"}

Purpose To reinforce an enterprise culture that promotes and protects shareholders’ long-term interests, se as to reward long-term decision making and

|performance that support the delivery of shareholder returns and drive shareholder value over the long term.

Operation Awards of conditicnal shares, nil-cost options of restricted stock units {*“RSUs") may be granted annually, with the maximum value that may be
awarded to each Executive Director defined as a percentage of base salary at the date of grant. Vesting is based on Acacia’s corporate
performance over a period of not less than three years. If no entitiement has been earmned at the end of the relevant performance period,
awards will lapse.

Awards under the LTIP are subject to malus and clawback provisions, further details of which are included as a nete to the policy table.

Opportunity The LTIP permits a maximum award with a value equal to 400% of base salary at the time of grant to be made each year under normal
circumstances. The Committee may exceed this %imit in exceptional circumstances only. Such circumstances would include, for example,
specific recruitment or retention scenarios. The exercise of this discretion would be assessed in each case on the circumstances in question.
The level of LTIP awards granted to Executive Directors each year is determined by the Committee, within tha limits set out above, with
reference to a range of factors including individual performance ratings.

Dividends accrue on ynvasted LTIP awards over the vesting pericd and are released, to the extent the LTIF award vests, on the date of
release.

Pacformance
measures

Subject to continued employment and Acacia’s refative TSR perfarmance over the performance period when compared to a relevant listed
index (curreptly comprising the constituents of the EMIX (formerly Euromoney) Global Gold Index). TSR performance must be at least equal to
that of the TSR comparator group in order 1o receive any payment under LTIP awards, at which level 25% of the maximum award will vest. If
no entitlement has been earned at the end of the performance period, awards will lapse.

The Compensation Committee reviews the comparator group of international gold miners against which TSR performance is measured from

|_ time to time to ensure it remains appropriate. The CGompensation Committee has the discretion to determine the treatment of comparators in J




the event of their delisting or otherwise in any event which, in the opinion of the Committee, compromises the suitability of a company as a
comparator for Acacia. Additionally, the Committee may, at its discretion, reduce the number of awards vesting in the event that the
achievement against the performance condition is not a genuine reflection of the underlying performance of the Company, More generally, the
performance measures applied to LTIP awards are reviewed periodically to ensure they remain aligned with shareholder interests and, in this
regard, the Committee retains discretion to employ performance measures other than TSR to the LTIP in order to allow for performance
assessments to evolve over time,

Share Option Plan (“"SOP”)

Purpose To reinforce an enterprise culture that promotes and protects shareholders’ long-term interests, so as to reward long-term decision making and
performance that support the delivery of shareholder returns and drive shareholder value over the long term.

Operation Whilst the LTIP is expected to be used as the main long-term incentive for Executive Directors going forward, the Committee retains the ability
to grant stock options under the SOP where appropriate, such as in recruitment or retention scenarios.

The Compensation Commitiee will set a vesting period for SOP awards appropriate to the circurnstances at the time of grant. Historically, this
has included vesting in equal parts over four years or vesting after three years. All awards expire seven years from the date of grant. There are
no clawback provisions inciuded under the SOP.

Opportunity The SOP permits a maximum share option award with a value equal to 200% of base salary at the time of grant to be made each year under
normal circumstances. The Commitiee may exceed this limit in exceptional circumstances only. Such circumstances would include, for
example, specific recruitment or retention scenarios. The exercise of this discretion would be assessed in each case on the circumstances in
question.

In the event that a stock option award was used for annual incentive purpeses, such awards would ordinarily be granted at a target level equal
to 150% of base salary at the time of grant. In this regard, the Committee would look 1o use an appropriate valuation model, for example, the
Black-Scholes model, for purposes of ascertaining the fair value of any award made.

Performance The Compensation Committee determines the performance metrics applying to share option awards as appropriate to the circumstances at the
measures time of grant, based on the purpose of making such award, i.e. whether for recruitment, retention cr as a matter of annual perfermance
incentive. Generally, in the event that the Committee were to grantan SOP award as an incentive, it would look to apply an appropriate
performance condition.

Shareholding guidelines
Purpose To align the interests of Executive Directors with shareholders through the building up of a significant shareholding in the Company.
Operation Executive Directors are required to establish a shareholding equivalent to four times base salary by retaining 50% of vested awards (net of tax)

until the guideline has been met,

Pay-for-performance: scenario analysis
The charl below pravides an estimate of the potential future reward opportunity for the Interim CEQ, and the potential split between the different elements of
remuneration under three different performance scenarios: Minimum, On-target and Maximum.

Potential reward opportunities are based on the Remuneration Policy. In each scenario, the ST{ and LTIP are based on the maximum opportunities in 2019
applied to the CEQ’s 2019 salary. From 2017 onwards, the LTIP awards granted in a year will not normally vest until at least the fifth anniversary of the date
of grant, and the projected value excludes the impact of share price movement.

The minimum scenario reflects the 2019 base salary, pension and estimated benefits (i.e. fixed remuneration) which are the only elements of the Chief
Executive Officer's remuneration package not linked to perfermance.

The on-target scenario reflects fixed remuneration as above, plus target ST (100% of salary) and haif of the LTIP vesting (200% of salary).

The maximum scenario reflects fixed remuneration, plus maximum payout under all incentives — 150% of salary under the ST| and full vesting of an LTIP
award (400% of base salary).

Use of Compensation Committee discretions

Generally, it is not possible for any remuneration policy to pre-empt every possible scenaric and for this reason the Compensation Committee has been
provided with the ability to apply various discretions and judgements in order to ensure the achievement of fair cutcomes and to maintain the flexibility
required to balance the interests of individuals and those of the Company. For example, the Compensation Committee may be required to exercise
discretion when determining whether or not the outcomes of performance measures and targets applicable to incentive plans are fair in context, or if realities
encourage the use of upward or downward adjustments. By means of illustration, this may be the case as a result of the impact of wider socio-economic or
political factors or market-wide developments that were generally unforeseeable or remote at the time of setting performance measures, but nonetheless
occur during a performance period. ILis for such reasons that the Compensation Committee retains a number of discreticns for the operation of all incentive
schemes (ST, LTIP and SOP) including, but not limited to, the ability to determine the following:

* Scheme participants.

» The timing of grant and size of awards.

+ Appropriate treatment of vesting of awards in the context of restructurings and/or takeovers.
» Appropriate adjustments to awards in the event of variations to the Company’s share capital.

s Absent specific bad leaver scenarios, the ability to determine and designate leavers as good leavers in order to determine appropriate treatment of
awards in exit scenanios.

* Treatment, size and grant of awards in a recruitment context.

The application, scope, weighting and targets for applicable performance measures and perforrance conditions from time to time, including any
amendments to existing performance measures/conditions and related targets.

Whilst it may not be possible to give an exhaustive list of Compensation Committee discretions, the exercise of discretions and the rationale underpinning
their use, if any, will generally be provided in context, as part of the Annual Report on Remuneration.

Malus and clawback
Awards under the ST) and the LTIP are subject to clawback and, in respect of the LTIP from 2017, malus provisions which can be applied to both vested and
unvested awards. Clawback provisions will apply for a period of up to one year from the end of the performance period. Circumstances in which malus and



clawback may be applied inciude misconduct and misstatement. The Company has determined a specific framework to help ensure the consistent
assessment and application of malus and clawback, including: (i) the process by which trigger events and culpable individuals are identified, (ii)
categorisation of the materiality of the trigger event, {iii) calculating the appropriate adjustment 1o remuneration in terms of quantum and practical application,
and (iv} the process by which an affectsd employee may appeal a decision.

Approach to recruitment of Executive Directors

When delermining the remuneration package for a new Executive Director the Compensation Committee aims to offer a package that is sufficiently
competitive, to attract, motivate and retain candidates of the calibre and experience required to run our business. This will generally be determined in each
case not only in the context of the skills required for a position and those of each candidate, but also on the basis of recruitment trends within the global
mining industry and any additional considerations relevant to the recruitment of executives. In addition, our approach to recruitment will also depend on
whether we use external recruitment or internal promation routes.

External recruitment

In determining appropriate remuneration for an external candidate, the Compensation Committee will take into consideration all refevant factors (iricluding
quantum, the nature of remuneration and the jurisdiction the candidate was recruited from) to ensure that arrangements are in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. For such purposes, the Compensation Committee may make use of all of the existing components of the Remuneration
Paolicy as foliows:

Component Approach Maximum annual
gramt value
Fixed Base salary The base salaries of new appointees wili be determined by reference to relevant market data, experience and |N/A
remuneration skills of the individual, internal relativities and their current basic salary. Where new appointees have initial

basic salaries set below market, any shortfall may be managed with phased increases over a period of two to
three years subject to their development in the role.

Pension New appointees will raceive pension contributions or an equivalent cash supplement, which is equivatentto  |N/A
that received by existing executives and in line with market norms.
Benefits New appointees will be eligible to receive benefits which may include (but are not limited to) the provision of a |N/A
company car or cash afternative, private medical insurance and any necessary relocation expenses.
Variable STI The ST described in the Summary Table for Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy will apply to new appointees | 150% of salary
remuneration with the relevant maximum being pro-rated to reflect the proportion of employment over the year, Targets for the

individual elernent will be tailored towards the executive.

LTIP New appointees will be granted awards under the LTIP on the same terms as other executives, as described in the [400% of salary'
Summary Table for Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy.

SOP New appointees may be granted awards under the SOP, as described in the Summary Table for Executive 200% of salary’
Directors' Remuneration Policy.

1 Award can be higher in circumstances deemed by the Committee to ba exceptional, i.e. where it is necessary fo buy out incentive arangements or make offers equivalent to sign-on bonuses.

The Compensation Committee may also make an award under the terms of one of the Company's incentive plans outlined above in respect of a new
appointment to buy out incentive arrangements forfeited on leaving a previous employer. In doing so, the Committee will consider relevant factors including
any performance conditions attached to these awards, the likelihood of those conditions being met and the term remaining to their vesting. In addition, where
candidates are recruited from overseas, the Commitlee may be required to consider additional benefits received in the home jurisdiction or arrange for a form
of substitution of such benefits in addition to the payment of suitable relocation allowances. The Compensation Commitiee may also consider it appropriate
to grant an award under a structure not included in the Remuneration Policy, exercising the discretion available under Listing Rule 9.4.2 R where necessary.
Such an award would include, for example, a sign-on payment. The Compensation Committee confirms that any arrangement specificaily established to
recruit an individual would take the form of performance-related variable remuneration. On recruitment, the value of this remuneration would be capped at
the limits contained in the LTIP and SOP or the value of awards which the individual had to surrender in order to be recruited, whichever is the greater. The
policy that exists for current Executive Directors would then apply to the balance of the individual's remuneration package. In addition, the Compensation
Committee does not envisage that a cash payment such as a “golden hello” would be offered.

Internal promotion

In cases of appointing a new Executive Director by way of internal promotion, the Committee will be consistent with the policy used for external appointees
detailed above. Where an individual has contractual commitments made prior to his or her promotion to Executive Director level, the Company will continue
to honour these arrangements even in instances where they would not otherwise be consistent with the prevailing Remuneration Policy at the time of
appointment.

Approach to Executive Director exit arangements

Executive Director service contracts, including arrangements for early termination, are carefully considered by the Compensation Committee and are
designed to recruit, retain and motivate directors of the guality required to manage the Company. The Committee considers appointments of an indefinite
term and with a notice period of one year to be appropriate. The service contract used for the Company’s current Interim CEQ, being the sole Executive
Director at present, provides for compensation of 12 months’ salary in the event of early termination.

The Company has the discretion to pay such compensatien in instalments, requiring the Executive Director to mitigate loss (i.¢. by gaining new employment)
over the relevant period, or in a lump sum. Ih respect of the Interim CEOC, this discretion is not included in his fegacy contract.

If notice to terminate is served by either the Executive Director or the Company, the Executive Director can continue to receive basic salary, benefits and
pensicn for the duration of his/her notice period during which the Company may require the individual lo continue to fulfil his/her current duties or may assign
a period of garden leave, depending on the circumstances in question. The service contract used for any new hire would be based on similar terms. The
Interim CEO's service contract is available for inspection at the Company's registered office.

Generally, in an exit scenario the Company will honour all contractual entitements, this being a matter required by the operation of law, and for individuals
who rekocated from overseas, reasonable relocation costs will be considered as appropriate in the circumstances.



The treatment of incentive arrangements in exit scenarios is considered on a case-by-case basis, taking into account the relevant confractual terms of the
individual, the circumstances of the exit and any applicable duty to mitigate. Generally, the payment of incentives as part of exit arrangements is determined
oh the basis of good leaver/bad leaver and change of control scenarios, subject to Committee discretions, as follows:

STI

There is no automatic eligibility for payment under the STI. The Committee may exercise discretion to award a bonus for the performance year. Such
discretion would generally only be used in good leaver scenarios. If an award is made, the award will be made on a pro-rata basis for the period of time
served to the agreed termination date. Any ST) payment would be subject to applicable STI performance measure and target assessments for the year in
question.

LTIP (pre-2017) and SOP

In the event of a Director’s resignation, all outstanding awards will lapse. For good leavers, vesting of LTIP awards is typically calculated based on
performance to the end of the relevant performance period with awards pro-rated to reflect time employed, atthough the Committee may exercise discretion
to waive time pro-rating of awards in certain circumstances. Stock options for good leavers vest in full subject to the vesting schedule determined at grant.
Any stock options which remain unexercised six months following the vesting date will lapse.

LTIP {2017 onwards)

As executive LTIP awards made from 2017 onwards have five-year performance and vesting periods, the treatment of awards heid by leavers will depend on
the period elapsed from the date of grant. These leaver conditions are drafted to ensure broad consistency of leavers with market norms for a more
traditional LTIP with a three-year performance pericd, and two-year holding period.

If a Director leaves the Group during the first 36 months from the date of grant and is a bad leaver, awards will lapse. For good leavers within the first 36
months from the date of grant, vesting of LTIP awards will typically be calculated based on performance to the end of the relevant performance period with
awards pro-rated to reflect the proportion of the first 36 months from grant elapsed at the time of leaving and released at the normal date, unless otherwise
determined by the Committee.

Awards for which more than 36 months have elapsed will lapse enly in the event of misconduct on the part of the Director. In all other scenarios, awards wilt
continue in the plan with no time-based reduction, but with vesting based on performance to the end of the relevant performance period and released at the
nomal date, unless otherwise determined by the Committee.

On a change of control, outstanding LTIP awards will vest according to performance up to the date of the event and be subject to a time-based reduction if
such awards are less than 36 months from the grant date, unless the Commitiee determines otherwise. Allernatively, Acacia awards may be exchanged for
new equivalent awards in the acquirer where agreed.

Summary termination, termination for misconduct or gross negligence or termination in circumstances which would justify summary termination are all
examples of bad leaver scenarios. Good leavers include individuals who have left the Company as a result of retirement, injury, disability or death. in
addition, the Compensation Committee retains the discretion to determine any leaver that is not a bad leaver as a good leaver. This discretion is viewed as
necessary by the Company given the vast range of scenarios in which an individual may leave the Company where conduct is not at issue. Whilst it is not
possible fo provide an exhaustive list of such scenarios, examples would include circumstances in which the Board determines a need to change the
Company’s strategic direction or focus, or is required to review Board and management compesition generally, as a result of operational or market
developments, or other developments in the business, such as entry into new markets or a restructuring of the business. In any event, when exercising such
discretion the Compensation Committee would always recognise and take into account the balance of shareholder interests and those of the departing
individual.

Exacutive Director external appointments

It is the Board’s policy to allow Executive Directors to accept non-executive directorships of other quoted companies for which they would nommally be
allowed to retain fees. Any such directorships must be formally approved by the Chair of the Board. Currently, no such positions are held by the Company's
sole Executive Director.

Approach to Non-Executive Director remuneration
The Board aims to recruit Non-Executive Directars of a high calibre with broad commercial, inlernational and other experience relevant to mining operations.
Non-Executive Directors are appointed by the Board on the recommendation of the Nomination & Govemance Committee.

Their appointment is for an initial term of three years, subject to annual re-election by shareholders at each AGM in accordance with the requirements of the
UK Corporate Governance Code. Upon the recommendation of the Nomination & Govemance Committee, they may be re-appointed for two additional terms
of three years, subject to their continuing to satisfy requirements for continuing appeintment and, again, subject to annual re-election by shareholders. The
terms of engagement of the Non-Executive Directors are set out in a letter of appointment. These letters do not contain any provision for compensation for
early termination of office. Requirements for notice pericds are reviewed on a case by case basis. All letters of appeintrnent for Non-Executive Directors are
available for inspection at the Company’s registered office.

Non-Executive Director remuneration primarily focuses on the payment of fees. Non-Executive Directors are not entitled to participate in any of the incentive
plans available to Executive Directors. However, Non-Executive Directors may participate in the Company's DSU Plan. This plan provides Non-Executive
Directors with the option to receive some or all of their annual fees in return for a defemred right te a cash paymaent, payable only after a participant ceases to
hold office with the Company. Broadly, cash payments under this plan are calculated by reference to the fair market value of the Company's shares at the
time of payment and remain subject to market fluctuations in the context of the Company's share price until the time of payment. This plan was adopted by
the Company in 2012 to address certain equivalent practices and trends of North American mining companies to ensure that our practices for Non-Executive
Director compensation structures remain flexible and competitive against our glebal peers. DSUs are granted annually, usually in April of each year. In
addition, to align Non-Executive Director interests with shareholders, the Company has adopted Non-Executive Director shareholding guidelines for its
independent Non-Executive Directors, which require relevant individuals to acquire a minimum shareholding equivalent to their annual base fee within five
years from election to the Board, which may be satisfied through the purchase of Acacia Ordinary Shares or by DSUs holdings.

Details as regards current outstanding awards under the DSU Plan and Acacia Ordinary Shares currently held by Non-Executive Directors are provided on
page 100.

Summary table for Non-Executive Director Remuneration Policy



Fees

Purpose

To attract and retain candidates with the required skill and experience to form part of the Board and to ensure fees paid to the Non-Executive
Directors are competitive and comparable with other companies of equivalent size and complexity operating within the global mining
industry.

Operation

The base fee for Non-Executive Directors is reviewed annually, with any adjustments effective 1 April each year. Fees payable to the Chair
are determined by the Compensation Committee, while the base fee and any other fee payable to the other Non-Executive Directors are
determined by the Chair of the Board on behalf of the Board.

In addition to the base fee, additional fees are payable for acting as Senior independent Director and as Chair of any of the Board's
Committees {Audit, Compensation, EHS&S, Nomination & Governance) and for individual membership of such Committees. These
additional fees are also reviewed annually, with any adjustment effective 1 April each year. In the event that the Board requires the formation
of an additional Board Committee, fees for the Chair and membership of such Committee will be determined by the Board at the time.

No base fee or fee for membership of Board Committees is payable to Non-Executive Directors appointed by Barrick pursuant to the
nomination rights contained in the Relationship Agreement.

Non-Executive Director fee Jevels are benchmarked against international gold mining, general mining and FTSE listed companies of similar
size and complexity. Time commitment, responsibility, and technical skills required to make a valuable contribution to an effective Board are
taken into account when reviewing fee levels.

Opportunity

Non-Executive Director fee increases are set in response to the outcome of the annual fee review. Fees for the year ending 31 December
2018 are set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration. The maximum aggregate annual fee for all Directors provided in the Company’s
Adicles of Asscciation is £3,000,000.

Deferred Share Unit Plan (“DSU Plan")

Purpose

To ensure Acacia Non-Executive Director compensation structures remain flexible and competitive against global peers.

Operation

Non-Executive Directors can receive some or all of their annual fees in return for a deferrad right to a cash payment under the RSU Plan.
The value of additional DSUs is credited to reflect dividends paid on Acacia Ordinary Shares over the period of participation.

Cash payments become payable only after a participant ceases to hold office with the Company.

Cash payments are calculated by reference to the fair market value of Acacia’s Ordinary Shares at the time of payment and remain subject
to market fluctuations in Acacia's share price until payment.

Awards lapse in the event that an individual is summarily terminated for: (i) breach of contract; (ii} breach of Director's duties, or (iii)
misconduct, or if an individual resigns in circumstances justifying summary termination.

Opporiunity

Non-Executive Directors can waive up to 100% of their annual fee.

Approach to recruitment of Non-Executive Directors

In the case of appointing a new Non-Executive Director, the Board will utilise the Remuneration Policy summarised in the table entited Surmmary Table for

Non-Executive Director Remuneration Policy, above. A base fee which is aligned with the prevailing fee schedule would be payable for Board membership,
with additional fees payable for acting as Senior independent Directer or as Chair of any of the Board’s Committees and for individual membership of such

Committees. Non-Executive Directors would alse be eligible to waive some or all of their annual fees in return for a deferred right to a cash payment under

the DSU Plan.

Approach to Non-Executive Director exit arrangements
As regards Non-Executive Director resignation, retirement or termination, base fee and any additional fees would be payable to the

resignation/retirement/termination date. In respect of D$U awards, save in the case of summary termination, termination for gross misconduct or termination
in circumstances which would justify summary termination, DSU awards vest in full on leaving office, whereby the relevant cash payment made in respect of

awards is determined by reference to the fair market value of an Acacia Ordinary Share at the time of payment.




Annual Report on Remuneration for 2018
Compensation Committee membership in 2018
As of 31 December 2018, the Compensation Committee comprised three Non-Executive Directors, all of whom were, and remain, independent:

« Michael Kenyon (Chair)
« Steve Lucas
« Rachel English

The following individual also attended meetings by invitation during the year and provided information to the Committee to enable it to make informed
decisions:

» Peter Geleta, Interim Chief Executive Officer

No Director is present when his or her own remuneration is being determined. The Compensation Committee met four times during the year and details of
members' attendance at meetings are provided on page 76. An overview of Committee activities during the year is provided as part of the Committee Chair's
introduction to this report.

Advisers

During the year, the Committee received independent advice on executive compensation matters from Mercer which forms part of the MMC group of
companies. Mercer was first appointed by the Compensation Committee in 2010 and retained during the year. The Compensation Committee evaluates the
support provided by its advisers annually and is comfortable that the Mercer team provides independent remuneration advice to the Committee and does not
have any connections with the Company that may impair its independence. Mercer is a founding member and signatory of the Code of Conduct for
Remuneration Consultants, details of which can be found at www.remunerationconsultantsgroup.com

In 2018, Mercer provided independent advice on frends and developments and reporting regulations, and attended the Compensation Committee meetings.
Mercer does not advise the Company on any issues outside compensation and govemance thereof. Mercer's total fees for the provision of remuneration
services in 2018 were £67,910 on the basis of time and materials. Other than advice on remuneration, no other services were provided by Mercer {or any
other part of the MMC group of companies). The Committee also received legal advice from Travers Smith LLP as regards certain remuneration practices
during the year, the total fees for which equalled £17,260.

Details of Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment
As at 31 December 2018, Directors' current appointments were as follows:

Date of current service contract/letter of Unexpired terrn as of 31 December 2018
appointment

Executive Director
Peter Geleta 01 January 2018 N/A
Non-Executive Directors
Rachel English 23 October 2016 10 months
André Falzon 18 April 2016 4 months
Stephen Galbraith 18 April 2016 4 months
Michael Kenyon 18 April 2016 4 months
Steve Lucas 23 October 2016 10 months

Further details on the Interim CEQ service contract

Details of exit arrangements included in the Interim CEQ's service contract are outlined on page 91. In addition to these amangements, and reflecting that the
Interim CEOQ is subject to contractual commitments made prior to his promotion to Executive Director level, Peter Geleta's service contract includes an
entilerent to a severance payment in the event of a Change of Control, as outlined below.

The Interim CEQ will be entitled to a severance payment in the event that he is dismissed without cause or resigns for good reasen in the 12 months following
a Change of Controf of the Company. As of 1 January 2019, such payment would be equal to two times the combined value of:

» his annual base salary immediately prior to the Change of Control;

o The greater of: his target annual bonus and the average over the last two completed financial years immediately preceding the Change of Control;
» the annual employer pension contribution immediately prior to the Change of Control;

+ the annual fair value of company vehicle-related benefits prior to the Change of Control

Additionally, the Company will pay for any costs relating to job relocation counselling services incurred within 18 months following his termination
of employment (capped at £10,000 plus VAT) and for his continued participation (for up to 30 months) in any and all life insurance, medical, dental, health and
accident and disability plans in which he participated prior to the termination of his employment {or an equivalent cash lump sum).



Single total figure of remuneration for Directors (audited)
The table below sets out a single figure for the total remuneration received by each Director for the financial years ending 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2017.

Salaryi¥ees’ Taxabie benefits® STI benefits* LTis* Pension Total

2048 £ 2017 £ 2018 € 2017 £ 2018€| 2007E£| 2018€| 2017£| 2018£| 2017¢ 2018 £ 2017 £
Executive
Peoter Geleta® 404,167 N/A | 43,538 N/A | 500,500 NIA 0 N/A| 60,625 N/A| 1,008,830 N/A
Non-Executive
Kelvin Dushnisky - - - - - - - - - - - -
lAndré Falzon 149,833 | 144,875 - - - - - - - - 149,833 144,875
Michael Kenyon 200,647 | 159,875 - -1 - - - - - - 200,647 | 159,875
[Steve Lucas 123,833 | 119,625 - — - - - - - - 123,833 119,625
Rachel English ” 194,500 | 131,875 - - - - - - - - 194,500 131,875
[Stephen Galbraith - - - - - - - - - - - -
Notes:

1 Non-Executive Director fees payable include all base fees paid in respect of the appoiniment as 8 Non-Executive Director and additional fees payable in respect of appointments as SID, Chair and/or
members of Baard committess. An overview of fees payable for 2018 is provided on page 92. In addition, Non-Executive Directors can alect to recaive all or some of their annual fees in DSUs,
pursuant to the terms of the Company’'s DSU Plan. Further details of this plan are provided on page 92. Non-Executive Directors appointed pursuant to Bamick's nomination rights under the
Relationship Agreement dg not receive any fees in respect of their appointmant.

2 A breakdown of 2018 taxable bensfits is provided below:

Car allowance (£} Medical (£) Total (£)

Peter Geleta 38,128 5,410 43,538

o

This represents the short-term incantive payable in cash for annual performance. Details as regards the performance assessment applicable 1o the CEO 2018 STl awarg arg provided on page 96. In
addition, the retention award granted to Peter Geleta in 2017 when he was Head of People, prior to baing appointed Interim CEQ, was £425,000 which fully vestad during 2018.

PR$Us granted in February 2015 lapsed in February 2018. No other long-term incentive awards wers eligible to vest during the year.

No DSU elections wereé made by any Non-Executive Directors in 2018.

Peter Geleta was appointed 1o the Board as Interim Chief Exacutive Officer in January 2018.

Ketvin Dushnisky stepped down fram the Board on 31 August 2018. Rachel English was appointed as Interim Chair on 1 September 2018.

- ® o A

Executive Director salaries

Peter Geleta was appointed to the role of Interim Chief Executive Cfficer on 1 January 2018 on a salary of £400,000 per annum. The Committee reviewed
the Chief Executive’s salary during the year, taking into account Peter’s progression in role, the performance of the company and with an eye to market data
for ather international miners. As a result, the Committee approved an increase to his salary to £425,000 effective 1 November 2018.

Non-Executive Director fees
For the year ending 31 December 2018, no fees were paid to Non-Executive Directors appointed by Barrick pursuant to its nomination rights under the
Relationship Agreement.

Non-Executive Director fees are typically assessed in April each year, however for 2018, the fee review was postponed until September which coincided with
the appointment of the Interim Chair, Rachel English.

Noting the significant increase in time commitment being asked of the Non-Executive Directors given the ongoing challenges for the Company in recent
years, the Interim Chair and Interim Chief Executive proposed a fee structure to better compensate Non-Executive Directors for this increased workload and
te help ensure the Company’s ability to attract talent to the Board. Effective 1 November 2018, Non-Executive Diractors will now receive a base fee for their
roles on the Beard andg in chairing or acting as members of the various Board Committees. In addition, for any meetings held in excess of the scheduled
number of meetings each year, Non-Executive Directors will receive an additional ‘per meeting’ fee as outlined below.

The Non-Executive Directors, excluding the Interim Chair, simiiarly proposed a fee structure for the Interim Chair of the Board consisting of a base fee and
additional ‘per meeting’ fee for Board meetings held in excess of the scheduled number each year. Fees for the Interim Chair - a role which had previously
been undertaken by Directors appointed by Barrick — were set taking into account market practice at intemnational gold mining, general mining and FTSE
listed companies of similar size and complexity to Acacia.




Fees payable effective 1 November 2018 {1 September 2018 in respect of the Interim Chair) are as follows:

Fee for scheduled meetings Per meeting fee for additional meetings
Scheduled meetings per Chair Non-Executive Chair Non-Executive
year Director Director
Board 5 £200,000 £95,000 £3,500 £2,500

Fee for scheduled meetings Per meeting fee for additional meetings
Scheduled meetings per Chair of Commitiee | Member of Committee Chair of Committee | Member of Committee

year

Audit Committee 4 £20,000 £8,000 £3,000 . £1,500
Compensation Committee 4 £16,000 £8,000 £2.500 £1,500
Neminations & Governance Committee 2 £10,000 £6,000 £2,500 £1.,500
EHS&S Committee 4 £16,000 £6,000 £2.500 £1,500
Independent Committee N/A {SID) £30,000 N/A £3,000 £1,500

In addition, Non-Executive Directors are eligible for a £1,000 per day travel allowance in respect of attendance at mestings held outside their countries of
domigile.

Fees payahle prior to 1 November 2018 were as follows.

Fee component Amount
Base fee £85,000
Senior Independent Director fee £25,000
Chair of Audit Committee fee £20,000
Chair of Compensation Committee, EH5&S Committee, and Nomination & Governance Committee fee £15,000
Board Commitiee membership fee : £5,000
Chair of Independent Committee fee £2,200 per meseting
Member of Independent Committee fee £1,500 per meeting

Executive Directors' Short-Term Incentive awards

For the year ending 31 December 2018, Executive Director ST| awards were eamed on the basis of Company-wide performance {80%), this being
representative of the overall leadership, management and performance of an individual holding this position and also include a component to assess
individual performance (20%). Company-wide performance measures continue to focus on the core metrics which we use to assess performance as regards
safety, production, cost contrel and profit generation. These performance metrics were assessed on the basis of individual weightings and in line with a
range of performance targets to provide for base (threshold), target, wall and stretch {maximum} performance, as outlined in the table opposite. The
Committee has given careful consideration to the retrospactive disclosure of annual bonus targets and has concluded that it does not consider the 2018
targels to be commercially sensitive at this time. Consequently, the targets set for the 2018 annual bonus are disclosed below. Disclosure of the 2017 annual
bonus targets, which in the opinion of the Committee remained commercially sensitive at the publication of last year’s report, are included at the end of this
report on page 101.

Despite an increasingly challenging operating environment and a number of factors outside management’s control, performance during the year was
pleasing. 2018 gold production came in significantly ahead of initial guidance for the year, with strong operating performance at all three mines. Similarly,
2018 AISC was below the full year guidance range, helped by a higher production base, lower capital allocation and strong cost discipline. In respect of free
cash flow, 2018 performance significantly exceeded the strelch targets set at the start of the year, driven by the Group’s retum to cash flow generation in the
second quarter of the year and sustained performance during H2 2018.

Safety performance during 2018 demonstrated significant progress on the previous year, with the Company recording a Group-wide TRIFR of 0.19
compared to 0.45 in 2017, a 58% improvement. Alone, this result would have been sufficient to have delivered a full payout under this element of the STI,
however, as a result of a fatality at North Mara in June, the Committee and management unanimously agreed that there should be no reward under this
element of the STI.

As in previous years, the Committee elected to make a number of adjustments to the production, cash flow and AISC outturns {o ensure the targets were of
broadly equivalent difficutty to those set at the start of the year and remained motivational for participants. Adjustments were based on material, unforeseen
deviations to Acacia's 0+12 forecasts on which targets were set at the start of the year, and included, for example, normalisation for arbitration legal fees,
deferred capital expenditure and regulatory spend. Against these adjusted figures, and reflecting no payment in respact of the TRIFR element of the STI,
Company-wide performance was assessed as 157.7% overall. The Commitiee is satisfied that this overall outcome reflects what was a strong year for
Acacia, despite the circumstances and its belief that the Company enters 2019 in good shape.



2018 Company STI scorecard assessment

,Etegic focus  |KPI Waeighting Performance assessment 2018 Outcome* Overall Scorecard
Rating (%)
Safety Total Reportable Injury 10% Base (60%). 0.35 N/A 0%
Frequency Rate (‘TRIFR")* Target (100%).  |0.32
Stretch (150%): 0.29
[Wall (200%): 0.28
Production Ounces of gold produced (ozf [30% lBase (30%): 444 982 512,232 58.07%
Target (50%): 468,402
Stretch (150%): 491,823
Wall (200%): 515,243
Profit Free cash flow” 40% Base (30%): 26,066 36,227 B0.0(E}
generation Target (50%): 27,438
Stretch (150%): 30,181
Wall (200%): 32,925
Cost contro! All-in sustaining cost per ounce |20% Base (30%): 978 927 18.63%
sold ("AISC)* Target (50%). 948
Stretch (150%); 902
Wall (200%):  |855
Sum of Company scorecard ratings 157.7%

Notes to Company STi scorecard table:

1 Please refer to page 26 of this Annual Report for an explanation of how TRIFR is measured and its relevance to safety performance.

2 Please refer to page 26 of this Annual Report for an explanation of how gold production is measured and its relevance to our productivity levels.

3 For STI KPI purposes, free cash flow is calculated as: (gold revenue, copper revenue, sitver revenue) — (all costs including sustaining capital, corporate social responsibility costs, finance
leases relating to operations and exploration) + dividends +/— working capital.

4 Please refer to page 26 of this Annual Report for an explanation of how AISC is measured and its relevance to cost control achievements across the business.

“Please note that 2018 outcomes for STI purposes were adjusted as explained in the accompanying narrative.

The remaining 20% of the ST for 2018 was based on individual performance. Following year end, the Committee reviewed Peter's performance against a
number of objectives linked to the Group's strategic pillars and concluded that overall he had exceeded expeciations for the year (equivalent to a 4.5 rating
on the Group's grading scale, or 150% of target} in terms of Group leadership, continuing to maintain operational performance despite ongoing challenges
and continuing to maintain relationships with the communities within the localities of the operations, notwithstanding wider challenges in the operating
environment.

Taking into account all of the above, the overali outcome of the CEQ’s 2018 ST assessment (Company and individual performance) was as follows:

Element Weighting Assessment Qutcome (£)
Company-wide performance 80% 157.7% £405k |
Individual performance ) 20% 150.0% £.96k |
Total ] - 156.2% £801k

In fine with the change adopled effective 1 November 2018, Peter's target/maximum STI opportunity for 2019 will be 1007150% of salary, consistent with the
approved Remuneration Policy, the previous CEO bonus structure and reflecting Peter's progression in the role. Performance measures for 2019 will
continue to focus on producticn, costs, safety and profitability and will be assessed on broadly the same basis as in 2018. Company performance will
continue to account for 80% of the total bonus opportunity, with individual performance accounting for the remaining 20%.

Executive Director LTIP awards vesting in 2018 {audited)

PRSU awards made to senior executives in February 2015 - including to Peter Geleta in his prior role as Head of People — were tested for performance in
February 2018. Over the three-year performance period, Acacia’s TSR wag below the median of the constituents of the EMIX Global Gold Index, which
resulted in the award lapsing in full. Details of the lapsed award held by Peier Geleta are as follows:

Award date Form of award Shargs over which | Market price at date of Performance period Vesting date Vesting %
awards held award
-T? February 2015 PRSU 149,404 £2.73 | 17 February 2015 to | 17 February 2018 nil
16 February 2018




Executive Director LTIP awards existing as at 31 December 2018 {audited)
As at 31 December 2018, Peter Geleta had the foliowing outstanding awards under the LTIP. Save for the February 2018 awards, each of these awards

were made prior to his appointment to the Board.

Award date Form of award Shares over which Shares over which | Market price at date of End of performance Vesting date
awards held as of 01 | awards granted during award period
January 2018 the year
Peter Geleta
16 February 2016 PRSU 224772 - £2.27 | 15 February 2019 | 15 February 2019
26 April 2017 NCO 195,163 - £4.21 25 April 2022 25 April 2022
26 February 2018 NCO - 1,077,731 £1.48 | 25 February 2023 | 25 February 2023

Following year end, the 16 February 2016 award was tested for perforrance in February 2019 which resulted in the award lapsing in full. Further details will
be included in next year's report.

Exacutive Director LTIP awards to be granted in respect of 2018 {audited)
On 26 February 2019 Peter Geleta received an LTIP award in the form of nil cost options over 696,664 Acacia shares (equivalent to 400% of base salary).
The market value of an Acacia share at the time of grant was 244.02 pence per share.

The award will be subject to a five-year performance period, with the vesting date being the fifth anniversary of the date of grant. The award will be subject to
the assessment of the Company’s TSR performance against the constituents of the EMIX Global Gold Index as follows:

Acacia’s TSR % outperformance of comparator group median over five years % of interests

transferred
+50% 100%
+16% 50%
0% 25%
Below 0% 0%

Note: Straight-line vesting between poinis

Percentage change in CEO remuneration

The table below shows the percentage change in CEC remuneration from the prior year compared to the average percentage change in remuneration for
ELT members. Given that the Company operates across a number of diverse economies with pay levels and structures reflecting local market conditions, the
Compensation Committee believes thal using the ELT as a subset for the purposes of comparing CEQO remuneration provides a more meaningful
comparison than using pay data for all employees.

The CEC's remuneration includes base salary, taxable benefit and STI payments. Figures reflect the remuneration of the former CEO, Brad Gordon, for
2017 and the current Interim CGEO, Peter Geleta, for 2018. ELT data is based on an average of such individuals’ remuneration. For 2018 purposes there was
a reduction in the number of ELT members.

CEO ELT members

2018 E 2017 £ | % change 20172018 2018 E 2017 £ | % change 2017-2018

Base salary 404,167 489,250 -17% 230,746 295,405 -22%
Taxable benefits 43,838 42,762 2% 29,593 21,219 39%
STl Benefits 925,500 362,045 156% 326,197 156,089 109%
Total 1,373,205 894,057 54% 586,536 472,713 24%

Relative importance of spend on pay

The table below shows shareholder distributions (i.e. dividends) and total employee pay expenditure for the financial years ended 31 December 2017 and 31
December 2018, along with the percentage change in both. Further details of the Company’s economic contribution, including the economic value we add by
paying our employees, Gevernments, suppliers, shareholders, contracters and communities, is included in the sustainability review of this Annual Report,

2018 {£'000) 2017 {£'000) | % change 2017-2018
Shareholder distributions - 26,450 -100%
Total employee expenditure 78,426 93,895 -16.5%

Comparison of Company performance

The following graph shows Acacia’s TSR performance for the peried from the IPO to 31 December 2018 (calculated in accordance with the regulations)
against the FTSE 350 and Acacia's LTIP comparator group. The FTSE 350 was chosen on the basis of it being a recognised broad equity market index, of
which Acacia was a member for the majority of the reporting period. The CEO remuneration table below details the Chief Executive Officer’s “single figure”
remuneration over the same period.

CEOC remuneration table



Individual 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
CEO single figure of Greg £774 £936 £1,282 £1,171 N/A N/A N/A N/A NiA
remuneration {£’000) Hawkins

Brad Gordon NIA N/A N/A £317 £031 £919 | £11650 £967 NIA

Peter Geleta N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £1,433
ST payout as % of Greg 60% 50% 43% 90% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
maximum opportunity Hawkins

Brad Gordon 1 N/iA N/A, N/A 90% 36% 17% 63% 4% NIA

Peter Geleta N/A N/A NIA N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 78%
LTIP/RSU vesting as % |Greg N/A N/A N/A 44% N/A N/A N/A N/A NIAJ
of maximum opportunity |Hawkins ﬂ

Brad Gordon - N/A N/A N/A NIA N/A N/A 100% N/A N.'AJ

Peter Geleta N/A N/A N/A N/A NIA N/A N/A N/A 0%
Option vesting as % of |Greg N/A 100% 100% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
maximum opportunity Hawkins

Brad Gordon N/A N/A NrA NIA 100% 100% 100% 0% NIA

Peter Geleta N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A NiA N/A

Executive Director exit arrangements (audited)
There were no payments to past Directors during 2018,

Brad Gordon stepped down as Chief Executive Officer on 31 December 2017. Details of his leaver arrangements, were included in the 2017 Directors’
Remuneration Report.

Diroctors’ interests in Acacia Ordinary Shares and shareholding requirements (audited)

Foflowing approval of the 2017 Remuneration Palicy, Executive Directors are required fo acquire a minimum holding in Acacia Ordinary Shares equivalent fo
four times base salary by retaining 50% of vested awards (net of tax) until the guideiine has been met. Independent Non-Executive Directors are required to
acquire a minimum hokding equivalent to their annuai base fee within five years of election fo the Board, which may be satisfied via the acquisition of Acacia
Ordinary Shares or by the receipt of DSU awards under the Acacia DSU Plan. The table below shows the shareholding of each Director against their
respective sharehoiding requirement as at 31 December 2018 along with the form of their interests in Acacia Ordinary Shares.

r Shares held Options held Opticns held RSUs held DSUs held

Owned outright | Vested butnot | Unvested and | Unvested and Unvested?| Shareholding Current Requirement

or vested exefcised subject to subject to requirement % | shareholding % met? ¢
perfomance performance salaryffee salaryffee?
conditivn " condition '
Executive Director
L-—_——v—-\— - —_— e

Peter Geleta - - 1,272,894 224,772 ~ 400% 0 N/A
Non-Executive Directors ®
Rachel English 17,383 - - - 14,1568 100% 106% Yes
André Falzon 9,000 - - - 15,5589 100% 119% Yes
Michael Kenyon - - - - 41,683 100% 159% Yes
Steve Lucas - - - - 12,570 100% 42% N/A
Stephen Galbraith - | _ - - NIA N/A N/A

Notes:

1 Options and RSUs vest subject 10 a relative TSR perforrance condition. Fellowing year end, the unvested RSU award was tested for performance in February 2019 which resutted in the
award lapsing in full. Further details will be included in next year's report.

2 The Company's DSU Plan for Nen-Executive Directors provides Non-Executive Direclors with the option to receive some or all of their annual fees in return for & deferred right to a cash
payment, payable only after a participant ceases to hold office with the Company. Broadly, cash payments under this plan are calculated by reference to the fair market value of Acacia's
Ordinary Shares at the time of payment and remain subject to market fluctuations in the context of Acacia’s share price until the time of payment. No DSUs were allocated for 2018.

3 As regards Executive Directors this is calculated by reference to annuai base salary at the time of the refevant individual's appointment against the value of relevant awards at the time of
grant. As regards existing Independent Non-Executive Directors, this is calculated by reference to either: (i} the annual Non-Executive Dirgctor base fee at the time of adopting the
guidelines, if appointed to the Board at that time; or (i) the annual Non-Executive Director base fee at the time of appointment, assessed against the higher of: (i) the number of shares
multiplied by the mid-market price on the last frading day before the valuation date; or (i) the number of shares multiplied by the share price on the date of acquisition of each relevant
interest during the applicable five-year acquisition penod.

4 The reduction since 2017 in the level of shares held by he Non-Executive Directors as a % of their fees is primarily 25 a result of the increase in the base fee paid 1o the Non-Executive
Directors during 2018 as a result of the significant additional time commitment associated with managing the ongoing challenges around the Tanzanian concentrate ban. The Committee
and Board will take into account the frequency of closed periods impacting the Group in any review of Directors compliance with applicable ownership requirements, and reserves the right
to extend the period over which the relevant sharehalding is te be acquired.

5 As at his cessation date, Kelvin Dushnisky held no Acacia shares.

There have been no other changes in Directors’ shareholdings between 31 December 2018 and 28 March 2019,



Summary of shareholder voting at the 2018 AGM
The following table shows the results of the advisory vote on the 2017 Annual Report on Remuneration at the 2018 AGM:

Annual Report on Remuneration 2017

Total number of votes % votes cast
For 300,675,151 81.31
Against 69,124,575 18.69
Votes cast (excluding withheld votes) 369,799,726
Votes withheld 597.019
Total votes cast {(including withheld votes) 370,396,745

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy was last subject to a binding vote at the 2017 AGM, when 87.69% of shareholders voted in favour of the relevant
resolution, It is currently intended that the Directors’ Remuneration Policy will next be put to a binding vote at the 2020 AGM.

2017 STl target disclosure
The 2017 Company scorecard ST targets have not been provided to date as they have been considered to be commercialiy sensitive. We indicated in last

year's report that refrospective disclosure of those targets would be given where this is no longer the case, and in any event within two years. Targets
applying to the 2017 Company scorecard are now included in the tabie below for reference:

Strategic focus KPI Weighting Performance Target 2017 Outcome*
assessment
Safety Total Reportable Injury Frequency |10% Base (50%): 0.61 Q.45
Rate (“TRIFR™' Target (100%): 0.55
Stretch (150%): 0.49
Wall (200%): 043
Production Qunces of gold produced (oz)° 30% Base (30%): 751,996 775,883
Target (50%): 791,575
Stretch (150%): 815,322
Wall (200%): 839,069
Profit generation Free cash flow® 40% Base {30%): 164,909 146,234
Target (50%): 173,588
Stretch (150%): 190,947
Wall (200%): 208,305
Cost control All-in sustaining cost perounce  |20% Base (30%): 960 887
sold (AISC")* Target(50%):  |932
Stretch (150%): 905
Wall (200%): 877

Please refer to page 26 of this Annual Report for an explanation of how TRIFR is measured and its relevance to safety performance.

1
2 Please refer to page 26 of this Annual Report for an explanation of how gold production is measured and its relevance to our productivity levels.
3

For STI KPI purposes, free cash flow is calculated as: (gold revenue, copper revenue, sifver revenue) — (all costs including sustaining capital, corporate sociat responsibility costs, finance

leases relating to operations and exploration) + dividends +/— working capital.

4 Please refer to page 26 of this Annual Report for an explanation of how AISC is measured and its relevance to cost control achievernents across the business.

“The 2017 outcomes for STI payment purposes were subject to adjusiments as disclosed in the 2017 Annual Report

Approval of Directors’ Remuneration Report
The Directors’ Remuneration Report has been approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

Michael Kenyon

Chair of the Compensation Committee




OTHER INFORMATION

The Companies Act 2006 requires Acacia’s Directors to prepare a Directors’ Report for the financial year under review. The UKLA's Listing Rules and
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules also require Acacia to make certain other disclosures. The information contained on pages 102 to 105
(inclusive) (together with all ather information in the Annual Report which has been specifically incorporated into these pages by reference) constitutes
Acacia's Direclors’ Report.

Legal form of the Company

Acacia is a public listed company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom with the regislered number 7123187 It conducts limited business
activities itself and trades principally through its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings in various jurisdictions. Further information as regards Acacia’s
subsidiaries is provided in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements on page 124.

Strategic report

The requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as regards the production of a strategic report are satisfied in the Strategic Report contained at pages 10 to
35. The Strategic Report provides an overview of the development and performance of Acacia’s business for the financial year ended 31 December 2018
and also provides information relevant {0 likely future developments in the business.

In addition, for purposes of compliance with the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules, the required content for the management report (as referred
to in the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules) can be found in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report.

Directors
The names and biographies of the Directors serving as at 31 December 2018 are provided on pages 72 and 73. An overview of Directors’ appointments, by
reference fo current terms under appointment letters, is provided on page 94. Details of Director re-election requirements are provided on page 75.

Directors’ indemnity and insurance

In accordance with Acacia’s Arlicles of Association and to the extent permitted by the Companies Act 2008, Acacia may indemnify its Directors out of its own
funds to cover liabilities incurred as a result of their office. The relevant provision contained in the Articles can be categorised as a “qualifying third-party
indemnity provision” under the Companies Act 2006. Acacia has adopted Directors’ and Officers’ liabifity insurance, which provides insurance cover for any
claim brought against Directors or officers for wrongful acts in connection with their positions. The insurance provided does not extend to claims arising from
fraud or dishoriesty and it does not provide cover for civil or criminal fines or penalfies imposed by faw.

Global Greenhouse Gas {GHG) emissions data for period 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018 (unaudited)

According to the GHG Protocol developed by the World Business Council for Sustainable Development and the World Resources Institute, GHG emissions
are classified as either direct or indirect, and from there are divided further into Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 emissions. Direct GHG emissions are
emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by the reporting entity. Indirect GHG emissions are emissions that are a consequence of the activities of
the reporting entity but that occur at sources owned or controlied by another entity. Each scope is classified as foliows:

+ Scope 1 emissions: direct emissions from sources owned or operated by our Company.

« Scope 2 emissions: indirect emissions attributable to our Company due to its consumption of purchased eleciricity, notably our consumption of electricity
from TANESCO.

« Scope 3 emissions: all other indirect emissions associated with activities that support or supply our Company's operations.
For 2018, we have calculated Acacia’s Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions footprint ont the basis of carbon dioxide equivalent (COze} emissions.

Percentage of|  Year-on-year
total issions per ge,
Total tonnes of COze (%) change (%)
2018 2017 2018 2017
Scope 1 emissions 127,123] 189,321 72 76 -4
Scope 2 emissions 49,816 59,791 28 24 +4
Total 176,939| 249,112 100 100

Total COze emissions for 2018 amounted 16 176,939 tonnes COze, 2 28% decrease on 2017 (249,112 tonnes COze). The decrease is principally due {0 the ongoing reduction in operational
activity at Bulyanhulu but with the static power stabilising station at Bulyanhulu also enhancing the utilisation of low carbon electricity from the national grid.

CO=e emission intensity for the year was 0.0191 per tonne of ore milied, this being a 33% decrease on 2017 {0.0284). Further information as regards our GHG emissions reporting for 2018
is provided on page 62 and 63.

Directors’ interests
Details of the interests of Directors and their connected persons in Acacia’s Ordinary Shares or in related derivatives or financial instruments are outlined in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Employee share schemes
Details of Acacia's employee share plans and long-term incentive plans are provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Reporl.



Employee diversity
An overview of female representation percentages across our workforce is provided on page 64. In addition, the total breakdown of male and female
employees as at 31 December 2018 was as follows:

Female Male
Board of Directors 1 5
Executive Leadership Team 0 3
Cther employees 146 1,185

An overview of the Group’s workforce is provided on page 64. 96.2% of our workforce is Tanzanian. The remainder of the workforce is non-Tanzanian. Qur
nen-Tanzanian workforce comprises individuals with nationalities from across the world including: Australia, Burkina Faso, Canada, Ghana, Mali, New
Zealand, South Africa, the United Kingdom and the United States of America.

Dividends
As a result of ongoing cash fiow impact of the ban of exporting concentrate from Tanzania, no interim dividend was paid during 2018, in line with Acacia’'s
cash flow based dividend policy. The Board will not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Share capital

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s issued share capital comprised 410,085,499 Ordinary Shares of 10 pence each. The voting rights of all Acacia
Ordinary Shares are identical, with each share carrying the right to cne vote. The Company holds no Ordinary Shares in Treasury and does not have any
class of share other than its Ordinary Shares. Further details on voting rights and rights relating to the transfer of shares are provided overleaf.

Acacia's Articles of Association provide the authority for the Company to purchase its own shares (including any redeemable preference shares), provided
that it complies with any applicable requirements contained in the Companies Act 2006, the CREST regulations or any other applicable law. As part of
resolutions passed at the 2018 AGM, the Company obtained shareholder approval to make market purchases of up to 41,005,550 of its Ordinary Shares,
equivalent to 10% of the issued share capital at the time of approval. The authority was granted subject to stated upper and lower limits in accordance with
Listing Rule requirements and expires at the forthcoming AGM. The authority was not exercised during the year under review. An equivalent shareholder
resolution will be sought as a matter of ordinary business at the forthcoming AGM. Details of Acacia's issued share capital and any movements during the
year are included in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements on page 150.

Major shareholdings
The following persons as at 31 December 2018 are interested in the following percentages of Acacia’s issued Ordinary Share capital:

Number of| Percentage of
shares issued share
capital (%)

Name
Barrick International (Barbados) Corp’ 179,609,530 43.80
PDG Sona (Cayman) Ltd' 45,258,970 11.04
FDG Bank Limited' 37,378,450 9.1
Blackrock Inc 24,546,326 599
Total 286,793,276 69.94

1 Members of the Barrick Group.

As at 28 March 2019, we have not been notified of any changss to the interests of major shareholders from those nofified above.

Relationship with major shareholder
An overview of Acacia’s relationship with Barrick and the Relationship Agreement that has been executed in respect of their ongeing relationship is provided
on page 77.

Political and charitable donations
Acacia does not make political donations. Information as regards Acacia’s social and community contributions for the year is provided as part of our
Sustainability and Financial reviews.

Information required by LR 9.84R

There is no information required fo be disclosed under LR 9.8.4R save in respect of LR 9.8.4R (10) (Contracts of significance with controlling shareholder/in
which director interested), LR 9.8.4R (11) {Confracts for the provision of services by a controlling shareholder) and LR 9.8.4R (14) (Relationship Agreement
with controlling shareholder} which can be found on page 77 of this Annual Report. Details of interest capitalised by the Group are provided in Note 8 of the
consolidated financial statements on page 141.

Policy on derivatives, financial instruments and financial risk management



Acacia’s policies on financial risk management, derivatives, financial instruments and information on its exposures to foreign currency, commodity prices,
credit, equity, liquidity and interest rates can be found in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements contained on pages 156 and 162 of this Annual
Report. All such information is incorporated by reference into this Directors’ Report and is deemed to form part of this Directors’ Report.

Material agreements containing change of control provisions/significant agreements with DirectorsiControlling Shareholders
The Directors consider the following as material agreements/arrangements for Acacia’s business and operations, which alter or terminate on a change of
control of Acacia and/or significant agreements with Directors/Barrick:

« Relationship Agreement: see page 77 of this report for an overview of the Relationship Agreement. In addition to the Relationship Agreement, Acacia
entered into a Services Agreement with Barrick in February 2010 as part of arrangements for the |PO, under which Barrick provides certain services to
the Acacia Group for the ongoing operation of the business. These services include support for information technology, technical services and other
administrative and corporate functions. The agreement’s termination events include a basis for either party to terminate the agreement with immediate
effect in the event of specified breaches of the agreement, insolvency, analogous events or a change of control. Whilst this agreement remains in force,
limited services are provided under it and no services provided are deemed lo be material or significant.

« Credit Agreement: an overview of the Credit Agreement between, among others, the Company and Citibank International plc as administrative agent, is
provided in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements on page 142. A change of control is a mandatory prepayment event under the Credit
Agreement and, subject to certain exceptiohs, a termination event.

Acacia’s mining concessions are held by its operating companies in Tanzania. Under applicable law, a change of control of the operating companies requires
the consent of the Minister of Energy and Minerals in Tanzania. In addition, each Acacia Group operating mine has a Mineral Development Agreement
{MDA) with the Govemment of Tanzania (“GoT"). The material terms and conditions of each MDA are substantially similar and include provisions governing
royalty paymenits, taxes and other charges, banking arrangements, focal procurement obligations, and import rights. The MDAs also provide for no
expropriation or nationalisation rights. Broadly, these rights provide that the GoT will not nationalise or compuisorily acquire the whole or any part of the
Acacia Group’s interest in the applicable special mining licences or any of its property or its conractors’ or subcontractors’ property used for the purpose of
mining operations or in relation to the applicable special mining licences, without adequate compensation. Each MDA is governed by Tanzanian law.
Adherence to the terms and conditions of the MDAs is of significant importance to Acacia’s business, given the agreements’ overall importance to our
operations. Acacia is carefully monitoring its rights under relevant MDAs in the context of the legislative changes and tax assessments made in Tanzania
during 2017 and 2018 and both Bulyanhulu Geld Mine and Pangea Minerals Limited have commenced arbitrations to safeguard their rights under their
respective MDAs in light of the ongoing disputes.

Employment contracts for the Interim CEC and the CFO contain change of control provisions, which provide entilements to severance payments in the
event of being dismissed without cause or resigning for good reason in the 12 months following a change of control. Any payment made under these
arrangements would replace the entilement to receive payment under applicable contractual notice periods in each case. Special provisions also allow the
early exercise of awards made under the Company’s Stock Option Plan (SOP) and early vesting of awards made under the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP}
in the event of a takeover, reconstruction or winding up. In such circumstances, the Compensation Committee determines whether and to what extent
options or awards become exercisable, by taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances including, but not limited to, satisfaction of any applicable
performance conditions. When determining the vesting of LTIP awards or options, the Compensation Committee may proportionately reduce the award
depending on the time which has elapsed between the first day of the performance period and the date of the change of control.

Alternatively, awards may be exchanged for new equivalent awards where appropriate.

Going concern
The Directors’ statement on going concem is contained on page 55 of this Annual Report.

Corporate governance compliance
The corporate governance statement as required by Rule 7.2.1 of the UKLA'’s Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules is set out in the corporate
governance report on pages 75 to 72 of this Annual Report.

All information detailed in the corporate govemnance statement is incorporated by reference into this Directors’ Report and is deemed to form pant of this
Directors' Report.

Articles of Association
The Company’s Articles of Association may be amended by special resolution of the shareholders.

Shareholder rights
The rights and obligations attaching to the Ordinary Shares contained in the Articles of Assocliation are as follows:

Voting rights

Subject to any special rights or voting restrictions contained in the Articles of Association for any class of share, at any general meeting every member who is
present in person or by proxy shall, on a show of hands, have one vole and every member present in person or by proxy shall, on a poll, have one vote for
each share of which he or she is the holder. A resolution put to a vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands, unless a poll is duly demanded.
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, a poll may be demanded by the Chair; by at least five members who have the right to vole at the
meeting; by a member or members representing not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all the members having the right to vote at the mesting; or
by a member or members holding shares conferring a right to vote at the meeting, being shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not
less than one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all the shares conferring that right. Uniess the Directors otherwise determine, a shareholder is not entitled to
vote at a shareholders’ meeting, either in person or by proxy, or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to a shareholders’ meeting,
unless and until all calls or other sums presently payable by him or her in respect of that share with interest and expenses (if any) have been paid to the
Company cr if he/she or any other person appearing to be interested in shares has been issued with a notice pursuant to Section 793 of the Companies Act
2006 {requiring disclosure of interest in shares) and has failed to provide the required information within 14 days from the service of the notice.

Dividend rights

The Board may declare and pay dividends on any class of shares carrying a fixed dividend expressed to be payable on fixed dates and may from time to
time pay interim dividends as it thinks fit. Final dividends shall be declared by Ordinary Shareholder resolution, in accordance with Board recommendations.
No dividend declared by shareholders shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board. Provided that the Board acts in goed faith, it shall not incur any
liability to shareholders for any loss that they may suffer by the lawful payment of any fixed or interim dividend on any shares ranking after or pari passu with
those shares. Except as otherwise provided by the rights attached to shares, all dividends shall be apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts paid
up on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid, but if any share is issued on terms providing that it shall




rank for dividend as from a particular date, it shall rank for dividend accordingly. No amount paid up on a share in advance of the date on which a call is
payable shall be treated as paid up on the share.

Payment of any dividend declared may be satisfied wholly or partly by the distribution of specific assets, and in particular of paid up shares or debentures of
the Company, with shareholder approval. The Directors may retain any dividend or other money payable on or in respect of a share on which the Company
has a lien and may apply the same towards satisfaction of the monies payable to the Company in respect of that share.

Unless the Directors otherwise determine, the payment of any dividend or other money that would otherwise be payable in respect of shares will be withheld,
and the Company shall have no obligation to pay interest on it, if such shares represent at least 0.25% of the nominal value of the issued share capital of
their class and the holder, or any other person appearing to be interested in those shares, has been issued with a Section 793 notice and has failed to suppty
the information required by such notice within 14 days. Furthermore, such a holder shall not be entitled to elect to receive shares instead of a dividend.

The payment by the Board of any unclaimed dividend or other monies on or in respect of a share into a separate account shall not constitute Acacia a trustee
in respect thereof. All dividends unclaimed for a period of 12 years after having been declared or become due for payment shall be forfeited and shall revert
to Acacia.

Transfer of shares

Subject to any applicable restrictions, each member may transfer all or any of his or her shares, which are in certificated form, by instrument of transfer in
writing in any usual form or in any other form acceptable to the Board and may be under hand only. Such instrument shall be executed by or on behalf of the
transferor and (in the case of a transfer of a share which is not fully paid up) by or on behalf of the transferee. The transferor shall be deemed to remain the
holder of such share until the name of the transferee is entered in the register in respect of it.

All transfers of shares which are in unceriificated form shall, unless the CREST regulations otherwise provide, be effected on a relevant system.

The Directors may, in their absolute discretion and without giving any reason, refuse to register any transfer of a share in certificated form (or renunciation of
a renounceable letter of allotment) unless:

« itisin respect of a share which is fully paid up;

« ltis in respect of only one class of shares;

+ itis in favour of not more than four joint transferees;

+ itis lodged duly stamped (if 50 required) at the transfer office;

+ itis accompanied by the relevant certificate for the shares to which it relates and such other evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to prove
the title of the transferor and the due execution of the transfer or, if the transfer is executed by some other person on his behalf, the authority of that
person to do so; and

+ in the case of partly paid shares listed on the London Stock Exchange, such refusal would prevent dealings in such shares from taking place on an open
and proper basis.

Unless the Board otherwise determines, a transfer of shares will not be registered if the transferor or any other person appearing to be interested in the
transferor's shares has been issued with Section 793 shares in respect of shares representing at least 0.25% of their class and the relevant information has
not been supplied within 14 days. This restriction on transfer will not automatically apply if the member is not personally in default as regards supplying the
information required and the proposed transfer is onty part of the member's holding, provided that certain requirements are satisfied at the time of presenting
the transfer for registration.

Division of assets on a winding up

If the Company is wound up the liquidater may, with the sanction of a shareholder special resolution, divide the whole or any part of the Company's assets
between shareholders. In such circumstances the liquidator may value any assets and determine how the division shall be carried out as between the
shareholders or different classes of shareholder. Subject to certain requirements, the kiquidator may also vest any part of the assets in trustees on such trusts
for the benefit of the shareholders, but no shareholder shall be compelled to accept any assets on which there is a liability.

Variation of rights

If at any time the share capital of the Company is divided into shares of different classes, rights attached to a class may only be varied in such manner (if
any) as may be provided by prescribed rights or, in the absence of any such provision, either with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-
quarters in nominal value of the issued shares of the class or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate general mesting of the holders of
shares of the class duly convened and held.

Powers of Directors

Managing the business

Acacia’s business is managed by the Board, and the Articles of Association permit the Board to exercise all of the Company’s powers in this regard. These
powers may be exercised by any meeting of the Board at which a quorum of two Directors is present. The power of the Board to manage the business is
subject to any limitations imposed by the Companies Act, the Articles of Association or any directions given by special resolution of the shareholders
applicable at a relevant time. The Articles contain an express authority for the appointment of Executive Directors and provide the Directors with the authority
to delegate or confer upon such Directors any of the powers exercisable by them upon such terms and conditions and with such restrictions as they see fit.
The Articles contain additional authorities to delegate powers and discretions to Board committees and subcommittees.

Borrowing powers

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2008, and any other applicable law, the Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow
money, guaranee, indemnify, mortgage or charge its undertaking, property (present and future) and uncalled capital or any part or parts thereof and issue
debentures and other securities, whether outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of Acacia or of any third party up to a maximum
amount of two times the aggregate of the Group’s adjusted total equity, calculated in accordance with the procedure contained in the Articles of Association.
Borrowings in excess of this amount require prior shareholder approval.

New issues of shares

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, the CREST regulations and every other enactment for the time being in force relating to the Directors’
authority to allot shares and/or the disapplication of pre-emption rights and to any resolution of the Company in general meeting regarding the same, the
Directors may allot {(with or without conferring a right of renunciation), grant options over or otherwise dispose of them to such persons, at such times and on
such terms as they think appropriate.



Acacia’s shareholders passed the following resolutions relating 1o the allotment and pre-emption right disapplications at the 2018 AGM:

+ The Directors were granted authority to allot new shares (or grant rights to subscribe for or convert securities into shares) up to a nominal value of
£13,532,821, equivalent to approximately 33% of the total issued Ordinary Share capital of the Company, exclusive of treasury shares, at the time of
passing the resolution. In addition to this, the Directors were also granted authority to aliot additional new shares (or grant rights to subscribe for or
convert any security into shares) up to a further nominal amount of £13,532,821, but only in connection with 2 rights issue.

« Pre-emption rights were disapplied over new shares allotted for cash pursuant to the authority granted at (i) above, but only: (a) in connection with a pre-
emptive offer or rights issue; or (b) otherwise up to a nominal value of £2,050,427 (equivalent to approximately 10% of the Company's total issued
Ordinary Share capital at the time of passing the resclution).

+ These authorities have not been exercised during the reporting period and will expire on the date of the 2019 AGM. Equivalent resolutions for a renewal
of these authorities will be put to the shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. The resolution sought as regards pre-emption right disapplication reflects the
requirernents of the Pre-Emption Group’s revised Statement of Principles that provide for certain non-pre-emptive allocations in the context of
acquisitions and specified capital investments.

Appointment and replacement of Directors

Shareholders may appoint any person who is willing to act as a Director by ordinary resolution and may remove any Director by ordinary resolution. The
Board may appoint any person to fill any vacancy or as an additional Director, provided that they are submitted for re-election by the shareholders at the
AGM following their appointment.

Specific conditions apply to the vacation of office, including cases where a Director becomes prohibited by law or regulation from holding office, or is
persistently absent from Directors’ meetings, or if three-quarters of appointed Directors request his or her resignation or in the case of mental incapacity or
bankruptcy. Barrick's rights to appoint Directors are summarised on page 77 Additional information regarding Director re-election requirements is provided on
page 75 as part of the corporate govemance report.

Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions undertaken during the year are contained in Note 35 on page 161 of the consolidated financial statements.

Post-balance sheet events
Particulars of any important events affecting the Company or the Group since the year-end are contained in Note 37 on page 163 of the consolidated
financial statements. Such information is incorporated into this Directors’ Report and is deemed to be part of it.

Audit information

Having made the requisite enquiries, so far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined by Section 418(3) of the Companies
Act 2008) of which the auditors are unaware and each Director has taken all steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director to make him or herself
aware of any relevant audit informaticn and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

Auditors
The Company's auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC). A resolution to reappoint PwC as auditors will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.
Refler to page 112 as part of the consclidated financial statemerits for the Independent Auditors’ report on such statements.



DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

Under applicable UK law, the Directors are responsible for preparing
the Annual Report, the consolidated financial statements and parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulation.

Responsibility for financial statements

The Companies Act 2006 requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the
Group and parent company financial statements in accordance with Intermational Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS")

as adopted by the European Union. Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied

that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group

and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:
« Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.

+ Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent.

+ State whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements.

« Prepare the financial statements on the going concem basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business. The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that
are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group’s consolidated financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulations. They are also responsible
for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and the
Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website and legislation in the United Kingdom govemning the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement required by Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules
The Directors, whose names and functions are set out on pages 72 and 73 of this Annual Report, confirm to the best of their knowledge that:

« The financial statements, prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets, liahilities, financial
position and profit or loss of the Company and
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole.

+ The Management report, which is comprised of the Strategic report and the Directors’ Report, includes a fair review of the development and performance
of the business and the position of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation as a whole, together with a deseription of the
principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

Approval of Strategic report and the Directors’ Report
The Strategic report and the Directors’ Report have been approved
by the Board and signed on its behalf by

Charlie Ritchie
Company Secretary



RESERVES AND RESOURCES (UNAUDITED)

Mineral Reserve and Mineral Resource estimates contained in this Report have been reported as at 31 December 2018 in accordance with National
Instrument 43-101 as required by Canadian securities regulatory authorities and Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroteumn ('CIM’) definitions
uniess otherwise stated. The estimates have been reviewed, verified (including estimation methodology, sampling, analytical and test data) and compiled by
Acacia personnel under the supervision of Acacia Qualified Persons: John Haywood, Chief Geologist — Operations and David Blamires, Manager - Long
Term Planning. The figures stated are estimates and no assurances can be given that the indicated quantities of metal will be produced. The Mineral
Resources are reported exclusive of those converted to Mineral Reserves. In addition, totals stated may not add up dus to rounding.

The Mineral Reserves have been derived using an assumed long-term average gold price of US$1,200 per ounce, silver price of US$17.00 per ounce and
copper price of US$2.75 per pound. The Mineral Reserves reflect the current and/or expected mine plans and cost levels at each property. Mineral
Resources at the operating mines have been calculated using an assumed long-term average gold price of U5$1,400 per ounce, silver price of US$19.00
per ounce and copper price of US$3.00 per pound and reflect contained metal.

Mineral Resources at the exploration properties have been derived using an assumed long-term average gold price of US$1,500 per ounce for Tankoro;
whilst Nyanzaga is a foreign estimate reported using the JORC Code 2012 and above a lower cut-off grade of 1.5g/t. Both the Tankoro and Nyanzaga
project interests are currently in the process of sale; but at 31st December 2018 these transactions had not been completed, and thus are maintained in the
staternent. The Mineral Resource estimate for the Liranda Project in Kenya is reported above varying lower cut-off grades appropriate for the mineralisation.
Mineral Resources have been estimated using varying cut-off grades, depending on the type of mine or project, its maturity and ore types at each property.

Minera! Reserve estimates are dynamic and are influenced by changing economic conditions, technical issues, environmental regulations and any cther
relevant new informaticn and therefore these can vary from year to year. Mineral Resource estimates can also change and tend to

be influenced mostly by new information pertaining to the understanding of the deposit and secondly the conversion to Mineral Reserves. In addition,
estimates of Inferred Mineral Resources may not form the basis of an economic analysis and it cannot be assumed that all or any part of an Inferred Mineral
Resource will ever be upgraded te a higher categery. Therefore, investors are cautioned not to assume that all or any part of an Inferred Mineral Resource
can be economically or legally mined, or that it will ever be upgraded to a higher category. Likewise, investors are cautioned not to assume that all er any
part of Measured or Indicated Mineral Resources will ever be upgraded to Mineral Reserves.

Definitions

A Mineral Resource

A concentration or occurrence of solid materizl of economic interest in or on the Earth’s crust in such form, grade or quaiity and quantity that there are
reasonable prospects for eventual economic extraction. The location, quantity, grade or quality, continuity and other geological characteristics of a Mineral
Resource are known, estimated or interpreted from specific geclogical evidence and knowledge, including sampling. Material of economic interest refers to
diamonds, natural solid inorganic material, or natural solid fossilised organic material including base and precious metals, coal, and industrial minerals.
Mineral Resources are sub-divided, in order of increasing geological confidence, into Inferred, Indicated and Measured categories. An Inferred Mineral
Resource has a lower level of confidence than that applied to an Indicated Mineral Resource. An Indicated Mineral Resource has a higher level of confidence
than an Inferred Mineral Resource but has a lower level of confidence than a Measured Mineral Resource. An Exclusive Mineral Resource is part of

the Mineral Resource that has not been included in or converted to the stated Mineral Reserve.

An Inferrad Mineral Resource

The part of a Mineral Resource for which quantity and grade or quality are estimated on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling gathered
through appropriate sampling techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes. Geological evidence is sufficient to imply
but not verify geolegical and grade or quality continuity. An Inferred Mineral Resource has a lower level of confidence than that applying to an Indicated
Mineral Resource and must not be converted to a Mineral Reserve. It is reasonably expected that the majority of Inferred Mineral Resources could be
upgraded to Indicated Mineral Resources with continued exploration.

An Indicated Mineral Resource

The part of a Mineral Resource for which quantity, grade or quality, densities, shape and physical characteristics are estimated with sufficient confidence to
allow the application of Modifying Factors in sufficient detail to support mine planning and evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit. Geological
evidence is derived from adequately detailed and reliable exploration, sampling and testing and is sufficient to assume geologicai and grade or quality
continuity between peints of observation. An Indicated Mineral Resource has a lower level of confidence than that applying to a Measured Mineral Resource
and may only be converted to a Probable Mineral Reserve.

A Measured Mineral Resource

The part of a Mineral Resource for which quantity, grade or quality, densities, shape, and physical characteristics are estimated with confidence sufficient to
allow the application of Modifying Factors to support detailed mine planning and final evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit. Geological evidence
is derived from detailed and reliable exploration, sampling and testing and is sufficient to confirm geological and grade or quality continuity between points of
observation. A Measured Mineral Resource has a higher level of confidence than that applying to either an Indicated Mineral Resource or an Inferred Mineral
Resource. It may be converted to a Proven Mineral Reserve or to a Probable Mineral Reserve.

A Mineral Reserve

The economically mineable part of a Measured and/or Indicated Mineral Resource. It includes diluting materials and allowancas for losses, which may occur
when the material is mined or extracted and is defined by studies at Pre-Feasibility or Feasibility level as appropriate that include application of Modifying
Factors. Such studies demonstrate that, at the time of reporting, extraction could reasonably be justified. Mineral Reserves are sub-divided in order of
increasing coenfidence into Probable Mineral Reserves and Proven Mineral Reserves. A Probable Mineral Reserve has a lower level of confidence than a
Proven Mineral Reserve.

Modifying Factors
These are considerations used to convert Mineral Resources to Mineral Reserves. These include, but are not restricted to, mining, processing, metallurgical,
infrastructure, economic, marketing, legal, environmental, social and governmental factors.

A Probable Mineral Reserve

The econorically mineable part of an Indicated, and in some circumstances, a Measured Mineral Resource. The confidence in the Modifying Factors
applying to a Probable Mineral Reserve is lower than that applying to a Proven Mineral Reserve. Probable Mineral Reserve estimates must be demonstrated
to be aconomic, at the time of reporting, by at least a Pre-Feasibility Study.




A Proven Mineral Reserve

The economically mineable part of a Measured Mineral Resource. A Proven Mineral Reserve implies a high degree of confidence in the Modifying Factors.

Proven Mineral Reserve estimates must be demonstrated to be economic, at the time of reporting, by at least a Pre-Feasibility Study.

Mine gold mineral reserves and mineral resources

2018 2017
Tonnes Grade Au Cunces Tonnes Grade Au Ounces
Mine ('0003) {a/t) {'000s) {'0008) (gh (000s)
Bulyanhulu — Underground Proven and probable 7,634 10.70 2,627 14,500 9.70 4522
Mineral resource 7.952 838 2,138 14,409 9.04 4,188
Inferred 15,004 11.76 5,672 24,208 9.75 7.587
Bulyanhulu - Tailings Proven and probable 2,702 1.23 107 5,186 1.05 175
Mineral resource - - - - - -
Inferred - - - - - -
Buzwagi Proven and probable 10,669 0.90 308 14,254 0.92 421
Mineral resource 4,504 1.04 150 4,524 1.04 152
Inferred 49,918 0.77 1,236 49,918 0.77 1,236
North Mara — Surface Proven and probable 20,068 165 1,066 16,836 1.55 991
Mineral resource 7,451 1.83 438 6.664 1.85 M7
Inferred 446 1.26 18 447 1.20 17
Morth Mara — Underground Proven and probable 6,182 562 1117 6,652 6.26 1,338
Mineral resource 5,299 3.54 604 5,563 .70 662
Inferred 3,992 527 677 5,988 4.36 840
Total Proven and probable 47,254 344 5,225 60,429 3.83 7.448
Mineral rascurce 25,207 41 3,330 31,181 541 5,420
Inferred 69,359 3.41 7,603 80,561 374 9,679
. N 1
Exploration property gold reserves and mineral resources
2018 2017

Tonnes Grade Au Qunces Tonnes Grade Au Qunces
Mine {'000s) (g {'000s) {'000s) (g} {000s)
Tankoro (50%) Proven and probable - - - - - -
Mineral rescurce - - - - - -
Inferred 21,500 1.52 1,050 21,500 1.52 1,050
Nyanzaga (85%}) Proven and probable - - - - - -
(Tusker/Kilimani} Mineral resource 17.680 4.06 2,308 17,680 4.06 2,308
’ Inferred 2,465 384 304 2,485 384 304
Liranda Proven and probable - - - - - -
Mineral resource - - - - - -
- |Infemred 2,889 1261 1,171 2888 12.61 1.7
Total Exploration Proven and probable - - - - - -
Mineral resource 17,680 4.06 2,308 17,680 4.06 2,308
Inferred 26,854 292 2,525 26,854 2.92 2,525
Total Acacia Proven and probable 47,254 3.44 5,225 60,429 383 7448
Mineral rasource 42,887 409 5638 48,841 4.92 7,727
Inferred 96,213 3.27 10,128 107,416 3.53 12,204

1 Exploration property gold resources have been estimated using a gold price of US$1,500 for Tankore, and reported above a 1.594 lower cut-off for Nyanzaga. Acacia's interest In both the Tankoro and
Nyanzaga projects is subject 10 finalisation of sale agreements. Liranda has been reported at variable lower cut-off grades



Contained copper reported within gold mineral reserves and mineral resources

2018 2017

Tonnes Grade Cu Pounds Tonhes Grade Cu Pounds
Mine ("000s) (%) {*000s) {'000s) (%) ('000s})
Bulyanhuly — Underground Proven and probable 7,634 0.55 92,002 14,500 0.54 172,798
Mineral resource 7,952 0.36 62,561 14,409 0.44 138,961
Inferred 15,004 0.62 204422 24,208 0.63 337,251
Butyanhuly — Tailings Proven and probable - - - - - -
Mineral resource - - - - - -
inferred - - - - - -
Buzwagi Proven and probable - - - _ _ _
Mineral resource 4,504 0.1 10,820 4524 0.1 10,971
Inferred 49,918 0.08 89,116 49,918 0.08 89,116
Total Proven and probable 7,634 0.55 92,002 14,500 0.54 172,798
Mineral resource 12,456 0.27 73,381 18,934 0.36 149,932
Inferred 64,922 0.21 293,538 74,126 0.26 426,367

Contained silver reported within gold reserves and resources

2018 2017

Tonnes Grade Ag Qunces Tonnes Grade Ag Qunces
Mine ('000s} {a/ty {'000s) {'000s} (gt} ¢'000s)
Bulyanhuly - Underground Proven and probable 7,634 7.05 1,731 14,500 7.87 3,668
Mineral resource 7,952 5.73 1,466 14,409 6.61 3062
Inferred 15,004 2.01 4,347 24,208 6.96 54186
Bulyanhuly - Tailings Proven and probable - - - - - -
Mineral resource - - - - - -
Inferred - - - - - -
Total Proven and probable 7.624 7.05 1,731 14,500 7.87 3,668
Mineral resource 7,952 573 1,466 14,409 661 3,062
Inferred 15,004 9.01 4,347 24,208 6.96 5,416




Mine gold mineral reserves

Grade Au Contained Au
Mine Classification Tonnes (gi) (oz)
Bulyanhulu — Underground Proven 2,412,000 11.01 854,000
Probable 5,221,000 10.56 1,773.000
Total (P+P} 7,634,000 10.70 2,627,000
Bulyanhuly - Tailings Proven - - -
Probable 2,702,000 1.23 107,000
Total (P+P) 2,702,000 123 107,000
Buzwagi Proven 39,000 1.83 2,000
Probable 10,630,000 0.90 306,000
Total (P+P) 10,669,000 0.90 308,000
North Mara — Surface and stockpiles Proven 901,000 243 70,000
Probable 11,523,000 1.96 727,000
Total {P+P) 12,424,000 2.00 797,000
North Mara — Underground Proven 1,385,000 5.86 261,000
Probable 4,796,000 5.55 856,000
Total (P+P) 6,132,000 5.62 1,117,000
Total mine gold mineral reserves Proven 4,738,000 7.79 1,187,000
Probable 34,872,000 3.36 3,768,000
Total {P+P) 39,611,000 3.89 4,955,000
Contained copper reported within gold mineral reserves
Grade Cu Contained Cu
Mine Classification Tonnes (%) {bs)
Bulyanhuiu — Underground Proven 2,412,000 0.53 28,089,000
Probable 5,221,000 0.56 63,913,000
Total 7,634,000 0.55 92,002,000
Bulyanhulu — Tailings Proven - - -
Probable - - -
Total - - -
Buzwagi Proven - - -
Prcbable - - -
Total - - -
Total copper reported within gold mineral reserves Proven 2,412,000 0.53 28,089,000
Probable 5.221,000 0.56 63,913,000
Total 7,634,000 0.55 92,002,000




Contained silver reported within gold reserves

Grade Ag Contained Ag
Ming Classification Tonnes (ght) (0z)
Bulyanhulu ~ Underground Proven 2.412.000 80 $91.000
Prebable
5,221,000 6.19 1,040,000
Total
7,634,000 7.05 1,731,000
Bulyanhulu - Tailings Proven _ _ H
Probable
Total ] T o
2,702,000 - -
Total silver reported within gold mineral reserves Proven 2,412,000 891 691,000
Prabable
7.923,000 4.08 1,040,000
Total
10,336,000 521 1,731,000
Mine gold mineral resource {measured & indicated, exclusive of mineral reserves)
Grade Au Contained Au
Mine Classification Tonnes (gt {oz)
Bulyanhulu — Underground Measured 566,000 13.49 245,000
Indicated 7,387,000 797 1,893,000
Total (M+]) 7,952,000 8.38 2,138,000
Bulyanhulu — Tallings Measured - - :|
Indicated - - -
Total (M+]) - - -
Buzwagi Measured - - -
indicated 4,504,000 1.04 150,000
Total (M+]) 4,504,000 1.04] 150,000
North Mara — Surface and stockpiles Measured 1,831,000 222 130,000
Indicated 5,620,000 1.70 307.000
Total (M+I) 7,451,000 1.83 438,000
North Mara — Underground Measured 120,000 343 13,000
Indicated 5,180,000 155 591,000
Total (M+I) 5,299,000 3.54 604,000
Total mine resource (M+l} Measured 2,516,000 481 389,000
Indicated 22,691,000 4.03 2,941,000
Total (M+) 25,207,000 4an 3,330,000




Contained copper reported within gold mineral resources

Grade Cu Contained Cu
Mine Classification Tonnes (%) (bs)
Bulyanhulu — Inderground Measured 566,000 0.61 7,602,000
Indicated 7,387,000 0.34 54,959,000
Total (M+I) 7,952,000 0.36 62,561,000
Bulyanhulu - Tailings Measured - - -
Indicated - - -
Total (M+l) - - -
Buzwagi Measured - 0.00 -
Indicated 4,504,000 0.M 10,820,000
Total (M+1) 4,504,000 on 10,820,000
Tolal copper reperted within gold mineral resources Measured 566,000 0.61 7,602,000
Indicated 11,891,000 0.25 65,780,000
Total (M+1} 12,456,000 0.27 73,281,000
Contained silver reported within gold mineral resource
Grade Ag Contained Ag
Mine Classification Tonnes (g/) (oz)
Bulyanhulu — Underground Measured 566,000 10.43 190,000
Indicated 7,387,000 5.37 1,276,000
Total (M+1) 7,952,000 572 1,466,000
Bulyanhulu — Taikngs Measured - - -
Indicated - - -
Total (M+1) - - -
Total silver reported within gold mineral resources Measured 566,000 10.44 180,000
Indicated 7,387,000 537 1,276,000
Total {(M+1) 7.952,000 573 1,466,000
Exploration property mineral resource {(M+l)
Mine Classification Tonnes Grade Au Contaned Au
{gft) (oz}
Tankoro (50%) Measured - - -
(South Houndé) Indicated - - -
Total (M+I) - - -
MNyanzaga (85%) Measured 3,936,000 4.95 627,000
{Tusker/Kilimani} Indicated 13,745,000 3.80 1,680,000
Total (M+I) 17,680,000 4.06 2,308,000
Golden Ridge Measured - - -
Indicated - - -
Total (M+1) - _ —
Total Measured 3,936,000 4.85 627,000
Indicated 13,745,000 3.80 1,680,000
Total (M+1) 17,680,000 4.06 2,308,000




Exploration property mineral resource {Inferred)

Mine Classification Tennes Grade Au Contaned Au
(gh) (oz)
Tankoro {50%) inferred 21,500,000 1.62 1,050,000
(South Houndé) Total Inferred 21,500,000 1.52 1,050,000
Nyanzaga (85%} Inferred 2,465,000 384 304,000
{Tusker/Kilimani) Total Iinferred 2,465,000 3.84] 304,000
Gokden Ridge Inferred - - -
Total Inferred - - -
——
Total Inferred 26,854,000 2.92 2,525,000
Total Inferred 26,854,000 2.92 2,525,060




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ACACIA MINING PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
in our opinion, Acacia Mining plc's group financial statements and parent company financial statements (the “financial statements”):

« give atrue and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of the group’s and the parent
company’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union; and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the |IAS
Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Accounts (the “Annual Report”), which comprise: the consolidated and
parent company income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; the consolidated and parent company
balance sheet as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated and parent company statement of changes in equity, and the consolidated and parent company
staternent of cash flows for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

QOur opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Qur responsibilities under ISAs (UK)
are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which
includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the group or the
parent company.

Other than those disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the group or the parent company in the period
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018.

Emphasis of matter — Group and parent company - Impact of mineral concentrate export ban and negotiation
with the Government of Tanzania

In forming our opinion on the group financial statements, which is not modified, we draw attention to Notes 2, 6 and 34 to these financial statements, which
describe the material unceriainties related to the impact of the mineral concentrate export ban and negotiations with the Government of Tanzania on the
Group's and parent company’s assets, liabilities and cash flows. Qur opinion is not modified in respect of

these matters.

Material uncertainty relating to going concern — Group and parent company
In forming our opinion on the group financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosure made in note 2 to the
financial statements concerning the group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The impact of the mineral concentrate export ban and negotiation with the Government of Tanzania, along with the other matters explained in note 2 to the
financial statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the group’s ability te continue as a going
concern. The group financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the group was unable to continue as a going concern.

Explanation of material uncertainty

Note 2 to the financial statements details the direclors’ disclosures of the material uncertainties relating to going concem. In addition, the disclosures included
in Note 6 to the financial statements provide further detail relating to the status and potential impact of the ongoing mineral concentrate export ban and
negotiation with the Government of Tanzania on the going concern status of the Group and parent company.

In forming their conclusions regarding going concern of the Group and parent company, and as described in Note 2, the directors have considered, but not
limited to, the following matters:

+ the impact of the ban on-ongoing operations;

« the curent cash position;

+ the latest mine plans and a range of scenarios around the various options under these circumstances, including the cash flow impact of an extended
concentrate export ban; and the potential impacts of the timing and final terms of any comprehensive settierment which might be approved by the parent
company, including the lifting of the concentrate export ban and staged payments of US$300 million relating to histerical tax matters;

+ the short-term gold prices and market expectations for the same
in the medium-term; and

« Acacia Group's capital expenditure and financing plans.

in addition, the directors have assumed that the Group will not be required to settle its current cutstanding berrowing obligations and will repay these in
accordance with the current terms of the relevant agreements. Given the risks associated with the impact of the mineral concentrate export ban and
negotiations with the Government of Tanzania, the directors have drawn attention to this in disclosing a material uncertainty relating to going concern in the
basis of preparation to the Annual Report.



Our audit approach
Overview

o Overall group materiality: USD$6.4 million (2017: USD$7.0 million), bas;|
on 5% of profit before tax, befors tax excluding the impairment of $24.2
milfion.

s Overall parent company materiality. USD%$6.4 million (2017: USD$7.0

b We identified two mine sites 'ocated in Tanzania which, in our view,
required an audit of their complete financial inforrmation.

s We conducted other audit procedures in London, South Africa, Tanzania
and Kenya.

L Taken together, the territories and functions where we performed our

audit work accounted for 100% of revenue and approximately 84% of
absolute profit before fax (i.e. the sum of the numerical values without
regard to whether they were profits or losses for the relevant territories
and functions).

]

IF Impairment assessments of intangible assets and property, plant &
equipment (Group).

s Taxation including provisions for uncertain deferred tax positions and the
recoverability of indirect taxes (Group),

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. in particutar, we looked
at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

We galned an understanding of the legal and regutatory framework applicable to the group and the industry in which it operates, and considered the risk of
acts by the group which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations, including fraud. We designed audit procedures at group and significant component
level to respond to the risk, recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for exampie, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. We focused on laws
and regulations that could give rise to a material misstatement in the group and parent company financial statements, including, but not limited to, the
Companies Act 2006, the Listing Rules and mining licence compliance within Tanzania. Our tests included, but were not limited to, inquiry of management,
consideration of management's extemal advice and review of mining Yicence documentation. There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described
above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions refiecled in the financial statements, the less
likely we would become aware of it.

We did not identify any key audit matters relating to irregularities, including fraud in revenue recognition. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of
management override of intemal controls, including testing journals and evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a
risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the
current period and include the mast significant assessad risks of material misstatement (whether ar not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including
those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.
These matters, and any comments we make on the results of ous procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of owr audit of the financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we da not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to going concern, described in the
Material uncertainty relating to going concem section above, we determined the matters described below to be the key audit mafters to be communicated in
our report. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.



ey audit matter

ow our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessments of intangible assets and property, plant &
equipment — Group

6.

property, plant and equipment of USD$761.2 million as at 31 December
2018 primarily contained within the Bulyanhulu, North Mara, and Buzwagi
lcash generating units (“CGUs").

Management determined that the on-going uncertainty surrcunding a
potential resolution of the disputes with the Govermment of Tanzania, the
optimisation study and updating of the geclogical and rescurce models at

lower than its carrying values during the current reporting peried, are

impairment indicators for all CGUs. Management has therefore performed
mpairment assessments for all CGUs, on the underlying assumption that a

egotiated settiement with the Government of Tanzania is the most likely
utcome of the export ban.

hile impairment indicators were noted for all CGUs, the carrying values of

e Bulyanhulu, Buzwagi and North Mara CGUs of $588 million,
5195 million and $277 million respectively were supported by their
recoverable value under management's impairment assessment. The

use and fair value less costs to dispose, which requires judgement on the
part of management in valuing the relevant CGUs.

Recoverable amounts are based on management’s understanding of the
potential outcome of Barrick Gold's negofiations with the Government of
[Tanzania (which will also require independent approval from the Acacia
Board and Acacia shareholders), and variables such as future commoedity

capital and operating expenditure.

Refer to page 80 (Audit Committee report), page 125 (principal accounting
policies), page 126 (critical accounting estimates and judgements), and note

iAcacia Mining has indefinite-lived intangible assets of USD$32.8 million and

Bulyanhulu, and the fact that the Company’s market capitalisation has been

Ketermination of recoverable amount was based on the higher of value-in-

prices, the most appropriate discount rate and timing and approval of future

We considered management's impairment trigger analysis and agreed
at impairment indicators existed.

In assessing the valuation of the CGUs, we evaluated management’s
ture cash flow forecasts for each CGU, and the process by which they
ere drawn up, including verifying the mathematical accuracy of the

sh flow models and agreeing future capital and operating expenditure
o the latest Board approved budgets and the latest life of mine plans.

anagement’s future cash flow forecasts are underpinned by key
ssumptions regarding their current estimation of the timing and form of
resolution of the export ban. With regards to the outcome, we have
ade inquiries of management and considered publically available
information from the Government of Tanzania and Barrick Gold. Whilst
e consider management's best estimate to be consistent with the
information made available to them, significant uncertainty remains.

For each CGU we used our valuation specialists to assist us in
valuating the appropriateness of key market related assumpticns in
anagement's valuation models, including both short term and long
erm gold prices, and discount rates.

e assessed the reasonableness of management’s future forecasts of
pital and operating expenses included in the cash flow forecasts in
ight of the historical accuracy of such forecasts and the current
perational results.

e performed sensitivity analysis around the key assumptions within the
sh flow forecasts using a range of discount rates and lower long-term
old prices based on what, in our view, a market participant may apply.

ith regards to the Bulyanhulu, North Mara and Buzwagi CGUSs,
anagement’s estimated recoverable amounts supported the carrying
alue of these assets as at 31 December 2018. Consequently, no
impairment charge was considered necessary, although the estimate of
recoverable amount remains sensitive to changes in these key
ssumptions and remain at risk should a negotiated settlement not
ventuate or the form of a negotiated settiement is different from
anagement’s estimate.

e validated the appropriateness of the related disclosures in note 6 of
he financial statements, including the sensitivities provided with respect
o the CGUs. ’

[Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

[the recoverability of indirect taxes — Group

[21.

[The group has material deferred tax balances which include prior year tax
Joss assessments that continue to be in dispute with the Tanzanian
Revenue Authority.

e basis that it is more probable than not that this amount may be paid to

ttle outstanding assessments as part of a boarder negotiated settlement

ith the Government of Tanzania. This is based on the announcements
ade by Barrick Gold in Octeber 2017 following their discussions with the
overnment of Tanzania and ongoing discussions with Barrick Gold who
re leading the negotiations.

In addition, the group recegnises significant indirect tax receivables. The
ceivables are classified between current and non-current in line with the
xpected offset against future taxable profits. The effect of discounting of
e non-cumrent portion is immaterial.

Based on management's understanding, tax receivables and deferred tax
losses remain recoverable.

[Taxation including provisions for uncertain deferred tax positions and

Refer to page 80 (Audit Committee report), page 125 (principal accounting
policies), page 126 (critical accounting estimates and judgements), and note

The group has $300m of provisions for uncertain deferred tax positions, on

[We considered this to be a key audit matter due the magnitude of the
balances and the judgements involved.

[We read correspondence between management and the Tanzanian
Revenue Authority and assessed management's positicn in relation to
[the specific matters disputed. Refer to note 34 for tax related
lcontingencies disclosed.

In redation to deferred tax, we also assessed the availability of estimated
ture taxable income to utilise recognised carry forward losses and the
eversal of temporary deferred tax differences by comparing the
stimates to the latest Board approved budgets and the latest Life of
Mine plans current expectations of the timing and form of a potential
egotiated settlement with the Government of Tanzania. We consider
e recognition the $300m provision appropriate, taking into account the
rrent position of negotiations, however recognise that a material risk
ntinues to exist that the exposure could be higher.

e also determined based on the existence of a memorandum of
ettlement with the Tanzanian Revenue Authority for the indirect tax
eceivable, that the balance is recoverable, and appropriately classified

tween current and non-cumrent.

e examined the Annual Report disclosures to ensure the risk
ssociated with recovery was appropriately highlighted.




Except for the matters described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined that there are no other key audit matters
in respect of the parent company to communicate in our report.

How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed encugh work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into
account the structure of the group and the parent company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which they operate.

The group’s assets and operations are primarily located at three mine sites in Tanzania representing the group’s three CGUS, with exploration properties in
Kenya and West Africa. Financial reporting processes related to the activities of these mine sites and exploration properties are undertaken at shared
business centres (“SBCs”} located in Dar es Salaam and Johannesburg.

In establishing the overall approach to the group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed at each of the three mine sites, the
exploration entities and the SBCs by us, as the group engagement team and by component auditors from other PwC network firms operating under our
instruction. We requested that full scope audits were performed at North Mara and Buzwagi which included the relevant SBC. In addition, we conducted
other audit procedures in London, South Africa, Tanzania and Kenya, including specified procedures performed by a component audit team in Tanzania over
Bulyunhulu revenue and Kenya over exploration expenses incurred within Acacia Exploration Kenya due to the quantum of costs expensed during the
cument year. Where the work was performed by component auditors, we determined the lave! of involvement we needed to have in the audit work at those
sites and SBCs to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the group financial
statements as a whole.

Invalvement of the group engagement team included attendance at Acacia’s Tanzanian and South African offices, conference calls and meetings with the
Tanzanian audit team, review of the Tanzanian and Kenyan component auditor work papers, attendance at local audit ¢clearance meetings and other forms
of communication as considered necessary depending on the significance of the accounting and audit issues arising. Taken fogether, the territories and
functions where we performed our audit work accounted for 100% of revenue and approximately 84% of absolute profit before tax (i.e. the sum of the
numerical values without regard to whether they were profils or losses for the relevant territories and functions).

Materiality

The scope of our audit was infiuenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together with qualitative
considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement
line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

B Y|
'Parent company financial statemems

Group financial statements

Overall materiality USD$6.4 rillion (2017: USD$7.0 milion).  [USD$6.4 million (2017: USD$7.0 million).

How we determined it 5% of profit before tax, before tax excluding |Lower of 1% of tola! assels and overalt Group materiality.
the impairment of $24.2 million.

Rationale for benchmark applied We continued to determine materiality We believe that total assets is the primary measure used in
based on 5% of our chosen benchmark. |assessing the performance of the parent company as the function

of the parent is to hold investments within the Group.

|

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than cur overall group materiality. The range of materiality
aliocated across components was between USD$1 miltion and USD$6.4 million. Certain components were audited 1o a local statutory sudit materiality that
was also less than our overall group materiality.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above USD$1 million (Group audit) (2017:
USDS1 million} and USD$1 milion (Parent company audit) (2017: USD$1 million) as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted
reporting for qualitative reasons,



Going concern
In accordance with 1SAs (UK) we report as follows:

Reporting obligation Cutcome

We are required to report if we have anything material to add or draw 1SAs (UK) require us to report to you when:
attention to in respect of the directors’ statement in the financial statements
about whether the directors considered it appropriate to adopt the going
concem basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements and the
directors’ identification of any material uncertainties to the group'’s and the the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any
parent company’s ability to continue as a going concem over a pericd of at identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about
least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements. the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concem basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

We draw your attention to the matters described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section.

In addition, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted,
this statement is not a guarantee as to the group’s and parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concem. For example, the terms on which
the United Kingdom may withdraw from the European Union, are not
clear, and it is difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications on the
company’s trade, customers, suppliers and the wider economy.

We are required to report if the directors’ statement relating to Going We have nothing to report.
Concem in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) is materially
inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon. The directors
are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial staterments does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an
audit opinicn or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In eonnection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material
misstaternent of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstaterment of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been
included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 (CAO6), ISAs (UK) and the Listing
Rules of the Financial Conduct Autherity (FCA) require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below (required by ISAs (UK) unless
otherwise stated).

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report for the year ended
31 December 2018 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. {CAQG)

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not identify
any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report. (CA06)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of the principal risks that would threaten the
solvency or liquidity of the Group
We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding:

» The directors’ confirmation on page 30 of the Annual Report that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the group,
including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity.

* The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

e The direclors’ explanation on page 31 of the Annual Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the group, over what period they have done
50 and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the group will be able
to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to
any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We have nothing to report having performed a review of the directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing
the group and statement in relation to the longer-term viability of the group. Our review was substantially less in scope than an audit and only consisted of
making inquiries and considering the directors’ process supporting their statements; checking that the statements are in alignment with the relevant
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the "Code”); and considering whether the statements are consistent with the knowledge and
understanding of the group and parent company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit. (Listing Rules)



Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report when:

« The statement given by the directors, on page 82, that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced and understandable, and
provides the information necessary for the members to assess the group’s and parent company’s position and performance, business model and
strategy is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the group and parent company obtained in the course of performing our audit.

« The section of the Annual Report on page 80 describing the work of the Audit Cormmittee does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to
the Audit Committee,

« The directors’ statement refating lo the parent company’s compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision of
the Code specified, under the Listing Rules, for review by the auditors.

Directors’ Remuneration
In our opinipn, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. (CAQ6)

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 106, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are aiso responsible for
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue as a going
concem, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our chjectives are lo oblain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free frorn material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ repon that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the parent company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006 and for ne other purpose. We do not, in giving these cpinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retums adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not
visited by us; or

= cerain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

« the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting
records and retumns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the members on 29 March 2010 to audit the financial statements for the year

ended 31 December 2010 and subsequent financial periods. The pericd of total uninterrupted engagement is 9 years, covering the years ended 31
December 2010 to 31 December 2018.

JONATHAN LAMBERT (SENIOR STATUTORY AUDITOR)

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF PRICEWATERHQUSECOOPERS LLP
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS AND STATUTORY AUDITORS
LONDON

28 MARCH 2019



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year For the year

aended 31 ended 31

(in thousands of United States dollars) Notes | December 2018 | December 2017
Revenue 4 663,789 751,515
Cost of sales 5 {444,374) (458,447}
Gross profit 219,415 293,068
Corporate administration {23,813) (26,913)
Share-based payments 74 8,236
Exploration and evaluation costs 8 (13,343) (24,829)
Corporate social responsibility expenses (8,812) (8,213)
Impairment charges 8 (28,877) (850,182)
Other charges (net) ] {36,094) (90,370)
Profit/{Loss) before net finance expense and taxation 108,550 (699.203)
Finance income 11 1,421 1,944
Finance expense 1 (13,200) (12,407)
(10.,463)
Profit/{l.oss) before taxation 98,771 (709,666)
Tax (expense)/credit 12 (37,905) 2,272
Net profit/(loss) profit for the year 58,866 (707,394)

Eamingsi(loss) per share:

— Basic eamings/(loss) per share (cents} 13 144 (172.5)
—Dituted earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 13 144 (172.5)

The notes on pages 124 to 163 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT CF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

As at 31 As at 31
(in thousands of United States dollars) Decernber 2018 | December 2017
Net profiti{icss) for the year 58,866 {707,384)
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (247} 108
Total comprehensive income/{loss) for the year 58,619 (707,286)




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 As at 31
{in thousands of United States dollars) Notes | December 2018 | December 2017
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill and intangible assets 20 39,100 82,383
Property, plant and equipment 19 761,205 770,574
Deferred tax assets 21 176,093 169,513
Non-current portion of inventory 15 118,198 133,550
Derivative financial instruments N 420 907
Cther non-current assets 22 151,065 180,708
1,246,081 1,337,635
Current assets
Inventories 16 312,909 291,880
Trade and other receivables 17 11,693 18,085
Derivative financial instruments 3 633 26198
Other current assets 22 99,507 70,155
Cash and cash equivalents 18 130,195 80,513
554,937 463,252
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale 23 18,707 -
Total assets 1,820,725 1,800,887
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital and share premium 24 929,199 929,199
Other reserves 250,412 191,793
Total equity 1,179,611 1,120,992
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 18 14,200 42,600
Deferred tax liabilities 21 97,918 99,633
Derivative financial instruments 3 26 -
Provisions 28 124,442 127,028
GCther non-current fiabilities 29 1,789 5,038
238,375 274,199
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 349,115 350,450
Borrowings 18 28,400 28,400
Derivative financial instruments AN 462 481
Provisions 14,254 24,650
Other current liabilities 801 1,715
393,032 405,696
Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale 23 9,707 -
Total liabilities 641,114 679,895
Total equity and liabilities 1,820,725 1,800,887




The notes on pages 124 o 163 are an integral part of this financial information,

\\N\
PETER GELETA
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

As at 31 As at 3

{in thousands of United States dollars) Notes | December 2018 | December 2017
Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit{loss) for the year 58,866 (707,394}
Adjustments for:

Tax expense/{credit) 37,905 (2,272}

Depreciation and amortisation 95,844 125,968

Finance items 11,779 10,463

Impairment charges 28,877 850,182

Gain from sale of mineral royalty (45,000) (1.753)

(Profit)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment {163) 123
Cash settlement of share options - (259)
Working capital adjustments 15 (57,765) {313,091)
Other non-cash items 15 3,942 22,180
Cash generated by/{used in) operations before interest and tax 134,285 (15.873)
Finance income 1,421 1,944
Finance expenses (9,573} (9,043}
Net cash generated byf{used in) operating activities 126,132 (22,972)
Cash flows used in investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (90,498) (157,408)
Movernent in other assets 2,094 6,856
Proceeds from sale of mineral royalty 45,000 1,753
Other investing activities 15 {4,190} (2,912)
Net cash used in investing activities (47,594} (151,711)
Cash flows used in financing activities
Loans paid (28,400) {28,400)
Dividends paid - {34,385)
Net cash used in financing activities (28,400) (62,785)
Net increase/{(decrease} in cash and cash equivalents 50,139 (237,468)
Net foreign exchange difference (457) 190
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 80,513 317,791
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 130,195 80,513

The notes on pages 124 to 163 are an integral part of this financial information.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Otheq Cash flow

Share Share distributable hedging | Share cption Accumulated
{in thousands of United States dollars) Notes capital premium reserve reserve reserve (losses)iprofit Total equity
Balance at 1 January 2017 62,097 ‘ 867,102 | 1,368,713 559 3,853 {439,529) 1,862,895
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - -~ 108 - (707,394) {707.,286)
Dividends to equity holders of the Company - - ~ - - (34,385) (34,385)
Share option grants - - - - (232) - (232)
Balance at 31 December 2017 62,097 | 867,102 | 1,368,713 867 3,721 (1,181,308) 1,120,992
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (247) - 58,866 58619
Share option grants - - - - - - -
Bividends to equity holders of the Company - - - - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2018 €2,097 | 867,102 | 1,368,713 426 3,721 (1,122,442} 1,178,611

The notes on pages 124 to 163 are an integral part of this financial information.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

Acacia Mining plc, formerty African Barrick Gold plc (the “Company”, “Acacia” or collectively with its subsidiaries the “Group”) was incorporated on
12 January 2010 and re-registered as a public limited company on 12 March 2010 under the Companies Acl 2006. lt is registered and domiciled in the

United Kingdom with registered number 7123187. On 24 March 2010 the Company’s shares were admitted to the Cfficial List of the United Kingdom Listing

Authority (*“UKLA") and to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange, hereafter referred to as the Initial Public Offering (“IPO”).

The address of its registered office is 5th Floor, 1 Cavendish Place, London, W1G 0QF, United Kingdom,

Barrick Gold Corporation (“BGC”) cumrently owns approximately 63.9% of the shares of the Company and is the ultimate parent and controlling party

of the Group. The financial statements of BGC can be obtained from www.barrick.com. BGC is incorporated in Canada.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company

on 27 March 2019.

The Group’s primary business is the mining, processing and sale of gold. The Group has three operating mines located in Tanzania. The Group also has a

portfolio of exploration projects located across Africa. The principal activities of the Company, its subsidiaries and joint ventures included in
the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Country of Equity interest at
Company Principal activity incosporation’ Relationship 31 December 2018 & 2017
Acacia Mining plc Holding Company UK - 100%
BUK HoldCo Limited ' Holding Company UK Subsidiary 100%
BUK East Africa Limited ' Holding Company UK Subsidiary 100%
1816962 Ontario Inc Holding Company Canada Subsidiary 100%
Acacia Mining (Barbados) Corp Ltd Group Finance Company Barbados Subsidiary 100%
BAPL Holding Ltd Holding Company Mauritius Subsidiary 100%
Acacia Exploration Kenya Ltd Exploration Kenya Subsidiary 100%
CayCo Tz Ltd Holding Company Cayman Islands Subsidiary 100%
ABG Exploration Limited Exploration Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
Matinje Exploration Ltd Exploration Tanzania Subsidiary 75%
itobo Exploration Ltd Exploration Tanzania Subsidiary 75%
Nyanzaga Exploration Company Ltd Exploration Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
Bamick Tanzanian Hoidings Lid Exploration Cayman Islands Subsidiary 100%
Barisun Exploration Lid Exploration Tanzania Subsidiary 75%
Prime Gold Exploration Ltd Exploration Tanzania Subsidiary 75%
Kasubuya Exploration Company Ltd Exploration Tanzania Subsidiary 60%
KMCL Holdings Ltd Exploration Cayman Islands Subsidiary 100%
Bulyanhulu Gold Mine Ltd Operating Gold Mine Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
North Mara Gold Mine Ltd Operating Gold Mine Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
Pangea Goldfields Inc Holding Company Canada Subsidiary 100%
Pangea Minerals Ltd Operating Gold Mine Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
1051694 Ontario Inc Holding Company Canada Subsidiary 100%
Acacia Mining SA (Pty) Ltd Shared Services South Africa Subsidiary 100%
East Africa Gold Mines Ltd Hoiding Company Australia Subsidiary 100%
Tusker Goid Limited Holding Company Australia Subsidiary 100%
Indago Autan (Proprietary) Ltd? Holding Company Australia Subsidiary 100%
IBG Aurum Tanzania Lid 2 Holding Company Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
IDG Aurum Holdings Ltd * Holding Company Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
IDG Kitongo Tanzania Ltd? Domant Company Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
Vulcan Resources Tanzania Lid ? Dormant Company Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
Aptian Resources Tanzania Ltd’ Dormant Company Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
Sub-Sahara Resources Tanzania Ltd Exploration Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
BUK West Africa Ltd Holding Company United Kingdom Subsidiary 100%
ABG Exploration Mali SARL Exploration Mali Subsidiary 100%
African Barrick Gold Ltd Holding Company United Kingdom Subsidiary 100%
Bulyanhulu Holdings (Pty) Ltd Holding Company Tanzania Subsidiary 100%
BUK Burkina Faso Ltd Holding Company United Kingdom Subsidiary 100%
Acacia Burkina Faso Exploration SARL Exploration Burkina Faso Subsidiary 100%
Nyakafuru Project Joint Venture Exploration Tanzania Joint Venture 51%




1 Exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue of S448A of Companies Act 2006.
2 June year-end.
3 Alist of registered addresses for each of these Group companies can be obtained from the Acacia Ple Office address, as stated above.

There are no restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer funds to the parent in the form of cash dividends or to repay loans or advances.
The joint ventures included in the table above are currently immaterial to the Group.

2. Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

a) Basis of preparation

The Group's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union (“IFRS"), IFRS Interpretations Committee (“|FRIC") interpretations and those parts of the Companies Act 2008 applicable to companies
reporting under IFRS. The financial statements are prepared on a going concem basis.

The consolidaled financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention basis, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and
financial liabilities (inchuding derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars (“USS") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand US dollars except
when otherwise indicated.

Where a change in the presentational format between the prior year and current year financial statements has been made during the period, comparative
figures have been restated accordingly. No presentational changes were made in the current year.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 2d.

The impact of the seasonality on operations is not considered as significant on the consolidated financial information.

In assessing the Acacia Group’s going concem status the Directors have taken inte account the impact of the concentrate export ban on ongoing operations
as well as the following factors and assumptions: the current cash position; the latest mine plans, the short-term gold price, and Acacia Group's capital
expenditure and financing plans. in addition, the Directors have considered a range of scenarios arcund the various potential outcomes for the resolution of
the current operating challenges in Tanzania in the circumstances, including the cash flow impact of an extended concentrate export ban; and the potential
impacts of the timing and final terms of any comprehensive setilement which might be approved by the Company which reflect key terms of the framework
announcements made by Barrick and the Government of Tanzania (“GoT”) in October 2017, including the lifting of the concentrate export ban and staged
payments of US$300 million relating to historical tax matters. In addition, the Directors have assumed that the Group will not be required to settle its current
outstanding borrowing obligations and will repay these in accordance with the current terms of the relevant agreements. After making appropriate enquiries
and considering the uncertainties described above, the Directors consider that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statement however have concluded that the combination of the above circumstances represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial statement does not include any adjustrnents that would result if the
Group was unable to continue as a going concern should the assumptions referred to above prove not to be correct.

b) New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The following amendments to standards are applicable and were adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2018:

» IFRS 9 —*“Financial instruments”. JFRS 9 replaces the multiple classification and measurermnent models in IAS 39 Financial instruments. Recognition and
measurement with a single model that has initially only two classification categories: amortised cost and fair value. Effective 1 January 2018. The
adoption of the new standard did not have a significant impact on the Group.

+ |FRS 15 - "Revenue from contracts with customers”. This standard is a single, comprehensive revenue recognition model for all contracts with
customers to achieve greater consistency in the recognition and presentation of revenue. Revenue is recognised based on the satisfaction of
performance obligations, which occurs when control of good or service transfers to a customer. Effective 1 January 2018. The adoption of the new
standard did not have a significant impact on the Group.

+ Amendments to IFRS 2 — “Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions”. The amendments made to AASB 2 in July 2016
clarify the measurement basis for cash-selfled share-based payments and the accounting for modifications that change an award from cash-settled to
equity-settled. Effective 1 January 2018. The standard did not have a significant impact on the Group.

« Amendments to IFRS 10 — “Consolidated financial stalements” and 1AS 28,"Investrments in associates and joint ventures” on sale or contribution of
assets. The 1ASB has issued this amendment to eliminate the inconsistency beMeen IFRS 10 and I1AS 28. The IASB decided to defer the application
date of this amendment, until such time this is not applicable. The amendment did not have a significant impact on the Group.

¢} New and amended standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the Group's accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019:

+« JFRS 16 —“Leases”. IFRS 16 supersedes |AS 17, “Leases”, IFRIC 4, “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, SIC 15, “Operating
Leases — Incentives” and SIC 27, “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease”. IFRS 16 will affect primarily the
accounting by lessees and will result in the recognition of almost 2ll leases on balance sheel. The standard removes the current distinction between
operating and financing leases and requires recognition of an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals for virtually all
lease contracts. Effective 1 January 2019. Management has reviewed the impact of the new standard in order to put all frameworks and systems in
place. Based on initial investigation, the standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group, due to majority of our existing contracts
being classified as short-term leases with contracts expiring within 12 months from the effective date as well as the majority of confracts relating to
service agreements or the performance obligations based on variable terms and thus not resulting in a right of use asset. The group intends to apply the
simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the year prior o first adoption. Right-of-use assets for property leases will be
measured on transition as if the new rules had always been applied. All other right-of-use assets will be measured at the amount of the lease liability on
adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease expenses).



d) Significant judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Many of the amounts included in the consolidated financial statements require management to make judgements and/or estimates. These judgements and
estimates are continuously evaluated and are based on management's experience and best knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances, but actual
results may differ from the amounts included in the consolidated financial statements. The life of mine plans are central to a number of key estimates.
Information about such judgements and estimations is included in the accounting policies and/or notes to the consolidated financial staterments, and the key
areas are summarised below. Areas of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements include:

Estimates
For material estimates, sensitivities were included in the notes to the consolidated financial staterments.

« Estimales of the quantities of proven and probable gold and copper reserves — Note 2h.

« Estimales included within the life of mine planning such as the timing and viability of processing of long-term stockpiles — Note 2n.

« Review of goodwill, tangible and intangible assets’ carmying value, the determination of whether a trigger for an impairment review exists, whether these
assets are impaired and the measurement of impairment charges or reversals — Notes 2o, 2p, 2q, 2r, 19 and 20.

+ The estimated fair values of Cash Generating Units for impairment tests, including estimates of future costs to produce proven and probable reserves,
future commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and discount rates — Notes 2r and 6.

+ The estimated useful fives of tangible and long-lived assets and the measurement of depreciation expense — Notes 2o and 19.

» Recognition of a provision for environmental rehabilitation and the estimation of the rehabilitation costs and timing of expenditure — Notes 2u and 28.

+ Whether to recognise a provision for accounts receivable, and in particufar the indirect tax receivables from the GoT, a provision for obsolescence on
consumables inventory and the impact of discounting the non-current element of the indirect tax receivable — Notes 2n, 2z, 2w, 16, 17 and 22.

+ Recognition of deferred income tax assets, amounts recorded for uncertain tax positions, the measurement of income tax expense and indirect taxes —
Notes 2z, 12 and 21.

Judgements

+ The capitalisation of production stripping costs — Note 2i.

= The capitalisation of exploration and evaluation expenditures Notes 21 and 8.

» Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases — Notes 2o and 19.

+ Whether to recognise a liability for loss contingencies and the amount of any such provision — Notes 2u, 28 and 34.

» Determination of the cost incurred in the productive process of ore stockpiles, gold in process, goid doré/bullion and concentrate, as well as the
associated net realisable value and the split between the long-term and short-term portions — Notes 2n and 16.

e Determination of fair value of derivative instruments — Notes 2w and 30.
» Determination of fair value of share options and cash-settied share-based payments — Notes 2v and 25.
« Judgements around the prospect, timing and final terms of any comprehensive negoliated settlement that the Company might be able to agree with the

GoT, including by reference to the key terms of the framework announcements made in October 2017 by Barrick and the GoT and including judgements
around the timing and quantum of any cash outflows that might be made in respect of historical tax matters.

+ Judgements around the timing of Bulyanhulu's restart and production ramp up.

e) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements set out the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, and operating results and cash
flows for the years then ended. The consolidated financial statements of the Group incorporate the financial statements of the Company and companies
controlied by the Company (its subsidiaries). Subsidiaries are entities to which the Company is exposed or has the rights to variable retums from its
involvement and has the ability to affect those returns through its power. Control exists when the Company has existing rights that give the ability to direct
relevant activities, exposure or rights to variable returmns from its involvement and the ability to use its power to affect the amount of returns. The consolidated
financial statements include all of the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries after eliminating inter-
company transactions as noted above.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which controf passed to the Group, and have been excluded from the
date on which control transferred out of the Group. For partly-owned subsidiaries, the net assets and net eamings attributable to non-controlling interests are
presented as “Equity attributable to non-controlling interests” in the consolidated balance sheet and “Net profit attributable to non-controlling interests” in the
consolidated income statement, respectively.

f) Business combinations

On acquiring a business, the acguisition method of accounting is used, whereby the purchase consideration is allocated to the identifiable net assets on the
basis of fair value at the date of acquisition. Provisional fair values allocated at a reporting date are finalised within 12 months of the acquisition date.
Acquisition costs are expensed.

When purchase consideration is contingent on future events, the initial cost of the acquisition recorded includes an estimate of the fair value of the contingent
amounts expected to be payable in the future. The cost of the acquisition is adjusted when revised estimates are made, with coresponding adjustments
made to the income statement.

When the cost of acquisition exceeds the fair values of the identifiable net assets, the difference is treated as purchased goodwill, which is reviewed for
impairment annually or when there is an indication of impairment. If the fair value attributable to the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets exceeds the
cost of acquisition, the difference is recognised in the income statement.

g) Foreign currency translation

The Group’s fransactions are denominated in a number of different currencies (primarily US dollars, Tanzanian shillings (“shillings”), South African rands
(“rands™), UK pounds slerling (“pounds”} and Australian dollars. The Group has liabilities that are primarily denominated in US dollars. The US dollar is the
Company's (and its main subsidiaries’) functional currency, as well as the Group’s presentation currency.



Transactions in currencies other than the US dollar are translated at the exchange rales as at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the US dollar are translated to LIS dollars at year-end exchange rates. Al differences that anse are recorded in the
income statement. Non-monetary assets measured at historical cost in a currency other than US dollars are translated using the exchange rates at the date of
the initial transactions.

Where non-monetary assets are measured at fair value in a currency other than US dollars they are translated into US dollars using the exchange rates on
the date when the fair value was determined.

The following exchange rates to the US dollar have been applied:

Average Year

As at 31 ended 3t

December 2018 | December 2018

South African rand (US$:ZAR) 14.39 13.16
Tanzanian shilling (US$:TZS) 2,281 2,264
Australian dollar (US$:AUD) 1.42 134
UK pound (US$:GBP) 0.78 0.75
Average Year

As at 31 ended 31

December 2017 | December 2017

South African rand (US$:ZAR) 12.36 13.30
Tanzanian shilling (US$:TZS) 2,230.07 2,229.00
Australian dollar (US$:AUD) B 1.28 1.30
UK pound (US$:GBF) 1 0.74 078

h) Determination of ore reserves

The Group estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources based on information compiled by Qualified Persens as defined in accordance with the
Canadian Securities Adminisfrators’ Nationaf instrument 43-101 “Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects” requirements. Reporis to support these
estimates are prepared each year. Proven and probable (“2P") reserves, and for certain mines other mineral resources, determined in this way are used in
the calculation of depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges, the assessment of life of mine stripping ratios and for forecasting the timing of the
payments related to the environmental rehabilitation provision.

In assessing the life of a mine for accounting purpeses, mineral resources are only taken into account where there is a high degree of confidence of
economic extraction.

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating ore reserves, and assumptions that are valid al the time of estimation may change significantly when new
information becomes available. Changes in the forecast prices of commaodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may change the economic
status of reserves and may, uftimately, result in the reserves being revised, The key assumptions above have been considered as part of management's
impaimment assessment (refer Note 6)

i) Stripping costs

In open pit mining operations, it is hecessary to remove overburden and other waste materials to access ore from which minerals can be extracted
economically. The process of mining overburden and waste materials is referred to as stripping. Stripping costs incurred in order to provide initial access to
the cre body (referred to as pre-production stripping) are capitalised as mine development costs.

Stripping costs incurred during the production stage of a pit are accounted for as the costs of the inventory produced during the peniod that the stripping costs were
incurred, unless these costs provide a future economic benefit to an identifiable component of the ore body. Production phase stripping costs generate a future
econemic benefit when the refated stripping acfivity: (i) improves aceess to a component of the ore body to be mined in the future; (ii} increases the fair value of the
mine {or pit) as access to future mineral reserves becomes less costly; (i) increases the productive capacity or extends the productive life of the mine (or pit). For
production phase stripping cosis that generate a future economic benefit, the current period siripping costs are capitalised as open pit mine development costs.

Capitalised open pit mine development costs are depreciated on & units of production basis whereby the denominator is the estimated ounces of
recoverable gold in proven and probable reserves and the portion of resources considered probable of economic extraction based on the current life of
mine plan in the components of the ore body that have been made more accessible through the stripping activity. Capitalised open pit mine development
costs are depreciated once the open pit has entered production and the future economic benefit is being derived.

i) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when persuasive evidence exists that all of the following criteria are met according to IFRS 15:

« |dentified contracts with custormners;

+  ldentify the separate perforrnance abligation;

« Determine the transaction price of the contract;

+  Allocated the transaction price to each of the separate performance obligations; and

+ Recognised the revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied.

For comparatives, revenue is recognised when persuasive evidence exists that all of the following criteria are met according to IAS 18:

« the significant risks and rawards of ownership of the product have been transferred to the buyer;

« nsither continuing managerial involvement o the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold has been retained,;
+ the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

« itis probable that the economic benefits associated with the sale will flow to the Group; and



+ the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably.

Gold doré sales

Gold doré is unrefined gold bullion bars usually consisting of 90% gold that is refined to pure gold bullion prior to sale to our customers. The sale of gold doré is
classified as a single performance obligation, and revenue is recognised at a point in time when control has passed to the customer. The sales price is based
on the gold spot price at the time of sale.

Concentrate sales

Concentrale is a processing product containing the valuable ore mineral gold, copper and silver from which most of the waste mineral has been eliminated,
that undergoes a smelting process to convert it into gold bullion, copper and silver concentrate. Under the terms of concentrate sales contracts with
independent smelting companies, gold, copper and silver in concentrate is sold at trailing monthly average spot prices based on contract quotational periods.

The sale of concentrate is classified as a single performance obligation, and revenue is recognised at a point in time when control has passed to the
customer. Revenue is recorded at the shipped on board date, which is also when control pass to the smelting companies, using market prices on the
expected date that final sales prices will be fixed. Variations between the price recorded at the shipment date and the actual final price set under the smelting
contracts are caused by changes in market prices, and result in an embedded derivative in accounts receivable. The embedded derivative is recorded al fair
value each period until final setlement occurs, with changes in fair value classified as provisional price adjustments and included as a component of
revenue.

Co-products
Revenue from the sale of co-products, such as copper and silver, contained in doré or concentrates are recognised in revenue.

k) Cost of sales

Cost of sales consists of direct mining costs (which include personnel costs, general and administrative costs, energy costs (principally diesel fuel and
electricity), maintenance and repair costs, operating supplies, external services, third-party smelting, refining and transport fees), and depreciation related lo
sales as well as production taxes and royalty expenses for the period. Cost of sales is based on average costing for contained or recoverable ounces sold as
well as production taxes and royalty expense for the period. All costs are net of any impairment to reduce inventory to its net realisable value.

I} Exploration and evaluation

Exploration expenditures

Exploration expenditures relate to the initial search for mineral deposits with economic potential as well as expenditures incurred for the purposes of
obtaining more information about existing mineral deposits. Exploration expenditures typically comprise costs that are directly atiributable to:

» researching and analysing existing exploration data;

« conducting geological studies;

« exploratory drilling and sampling for the purposes of obtaining core samples and the related metallurgical assay of these cores; and

+ drilling to determine the velume and grade of deposits in an area known to contain mineral resources or for the purposes of converting mineral resources
into proven and probable reserves.

Exploration expenditures incurred at greenfield sites (sites where the Group does not have any mineral deposits that are already being mined or developed)
are typically expensed as incurred, unless it can be demonstrated that the related evaluation expenditures will generate a future economic benefit.
Exploration expenditures incurred at brownfield sites (sites that are adjacent to a mineral deposit that is classified within proven and probable reserves and
are already being mined or developed) are capitalised if the following criteria are met:

+ the drilling is being done in an inferred or measured and indicaled resource; and

= there is an existing proven and probable reserve that is contiguous or adjacent to where the drilling is being done; and

« itis probable that the resource will be converted to a proven and probable reserve.

The assessment of probability is based on the following factors: resulis from previous drill programmes; results from a geoclogical study; results from a mine
scoping study confirming economic viability of the resource; and preliminary estimates of the volume and grade of the deposit, and the net cash flows
expected to be generated from its development. Costs incurred at brownfield sites that meet the above criteria are capitalised as a compenent of property,
plant and equipment (“mine development costs™) pursuant to IAS 16, “Property, Plant and Equipment”. All other drilling and related exploration costs incurred
at these sites are expensed as mine site exploration. Exploration expenditures incurred for the purposes of determining additional information on a mineral

deposit that is classified within proven and probable reserves or for the purposes of extending an existing mineral deposit that is classified within proven and
probable reserves and is already being mined or developed are also capitalised as mine development costs.

Evaluation expenditures

Evaluation expenditures arise from a detailed assessment of deposits or other projects that have been identified as having economic potential in order to

determine their technical feasibility and commercial viability. They typically include costs directly attributable to:

« detailed engineering studies;

« examination and testing of extraction metheds and metallurgical/treatment processes,

* surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements;

+ pemnitting activities; and

« detailed economic evaluations to determine whether development of the reserves is commercially justified, including the preparation of scoping, pre-
feasibility and final feasibility studies.

Evaluation expenditures incurred at greenfield and brownfield sites are expensed as incurred, unless it can be demonstrated that the related evaluation

expenditures will generate a future economic benefit.

Evaluation expenditures incurred at operating mines/development projects are capitalised as a component of property, piant and equipment, "Mining
properties and development costs”, respectively.

Acquired exploration and evaluation properties
Exploration and evaluation slage properties acquired either as an acquisition of individual assets or as part of a business combination are capitalised as an
intangible asset, "Acquired exploration and evaluation properties”. Exploration and evaluation stage properties represent interests in properties that do not



have mineralised material classified within proven and probable reserves. The value of such properties is primarily driven by the nature and amount of
mineralised material contained in such properties, including value attributable to the rights to explore or develop: i} a property containing mineralised material
classified as a measured, indicated or inferred resaurce; or i) a prospective greenfield property with significant exploration potential. Exploration and
evaluation expenditures incurred on such properties subsequent to their acquisition are expensed as incurred until the technical and commercial viability of
developing the property has been demonstrated under the same criteria described above for exploration and evaluation expenditures.

m) Earnings per share

Basic eamings per share is computed by dividing net profit for the period attributable to the owners of the Company by the weighted average number of
Crdinary Shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution that could occur if additional Ordinary Shares are
assumed to be issued under securities that entitle their holders to obtain Ordinary Shares in the future. For share options, the number of additional shares for
inclusion in diluted earnings per share calculations is determined using the treasury share method. Under this method, share options, whose exercise price is
less than the average market price of our Ordinary Shares, are assumed to be exercised and the proceeds are used to repurchase Ordinary Shares at the
average market price for the period. The incremental number of Ordinary Shares issued under share options and repurchased from proceeds is included in
the calculation of diluted eamings per share.

n) Inventories

Material extracted from the Group's mines is classified as either ore or waste. Ore represents material that, at the time of extraction, is expected to be
processed into a saleable form and sold at a profit. Waste represents material that is required to be removed to access ore bodies. Ore stockpiles are
classified within inventory as material is extracted from the open pit or underground mine. Ore is accumuiated in stockpiles that are subsequently processed
into gold in a saleable form under a mine plan that takes into consideration optimal scheduling of production of our reserves, present plant capacity, and the
market price of gold and copper. Work in process inventory represents gold, copper and silver in the processing circuit that has not completed the preduction
process, and is not yet in a saleable form. Finished goods inventory represents gold in saleable form that has not yet been shipped. Mine operating supplies
represent commadities and other raw materfials consumed in the production process, as well as spare parts and other maintenance supplies that are not
classified as capital iterns. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, with cost being determined on a weighted average cost basis.
Average costs are calculated by reference to the cost of inventory at the beginning of the period together with the cost of inventory produced in a pericd.

Gold, copper and silver ore contained in stockpiles is measured by estimating the number of ionnes added and removed from the stockpile, and the
associated estimate of gold contained therein (based on assay data) and applying estimated metallurgical recovery rates (based on the expected processing
method). Stockpile ore tonnages are verified by periodic surveys. Costs are allocated te ore stockpiles based on quantities of material stockpiled using
current mining costs incurred up to the point of stockpiling the ore and include: direct labour costs; materials and contractor expenses which are directly
attributable to the extraction of ore, including an allocation of stripping costs attributable to current period preduction; an allocation of mine site overhead
costs; and depreciation of mining properties and property, plant and equipment used in the extraction of ore, reduced by an allocation of capitalised stripping
costs. As ore is processed, costs are removed based on recoverable quantities of gold and the stockpile’s average cost per unit. Ore that is nat expected to
be processed in the 12 months following the balance sheet date is classified as non-current.

Costs capitalised in process and finished goods inventory include: the cost of stockpiles processed; the cost of commodities and raw malerials consumed in
the production pracess; direct labour; repair and maintenance costs; energy costs; depreciation of property, plant and equipment used in the production
process; and an allocation of mine site overhead costs. Costs are removed from finished goods inventory and recorded in cost of sales based on the
average cost per ounce of gold, copper and silver sold in the period.

Cost of mine operating supplies is the purchase cost, including allocated freight costs where applicable.

Provisions are recorded to reduce ore stockpiles, work in process and finished goods inventory to net realisable value where the net realisable value of the
inventory is lower than its cost at each balance sheet date. Net realisable value is determined with reference to relevant market prices less applicable
variable selling expenses. Provisions recorded also reflect an estimate of the remaining costs of completion to bring the inventory into its saleable form.
Provisions are recorded to reduce mine operating supplies to net realisable value, which is generally calculated by reference to its salvage or scrap value,
when it is determined that the supplies are siow moving and/or obsolete. Provisions are reversed to reflect subsequent recoveries in net realisable value
where the inventory is still on hand at the balance sheet date.

o) Property, plant and equipment

Mineral properties and mine development costs

Mineral properties and mine development costs are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and applicable accumulated impairment losses. The
acquisition cost of a mineral property is the estimated fair value of proven and probabie reserves and measured, indicated and inferred resources acquired
as a result of a business combination or asset acquisition. Where the asset is acquired separately, the cost is given the fair value of the consideration given.
Capitalised mine development costs include: pre-production stripping costs; production stripping costs that result in a future econcmic benefit {refer to Note 2i
for capitalisation criteria for stripping costs); costs incurred to access reserves at underground mining operations; and exploration and evaluation
expenditures that result in a probable future economic benefit (refer to Note 2i for capitalisation criteria for exploration and evaluation expenditures).

Development costs incurred at underground mines to build new shafts, drifts and ramps that provide physical access to the underground ore are capitalised
as incurred. These costs can be incurred throughout the life of the underground mine.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and applicable impaimment losses. Cost includes all expenditures incurred to prepare
an asset for its intended use including: the purchase price; brokers' commissions; and installation costs including architectural, design and engineering fees,
legal fees, survey costs, site preparation costs, freight charges, transportation insurance costs, duties and borrowing cost.

Costs that extend the productive capacity or usehul economic life of an asset are capitalised. Costs incurred that do not extend the productive capacity or
useful economic life of an asset are considered repairs and maintenance and expensed as incurred.

The Group enters into leasing arangements and arrangements that are in substance leasing arrangements. The determination of whether an arrangement
is, of contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date, including whether the fulfilment of the arangement is dependent on
the use of a specific asset or assets or whather the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. A reassessment after inception is only made in specific
circumstances. Leasing arrangements that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset o the Group are classified as

finance leases.

Finance leases are recorded as an asset with a corresponding liability at an amount equal to the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present
value at the beginning of the lease tenm of the minimum lease payments over the term of the iease. Each iease payment is allocated between the liability and



finance costs using the effective interest method, whereby a constant rate of interest expense is recognised on the balance of the liability outstanding. The
interest element of the lease is charged to the income statement as a finance expense. The property, plant and equipment assets acquired under finance
leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Operating lease
payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Assets under construction

Assets in the course of construction at both our development projects and operating mines are capitalised in the “assets under construction™ account. The
cost of assets under construction comprises its purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for its intended use, at
which point it is transferred to property, plant and equipment and depreciation commences. Development projects are recorded at cost, less applicable
accumulated impairment losses. Development projects represent interests in properties that contain proven and probable reserves and where development
activities are ongoing. The cost of development projects is composed of; the estimated fair value of development stage assets acquired as a result of a
business combination or an asset acquisition; and costs associated with the construction of tangible assets, such as processing plants, permanent housing
facilities and other tangible infrastructure associated with the project. Assets under construction also contain deposits on long lead items. The capitalised cost
of closure and rehabilitation activities is initially included in assets under construction and subsequently transferred to Mineral Properties. Assets under
construction are not depreciated.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated, net of residual value, over its useful life, or over the remaining life of the mine if shorter, on a straight-line basis.
For mineral properties and mine development costs, the economic benefits of the assets are consumed in a pattern which is linked to the production level.
Such assets are depreciated on a unit of production basis. Depreciation commences when assets are avaitable for their intended use. In applying the units of
production method, depreciation is normally calculated using the quantity of gold, copper and silver extracted from the mine (or pit} in the period as a
percentage of the total quantity of materizl expected to be extracted in current and future pericds based on estimates of recoverable proven and probable
reserves and, for some mines, mineral resources. Such non-reserve material may be included in the depreciation calculations where there is a high degree
of confidence in its economic extraction and the production of the non-reserve material is refiected in the life of mine plan.

Development costs that relate to a discrete section of an ere body and which only provide benefit over the life of those reserves are depreciated over the
recoverable proven and probable reserves of that discrete section. Discrete sections include capitalised underground development costs or production
stripping costs incurred for the purposes of providing access to specific ore blocks or areas of the mine and which only provide an economic benefit over the
period of mining that are block or area. Development costs incurred which benefit the entire ore body are depreciated over the recoverable proven and
probabie reserves of the entire ore body.

The expected depreciation rates of the major categories of assets are as follows:

Mineral properties and development costs UOP'
Plant and equipment 4% - 25%
Underground mobile equipment 14.3% — 20%
Light vehicles and other mobile equipment 33.3% - 50%
Fumiture, computer and office equipment 33.3% - 60%

1 UCP indicates assels which are gapreciated on the basis of units of production (“JOP™), in this case ounces of gold, copper and silver produced in a period divided by the total recoverable reserves
and resources of gold, coppar and silver expected to be mingd based on the current life of mine plans.

Each asset's estimated residual value and useful life is reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, on an annual basis. The estimate of residual value and useful
life is based on the physical condition and life limitations of buildings, plant and equipment and the present assessment of economically recoverable reserves
of the mine for the mining property and development cost asset. Changes to the estimated residual values or useful lives are accounted for prospectivety.

p) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill is initially determined based on provisional fair values. Fair values are finalised within 12 months of the acquisition date. For non-wholly-
owned subsidiaries, non-controlling interests are initially recorded based on the minorities’ proportion of the fair values for the assets and liabilities

recognised at acquisition.

Goodwill that is acquired through business combinations is allocated to Cash Generating Units ("CGUs"), or groups of CGUSs, that are expected to benefit

from the synergies of the business combination. Each of the Group's CGUs that has an allocation of goodwill is also an operating segment as defined by
IFRS 8. Consequently, goodwill is tested for impairment at the individual CGU level.

Goodwill is not amortised; rather it is tested annually for impairment in accordance with accounting policy (Note 2r). Geodwillimpairments are not reversible.

q) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired by way of an asset acquisition or business combination are recognised if the asset is separable or arises from contractual or legal
rights and the fair value can be measured reliably on initial recognition. On acquisition of a mineral property in the exploration stage, we prepare an estimate
of the fair value attributable to the exploration potential, including mineral resources, if any, of that property. The fair value of the exploration potential is
recorded as an intangible assel (acquired exploration potential) as at the date of acquisition. When an exploration stage property moves into development,
any acquired exploration intangible asset balance attributable to that property is transferred to non-depreciable mining interests within property, plant and
equipment.

Impairment testing and the reversal of impairments are conducted in accordance with accounting poelicy (Note 2r).

r} Impairment of non-current assets
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or at any time during the year if an indicator of impairment is considered to exist. We review and test the
carrying amounts of intangible assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment if there is any indication that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.



An impairment loss shall be recognised for a CGU if, and only if, the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit. The
impairment Joss shall first be allocated 1o goodwill and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the cammying amount of each asset in the
unit.

An impairment loss recognised in prior years for non-financial assets other than goodwill shall be reversed if, and only if, there has been change in the
estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. This reversal is recognised in the consolidated
statement of income and is limifed to the carrying amount that would have been detfermined, net of any depreciation, had no impaimnent been recognised in
prior years. After such a reversal, any depreciation charge is adjusted prospactively.

The recoverable amount of an asset is assessed by reference to the higher of value in use {“VIU") being the net present vaiue ("NPV"} of future cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset, and fair value less costs to dispose {“FVLCD"). Impairment assessments are conducted at the level of CGUs, which
is the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets. Each operating mine and development project
represents a CGU for impairment testing purposes. An impairment loss is recognised for any excess of camying amount of a CGU over its recoverable
amount.

The FVLCD ofa CGU is based on an estimate of the amount that the Group may obtain in a sale transaction on an amm’s length basis. There is no active
market for the Group’s CGUs. Consequently, FVLCD is derived using discounted cash flow techniques (NPV of expected future cash flows of a CGU), which
incorporate market participant assumptions. Cost to sell is based on management's best estimates of future selling costs at the time of calcufating FVLCD.
Costs attributable to the sale of a CGU are not considered significant.

The expected future cash fiows utilised in the NPV model are derived from estimates of projected future revenues, future cash costs of production and capital
expenditures contained in the life of mine (“LOM”) plan for each CGU, which are updated on an annual basis. The Group's LOM plans reflect proven and

probable reserves and convertible resources and are based on detailed research, analysis and modelling to optimise the internal rate of retumn for each CGL.

As such, these plans consider the optimal level of investment, overall production levels and sequence of extraction taking inte account all relevant
characteristics of the ore body, including waste-lo-ore tonnes ratios, ore grades, haul distances, chemical and metallurgical properties impacting process
recoveries and capacities of available extraction, haulage and processing equipment. Projected fulure revenues reflect the forecasted future production
levels at each CGU as detailed in the LOM plans. Included in these forecasts is the production of some mineral resources that do not currently qualify for
inclusion in proven and probable ore reserves where there is a high degree of confidence in their economic extraction. This is consistent with the approach
that a market participant would utilise in preparing a forecast of expected production levels. Projected future revenues also reflect the Group's estimate of
long-term gold prices, which is determined based on current prices, an analysis of the expected tota! production costs of producers and forward pricing
curves and forecasts of expected long-term prices prepared by research analysts. These estimates often differ from current price levels, but this
methedology is consistent with how a market participant would assess long-term gold prices.

The estimates of future cash costs of production and capital expenditures are derived from the LOM plans for each CGU. Costs incurred in currencies other
than the US dollar are translated to US dollars using expecled Jong-term exchange rates based on the relevant forward pricing curve for that currency. Oil
prices are a significant component, both directly and indirectly, of the expected cash costs of production. Estimates for long-term oil prices used in the LOM
plans are based on the spot price at the time, the forward pricing curve and long-term oil price forecasts prepared by analysts.

The discount rate applied to present value is based upon the real weighted average cost of capital applicable to the CGU. The discount rate reflects equity
risk premiums over the risk-free rate, the impact of the remaining economic life of the CGLf and the risks associated with the refevant cash fiows based on
the country in which the CGU is located. These risk adjustments are based on observed equity risk premiums, historical country risk premiums and average
credit default swap spreads for the period.

In determining FVLCD, a market multiple is applied to the NPV of each CGU. Gold companies typically trade at a market capitalisation that is based on a
multiple of their underying NPV. Consequently, a market participant would generally apply an NPV muiltiple when estimating the fair value of a gold property.
The NPV multiple utilised in the determination of the FVLCD of a CGU considers the NPV multiples observed on comparable companies. These observed
multiples are primarily derived from research analyst reports and take into consideration the following: i) estimate of underlying NPV prepared by the analyst,
ii) estimate of target market capitalisation prepared by the analyst; iii) market capitalisation on the date of the analyst report; and iv) market capitalisation on
the date of the impairment test. The NPV multiple applied also takes into consideration the remaining economic life of the CGU. For CGUs with a remaining
economic life of five years or less, an NPV multiple on the lower end of the observed multiple range is utilised. For other CGUs, the median observed NPY
multiple is uiilised.

The VIU of a CGU is generally lower than its FVILCD, due primarily to the inclusion of future, as yet unapproved, capital expenditure when determining its
FVLCD. Censeguently, the recoverable amount of a CGU for impairment testing purposes is determined based on its FVLCD.

s) Other reserves

The Company did not exist untit 12 January 2010, and did not become the parent company for the Group until 22 February 2010 when the transfer of the
members of the Group pursuant o the Pre-IPO Reorganisation was completed. As parl of the 1PO Reorganisation in 2010 a distributable reserve was
crealed following a capital reduction.

t) Share capital
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly atiributable to the issue of new shares or options are shewn in equily as a deduction from
the proceeds.

u) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money
is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time
is recognised as a finance cost,

Rehabilitation costs

The mining, extraction and processing activities of the Group normally give rise to obligations for environmental rehabilitation. Rehabilitation works can include
facility decommissioning and dismantling, removal or treatment of waste materials and site and land rehabilitation. The extent of work required and the
associated costs are based on legal and constructive requirements and dependent on the requiternents of relevant authorities and the Group’s

environmental policies.



Provisions for the cost of each rehabilitation programme are recognised at the time that environmental disturbance occurs. When the extent of disturbance
increases over the life of an operation, the provision is increased accordingly. The major parts of the carrying amount of provisions relate to tailings pond
closure/rehabilitation; demolition of buildings/mine facilities; ongoing water treatment; and ongoing care and maintenance of closed mines. Costs included in
the provision encompass all closure and rehabilitation activity expected to occur progressively over the life of the operation and at the time of closure in
connection with disturbances at the reporting date, Estimated costs included in the determination of the provision reflect the risks and probabilities of
altemative astimates of cash flows required to settle the obligation at each particular operation. Routine operating costs that may impact the ultimate closure
and rehabilitation activities, such as waste material handling conducted as an integral part of a mining or production process, are not included in the
provision. Costs arising from unforeseen circumstances, such as the contamination caused by unplanned discharges, are recognised as an expense and
liability when the event occurs that gives rise to an cobligation and reliable estimates of the required rehabilitation costs can be made.

The timing of the actual rehabilitation expenditure is dependent upen a number of factors such as the life and nature of the asset, the operating licence
conditions and the environment in which the mine operates. Expenditure may occur before and afler closure and can continue for an extended period of ime
depending on rehabilitation requirements. The majority of the expenditure is expected to be paid over periods of up to 30 years with some payments into
perpetuity. Rehabilitation provisions are measured at the expected value of future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a curent, market-
based estimate of the real risk-free pre-tax discount rates. The unwinding of the discount is included in finance expense and results in an increase in the
amount of the provision. Provisions are updated each reporting period for the effect of a change in the discount rate and the change in estimate is added or
deducted from the related asset and depreciated prospectively over the asset's useful life.

Significant judgements and estimates are involved in forming expectations of future activities and the amount and timing of the associated cash flows. Those
expectations are formed based on existing environmental and regulatory requirements or, if more stringent, Group environmental policies which give rise to a
constructive obligation.

When provisions for closure and rehabilitation are initially recognised, the comesponding cost is capitalised as an asset, representing part of the cost of
acquiring the future economic benefits of the operation. The capitalised cost of closure and rehabilitation activities is recognised in property, plant and
equipment and depreciated accordingly.

It is possible that management's estimaltes of provisions could change as a result of changes in regulations, the extent of rehabilitation required, and the
means of reclamation or cost estimates. Rehabilitation provisions are adjusted as a result of changes in estimates. Those adjustments are accounted for as
a change in the corresponding value of the related asset, except where a reduction in the provision is greater than the remaining net book value of the
related assets, in which case the value is reduced to nil and the remaining adjustment is recognised in the income statement. In the case of closed sites,
changes to estimated costs are recognised immediately in the income staternent. Changes to the capitalised cost result in an adjustment to future
depreciation and finance expense. On an annual basis, the Group reviews for changes in cost estimates, discount rates or life of operations.

v) Employee benefits
The Group operates an equity-settied, share-based compensation plan {the “Share Option Plan”), a long-term incentive plan (the “LTIP"), a legacy restricted
share unit plan {the “Legacy RSU Plan”) and a deferred share unit plan (the “DSU” Plan).

Share-based payments

Share options

Share options can be granted under either the Company LTIP or the Share Option Plan. The Company receives services from employees as consideration
for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services recesived in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the opticns granted:

« including any market performance conditions;
+ excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period); and

« excluding the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the
vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the Company
revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
criginal estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company may issue new shares or procure the transfer of existing shares to satisfy the exercise. Where shares are
issued, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when the
options are exercised. The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated
as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a correspending credit to equity.

Long-term incentive plans

The Company has a cash-settied, Restricted Share Unit (‘RSU") plan for select employees. Under the terms of the RSU plan, selected employees are
granted RSUs where each RSU has a value equal to one Ordinary Share of the Company. RSUs granted to Executive Directors and the other members of
the Executive Leadership Team vest based on the Company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) performance against the market cap-weighted TSR of a
comparator greup of companies cver the vesting period {referred to as Performance RSUs). RSUs vest over a two-and-a-half or three-year period and are
settled in cash. Additional RSUs are credited to reflect dividends paid on Ordinary Shares of the Company during the vesting period with a comesponding
charge to the compensation expense. A liability for RSUs is measured at fair value on the grant date and is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding charge to the compensation expense. At the grant date the fair value of the awards is determined from the market value
of the shares at the date of award and adjusted for any market based vesting condilions attached to the award e.g. relative TSR performance. Changes in
the fair value of the RSU liability, due to changes in the price of Ordinary Shares of the Company, are recorded each period, with a corresponding charge to
the compensation expense.

Compensation expenses recognised for RSUs incorporate an estimate for expected forfeiture rates. The expected forfeiture is estimated based on historical
forfeiture rates of the Group and expectations of future forfeiture rates. Adjustments to compensation expense are recognised in periods where the actual
forfeiture rate differs from the expected rate.

LTIP deferred share units



Under the Deferred Share Unit ("DSU” plan, the Non-Executive Directors can edect {o receive all or part of their annual director fees in DSUs. Each DSU has
the same value as one Acacia Ordinary Share. DSUs must be retained until the Director leaves the Board, at which time the cash value of the DSU is paid
out. Additional DSUs are credited to reflect dividends paid on Acacia Ordinary Shares. A liability for DSUs is measured at fair value on the grant date and is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a correspanding charge to the Direclors’ compensation expense. At the grant date the fair
value of the awards is determined from the market value of the shares at the date of award. Changes in the fair value of the DSU liability, due to changes in
the price of Ordinary Shares of the Company, are recorded each period, with a corresponding charge to the Directors’ compensation expense.,

LTIP zero cost options

Members of the Executive Leadership Team are granted nil-cost options where each option has a value equal to one Ordinary Share of the Company. Nil-
cost oplions granted vest subject to the assessment of the Company’s TSR performance against a comparatar group of companies over the vesting period.
Nil-cost options vest over a five year period and when exercised the Company may issue new shares, procure the transfer of existing shares to satisfy the
exercise or settle the options in cash. A liability for nil-cost options is measured at fair value on the grant date and is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, with a corresponding charge to the compensation expense. At the grant date the fair value of the awards is determined from the market
value of the shares at the date of award and adjusted for market based vesting conditions attached to the award. Changes in the fair value of the option
liability, due to changes in the price of Ordinary Shares of the Company, are recorded each period, with a corresponding charge to the compensation
expense.

Compensation expenses recognised for nil-cost options incorporate an estimate for expected forfeiture rates. The expected forfeiture is estimated based on
historicafl forfeiture rates of the Group and expectations of fuiure forfeiture raies. Adjustments to compensation expense are recognised in periods where the
actual forfeiture rate differs from the expected rate.

Defined contribution plan

The Group's Tanzanian employees are members of either the National Social Security Fund (‘NSSF”") or the Parastatal Pension Fund (“PPF"), which are
defined contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to the employee
service in the current and prior periods. The Group and employees hoth contribute 10% of the employees' gross salaries to the schemes. The contributions
are charged to the income statement when they are due.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Greup before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the
employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to their present value.

Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where it is contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.

Other entitlements
The estimated monetary liability for employees’ acerued annual leave entittement at the balance sheet date is recognised as an expense accrual,

w) Financial instruments
From 1 January 2018, the Group the group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categeries: those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through OCI or through profit or loss); and those to be measured at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at fair value. For the purposes of the balance sheet, cash and cash equivalents include cash,
and money market funds. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value, and are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effectiva interest method. They are
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current assets, where the
receivables are discounted and held at their net present value,

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables, other assets and cash and cash equivalents at the balance sheet date.

From 1 January 2018, the group assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and FVOCI (Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income).The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The
method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item
being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as:

a) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firn commitment (fair value hedge); or
b) hedges of the income/cost of a highly probable forecast transaction or commitment (cash flow hedge); or
¢) hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

The Group documenits at inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management
objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing
basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 31. Movements in the hedging reserve are shown in cther
comprehensive income. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged
item is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives
are classified as a current asset or liability.



{a) Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are atiributable to the hedged risk. The gain or loss relating to the effective portion is recognised
in the income statement within “finance costs”. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement within other charges.
Changes in the fair value of the hedge attributable to interest rate risk are recognised in the income statement within “finance costs”.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest
method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity.

(b} Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive
income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement within “other charges”,

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss (for example, when the forecast sale
that is hedged takes place). The gain or loss relating to the effective portion is recognised in the income statement. However, when the forecast transaction
that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed assets), the gains and losses previously deferred in equity
are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in cost of goods
sold in the case of inventory or in depreciation in the case of property, plant and equipment.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in
equity al that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement.

When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income
statement within “other charges”.

{c) Net investment hedge
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges.

Any gain or loss on the hedging insirument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the income statement when the foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold.

Embedded derivatives

Contracts are assessed for the existence of embedded derivatives at the date that the Group first becomes party to the confract, with reassessment only if
there is a change to the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows. Embedded derivatives which are not clearly and closely related to the underlying
asset, liability or transaction are separated and accounted for as stand-alone derivatives.

Financial liabilities

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Bormowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the bomowings using the
effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settiement of the liability for at least 12
months after the balance shest date.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently held at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

x) Finance income and finance expense

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying
amount fo its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income.

Interest is recognised as a borrowing cost on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. Bomrowing costs that relate directly to the
construction of property, plant and equipment during the time that it is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use are capitalised as part
of the cost of the asset.

y) Other income/charges

Other income/charges comprises one-off credits or costs relating to non-routine transactions included in profit and loss. It includes cther credits and charges
that, individually or in aggregate, if of a similar type, are of a nature or size that requires explanation in order to provide additional insight intc the underlying
business performance.

z) Taxes

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and pricr periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected tc be paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used
to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the lability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.



Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable ternperary differences, except:

» where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset o liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profitloss; and

« inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differances will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, camy forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised except:

« where the deferred income tax asset relating to deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

« in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the defarred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rales (and tax laws) that have been enacled or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date,

Uneertainties regarding availability of tax losses, in respect of enquiries raised and additional tax assessments issued, have been measured using the single
best estimate of likely outcome approach.

Deferred income tax relating to items recognised diractly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current income tax assets against
current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Indirect tax

Indirect tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in indirect tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions or receivables where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to or received from the tax authorities.
The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacled or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. If the receivable is
expected to be received in more than 12 months from year-end, the receivable is discounted and held at its present value. Amounts expected to be payable
or receivable in more than 12 months are classified as non-current assets or liabilities in the balance sheet, as appropriate.

aa) Royalties

Royalty arrangements based on mineral produclion are in place at each operating mine. The primary type of royalty is a net smetter retum (“NSR”) royaty.
Under this type of royalty the Group pays the holder an amount calculated as the royalty percentage multiplied by the value of goid production at market gold
prices less third-party smelting, refining and transportation costs.

The North Mara mine is also subject to a land royalty (land tenements ("LT")} based on the net revenue derived from the open pit mines.
In addition, a new 1% clearing fee on mineral exports was infroduced. These payments are being made under protest, without prejudice to our MDA's.
Royalty expense is recorded when revenue from the sale of gokd, copper and silver production is recognised.

The following percentages apply:

Bulyanhulu 6% NSR!
North Mara — Nyabirama and Nyabigena pits 6% NSR', 1% LT
North Mara — Gokona pil and underground 6% NSR’, 1.1% LT
Buzwagi 6% NSR', 30% NP

1 The Group agreed fo a voluntary 1% increase in the NSR royalty rate in 2012, and since early July 2017 satisfied the requirements imposed by new legislation as regards the increased royalty rate
applicable to metallic minerals such as gold, copper and silver of 8% {2016: 4%).

2 The NPi is cakculated as a percentage of profits realised from the Buzwagi mine after ali capital, exploration and development costs and interest incumed in relation to the Buzwagi mine have been
recouped and all operating costs relating Lo the Buzwagi mine have been pard. No amount is currently payable.

bb) Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Each finance lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included
in other liabitities. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the
shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.



cc) Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

dd) Non-current assets {or disposal groups) held for sale
The Group classifies non-current assets (or disposal groups) as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable.

They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from
employee benefits, financial assets and investment property that are carried at fair value and contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are
specifically exempt from this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised
for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously
recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) is recegnised at the date of
derecognition.

Non-current assets {including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and
other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from the other assels in
the balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet.

3. Segment reporting

The Group has only one primary product produced in a single geographic location, being gold produced in Tanzania. In addition, until the fourth quarter of
2017 when the Group ceased gold concentrate production, the Group produced copper and silver as a co-product. Reportable cperating segments are
based on the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM"} to evaluate segment performance, decide how to allocate resources
and make other operating decisions. After applying the aggregation criteria and quantitative thresholds contained in IFRS 8, the Group's reportable operating
segments were determined to be: North Mara gold mine; Bulyanhulu gold mine; Buzwagi geld mine; and a separate Corporate and Exploration segment,
which primarily consists of costs related to other charges and corporate social responsibility expenses.

Segment results and carrying values include items directly attributable to the segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Segment
carrying values are disclosed and caiculated as shareholders’ equity afier adding back debt and inter-company liabilities, and subtracting cash and inter-
company assets. Segment liabilities are not reported since they are not considered by the CODM as material to sagment performance. Capital expenditures
comprise additions to property, plant and equipment. The Group has also included segment cash costs per ounce sold and all-in sustaining cost per ounce
sold {nen-IFRS financial performance measures). Segment information for the reportable operating segments of the Group for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 31 December 2017 is set out overleaf.



Segment information for the reportable operating segments of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 is set out below.

For the year endad 31 December 2018

(in thousands of United States dollars,except per ounce amounts) North Mara Bulyanhulu Buzwagi Other Total
Gold revenue 421,332 52,718 185,979 - 660,029
Co-product revenue 1,900 998 862 - 3,760
Total segment rovenue 423,232 53,716 186,841 - 663,789
Segment cash operating cost’ (198,121) (25,893) (133,647) - {357,661)
Realised gains on gold hedges 1,183 - 601 - 1,784
Corporate administration (12,115) {1,820) (4,632) (5,246} {23,813}
Share-based payments {117} 456 116 (381} 74
Exploration and evaluation costs - - - (13,343} {13,343)
Other charges and corporate social responsibility expenses {12,998) (34,352) (3,617) 6,061 (44,906)
EBITDA? 201,064 (7,893) 45,662 {12,909) 225,924
Impairment charges - - - {28,877) (28,87T)
Depreciation and amortisation® (61,632) (23,144) (2,478) (1,243) (88,497)
EBIT? 139,432 (31,037) 43,184 {43,029) 108,550
Finance income 1421
Finance expense {13,200)
Profit before taxation 96,771
Tax expense (37,905)
Net profit for the year 58,866
Capital expenditure:
Sustaining 25,513 3,164 3,503 336 32,516
Expansionary 8,335 3,899 - - 12,234
Capitalised development 47,496 - - - 47,496
81,344 7,063 3,503 336 92,246
Non-cash capital expenditure adjustments
Reclamation asset adjustment {865) {1,955) (5,665_) - (8,485)
Other non-cash capital expenditure - - - 820 820
Total capital expenditure 80,479 5108 {2,162} 1,156 84,581
Segmental cash operating cost 198,121 25,893 133,647 357,661
Deduct: co-praduct revenue (1,900) (998) (862) {3,760)
Total cash costs 196,221 24895 132,785 353,901
Sold cunces 332,195 41,555 146,630 520,380
Cash cost per gunce sold® 591 599 906 680
Corporate adrministration charges 36 44 32 46
Share-based payments - (11) (1) -
Rehabilitation — accretion and depreciation 7 - 28 7 9
Corporate soclal responsibility expenses 1 50 10 17
Capitalised stripping/UG development 143 - - 9
Sustaining capital expenditure 78 76 23 62
All-in sustaining cost per ounce sold’ 866 786 977 905
Segment carrying value® 277,064 588,292 195467 45,746 1,106,569




For the year ended 31 December 2017

{in thousands of United States dollars,except per ounce amounts} North Mara Bulyanhulu Buzwagi Other Total
Gold revenue 406,917 134,110 203,267 - 744,294
Co-product revenue 1,296 2,937 2,988 - 7,221
Total sagment revenug 408,213 137,047 206,255 - 751,515
Segment cash operating cost' (163,001) (93,521) (98,417) - {354,939)
Realised gains on gold hedges 1,294 - 1,399 - 2,693
Corporate administration (8.,313) (6,314) (5,694) (6,592) (26,913)
Share-based payments 5N 593 349 6,783 8,236
Exploration and evaluation costs - {671) - (24,258) (24,829)
Other charges and corporate social responsibility expenses {13,243) (52,916) (13,605) (18,819} (98,583)
EBITDA? 225,461 (15,682) 90,287 (42,886} 257,180
Impaimment charges - (837,921} - {12,261) {850,182)
Depreciation and amortisation* {54,826) (46,531) (4,288) (556} (106,201}
EBIT? 170,635 (900,134) 85,099 (55,703} {699,203}
Finance income 1,944
Finance expense {12,407)
Loss before taxation {709,666}
Tax credit 2272
Net profit for the year (707,394)
Capital expenditure:
Sustaining 20,927 9,033 4,338 1,259 35,567
Expansionary 10,270 1,190 - 113 11,573
Capitalised development 61,066 39,543 - — 100,609
92,263 49,766 4,338 1,372 147,739
Non-cash capital expenditure adjustments
Reclamation asset adjustment (2,951) (4,158) (1,978) - (9,087)
Other non-cash capital expenditure - - - 1,212 1,212
Total capital expenditure 89,312 45,608 2,360 2,584 139,864
Segmental cash operating cost 163,001 93,521 88,417 354,939
Deduct: co-product revenue (1,296) (2,937) (2,088) (7.221)
Total cash costs 161,705 90,584 95,429 347,718
Sol ounces 324,455 107,855 160,552 592,861
Cash cost per ounce sold’ 498 840 594 587
Corporate administration charges 26 59 35 45
Share-based payments (2) {6) 2) (14
Rehabilitation — aceretion and depreciation 1 20 5 11
Comorate social responsibility expenses 11 10 8 14
Capitalised stripping/UG development 188 367 - 170
Sustaining capital expenditure 71 83 27 62
Alk-in sustaining cost per ounce sold’ 803 1,373 667 875
Segment canrying value® 243170 600,359 194,385 82,864 1,126,778

1 The CODM revigws cash operating costs for the three operating ming sites separately from corperate administration costs & exploration costs. Consequently, the Group has reported costs in this

manner.

2 These are non-iIFRS financial performance measures with no standard meaning under IFRS. Refer to ‘Non IFRS measures' on page 182 for definitions.
3 Segment carrying values are catculated as shareholders’ equity afier adding back debt and inter-company liabilities. and subtracting cash and inter-company assets and include outside shareholders’

interests.

4 Depreciation and amortisation includes the depreciation component of the cost of inventory sold.




4. Revenue
For the For the
year ended year ended
(in thousands of United States dollars) ¥ Decar;g:; 3 Decerzrl::e Tr
Gold doré sales 660,029 720,755
Gold concentrate sales’ - 23,539
Copper concentrate sales’ - 4,001
Silver sales 3,760 3,220
Total 663,789 751,515

1 Concentrate sales includes negative provisional price adjustments to the accounts receivable balance dua to changes in market gold, silver and copper prices prior to final settlernent as follows:
US$3.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Revenue by location of customer®
Europe
Switzerland 121,133 140,691
Germany - 11,615
Asia
India 542,656 582,943
China - 437
Japan - 15,829
Total revenue 663,789 751,515
2 Revenue by location of customer is determined based on the country to which the gold is delivered
Revenues for the year ended 31 December 2018 was made up of sales to two customers.
5. Cost of sales
For the For the
ycar cnded ycar ended
31 Decembear 31 December
(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Direct mining costs 304,614 299,591
Third-party smelting costs 2,879 9.675
Depreciation’ 88,497 106,201
Realised (gains)losses on economic hedges {446} 743
Realised (gains) on gold hedges (1,784) (2,693)
Royalty expense 50,814 44,930
Total® 444,374 458,447

1 Depregiation includes the depreciation component relating to the cost of inventory sold.
2 Cost of sales less depreciaticn equals cash operating costs.

6. Impairment assessment

In accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of assets” and IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” a review for impairment of goodwill is undertaken annuaily, or at any time
an indicator of impairment is considered to exist, and in accordance with IAS 16 “Property, plant and equipment” a review for impairment of long-lived assets
is undertaken at any time an indicator of impairment is considered to exist.

At the end of the reporting period, there remained a number of potential triggers for impairment testing, including the ongoing uncertainty surrounding a
potential resolution of the Company’s disputes with the GoT, the revised Bulyanhulu business model, the updated geological medels at North Mara and
Bulyanhulu and the fact that the Company's market capitalisation has been lower than its camrying value during the current reporting period.

As a result, the Group has undertaken a carrying value assessment of its affected CGUs and long life intangible assets. The assessment compared the
recoverable amount of CGU to the camrying value of the CGUs. The recoverable amount of an asset is assessed by reference to the higher of value in use
{*VIU™), being the net present value ("NPV™} of future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, and fair value less costs to dispose {“FVLCD"). The
FVLCD of a CGU is based on an estimate of the amount that the Group may obtain in a sale transaction on an arm’s length basis. There is no active market
for the Group's CGUSs. Consequently, FVLCD is derived using discounted cash flow techniques (NPV of expected future cash flows of a CGU), which
incorporate market participant assumptions. Cost to dispose is based on management’s best estimates of fulure selling costs at the time of calculating
FVLCD. Costs attributable to the disposal of a CGU are not considered significant.

For the purpose of carrying value assessments in accordance with applicable accounting standards, management has based its calculation of future cash
flows of the affected CGUs by reference to the key terms of the Framework announcements by Barrick and by the GoT in October 2017. Based on Barrick’s




announcements, and absent any changes in its position in discussions and exchanges with Acacia, Acacia understands that it remains Barrick's belief that it
will be able to agree with the GoT a detailed proposal for a comprehensive settierment of the situation, and that this will be in a form that Barrick could
recommend to Acacia for review. Key assumptions applied in these calculations include a 50% economic share of future economic benefits for the GoT in
the form of taxes, royalties and a 16% free camy interest in the CGUs, as well as a US$300 million payment in relation to historical tax claims paid in
instalments as concenltrate sales recormence. In addition the Framework announcements provided for Acacla to contribute certain monies to fund specific
projects in Tanzania. With no updated information from Barrick, management has had to make a best estimate of what can reasonably be assumed for
timing of conclusion of discussions between Barrick and the GoT and an agreement of a propesal to be put to the Company for review, with consequent
timing for the commencement of concentrate sales and potential resumption of underground mining at Bulyanhulu. Management considers that it is
reasonable for review purposes to assume a six month prolongation (to the end of H1 2019) to the discussions between Barrick and the GoT, and thatin
these circumstances there would be a further three to six months delay thereafter for the resumption of concentrate sales and exports, with concentrate
revenues commencing in @1 2020 and the resumption of production from underground mining at Bulyanhulu in late 2020. VAT refunds are assumed fo
recommence and historic carried forward tax losses are assumed fo continue to be available to offset against future taxable profits fromn 1 January 2020.

Acacia has been providing support to Barrick to seek to ensure that they can have informed discussions with the GoT, but has not received for review a
detailed proposal that has been agreed between Barrick and the GoT, and therefore no conelusions can be made by Acacia as to whether any particular
terms of settlement would be approved by Acacia. In the meantime, Acacia continues to reserve its rights including under our Mineral Development
Agreements, the disputes between Acacia and the GoT have not yet been resofved, and PML and BGML remain in international arbitration with the GoT.
Acacia continues to prefer a negotiated resolution, but there remain a range of potential cutcomes to the cument situation.

Acacia considers that, in conducting the review of carrying values in accordance with applicable accounting standards as at 31 December 2018, the discount
rate used should: (a) reflect the uncertainty around the final terms of any comprehensive settlement that might be agreed or whether settlement will be
reached at all, and (b} best reflact the potential reduction in value as a result of the proposed 16% free carry interest for the GoT which cannot otherwise be
included In calculations of value at a CGU level conducted on a 100% basis. Therefore, for the purposes of the canrying value review of the affected CGUs,
we have kept a discount rate of 11% compared to Acacia's calculated weighted average cost of capital of 6.5% (2017: 11%).

Using the latest information received and updated with the latest understanding of the framework agreement between Barrick and the GoT, the carrying
values of all our assets are below the Company's view of its recoverable values.

The carrying value for the Group is now approximately US$1.1 billion, made up of US$0.6 billion for Bulyanhulu, US$0.3 billion for North Mara and US$0.2
billion for Buzwagi.

For the year For the year

ended 31 ended 31

December 2018 | December 2017

Gold price per ounce Us$1,200 US$1,200
Copper price per pound us$2.75 Uss$2.75
British Pound (US$:GBP) 0.76 0.76
Tanzanian Shilling (US$:TZS) 2,250 2,250
Long-term oil price per barrel uss$7o uUss60
WACC 6.5% 6.5%
Discount rate used in carrying value review 11% 11%
NPV multiples 1 1

During the year, OreCorp, Acacia’s JV partner in the Nyanzaga Project in Tanzania, executed its option under the eam-in agreement to increase its stake to
51% in the project through the payment of US$3 million to Acacia. Further to thal, Acacia signed a completion agreement to sell its remaining 49% stake to
OreCorp for US$7 mitlion and a net smelter royalty capped at US$15 million based on future production. In line with the applicable accounting standard and
driven by the uncertainty surrounding the current environment, management did not recognise an asset for the right to the royalty. As a result of the
agreement, and management's commitment 1o a sale, Acacia expects to recover the value of the asset through sale and not through valug in use and as
such has valued the asset at fair value less costs to sell of US$10 million and recorded an impairment charge of US$24.2 million and reclassified the
associated non-current assets and liabilities ta held for sale on the balance sheet.

In addition, as part of the year-end carrying value assessment we have impaired US$3.2 million of property plant and equipment mainly relating to previously
capitalised drilling costs in Tanzania and US$1.5 million relating to other histerical exploration assets.



The impairment charges recognised in the income statement for the periods ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 comprise the following:

For the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31
(in thousands of United States dollars} December 2018 | December 2017
Bulyanhulu - 837,921
Nyanzaga exploration property & other exploration assets’ 28,877 12,261
Gross impairment charge 28,877 850,182
Comprising:
Impairment of goodwill - 121,546
Impairment of propetty, plant and equipment 3,167 686,375
Impairment of supplies inventory - 30,000
Impairment of intangible assets 24,234 12,261
Impairment of other exploration assets/liabilities 1,476 -
Gross impairment charge, before tax 28,877 850,182
Deferred ingome tax - (205,912)
Total impairment charge 28,877 644,270

1 The Nyanzaga exploration property & other exploration assets are located in Tanzania. Acquired minera! interests /exploration and evaluation assets are classified as intangible assets and have
indefinite useful lives.

Management’s view is that the recoverable values are most sensitive to changes in the assumptions around gold prices, discount rates and the timing of the
resolution of the export ban. As a result, sensitivity calculations were performed for these assumptions. The sensitivity analysis is based on a decrease in the
long-term gold price of US$100 per ounce, and an increase in the discount rate of 1%, and a delay of resolution by 12 months.

Under these scenarios, a reasonably possible decrease in the gold price assumption of US$100 per ounce would result in an impairment charge, net of tax,
of approximately US$17 million at Buzwagi while North Mara and Bulyanhulu remain unaffected.

A reasonably possible increase in discount rate of 1% would not result in any additional impairment charges.
A further delay of 12 months in the resolution of the export ban will also not result in any additional impairment charges.

Should a negotiated resolution of the current situation not eventuate, the recoverable values of the identified CGUs may be further impacted, and these will

be reviewed at such time.

7. Employee benefits

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 Dacember 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Wages and salaries 39,410 67,400
Pension and social security costs 5,142 8,722
Other employee benefits’ 33,274 59,045
Share-based compensation charge® 600 {7,655)
Total 78,426 127,512

1 Other employes benefits include bonuses, ivave pay, pensions, medical expenses, severance costs {2018: US$3.0 million; 2017: U$$22.0 million) and other benefits.
2 Share-based compensation charges include costs incorporated in corporate administration, cost of sales and other charges as applicable to the relevant employees. Further details of the Group's

share options and other share-based compensation plans are provided in note 25.

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

Average number of employees per month 2018 2017
Operations 1,272 2,495
Exploration 71 43
Administration 200 210
Total average headcount 1,543 2,748




8. Exploration and evaluation costs
The following represents a summary of exploration and evaluation expenditures incurred at each site.

For the For the
yoar ended year ended
31 Dacember 31 December
(in thousands of United States doliars) 2018 2017
Expensed during the year:
North Mara - -
Bulyanhulu - 571
Kenya 6,222 12,208
West Africa 5,517 11,119
Other' 1,603 931
Total expensed 13,343 24,829
Capitalised during the year:
Buiyanhulu 1,790 -
North Mara 8,335 10,270
Total 10,125 35,000

1 Included 1n “other” are the expioration activities conducted through ABG Exploration Limuted All primary greenfield exploration and evaluation activities in Tanzania are conducted in this company.

9. Other charges (net)

For the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31

(in thousands of United States dollars) December 2018 | December 2017
Other expenses
Restructuring costs 5,337 25,077
Discounting of indirect tax receivables - 13,276
Bulyanhulu reduced operations costs 28,817 24,804
Foreign exchange losses 5,291 2,710
Disallowed indirect taxes 2,552 -
Unrealised non-hedge derivative losses 2,295 -
Legal costs 28,420 14,421
Once off legal settlements 3,030 5,083
Project development costs - 1,485
Inventory write-downs - 1,500
Other 6,935 5,573
Total 82,677 93,929
Cther income
Unrealised non-hedge derivative gains - (200)
Gain on sale of mineral royalty (45,000} -
Discounting of indirect tax receivables (578) -
Insurance proceeds (842) -
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (163) -
Other - (3,359)
Total (46,583) (3,559)
Total other charges (net) 36,094 80,370




10. Auditors’ remuneration
During the year the Group (including its subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company’s auditors:

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Audit fees
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for the audit of the parent company and consolidated 506 447
financial statements
Fees payable to the Company's auditors and its associates for other services:
Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 479 437
Audit-related assurance services 216 227
Tax compliance services 163 66
Other taxation services 106 214
Other services 10 10
Total 1,480 1,401
11. Finance income and expenses
a. Finance income
For the period For the period
ended 31 ended 31
{in thousands of United States dollars} December 2018 | December 2017
Interest on time deposits 148 -
Total 146 -
Finance costs
For the period For the period
ended 31 ended 31
(in thousands of United States dollars) December 2018 | December 2017
Bank charges 11 13
Total 11 13
b. Finance expense
For the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31
(in thousands of United States dollars) December 2018 | December 2017
Unwinding of discount’ 3,627 3,364
Revolving credit facility charges® 2,302 2,341
Interest on CIL facility 1,878 2,911
Premium on gold put options 3,877 2113
Interest on finance leases - 204
Bank charges 440 583
Other 1,076 891
Total 13,200 12,407

1. The unwinding of discount is calcutated on the environmental rehabilitation provision.
2. Included in credit facility charges are the amortisation of the fass related to the revolwing credit facility as well as the monthty interest and facility fees.



12. Tax expense

For the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31

{in thousands of United States dollars) December 2018 | December 2017
Current tax:
Current tax on profits for the year 36,539 35,667
Adjustments in respect of prior years' 3,120 172,000
Total current tax charge 39,659 207,667
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of termporary differences {1,754) {209,939}
Total deferred tax {1.754) {209,939}
Income tax expense 37,805 {2,272)

1 The prior year charge included in 2018 relates to 2017 final tax adjustments at North Mara. Included in 2017 is a provision for uncertain fax positions of US$68.5 million relating to North Mara and
US$103.5 millicn relating to Bulyanhulu, for uncertain tax positions, basec on an estmate of the impact of a comprehensive settiement reflecting the key terms of the framework announcements made
by Barrick ang the GeT in October 2017.

Income tax expense is recognised based on management’s estimate of the weighted average effective annual income tax rate expected for the full financial
year. The effective annual tax rate used for the year ended 31 December 2018 is 39%, compared to 0.4% for the prior year.

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate applicable to the profits of

the consolidated entities as follows:

For the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31
(in thousands of United States dollars) December 2018 | Dscember 2017
Profit/(loss) before tax 96,771 {709,666)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the respective countries 30,932 (209,074)
Tax effecis of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes? 7,270 49,142
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised 3,622 9,611
Utilisation of previously recognised tax losses (11,414) (25,594)
Adjustment is respect of prior years — provisions etc. 6,102 172,000
Other permanent differences 1,393 1,643
Tax chargef(credit) 37.905 (2,272}

2 Mainly relates to the impairment/accounts wrlten off as part of the ather exploration entities’ recoverability reviews and in 2017 it relates to impairment charges relating 10 goodwill, intangibles and
supplies inventory.

In Decernber 2017, Acacia raised an additional tax provision of US$172 million relating to the estimated uncertain tax positions for its operating companies.
Acacia based its calculation on an estimate of the impact of a comprehensive setiement reflecting the key terms of the framework announcements made by
Barrick and the GoT in October 2017, including in respect of historical tax claims. This brought tota! provisions for Acacia’s uncertain tax positions to US$300
million. No additional provision has been raised for 2018. Acacia continues to reserve and protect all its legal rights, as noted above and including through
the arbitrations commenced by Bulyanhulu Gold Mine Limited and Pangea Minerals Limited, and no liability has been incurred by Acacia as a result of the
framework announcements. The additional provision was required, however, to meet applicable accounting standards requiring assessment of current
obligations for accounting purposes based on an assessment of relevant cash outflows from the relevant operating companies in respect of uncertain tax
positions.

Tax periods remain apen to review by the Tanzanian Revenue Authority (TRA) in respect of income taxes for five years following the date of the filing of the
corporate tax return, during which time the autherities have the right to raise additional tax assessments including penalties and interest. Under certain
circumstances the reviews may cover longer periods. Because a number of tax periods remain open to review by tax authorities, there is a risk that
transactions that have not been challenged in the past by the authorities may be challenged by them in the future, and this may result in the raising of
additional tax assessments plus penalties and interest.



13. Earnings/{loss) Per Share (EPS)

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net profit/(loss) for the period attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of Ordinary

Shares in issue during the pericd.

Diluted eamings/{loss) per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares cutstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive

potential Ordinary Shares. The Company has dilutive potential Ordinary Shares in the form of stock options. The weighted average number of shares is

adjusted for the number of shares granted assuming the exercise of stock options.

At 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, earnings/{loss) per share have been calculated as follows:

For the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31

{in thousands of United States dollars) December 2018 | December 2017
Earnings/({loss}
Net profit/{loss) attributable to owners of the parent 58,866 (707,394}
Woeighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue 410,085,499 | 410,085,499
Adjusted for dilutive effect of stock options - -
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for diluted eamings per share 410,085,499 | 410,085,429
Earningsi(loss) per share
Basic eamings/(loss) per share (cents) 14.4 (172.5)
Dilutive eamings/(loss) per share (cents) 14.4 (172.5)

14. Dividends

Acacia has a cash flow based dividend policy where we aim to pay a dividend of between 15-30% of our operational cash flow after sustaining capital and

capitalised development but before expansion capital and financing costs. As a result of the continuing inability to export concentrates following the

imposition of the concentrate export ban in 2017, the uncertainty around a resolution of the ongoing dispute between the Company and the GoT, and current

liquidity requirements, the Board of Directers has not recommended any dividends for 2018.

15. Cash flow — other items
a) Operating cash flows — other items
Movements relating to working capital items

Far the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31

{in thousands of United States dollars} December 2018 | December 2017
Indirect and corporate taxes' (54,344) (89,560)
Increase in indirect tax receivable {11,927 (51,703)
Income tax paid — Final (4,187) (3,257)
Income tax paid — Provisional (38,230) (34,600)
Other current assets 464 (10,774)
Trade receivables 6,392 745
Inventories® {5,678) (172,180)
Cther liabilities® {2,867) (7.301)
Share based payments® {1,303) (1,780)
Trade and other payables® (22) (31,170}
Other working capital items® (407) (1,071)
Total (57,765) (313,091)
1 During the year, we made US$42.4 million {2017: US$37.9 million at December) comporate tax payments. This was funded through an offset against indirect taxes that were due for refund.
2 The inventory adjustment includes the movermnent in current as well as the non-current portion of inventory.
3 The other liabilties adjustment mainly relates to the revaluation of future share-based paymaents. During the year, share-based payments of US$1.3 million (2017: US$1.8 million) were made.
4 The trade and other payables adjustment exclude statutory liabilities in the form of income tax payable.
5 Other working capital items include exchange rate losses associated with working capital.




Other non-cash items

For the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31
{in thousands of United States dollars) December 2018 | December 2017
Adjustments for non-cash income statement items:
Foreign exchange losses 4,834 2,900
Discounting of indirect tax receivables (578) 13,276
Provisions added - 7,550
Provisions settled (3434) -
Movement in derivatives 2,480 {1,495)
Share option expense - 27
Provisional tax offsets - ~
Other non-cash iterns 183 92
Exchange loss on revaluation of cash balances 457 {190)
Total 3,942 22,160
b) Investing cash flows - other items
For the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31
{in thousands of United States dollars) December 2018 | December 2017
Cther long-term receivables 499 194
Rehabilitation expenditure (4,689) {3,106)
Total (4,190} (2,912)
16. Inventories
For the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31
(in thousands of United States dollars) December 2018 | December 2017
Raw materials
Ore in stockpiles 34,974 22253
Mine operating supplies® 125,885 117,946
Work in process 3,509 5,103
Finished products
Gold doré/bullion 8,900 7,078
Gold, copper and silver concentrate’ 139,641 139,500
Total current portion of inventory 312,909 291,880
Non-current ore in stockpiles 118,198 133,550
Total 431,107 425,430

1 Gold, copper and silver concentrate on hand includes approximately 186,000 ounces of gold contained in concentrate, approximately 12.1 million pounds of copper contained in concentrate and

approximately 159,000 ounces of silver contained in concentrate. The value of the Goid, copper and silver concantrate on hand relats to finished products at Bulyanhulu (US$88.2 million) and Buzwagi

{US$51.4 million) due to the inability to export concentrate since March 2017. Approximately 26,000 ounces of gold contained in congentrate, approximately 1.6 million pounds of copper and

approximately 19,000 ounces of silver contained in concentrate are currently being held at the port and warehauses.
2 Mine operating supplies are net of a provision for obsolescent stock of US$E5.2 million (2017: US$56.5million).

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in the cost of sales amounts to US$99.5 million (2017: US$132.2 million) relating to
consumables, fuel and lubricants and a change in inventory charge of US$7.8 million compared to a credit in 2017 of US$140.9 million.




17. Trade and other receivables

As at As at
31 December 31 December
{in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Trade and other receivables:
Amounts due from doré and concentrate sales 63 18
Amounts due from realised gains on gold put options 1,356 1,356
Amounts due from royally income 1,453 1,453
Other receivables’ 9,363 16,156
Due from related parties 40 40
Less: Provision for doubtful debt on other receivables (582) (938)
Total 11,693 18,085

1 Other receivables relates 10 smployee and supplier backcharge-related receivables and refundable deposits.

Trade receivables other than concentrate receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90-day terms. Concenfrate receivables are generally

on 60-120-day terms depending on the terms per contract. Trade receivables are amounts due from customers in the ordinary course of business. If

collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. The carrying value of frade

receivables recorded in the financial statements represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any credit
losses. From 1 January 2018, the group assesses, on a forward-locking basis, the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at

amortised cost and FVOCI (Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income). The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a

significant increase in credit risk.

18. Cash and cash equivalents

As at As at

31 December 31 Decemnber

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Cash at bank and on hand 77,444 85,246
Money market funds 52,751 15,267
Total 130,195 80,513




19. Property, plant and equipment

Mineral
properties and
mine
For the year ended 31 December 2018 Plant and development |  Assets under
(in thousands of United States dollars) equipment costs construction' Total
At1 January 2018, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 245,568 486,059 38,947 770,574
Additicns - - 92,246 92,246
Non-cash reclamation asset adjustments {8,485} - - (8,485)
OCther nen-cash adjustments 820 - - 820
Disposals/write-downs 196 - - 196
Impairment® - (3,167) - (3,167)
Depreciation® {42,327) (47,962) - {90,289)
Transfers between categories 39,283 59,258 (98,541) -
Transfers to held for sale assets - (690) - {690)
At 31 December 2018 235,055 493,498 32,652 761,205
At 1 January 2018
Cost 1,943,643 1,887,068 38,947 3,869,658
Accumuiated depreciation and impairment {1,698,075) (1,401,009) - (3,099,084)
Net carrying amount 245,568 486,059 38,847 770,574
At 31 December 2018
Cost 1,974,960 1,945,636 32,652 3,953,248
Accumulated depreciation and impairment {1,739,905) (1,452,138) - (3,192,043)
Net carrying amount 235,055 493,498 32,852 761,205
Mineral
properties and
For the year ended 31 December 2017 Plant and developm::rﬁ Assels under
(in thousands of United States dollars) equipment costs construction’ Total
At 1 January 2017, net of accurmnulated depreciation and impairment 553,993 842,019 47,164 1,443,176
Additions - - 147,739 147,739
MNon-cash reclamation asset adjustments (9,087) - - {9.087)
Other non-cash adjustments 1,212 - - 1,212
Disposalsfwrite-downs (123) - - (123)
Impairment? (274,608) (411,767) - (686,375)
Depreciation® (71,984) (53,984) - (125,968)
Transfers between categories 46,165 109,791 {155,956) -
At 31 December 2017 245,568 486,059 38,947 770,674
At 1 January 2017
Cost 1,914,522 1,777,277 47164 3,738,963
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1.360,529) {935,258) - (2,295,787)
Net carrying amount 553,993 842,019 47,164 1,443,176
At 31 December 2017
Cost 1,943,643 1,887,068 38,947 3,869,658
Accumulated depreciation and impairment {1,698,075) (1,401,009) - (3,099,084)
Net carrying amount 245,568 486,059 38,947 770,674

1 Assets under construction represents (a) sustaining capital expenditures incurred constructing praperty, plant and equipment related to operating mines and advance deposits made towards the

purchase of property, plant and equipment; and (b) expansionary expenditure allocated to a project on a business combination or asset acquisition, and the subsequent costs incurred o devekp the

mine. Once these assetls are ready for their intendad use, the balance is transferred to plant and equipmant and/or mineral properties and mine development costs.

N

The impairment in 2017 relates to property, plant and equipment at Bulyanhulu.

3 The lower depreciation expense compared ta the prior year was as a result of the 2017 impairment of property, plant and equipment at Bulyanhulu.




Leases

Property, plant and equipment includes assets relating to the design and construction costs of power transmission lines and related infrastructure. At
completion, ownership was transferred to TANESCO in exchange for amortised repayment in the form of reduced electricity supply charges. No future lease
payment cbligations are payable under these finance leases.

Property, plant and equipment also includes four drill rigs purchased under short-term finance leases.

The following amounts were included in property, plant and equipment where the Group is a lessee under a finance lease:

As at As at
31 December 31 December
(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Cost — capitalised finance leases 51,618 51618
Accumulated depreciation and impaimment (44,301) (42,948)
Net carrying amount 7,317 8,670
20. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Acquired
exploration and
For the year ended 31 December 2018 evaluation
{in thousands of United States dollars) Goodwill properties’ Total
At 1 January, net of accumulated impairment 6,352 76,031 82,383
Disposaisfwrite-downs - (32} (32)
Impairment’ - (24,234) {24,234)
Reclassified as non-current asset held for sale® - {19,017) {19.017)
At 31 December 2018 6,352 32,748 39,100
At 31 December 2018
Cost 401,250 93,793 495,043
Accumulated impairment (394,898) (61,045) (455,943)
Net carrying amount 6,352 32,748 39,100
Acquired
exploration and
For the year ended 31 December 2017 evaluation
{in thousands of United States dollars) Goodwill properties Total
At 1 January, net of accumulated impaiment 127,898 88,292 216,190
Impairment (121,546) {12,261) (133,807)
At 31 December 2017 6,352 76,031 82,383
At 31 December 2017
Cost 401,250 112,842 514,092
Accumulated impairment {394,898) (36,811) {431,709)
Net carrying amount 6,352 76,031 82,383

1 Exploration and evalualion assets classified as intangible assets have indefinite useful fives.
2 Impairments recognised in 2018 relate to the Nyanzaga exploration property located in Tanzania (US$24.2 million). Refer to note & for further details.
3 Intangible assets related to the Nyanzaga exploration property have been reclassified as non-current asset for sale as a result of management’s intention to sell the property.

21. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Ag at As at

31 December 31 Decermnber

{in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Tax losses 570,416 593,569
Total 570,416 599,569

The above tax losses, which translate into deferred tax assets of approximately US$159 million {2017: US$165 million), have not been recognised in respect
of these items due to uncertainties regarding availabllity of tax losses, or there being uncertainty regarding future taxable income against which these assets
can be utilised.




Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Balance sheet classification Assets Liabilities Net

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Property, plant and equipment - - 201,307 186,921 201,307 196,921
Provisions {7,975) (8.293) - - (7.975) {8,293)
Interest deferrals (69) {59) 57 542 (12) 483
Tusker acquisition - - - 6,235 - 6,235
Tax loss camy-forwards {271,495) (265,326) - (271,495) (265,326)
Net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities {279,539) (273,678) 201,364 203,698 (78,175) (69,980)
Legal entities Assets Liabilities Net

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2047
North Mara Gold Mine Ltd - - 97,918 91,321 97,918 91,321
Bulyanhulu Gold Mine Ltd (169,239) (160,600) - - (169,239) (160,600)
Pangea Minerals Ltd {6,681) (8.258) - - (6,681) (8,258)
Cther (173) (655) - 8,212 {173) 7,557
Net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities {176,093) (169,513) 97,918 99,533 (78,175) {69,980)

Uncertainties regarding availability of tax losses in respect of enquiries raised and additional tax assessments issued by the TRA, have been measured using

the single best estimate of likely outcome approach resulting in the recognition of all applicable deferred tax assets and liabilities. Alternative acceptable

measurement policies (e.g. on a2 weighted average expected outcome basis) could result in a change to deferred tax assets and liabilities being recognised,

and the deferred tax charge in the income statement.

No deferred tax has been recognised in respect of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries where the Group Is in a position to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences, and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The

aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with such investments in subsidiaries is represented by the contribution of those investments to the
Group's retained earnings and amounted to US$427 miillion (2017: US$412 million).

22. Other assets
a) Other current assets

As at As at

31 December 31 Decembsear

in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Current portion of indirect tax receivables 68,102 38,285
Other receivables and advance payments' 31,405 31,870
Total 99,507 70,155

1 Other receivables and advance payments relate to prepayments for insurance and income taxes offset against cutstanding refunds for VAT and fuel levies and current amounts receivable from the

NSSF of US$7.4 million (2017: US$4.8 million).

b) Other non-current assets

As at As at

31 Decembaer 31 December

{in thousands of United States dollars} 2018 2017
Amounts due from Government' 9,275 11,629
Operating lease prepayments — TANESCO powerlines 248 374
Prepayments — Acquisition of rights over leasehold land® 30,777 35,948
Non-current portion of indirect tax receivables® 110,603 132,405
Gther 161 352
Total 151,065 180,708

1 Ingluded in this amount are amounts receivable fram the NSSF of US$4.5 million (2017: US$S5.8 million}.

2 Prepayments made to the landowners in respect of acquisitions of the rights over the use of the leasehald land.

3 The non-current portion of indirect tax receivables was subject to discounting to its cument value using a discount rate of £.5% (December 2017: §.5%). There was a reversal of the discounting charge
in 2018 in the income statement of US0.6 million {Decembear 2017: US$13.3 millon chargs).



23. Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale

During the year, OreCorp, Acacia’s JV partner in the Nyanzaga Project, executed its option under the eamn-in agreement to increase its stake to 51% in the
project through the payment of US$3 million to Acacia. Further to that, Acacia signed a completion agreement to sell its remaining 49% stake to CreCorp for
US57 million and a net smelter royalty capped at US$15 million based on future production. In line with the applicable accounting standard and driven by the
uncertainty surrounding the current environment, management did not recognise an asset for the right to the royalty. As a result of the agreement, and
management’s commitment to a sale, Acacia expecis to recover the value of the asset through sale and not through value in use and as such has valued the
asset at fair value less costs to sell of US$10 million and recorded an impairment charge of US$24.2 million and reclassified the associated non-current
assets and liabilities to held for sale on the balance sheet as shown below. The transaction is expected to be concluded within 12 months from the
reclassification of these assets and liabilities as held for sale.

As at As at

31 December 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Property, plant and equipment 690 -
Intangible assets 19,017 -
Disposal group assets held for sale 19,707 -
Long ferm contingent liabilities (3472) -
Deferred Tax Liability (6,235) -
Disposal group liabilities held for sale {9,707) -
Net assets and liabilities of disposal group held for sale 10,000 -

24. Share capital and share premium

Share capital Share premium

Number £000 US$000 US§'000

At 1 January 2017 410,085,499 41,009 62,097 867,102
At 31 December 2017 410,085,499 41,008 62,097 867,102
At 31 December 2018 410,085,499 41,009 62,097 867,102

The nominal vaiue of each Ordinary Share is 10 pence. No share movements have taken piace in the current year.

25. Share-based compensation

a) Share options are granted to Executive Directors and to selected employees. The exercise price of the granted options is determined by the
Compensation Committee before the grant of an option provided that this price cannot be less than the average of the middle-market quotation of such
shares {(as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List) for the three dealing days immediately preceding the date of grant. All options
outstanding at the end of the year ending 31 December 2017 expired in November 2018 The vesting period of the options was four years, with an exercise
period of seven years from the date of grant.

A new class of zero cost options were granted to the Executive Leadership in April 2017 however these are expecled to be cash seltled and have therefore
been included as part of the Employee share-based liability. Refer to section e) overleaf.

Movements in the number of options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices are reflacted in pence as follows:

2018 2017
For the year ended 31 December Average Options Average Options
exarcise price exercise price
in pence in pence
per share per share
At 1 January 497 137,701 295 1,328,989
Forfeited - - — _
Expired (497) (137,701) 539 (349,980}
Exercised - - 160 {841,308)
At 31 December - - 497 137,701

No equity-settled share options were granted during the year.



b} LTIP — Restricted Share Units
Included in other liabilities are RSUs with a fair value of US$2.2 million as al 31 December 2018 (2017: US$2.4 million).

Number of Fair value
RSUs Us$000

At 1 January 2017 1,501,959 2,830
Settled for cash (584,898) (847)
Forfeited (118,058) (404)
Granted 486,981 215
Credits for dividends 24,309 20
Change in value - 627
At 31 December 2017 1,310,293 2,441
Settled for cash {718,554) {1,535)
Forfeited {586,692) -
Granted 2,959,252 1,167
Credits for dividends - -
Change in value - 137
At 31 December 2018 2,964,299 2,210
c) LTIP — Performance Restricted Share Units {“PRSUs”)
Included in other liabilities are PRSUs with a fair value of nil as at 31 December 2018 (2017: US$0.6 million).

Number of Fair vaiue
(in thousands of United States dollars) PRSUs US$000
At 1 January 2017 4,136,466 8,428
Settled for cash {218,728) -
Forfeited {2,214,007) -
Granted 923,481 -
Credits for dividends 35,408 -
Change in value - (7,801}
At 31 December 2017 2,666,620 627
Settled for cash - -
Forfeited (127,148} -
Granted - -
Credits for dividends - -
Change in value - (627}
At 31 December 2018 2,539,472 -
d) LTIP — Deferred Share Units
Included in other liabilities are DSUs with a fair value of US$0.2 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: US$0.2 million).

Number of Fair value
(in thousands of United States dollars) DSUs US$000
At 1 January 2017 248,208 1,117
Settled for cash (167.964) (810)
Credits for dividends 3,723 10
Change in value - 91)
At 31 December 2017 83,967 226
Settled for cash - -
Credits for dividends - -
Change in value - {29}
At 31 December 2018 83,967 197




e) LTIP — Zero Cost Options
A new class of zero cost oplions was granted o the Executive Leadership in 2017. Included in other non-current lizbilities are zero cost opticns with a fair
value of US$0.2 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: nil).

Number of Fair value
{in thousands of United States dollars) options US$'000
At 31 December 2017 615,602 -
Granted 2,554,859 390
Forfeited - -
Change in value - (190)
At 31 December 2018 3,170,461 200
26. Trade and other payables
As at As at
31 December 31 December
(in thousands of United Stales dollars) 2018 2017
Trade payabies 63,290 62,610
Income tax payable 8,684 11,442
Accrued expenses 40,420 40,858
Payroll-related payables 13,335 12,185
Royalty payable 1,877 988
Provision for uncertain tax positions’ 206,912 206,912
Trade payables to related parties 14,597 15,355
Total 349,115 350,450

1 Included in the 2017 and 2018 amounts are provisions raised for uncertain tax positions of US368.5 million relating to North Mara and US$103.5 million relating ta Bulyanbulu, based on an estimate of
the impact of a comprehensive Saflement reflacting the key tarms of the framewark announcements made by Barrick and the GoT in October 2017.

Trade payabies are obiligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the crdinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are
classified as current ifabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current iiabifilies.

27. Borrowings

During 2013, a US$142 million facility was put in place to fund the bulk of the costs of the construction of one of Acacia’s key growth projects, the Bulyanhulu
CIL Expansion project (“Project”). The Facility has a term of seven years with a spread over LIBOR of 250 basis points. In common with borrowing
agreements of this nature the facility includes various covenants as well as a material adverse eftect clause. Ihe interest rate has been tixed at 3.6% through
the use of an interest rate swap. The seven-year Facility is repayable in ten equal US$14.2 million bi-annual instalments over the term of the Facility, after a
two year repayment holiday period. The full facility of US$142 million was drawn at the end of 2013. The first principal payment of US$14.2 million was paid
in H2 2015 and regular repayments have been made each half year. As at 31 December 2018 the balance owing was US$42.6 million (2017: US$71 million)
and all covenants have been complied with. A waiver agreement was in place for the period ended 31 December 2018, this was subsequently extended to
end of June 2019. Interest accrued to the value of US$$0.4 million (2017: US$0.5 million) was included in accounts payable at the end of the period. Interest
incurred on the borrowings as well as hedging losses on the interest rate swap for the period ended 31 December 2018 was US$1.9 million (2017: US$2.9
mitlion).

28. Provisions

Rehabilitation’ Other? Total
(in thousands of United States dallars) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
At 1 January 143,376 162,205 8,302 752 151,678 152,957
Change in estimate (13,174} {9,087) - - (13,174) (2.087)
Utilised during the year - {3,106) (3,434) - (3,434) (3.,106)
Unwinding of discount 3,626 3,364 - - 31,626 3,364
Additions - - - 7.550 - 7.550
At 31 December 133,828 143,376 4,868 8,302 138,696 151,678
Current portion {9,386) {16,348) {4,868) (8,302) (14,254) (24,650)
Non-current portion 124,442 127,028 - - 124,442 127,028

1 Rshabilitation provisions relate to the decommissioning costs expected to be incurred for the operating mines. This expenditure arises at different times over the LOM for the different mine sites and is
expected to be utilised in terms of cash outflows batween vears 2012 and 2036 and beyond, varying from mine site to mine site. The ¢hange in estimate in the current year relates mainly to geferrals in
estimated cash flows resulting in a lower net pregent value combined with skght changes in US risk free rates driving a changs in discount rate. If the US risk free rates decreased by 0.5%. the
rehabilitation provision would increase by US$6.3 million.

2 OQther provisions relate o provisions for legal and tax-related liabilities where tha outcome is not yet certain but it is expected that it will lead to a probable outflow of economic benefits in future US$4.0
million (2017: US$3.9 million) as well as severance provisions mainly at Comporate offices due to restructuring, redundancies at Buzwagi and at Butyanhulu as part of the reduced cperations (US$1.0
million).




Rehabilitation obligations arise from the acquisition, development, construction and normal operation of mining property, plant and equipment, due to
Government controls and regulations that protect the environment on the closure and reclamation of mining properties. The major parts of the carrying
amount of the obligation relate 1o tailings and waste rock dump closure/rehabilitation; surface contouring; demolition of buildings/mine facilities; ongoing
water treatment; and ongoing care and maintenance of ¢closed mines. The fair values of rehabilitation provisions are measured by discounting the expected
cash flows using a discount factor that refiects the credit-adjusted risk-free rate of interest. Acacia prepares estimates of the timing and amount of expected
cash flows when an obligation is incurred and updates expected cash flows to reflect changes in facts and circumstances. The principal factors that can
cause expecled cash flows to change are: the construction of new processing facilities; changes in the quantities of material in reserves and a corresponding
change in the life of mine plan; changing ore characteristics that impact required environmental protection measures and related costs; changes in water
quality that impact the extent of water treatment required; and changes in laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment.

Each year Acacia assesses cost estimates and other assumptions used in the valuation of the rehabilitation provision at each mineral property to reflect
events, changes in circumstances and new information available. Changes in these cost estimates and assumptions are recorded as an adjustment to the
camrying amount of the corresponding asset. Rehabilitation provisions are adjusted to reflect the passage of time (accretion) calculated by applying the
discount factor implicit in the initial fair-value measurement to the beginning-of-period carrying amount of the provision. Settlement gains/losses will be
tecorded in other (income) expense.

Other environmental remediation costs that are not rehabilitation provisions are expensed as incurred.

29. Other liabilities

As at As at

31 December 31 December

{in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Employee benefit share-based liabilities 2,590 3.294
Other - 3.459
Total 2,590 6,753
Current portion 801 1,715
Non-current portion 1,789 5,038

30. Financial assets and liabilities
a) Financial assets

Camrying value as at 31 December Fair value as at 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents 130,195 80,513 130,195 80,513
Trade and other receivables 11,693 18,085 11,693 18,085
Derivative financial instruments 1,053 3,626 1,053 3,526
Total other assets excluding prepayments’ 212,729 204,576 212,729 204,576
Total financial assets 355,670 306,700 355,670 306,700
Less: Current financial assels

Cash and cash equivalents {130,195) {80,513) {130,195) (80,513)

Trade and other receivables (11,693) (18,085) (11,693} (18,085)

Derivative financial instruments {633) (2,619) {633) (2,619)

Other current assets excluding prepayments (92,802) (60,760) {92,802) (60,760}
Total other non-current financial assets 120,347 144,723 120,347 144,723

1 Prepayments are excluded flom other assets in the analysis as they are not a financial instrument.

The fair value of financial assets, excluding other assets, equals their camying amount as the impact of discounting is not significant. Included in other assets

are indirect tax receivables from the Tanzanian Revenue Authority, which were subject to discounting; refer to note 22.




As at 31 December 2018

{in thousands of United States dollars) Loans and Assaets at fair Derivatives Total
recaivables value through used for
profit and loss hedging
Assets as per balance sheet:
Cash and ¢ash equivalents 130,195 - - 130,195
Trade and other receivables 11,693 - - 11,693
Derivative financial instruments - 232 821 1,053
Other assets excluding prepayments 212,729 - - 212,729
Total financial assets 354,617 232 821 355,670
As at 31 December 2017
(in thousands of United States dollars) Loans and Assets at fair Derivatives Total
receivables value through used for
profit and loss hedging
Assets as per balance sheet:
Cash and cash equivalents 80,513 - - 80,513
Trade and other receivables 18,085 - - 18,085
Derivative financial instruments - 2,328 1,198 3,526
Other assets excluding prepayments 204,576 - - 204,576
Total financial assets 303,174 2,328 1,198 306,700

b) Financial liabilities

Carrying value as at 31 December

Fair value as at 31 December

{in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017 2018 27
Derivative financial instruments 488 481 488 481
Trade and other payables 349,115 350,450 349,115 350,450
Other liabilities 2,590 6,753 2,590 6,753
Borrowings 42,600 71,000 42,600 71,000
Total 394,793 428,684 304,793 428,684
Less: Current financial assets
Derivative financial instruments (462} (481) (462} (481)
Trade and other payables (349,115) (350,450) (349,115} {350,450)
Other current liabiiities (801) (1.715) (801) {1,715)
Bomowings (28,400) (28,400) (28,400) (28,400)
Total non-current portion of financial liabilities 16,015 47638 16,015 47,638

Other liabilities relate to cash-settied share-based plans and their valuation is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical financia!
instruments. Also included in other liabilities are the finance lease liabilities and their valuation is based on observable market data. Derivative financial

instruments are valued based upon inputs that are observable for the financial instruments which includes quoted prices for similar instruments or identical

instruments in markets which are not considered to be active or either directly or indirectly based on cbservable market data.

As at 31 December 2018

{in thousands of United States dollars) Liabilities at fair Derivatives Qther financial Total
valug through used for liabilities at
profit and loss hedging | amortised cost
Liabilities as per balance sheet:
Derivative financial instruments 199 289 - 488
Trade and other payables - - 349,115 349,115
Qther liabilities - - 2,590 2,590
Borrowings - - 42,600 42,600
Total financial liabilities 199 289 394,305 304,793




As at 31 December 2017

(in thousands of United States dollars) Liabitities at fair Derivatives Other financial Total
value through used for liabilities at
profit and loss hedging amortised cost

Liabilities as per balance sheet:

Derivative financial instruments - 481 - 481
Trade and cther payables - - 350,450 350,450
Other liabilities - - 6,753 6,753
Borrowings - - 71,000 71,000
Total financial liabilities - 481 428,203 428,684

In common with borrowing agreements of this nature the facility includes various covenants as well as material adverse effect clauses.

Revolving credit facility

The Group has a revolving credit facility in place for a maximum aggregate amount of US$150 million, which was negotiated on 24 November 2010 with a
syndicate of commercial banks, led by Citibank. The facility has been provided to service the general corporate needs of the Group and to fund potential
acquisitions. All provisions contained in the credit facility documentation have been negotiated on normal commercial and customary terms for such finance
arrangements and when drawn the spread over LIBOR will be 350 basis points. The term of the facility was successhully extended to November 2019 ata
maximum aggregate amount of US$150 million. At 31 December 2018, none of the funds were drawn under the facility. The shares of all significant
subsidiaries have been pledged as security for the loan. Costs associated with the revolving credit facility have been included in finance expenses. In
common with borrowing agreements of this nature the facility includes various covenants as well as material adverse effect clauses.

31. Derivative financial instruments

The tables below analyse financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The Group has derivative financial instruments in the form of
economic and cash flow hedging contracts which are all defined as level two instruments as they are valued using inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the assets or liabilities. The following tables present the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2018
and 31 December 2017.

For the year ended 31 December 2018 Assets Liabilities

{in thousands of United States dollars) Current Non-current Currant Non-current
Interest contracts: Designated as cash flow hedges 401 420 289 0
Commedity contracts: Not designated as accounting hedges 232 0 173 26
Total 633 420 462 26
For the year ended 31 December 2017 Assets Liabiliies

(in thousands of United States dollars} Current Non-cument Current Non-current
Interest contracts: Designated as cash flow hedges 531 667 481 -
Commaodity contracts: Not designated as accounting hedges 2,088 240 - -
Total 2,619 907 481 -

32. Financial risk management
The Group has exposure to the fellowing risks through its commercial and financial operations:

a) market risk, including commodity price, foreign currency and interest rate risks; b) credit risk; and c) liquidity risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks and the Group's objectives, policies and processes for assessing and
managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout the financial statements.

The Board of Directors has overall respensibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and confrols, and to

monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s
activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in
which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Board of Directors has responsibility for overseeing how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures
and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role
by internal audit which undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the
Audit Committee.

a) Market risk, including commodity price, foreign currency and interest rate risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in market factors, such as commaodity prices, foreign exchange rates or interest rates, will affect the Group’s income or
the value of its financial instruments.

Gold price
The market price of gold is one of the most significant factors in determining the profitability of the Group’s operations. The price of gold is subject to volatile
price movements over short periods of time, especially in the current market environment, and is affected by numerous industry and macro-economic factors



that are beyond the Group’s control. In 2018 the price ranged from US3$1,178 to US$1,335 per ounce, with an average market price of US$1.,268 per ounce
(2017: US$14,257 per ounce). The Group's policy is to sell gold at prevailing market prices.

During 2018, the Group hedged 170,000 ounces of goid production for March, April to June, November and December 2018 and 35,000 cunces for January
2019 to protect the downside price risk and mitigate cash outfiows. This accounted for approximately 66% of the Group’s overall production in 2018.

The Group added 205,000 ounces of gold put contracts with an average strike price of US$1,300 per ounce for 2018 and 2019. At 31 December 2018, the
Group had 35,000 cunces of goid put contracts outstanding that will mature in 2019 at a strike price of US$1,255 per ounce. These transactions are
economic hedges and do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment. Changes in the fair value of these oplions are recorded as a component of other
income/expense in the income statement.

The table below summarises the impact of changes in the market price on gold. The impact is expressed in terms of the resulting change in the Group's
profit after tax for the year or, where applicable, the change in equity. The sensitivities are based on the assumption that the market price changes by 10%
with ail cther variables held constant. The impact of a similar change in copper and silver is not matenial to the Group’s loss after ax.

Effect on profit after tax

For the For the

i i . i . year ended year ended
Gain associated with 10% increase from year-end price 31 December 31 December
{in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Gold . 42,968 48,453

Co-product prices
There were no copper sales during the year.

In 2018, the silver price ranged from US$14 to US$18 per ounce, with an average market price of US$16 per ounce (2017: US$17 per ounce).
The Group did not add any further copper contracts for calendar year 2018 and did not have any contracts outstanding as at 31 December 2018,

These transactions are economic hedges and do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment. Changes in the fair value of these options are recorded as a
component of other income/expense in the income statement.

Oil price

Diesel fuel is refined from crude cil and is therefore subject to the same price volatility affecting crude oil prices. The Group enters into Brent oil option
contracts to manage the impact of oil price fluctuations. In 2018, oil prices traded between US$51 and US$86 per barrel with an average market price of
US$71 (201 7: US$55 per barrel).

The table below summarises the impact of changes in the market prices of crude oil. The impact is expressed in terms of the resulting change in the Group’s
profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2018. The sensitivities are based on the assumption that the market price changes by US$10 per barrel with
all other variables held constant. The effect on profit after tax (before hedging) is calculated based on actual consumption for the year and does not address
the indirect impact of a change in the oil price on other costs.

Effect on profit after tax

For the For the

. . yoar ended year ended
Gainlloss associated with US$10 decreaselincrease from year-end price 31 December 31 December
(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Oil ' 1,620 2,571

The Group did not add any further Brent oil collar contracts for calendar year 2018. At 31 December 2018, the Group had a total 114,000 barrels of Brent
crude oil net purchase options outstanding. These contracts mature in 2018 consisting of sold put options with average strike prices of US348 per barre! and
bought call options with average strike prices of US$71 per barrel. During the year, the Group added 72,000 barrels of Brent oil collar contracts for the 2019
calendar year.

These contracts are treated as accounting hedges in accordance with IFRS 9. Hedged items are identified as the first stated quantity of forecasted
consumption purchased in a future month. Hedge effectiveness is assessed using linear regression utilising the concept of the hypothetical derivative
method. The effective portion of changes in intrinsic value of the commodity contracts is recorded in other comprehensive income until the forecasted
expenditure impacts earnings. These hedges did not qualify for hedge accounting treatment as a result of not meeting the hedge effectiveness criteria.
Changes in the fair value of these options were therefore recorded as a component of other income/expense in the income statement.

Risks relating to the use of derivatives

By using derivatives, in addition to credit risk, we are affected by market risk. Market risk is the risk that the fair value of a derivative might be adversely
affected by a change in commodity prices, interest rales, or currency exchange rates, and that this in tum affects our financial condition. We manage market
risk by establishing and monitoring parameters that limit the types and degree of market risk that may be undertaken.

Foreign currency risk

The Group'’s fransactions are denominated in a number of different currencies (primarily US dolfars, Tanzanian shillings (“shillings”), South African rands
(“rands”), UK pounds sterling (“pounds™) and Australian doliars. The Group has liabilities that are primarily denominated in US dollars. The US dollar is the
Company's {(and its subsidiaries') functional currency, as well as the Group's presentation currency. Therefore, transactions in currencies cther than the US
dollar give rise to foreign currency translation risk. The Group’s primary exposure to this risk arises from direct mine operating costs and corporate
administration costs that are transacted in shillings and rands, respectively. Consequently, fluctuations in the US dollar/shilling/rand exchange rates increase
the volatility of cost of sales, corporate administration costs and overall net eamings, which are reported in US dollars. The vast maijority of all direct mining
costs and corporate administration costs are denominated and settied in US dollars. Consequently, the effect of foreign exchange fluctuations on the Group’s
reported direct mining and corporate administration costs is not significant.

The exchange rates at the end of each financial year are detailed in note 2g.



Historically, the relationship between the gold price and the value of the shilling and rand provide a natural hedge against fluctuations in the exchange rate of
these currencies against the US dollar. Generally, a strengthening of the shilling/rand, which would cause an increase in reported US dollar operating costs,
corresponds with an increase in the US dollar gold price, which results in an increase in reported US dollar revenues.

The Group does have significant financial assets denominated in a currency other than US dollars. These financial assets are as follow:

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

{in thousands of United States dolars) 2018 2017
Indirect tax receivables {(denominated in Tanzanian shillings) 178,705 170,690
Total 178,705 170,690

The following sensitivity analyses give the estimated effect of a reasonably possible change in the full year closing US dollar exchange rate on the value of
the financial assets.

Effect on profit after tax
For the For the
year ended year ended
Increasel/{decrease) associated with 10% change of the US dollar 31 December 31 December
(in thousands of United States doliars) 2018 2017
US doilar strengthens by 10% to the Tanzanian shilling
Increase in total indirect tax receivables 19,856 18,966
US doliar weakens by 10% to the Tanzanian shilling
Decrease in total indirect tax receivables (16,246) {15,517}

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group 1o cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. The Group is also exposed o interest rate risk on its cash and cash equivalents.

At present, available funds are held with financial institutions at variable rates and primarily denominated in US dollars; interest inceme is not materially
affected by changes in short-term interest rates. During 2013, the Group entered into an Export Credit Insurance Company (*ECIC") backed seven-year term
loan facility of US$142 million to fund the construction of the CIL Process plant at Bulyanhulu. The first principal payment of US$14.2 million was paid in H2
2015 and during 2018 two payments of US$14.2 million were paid. As at 31 December 2018 the balance owing was US$42.6 million (2017: US$71.0
million). Interest is payable on the loan at LIBOR plus 250 basis points. The revolving credit facility's spread over LIBOR will be 350 basis points. Group debt
levels are impacted by the amount of operating cash flow generated by ils operating mines, as well as capital expenditure requirements related to existing
operations and development projects.

In 2013, the Group entered into interest rate swap contracts to hedge the interest on the ECIC backed loan for the Bulyanhulu CIL Process plant. The terms
of the interest rate swap contracts fix this at 3.59% versus the floating rate of LIBOR plus 2.50%. These contracts are treated as accounting hedges in
accordance with IAS 39. Hedged items are identified as the first stated quantity of rand spent during the month. Hedge effectiveness is assessed using linear
regression utilising the concept of the hypothetical derivative method. The effective portion of changes in intrinsic value of the currency contracts is recorded
in other comprehensive income until the forecasted expenditure occurs. These gains or losses have been included as part of interest expense in the income
statement,

b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party might fail to fulfil its performance obligations under the terms of a financial instrument. For cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables, credit risk represents the carrying amount on the balance sheet, net of any overdrafi positions.

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks, as well as trade and other receivables. The Group’s financial assets are heid
with counterparties who the Group considers have an appropriate credit rating. Location of credit risk is determined by physical location of the bank branch,
customer or counterparty. The maximum allowable term to maturity for any individual security is three months. Investment counterparties must have a credit
rating of at least “Baa1” or better by Moody's Investor Services or “BBB+” by Standard and Poor's. No more than 25% of the aggregate market value of the
investment portfolio is maintained in any one country, with the exception of the United States of America or the United Kingdom, or in any one industry group.
Investments are primarily held in Uniled States dollars. Cash and cash equivalents in other foreign currencies are maintained for operational requirements.
As at 31 December 2018 the Group has money market and short-term investments of US$52.7 million (2017: US$14.7 million). All of the funds have at least
a “BBB+" rating from Standard and Poor's. The Group alsc has US$77.5 million (2017: US$65.7 million) of cash on hand with banks with credit ratings
ranging from “A-1" to "A-2".

With respect lo other receivables, the most significant debtor is the Tanzanian Revenue Authority (*TRA”). Following the abolishment of Government Notices
regarding VAT relief and fuel duty exemption for mining companies in 2009, Acacia signed a Memorandum of Settlement during 2011 with the TRA to
address the treatment of certain outstanding indirect tax refunds in respect of fuel levies and VAT that allows Acacia to offset income tax payable against
outstanding VAT and fuel levy refunds as it becomes payable. Also, the Minister of Finance reinstated VAT relief and the fuel exemption follewed by an
agreement to allow for an escrow facility in respect of fuel and road levies. Again through the Finance Act, 2012 issued on 19 October 2012, VAT relief was
abolished. Throughout the past three years, Acacia has been actively involved in discussions with the GoT and the TRA to resolve the issue. The
amendments conflict with certain provisions contained in the Group's existing Mineral Development Agreements ("MDAs") which guarantee the fiscal stability
of its operations. As part of a short-term solution, the Government during the third quarter of 2013, agreed to an escrow arrangement on VAT in relation to
imported goods and services, whereby funds are restricted to the repayment of VAT refunds. As at 31 December 2018, the discounted amounts due to the
Group were approximately US$178.7 million (2017: US$170.7 million). We received no direct refunds during 2018 (2017: nil). Provisional and final corporate
tax payments offset against indirect taxes receivable amounted to US$42.4 million (2017: US$37.9 million) during the year under review.



Group policies are aimed at minimising losses as a result of a counterparty’s failure to honour its obligations. Individual exposures are monitored with trade
customers subject to credit limits to ensure that the Group's exposure 1o bad debts is not significant. The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each of the counterparties. The Group’s financial assets are with counterparties who the Group considers have an
appropriate credit rating. During the year ended 31 December 2017, receivables to the value of approximately US$27 miillion (2018: nil} were advanced by a
financial institution under two factoring agreements for two concentrate counterparties. Three agreements reduced the risk of default of receivables in 2017.

Maximunt exposure to credit risk at each reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets described in note 30. The Group does nat hold
coliateral as security for any trade receivables. The Group does nct grade the credit quality of receivables.

¢) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of loss from not having access to sufficient funds to meet both expected and unexpected cash demands. The Group manages its
exposure to liquidity risk by ensuring that its operating and strategic liquidity levels are weil above minimum internal requirements. Prudent liquidity risk
management includes maintaining sufficient cash balances, and the availability of funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. At the end
of both 2018 and 2017 the Group was in a positive net cash position, as disclosed in note 18. Details of the undrawn revolving credit facility are given in note
30.

in the ordinary course of business, the Group receives cash proceeds from its operations and is required to fund working capital and capital expenditure
requirements. The cash is managed to ensure surplus funds are invested to maximise retums while ensuring that capital is safeguarded to the maximum
extent possible by investing only with financial institutions with a strong credit rating. Insignificart uncommitted overdraft facilities are maintained with several
banking counterparties to meet the Group’s normal funding requirements. The Group’s primary source of liquidity is operating cash flow, and aver the past
three years the Group has generated an average of about US$150 million per year. The principal risk factor affecting operating cash flow is market gold
prices.

The principal uses of liquidity are sustaining capital expenditures al existing operating mines, construction activities at development projects, and interest
payments. Sustaining capital expenditures, including capitalised development costs, have averaged about US$112 million per year over the past two years.
The following table outlines the expected maturity of the Group's significant financial assets into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining peried
from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. As the amounts disclosed in the fable are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, these
balances may not agree with the amounts disclosed in the balance sheet.

For the year ended 31 Dacember 2018 ]

(in thousands of United States dollars) Less than 1 year 1to 3 years 3to 5 years Over 5 years Total
Cash and cash equivalents 130,145 - - - 130,195
Accounts receivable 11,693 - - - 11,693
Derivative financial instruments 633 420 - - 1,053
Other assets excluding prepayments’ 92,802 133,203 - - 226,005
lotal 235,323 133,623 - - 368,946
For the year ended 31 December 2017

in thousands of United States dollars) Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 3to & years Over 5 years Total
KCash and cash equivalents 80,513 - - - 80,513
lAccounts receivable 18,085 - - - 18,085
Cerivative financial instruments 2,619 907 - - 3,626
Other assets excluding prepayments’ 60,760 157,092 - - 217,852
[Total 161,977 157,999 - - 319,976

1 Prepayments are excluded from other assets in the analysis as they are nct a financial nstrument. Inciuded in the balance for years 5 to 3 is the discounting impact of indirect taxes receivable

amounting to US$12.7 million.

The following table outlines the expected maturity of the Group’s significant financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period

from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. As the amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, these
balances may not agree with the amounts disclosed in the balance sheet.

For the year ended 31 December 2018 _r

(in thousands of United States dollars) Less than 1 year 1to 3 years 3 to § years Over § years Total
Derivative financial instruments 462 28 - - 488
Other liabilities 807 1,789 - - 2,596
Trade and other payables' 133,519 - - - 133,519
Borrowings 28,400 42,600 - - 71,000
Total 163,188 44,415 - - 207,603 |




For the year ended 31 December 2017

{(in thousands of United States dollars} Less than 1 year 110 3 years 3o 5 years Over 5 years Total
Derivative financial instruments 481 - - - 481
Other liabilities 1,718 1,566 3472 - 6,753
Trade and other payables' 132,096 - - - 132,096
Borrowings 28,400 42,600 - - 71,000
Total 162,692 44,166 3,472 - 210,330

1 Trade and other payables exclude statutory liabilities in the form of income tax payable {including provistons made for unceriain ax positions).

Management considers that the Group has adequate current assets and forecast cash flow from operations to manage liquidity risks arising from settlement
of current liabilities and non-current liabilities.

Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong balance sheet and low gearing ratio to support its business
and provide financial flexibility in order to maximise shareholder value. In order to ensure a strong balance sheet and low gearing ratic, management
thoroughly evaluates all material projects and potential acquisitions, which are approved by the Executive Leadership Team before submission to the Board
for ultimate approval, where applicable.

33. Operating lease arrangements

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

{in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised in the income statement for the year 8,506 8,494
Total 8,506 8,494

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under nen-cancellable operating leases, which
fall due as follows:

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 Dacember 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Within one year 2,054 4,520
In the second to fifth years inclusive 4,861 3,488
After five years - -
Total 6,915 8,008

Operating lease payments relate mainly to rental of office space by regional business units of the Group and rental of Gensets at Buzwagi.

34. Commitments and contingencies
The Group is subject to various laws and regulations which, if not observed, could give rise to penalties. As at 31 December 2017, the Group has the
following commitments and/or contingencies:

a) Legal contingencies

As at 31 December 2018, the Group was a defendant in a number of lawsuits. The plaintiffs are claiming damages and interest thereon for the alleged loss
caused by the Group due to one or more of the following: unlawful eviction, termination of services andfor, non-payment for services, defamation, negligence
by act or omission in failing to provide a safe working environment, unpaid overtime, public holiday compensation and various other commercial/project
disputes. At present, Acacla considers the maijority of cases to be without merit and therefore the likelihood of any material unfavourable outcome is remole
and therefore no contingency is required.

b) Tax-related contingencies

The TRA has issued a number of tax assessments to the Group related to past taxation years from 2002-onwards. The Group believes that the majority of
these assessments are incorrect and has filed objections and appeals accordingly in an attempt to resolve these matters by means of discussions with the
TRA or through the Tanzanian appeals process. Overall, it is the current assessment that the relevant assessments and claims by the TRA are without merit.
The claims include a TRA assessment to the value of US$41.3 million for withholding tax on certain historic offshore dividend payments paid by Acacia
Mining plc to its shareholders in 2010 to 2013. Acacia is appealing this assessment on the substantive grounds that, as an English incorporated company, it
is not resident in Tanzania for taxation purposes. The appeal is currently pending at the Court of Appeal. In addition, the Company has raised certain tax
provisions amounting to US$300 million in aggregate, based on the potential impact of a comprehensive settlement of all outstanding tax disputes, including,
according to Barrick, historic tax claims, reflecting the key terms of the Framework announcements by Barrick and the GoT in October 2017. Refer to note 9
for further information.

c) Regulatory contingencies
In 2018, and particularly during the final quarter of the year, the operating environment became increasingly challenging for Acacia with criminal charges
brought by the GoT against three current Acacia employees and a former employee, three of whom continue to be held under non-bailable cffences.

On 10 October 2018, one of the Group's employees in Tanzania, a South African national, was charged by the Tanzanian Prevention and Combating of
Corruption Bureau (PCCB) with an offence under the Tanzanian Prevention and Combating of Corruption Act. The employee pleaded not guilty and was



granted bail. The charges related to the historical activities of a Land Task Force (LTF) conceived and agreed between the GoT and North Mara Gold Mine
Limited (NMGML) in 2012 to creale a transparent, safe, fair and inclusive process for valuing land that might be purchased by agreement around the North
Mara mine, and which operated between 2013 and 2015. The allegations made by the PCCB are denied and the charges are being defended.

On 17 October 2018 a current and a former employee of the Company’s Tanzanian businesses, together with three individual companies, were charged by
the PCCB with a number of different offences, including breaches of the Tanzanian Anti-Money Laundering Act. A total of 39 charges were brought, either
against the current and former employee and/or against one or more of the Company’s operating subsidiaries in Tanzania, Pangea Minerals Limited ("PML"),
Bulyanhutu Gold Mine Limited (“BGML") and North Mara Gold Mine Limited (“NMGML"), as well as a Canadian company, Explorations Minieres du Nord Ltd.
On 23 October 2018, a senior manager of one of the Company's Tanzanian businesses, a Tanzanian national, was also arrested and charged by the PCCB.
The senior manager was charged as an additienal accused to some (but not all) of the 39 criminal charges brought by the PCCB on 17 October. Each of the
companies and the two current employees and the former employee pleaded not guilty to all charges. The Company notes with concern that under
Tanzanian law, offences under the Anti-Money Laundering Act are not bailable, and, accordingly, the accused have not been released on bail. The majority
of the 39 charges and allegations brought by the PCCB appear 1o relate to the historical structuring and financing of PML, BGML and NMGML dating back
as far as 2008, prior to the creation of the Acacia Group. The charges are wide ranging and include: tax evasion; conspiracy; a charge under organised crime
iegistation; forgery, meney laundering and corruption. The great majority of the allegations in the criminal proceedings by the GaT relate to matters already
being considered in the arbitrations commenced by BGML and PML in July 2017 regarding their disputes with the GoT under their respective MDAs, which
are progressing towards a hearing and in which the GoT are fully participating. These allegations and charges against the group and current and former
employees are refuted and are being defended. Acacia considers the allegations to be without merit and that the likelihood of any material unfavourable
outcome is remote, and ho contingency has been made.

i addition, on 17 December 2018 the Company issued a news release noting media speculation claiming an investigation into the Company by the Sericus
Fraud Office (“SFO”). The Company confirmed that it was not aware that the SFO was investigating the Company, but that the Company had been in contact
with the SFQ about the allegations of corrupt activities which are the subject of criminal proceedings in Tanzania. This position remains unchanged. The
Company has provided information to the SFO and will continue to do so, but has not been nofified that the SFO has commenced a criminal investigation.

d) Purchase commitments
At 31 December 2018, the Group had purchase obligations for supplies and consumables of approximately US$34.6 million (2017: US$32.5 million).

e} Capital commitments
In addition to entering into various operational commitments in the normal course of business, the Group entered into contracts for capital expenditure of
approximately US$10.9 million in 2018 (2017: US$10.2 million).

35. Related party balances and transactions
The Group had the following related party balances and transactions during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. Related parties are
those entities owned or controlled by BGC, which is the ultimate controlling party of the Group.

Transactions with related parties are as follows:

a) Transactions

For the For the

year winled yoor ehdod

31 December 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars} 2018 2017
Provision of goods and services 70 a7 [
Purchase of goods and services (208} (1,373ﬂ
Dividend payments - (21,972)
Total (138) (23,248)

Provision and purchase of goods and services to/from related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions. Provision of services relates to cost
incurred by the Group and recharged 1o related parties. Purchase of goods and services relates to cost incurred by related parties and recharged to the
Group. Services purchased relate mainly to insurance, software licences and professicnal services including legal, audit and consulting charges. Goods

purchased relate mainly to consurnables and capital equipment.

b) Balances due from related parties

As at As at

31 December 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Placer Dome Technical Services 37 a7
Other 3 3
Total 40 40

The receivables are unsecured in nature and bear no interest. There are no provisions held against recaivables from BGC.



c) Balances due to related parties

As at As at

31 December 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017

Due to holding company:

Barrick Gold Corporation 13,781 14,558
Due to fellow subsidiaries:

BIBC - 5

Barrick Gold North America - 777

Barrick Administration Company 778 -

Cther 38 15

Total 14,597 15,355

The payables to Barrick arise mainly from purchase transactions noted above. The payables are unsecured and bear no interest.

d) Remuneration of key management personnel

Key management personne! include the members of the Board of Directors and the Execulive Leadership Team who receive remuneration. Compensation

for key management personnel (including Directors) was as follows:

Far the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

{in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Short-term employee benefits 7,159 6,756
Post-employment benefits 626 477
Share-based payments 19 1,057
Total' 7,804 8,290

1 Also refer to the Remuneration Report on page 87 for total remuneration received by each Director for the year ending 31 December 2018.

36. Prospecting licences

The Group holds exploration mineral rights in the United Republic of Tanzania. These rights are held in the forrn of prospecting ficences issued by the Ministry of
Energy and Minerals and are held either directly by the Group or indirectly pursuant to third-party agreements. The licences held by the Group as at 31 December

2018 are summarised in the following table.
Licences directly held by Acacia

Active prospecting licences Active prospecting licences
managed by Acacia not managed by Acacia
Number of Area in square Number of Area in square
(in thousands of United States dollars) licences kilometres licences kilometres
ABG Exploration Limited 19 102 1 1
North Mara Geid Mine Limited 13 69 - -
Nyanzaga Mining Company Limited - - 22 208
Pangea Mineral Limited 7 57 1 6
Sekenke Exploration Limited - - 2 28
Vulean Resources (Tanzania} Limited - - 3 21
Total 3s 228 29 264
Licences indirectly held by Acacia
Number of Area in square
in thousands of United States dollars) licences kilometres
Managed by Acacia - -
Mot managed by Acacia 6 27




37. Post-balance sheet events

a) Dividends

Acacia has a cash flow based dividend policy where we aim to pay a dividend of between 15-30% of our operational cash flow after sustaining capital and
capitalised development but before expansion capital and financing costs. As a result of the inability to export concentrates following the imposition of the
concentrate ban in 2017, the uncertainty around a resolution of the ongoing dispute between the Company and the GoT, and the current liquidity
requirements, the Board of Directors has not recommended a final dividend for 2018.

b) Update on Discussions between Barrick and GoT

On 20 February 2019 the Company noted further announcements by the GoT and by Barrick regarding their direct discussions, but has not yet received a
detailed proposal agreed in principle between Barrick and the GoT for a comprehensive resclution of Acacia’s disputes with the GoT. Acacia continues to
engage with Barrick to understand Barrick’s plans for the next steps in its direct discussions with the GoT. Any proposal received by Acacia in the future for a
comprehensive resolution of the Company’s disputes with the GoT that might be agreed in principle between Barrick and the GoT as a result of their direct
discussions will be subject to review by the Independent Commitiee of the Acacia Board of Direclors and, if recommended by the Independent Commiittee
and the Board, would be put to a sharsholder vote.

¢} North Mara Environmental Protection Order (EPQ}

Post year-end our North Mara mine received an Environmental Protection Order {(EPQ) from the National Environment Management Council (NEMC)
requiring payment of a fine of US$130,000 in relation to alleged breaches of environmental regulations in Tanzania. NEMC’s reported findings allege
discharges of a hazardous substance at the North Mara mine. The mine has not received any supporting reports, findings or testing data in relation to the
matters set out in the EPO.

On 8 March 2019 the GoT directed the North Mara mine to resolve an incident that had resulted in the spillage of water into the local environment. The
spillage resulted from a security incident in which sections of the pipe used to transport water from the polishing pond to the tailings storage facility (“TSF”)
were either vandalised or stolen. The incident led to the switching off of the pump used to transport water to the TSF, and the water level in the polishing
pond subsequently overfiowed. Following North Mara mine's remedial actions, the temporary overspill from the pond was stopped. North Mara mine
welcomed the support of the GoT on resolving the issue, and is working closely with the authorities to implement improvements te security measures around
the polishing pond in order to help prevent any reoccumence. The North Mara mine’s technical team continues to work with the GoT within an agreed
timeframe to address their concems regarding seepage from the TSF and has undertaken to manage all seepage through the use of additional pumps and
construction of other containment facilities to return any seepage to the TSF and ensure itis confined to the mine site. All seepage is contained on the site,
does not flow into the surrounding environment or present a risk of contamination to any public water source. Operations at the North Mara mine remain
unaffected.



PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

{in thousands of United States dollars) Notes 2018 2017
Corporate administration 3 {6,036) (6,925)
Share-hased payments (523) 4176
Exploraticn and evaluation costs (389) (11,185)
Other income/{charges) 4 17,471 (12,811)
Impairment charges - (463,944)
Finance income 5 146 -
Finance expense 5 (11) (13)
Profit/(Loss) before taxation 10,659 (490,702}
Income tax & - -
Net Profit/(Loss) for the year 10,659 {480,702}

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

{in thousands of United States dollars} 2018 2017
Net profit{loss) for the year 10,659 (490,702)
Other comprehensive income for the year - -
Total comprehensive profit/{loss) for the year 10,659 {490,702)

The notes on pages 168 to 178 are an integral part of these financial statements.




PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

As at As at
31 December 31 Decembar
(in thousands of United States dollars) Notes 2018 2017
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 8 - -
Investment in subsidiaries g 860,624 860,624
Non-current receivables 18 795,203 795,202
1,655,827 1,665,826
Current assets
Other receivables 10 118,302 110,584
Cash and cash equivalents 11 7,366 1,107
125,668 111,691
Total assets 1,781,495 1,767,517
Equity and liabilities
Share capital and share premium 12 920,199 929,199
Other reserves 510,503 499,844
Total equity 1,439,702 1,429,043
Non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities 383 1,041
383 1.041
Current liabilities
Provisions - 170
Other current liabilities 15 341,410 337,263
341,410 337,433
Total liabilities 341,793 338,474
Total equity and liabilities 1,781,495 1,767 517

The notes on pages 168 to 178 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The finangial statements on pages 164 to 178 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors en 27 March 2019 and were signed on its behalf:

PETER GELETA

INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE QFFICER



PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Cther
distributable Share Accumulated
(in thousands of United States dollars) Notes Share capitaf Share premium reserves option reserve losses Total equity
Balance at 31 December 2017 62,097 867,102 1,368,774 3,953 (347,564) 1,954,362
Loss for the year - - - - (490,702) (490,702)
Dividends to shareholders 14 - - - - (34,385) (34,385)
Share options - - - (232) - (232)
Balance at 31 December 2018 62,097 867,102 1,368,774 3 (872,651) 1,429,043
Profit for the year - - - - 10,659 10,658
Dividends to shareholders 14 - - - - - -
Share options - - - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2018 62,097 867,102 1,368,774 3,721 (861,992) 1,439,702

The notes on pages 168 to 178 are an integral part of these financial statements.




PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 Dacember 31 December
(in thousands of United States dollars) Notes 2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit/(loss) for the year 10,659 (490,702)
Adjustments for: .
Depreciation and amortisation 8 32 30
impairment charges - 463,944
Gain from sale of mineral royalty (45,000} -
Finance income 5 (146} -
Finance expense 5 L 13
Cash settlement of share options - (259)
Working capital adjustments 7 (4,227) 60,062
Other 7 {19) (106)
Cash generated by operations before interest and tax (38,690) 32,982
Finance Income 5 146 -
Finance expense 5 1 (13)
Net cash generated by operating activities (38,555) 32,969
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 8 (32) -
Proceeds from sale of mineral royalty 45,000 -
Net cash used in investing activities 44,968 -
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid 14 - (34,385)
Net cash used in financing activities - (34,385)
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and equivalents 6,413 {1,416)
Net foreign exchange difference (154) 378
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1,107 2,145
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 7,366 1,907

The notes on pages 168 to 178 are an integral part of these financial statements.



NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate information
Acacia Mining plc, formerly African Barrick Gold plc, (the “Company”) was incorporated on 12 January 2010 and re-registered as a public limited company on
12 March 2010 under the Companies Act 2008. It is registered and domiciled in the United Kingdom with registered number 7123187,

On 24 March 2010 the Company’s shares were admitted to the Official List of the United Kingdom Listing Authority (“UKLA") and to trading on the main
market of the London Stock Exchange, hereafter referred to as the Initial Public Offering (*IPQ”). The address of its registered office is 5th Floor, 1 Cavendish
Place, Londen, W1G 0QF, United Kingdom.

Barrick Gold Corporation (“BGC”) currently owns approximately 63.9% of the shares of the Company and is the ultimate controlling party of the Group. The
financial statements of BGC can be obtained from www.barrick.com

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 27 March 2019. The
primary activity of the Company is as holding company for the Acacia Mining Group of companies.

2. Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

a} Basis of preparation

The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
("IFRS"), IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicableto companies reporting under IFRS.
The financial statements are prepared on a going concem basis.

The Company financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention basis, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and
financiat liabilities (including derivative instrurments) at fair value through profit or loss.

The Company financial statements are presented in United States dollars (“US%") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand US dollars except
when otherwise indicated.

Where a change in the presentational format between the prior year and current year financial statements has been made during the period, comparative
figures have been restated accordingly. No presentaticnal changes were made in the current year.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the Company financial statements, are disclosed in Note 2d.

The impact of the seasonality on operations is not considered as significant on the Company financial information.

In assessing the Company's going concern status the Directors have taken into account the impact of the concentrate export ban on ongoing subsidiary
operations as well as the following factors and assumptions: the current cash position; the latest mine plans, the short-term gold price, and Acacia Group’s
capital expenditure and financing plans. In additicn, the Directors have considered a range of scenarios around the various potential outcomes for the
resolution of the current operating challenges in Tanzania in the circumstances, including the cash fiow impact of an extended concentrate export ban,; and
the potential impacts of the timing and final terms of any comprehensive settlerent which might be approved by the Company which refiect key terms of the
framework announcements made by Barrick and the GoT in October 2017, including the lifting of the concentrate export ban and staged payments of
US$300 million relating to historical tax matters. In addition the Directors have assumed that the Company will not be required to settle its current outstanding
borrowing obligations and will repay these in accordance with the current terms of the relevant agreements. After making appropriate enquiries and
considering the uncertainties described above, the Directors consider that it is appropriate to adopt the going concem basis in preparing the Company
financial information however have concluded that the combinaticn of the above circumstances represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concem. The Company financial information does not include any adjustments that would result if the
Company was unable to continue as a going concern should the assumptions referred to above prove not to be correct.

b) New and amended standards adopted by the Company
The following amendments to standards are applicable and were adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial year beginning
1 January 2018:

+ |FRS 9 —"Financial instruments”. IFRS 9 replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement with a single model that has initially only two classification categories: amortised cost and fair value. Effective 1 January 2018. The
adoption of the new standard did not have a significant impact on the Group.

+ IFRS 15 —“Revenue from contracts with customers”. This standard is
a single, comprehensive revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers to achieve greater consistency in the recognition and presentation of
revenue. Revenue is recognised based on the satisfaction of performance obligations, which occurs when control of good or service transfers to a
customer. Effective 1 January 2018. The adoption of the new standard did not have a significant impact on the Group.

+ Amendments to IFRS 2 — “Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions™. The amendments made to AASB 2 in July 2016
clarify the measurement basis for cash-setled share-based payments and the accounting for modifications that change an award from cash-settled to
equity-settled. Effective 1 January 2018. The standard did not have a significant impact on the Group.

« Amendments to IFRS 10 — “Consolidated financial statements” and IAS 28,"Investments in associates and joint ventures” on sale or contribution of
assets. The |1ASB has issued this amendment to eliminate the inconsistency between IFRS 10 and |AS 28. The |ASB decided to defer the application
date of this amendment, until such time this is not applicable. The amendment did not have a significant impact on the Group.



¢) New and amended standards and interpretations

not yet adopted

The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or
ater 1 January 2019:

* |FRS 16 —“Leases”. IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17, “Leases”, IFRIC 4, “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, SIC 15, “Operating
Leases — Incentives” and SIC 27, “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease”. IFRS 16 will affect primarily the
accounting by lessees and will result in the recognition of almost all leases on balance sheet. The standard removes the current distinction between
operating and financing leases and requires recognition of an asset (the right to use the leased item} and a financial liability to pay rentals for virtually all
lease contracts. Effective January 2019. Management has reviewed the impact of the new standard in order to put all frameworks and systems in place.
Based on initial investigation, the standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group, due to majority of our existing contracts being
classified as short-term leases with contracts expiring within 12 months from the effective date as well as the majority of contracts relating to service
agreements or the performance obligations based on variable terms and thus not resulting in a right of use asset. The group intends to apply the
simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption. Right-of-use assets for property leases will be
measured on transition as if the new rules had always been applied. All other right-of-use assets will be measured at the amount of the lease liability on
adoption {adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease expenses).

d) Significant judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Many of the amounts included in the parent company financial statements require management to make judgements and/or estimates. These judgements
and estimates are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and best knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances, but
actual results may differ from the amounts included in the parent company financial statements. Information about such judgements and estimation is
included in the accounting policies and/or notes to the financial statements, and the key areas are summarised below.

Areas of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the parent company
financial statements include:

Estimates
For material estimates, sensitivities were included in the notes to the Company financial statements.

*  Whether to recognise a provision for accounts receivable — Notes 2h and 10;

« Recognition of deferred income tax assets, amounts recorded for uncertain tax positions, the measurement of income tax expense and indirect taxes —
Notes 2k and 6; and

« Review of property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries, the determination of whether these assets are impaired and the measurement
of impairment charges or reversals — Notes 2f, 8 and 9.

e) Foreign currency translation

The Company’s transactions are denominated in a number of different currencies (primarily US dollars and UK pounds sterling}. The Company has liabilities
that are primarily denominated in US dollars. The US dollar is the Company’s functional currency, as well as the Company’s presentation currency.
Transactions in currencies other than the US dollar are translated at the exchange rates as at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in cumrencies other than the US dollar are translated to US dollars at year-end exchange rates. Al differences that arise are recorded in the
income statement. Non-monetary assets measured at historical cost in a currency other than US dollars are translated using the exchange rates at the date
of the initial transactions. Where non-monetary assets are measured at fair value in a currency other than US dollars they are translated into US dollars using
the exchange rates on the date when the fair value was determined.

The following exchange rates to the US dollar have been applied:

Average Average

As at Year ended As at Year ended

31D b 310 b 31 December | 31 Decemnber

2018 2018 2017 2017

UK pound 0.78 0.75 0.74 0.78
(US$:6BP)

f) Investment in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities to which the Company is exposed, or has the rights to variable returns from its involvement and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power. Control exists when the Company has existing rights and the ability to direct relevant activities, exposure or rights to variable returns from
its involvement and the ability to use its power to affect the amount of returns.

At each reporting date, an assessment is made to determine whether there are any indicators of impairment. Where an indicator of impairment exists, a
formal estimate of the recoverable amount of the investment in a subsidiary is made, which is considered to be the higher of the fair value less costs to
dispose and the value in use, Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the investment in an arm's length transaction
between knowledgeable and willing parties. If the carrying amount of an investment exceeds the recoverable amount, a provision is recorded in the income
statement to reflect the investment at the recoverable amount. Where an impairment charge has previously been recognised, an assessment is made at the
&nd of each reporting period whether there is any indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication
exists, an estimate of the recoverable amount is made. An impairment loss is reversed to the income statement to the extent that the increased carrying
value of the investment in subsidiary does not exceed the original carrying value,



g) Share capital
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly atiributable to the issue of new shares or oplions are shown in equity as a deduction from
the proceeds.

h} Financial instruments
From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through QCI or through profit or loss); and those to be measured at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at fair value. For the purposes of the balance sheet, cash and cash equivalents include cash,
and money market funds. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents censist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value, and are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. They are
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the batance sheet date, which are classified as non-current assets.

Loans and receivables comprise other receivables and cash and cash equivalents at the balance sheet date.

From 1 January 2018, the group assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

Financial liabilities
Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

i) Finance income and finance expense

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Company reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and
continues unwinding the discount as interest income.

j} Other income/charges

Other incomefcharges comprises one-off credits or costs relating to non-routine transactions inciuded in profit and loss. It includes other credits and charges
that, individually or in aggregate, if of a similar type, are of a nature or size that requires explanation in order to provide additional insight into the underlying
business performance.

k) Taxes

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
racognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current income tax

Cumrent income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected tc be paid to the tax autherities. The tax rates and tax laws used to cormnpute the
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Indirect tax

Indirect tax assets and liabilities for the current and pricr periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in indirect tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions or receivables where appropriate on the basis of amounts expecied to be paid to or received from the tax authorities. The tax rates and
tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. If the receivable is expected to be
received in more than 12 months from year-end, the receivable is discounted and held at its present value. Amounts expected to be payable or receivable in
more than 12 months are classified as non-current assets or liabilities in the balance sheet, as appropriate.

1) Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company's shareholders.



3. Corporate administration

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Salaries 2,000 3,739
Other employee benefits 2,641 3,217
Directors’ fees 1,051 1,182
Professional and consultancy fees 5,253 6,202
Foreign exchange loss/{gain) 153 {303)
Travel and administration 913 994
Net management fees' (7,669) {10.850)
Depreciation and amortisation 32 30
Audit fees 506 447
Other 1,156 2,267
Total 6,036 6,925

1 Net management fees are faes charged by the parent company to the subsidiaries.

Details of Directors' remuneration ¢an be found in the Remuneration Report on pages 87 to 101. Details of the auditors’ remuneration can be found in note

10 of the consolidated financial statements.

Average number of employees

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Administration 8 12
Total average headcount 8 12
4. Other charges/{income)
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 Nacomhar 31 December
(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Other expenses
Restructuring costs 5 71
Legal costs 27,389 11,209
Project development costs - 1,485
Other 135 859
Total 27,529 14,264
Other income
Profit from the sale of mineral royalty (45,000) -
Royaity income - {1.453)
Other - -
Total {45,000) (1,453)
Total other charges (17,471 12,811




5. Finance income and expenses
Finance income

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Bank charges 11 13
Total 11 13

For the period For the period

ended 31 ended 31

{in thousands of United States dollars) December 2018 | December 2017

Interest on time deposits 146 -

Total 146 -
6. Income tax

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 Decamber 31 December

{in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017

Corporation taxes - _

Total : - _

The statutory income tax rate in the United Kingdom is 19% for 2018 (2017: 20%). The tax on the Company’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as follows:

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 Decoember 31 Decembar

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Profit/(loss) before tax 10,659 490,702
Tax calculated at statutory tax rates {2,025) 98,140
Tax effects of:

Tax profits/{losses) for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised 2,025 (98,140)
Tax charge - -

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the tax losses amounting to US$137.2 million as at 31 December 2018 {2017: US$142.6 million),
as there is not sufficient certainty over future profits.



7. Cash flow - other items

Operating cash flows — other items
Adjustments for working capital items:

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
{in thousands of Uniled States dollars} 2018 2017
Other receivables (7,720} (42,205)
Other current liabilities 4,154 107,215
Other non-current liabilities (658) (4,948)
Total (4,227} 60,062
For the For the
year anded year ended
31 December 31 December
(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Adjustments for non-cash income statement items:
Foreign exchange (gains)losses 3) 75
Exchange (gain)loss on revaluation of cash balances 154 (378)
Provisions movement (170) 170
Share option expense - 27
Total (19) (106)
8. Property, plant and equipment
For the year ended 31 December 2018 Furniture and
{in thousands of United States dollars) equipment Total
At 1 January 2018, net of accumulated depreciation
Additions 32 32
Depreciation (32} (32)
At 31 December 2018 - -
At 1 January 2018
Cost 767 767
Accumulated depreciation (767) (767)
Net carrying amount - -
At 31 December 2018, net of accumulated depreciation
Cost 767 767
Accumulated depreciation (767) (767)

Net carrying amount




For the year ended 31 December 2017 Furniture and

{(in thousands of United States dollars) equipment Total

At 1 January 2017, net of accumulated depreciation 30 30

Depreciation {30) (30)
At 31 December 2017 - -

At 1 January 2017

Cost 767 767
Accumulated depreciaticn (737) {737}

Net carrying amount 30 30

At 31 December 2017, net of accumulated depreciation

Cost 767 767

Accumulated depreciation (767) (767}

Net carrying amount - -

9. Investment in subsidiaries

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Opening balance 860,624 1,324,568
Impairment ' - (463,944}
Closing balance 860,624 860,624

1 The impairment in 2017 is based on the difference between the carrying amount of the individual investment and the relevant segmental recoverable amourt as calculated in the Group's year-end
carrying value assessment. Refer to Note 6 in the consolidated financia! statements for further details. .

The subsidiaries in which investments are held as at 31 December 2018 are as follows:

Company Principal activity Country of incorporation Eaulty lmezroe‘ls; Eauty |mg(r;a1$;
BUK Holdco Ltd? Holding Company UK 100% 100%
1816962 Ontario Inc Helding Company Canada 100% 100%
Acacia Mining Exploration Kenya Ltd  |Exploration Kenya 1% 1%

2 BUK Holdco Ltd is exempt from the requiremants of the Companies Act relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue of s448A of Companies Act 2006.

10. Other receivables

As at As at

31 December 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) Note 2018 2017
Indirect tax receivables 1,014 1,029
Advance payments 301 359
Other receivables 5,458 1,664
Due from related parties 19 111,529 107,532
Total 118,302 110,584

At 31 December 2018, no other receivables were either past due or impaired. In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Company performs a risk
analysis.



11. Cash and cash equivalents

As at As at

31 December 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Cash at bank and on hand 720 1,107
Money market funds 6,646 —
Total 7.366 1,107

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Company,

and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

12. Share capital and share premium

Share capital Share capital’ Share premium
(in thousands of United States dollars) Number' £:000 US§000 US$000
At 1 January 2017 410,085,489 41,009 62,097 867,102
At 31 December 2017 410,085,499 41,009 62,097 867,102
At 31 December 2018 410,085,499 41,009 62,097 867,102

1 All authorised share capital were issued and are fully paid shares.

13. Share-based compensation

Share options are granted to Executive Directors and to selected employees. The exercise price of the granted options is determined by the Remuneration
Committee before the grant of an option provided that this price cannot be less than the average of the middle-market quotation of such shares (as derived
from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List) for the three dealing days immediately preceding the date of grant. All options outstanding at the end of
the year ending 31 December 2017 expired in November 2018. The vesting period of the options was four years, with an exercise period of seven years form
the date of grant.

A new class of zero cost options was granted to the Executive Leadership in April 2017 however these are expected to be cash settled and have therefore
been included as part of the Employee share-based liability.

Movements in the number of options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices in pence are as follows:

Average Average
exerclse price exercise price
in pence in pence
per share Options peut sharg Qptivng
For the year ended 31 December 2018 2018 2017 2017
At 1 January 497 54,261 222 1,020,314
Forfeited - - - -
Expired (497) (54,261) 518 (124,745)
Exercised - - 160 (841,308)
At 31 December - - 497 54,261

14. Dividends paid
The final dividend declared in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of US$34.4 million {USB8.4 cents per share) was paid during 2017.

Acacia has a cash flow based dividend policy where we aim to pay a dividend of between 15-30% of our operational cash flow after sustaining capital and
capitalised development but before expansion capital and financing costs. As a result of the continuing inability to export concentrates following the
impaosition of the concentrate export ban in 2017, the uncertainty around a resolution of the ongoing dispute between the Company and the GoT, and current
liquidity requirements, the Board of Directors has not recommended any dividends for 2018.

15. Other current liabilities

Asg at As at

31 December 31 December

{in thousands of United States dollars} Note 2018 2017
Trade and other payables 1,452 6,215
Accrued expenses and taxes 6,499 ' 3962
Payables to related parties 19 333,459 327,086
Total 341,410 337,263




16. Financial assets and liabilities
a) Financial assets

Carrying value

as at Carrying value Fair value Fair value

31 December as at 31 as at 31 asatd

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 | December 2017 | December 2018 | December 2017

Cash and cash equivaients 7,366 1,107 7,366 1,107

Other receivables 118,302 110,584 118,302 110,584

Non-current receivables' 795,203 795,202 795,203 795,202

Total financial assets 920,871 906,893 920,871 906,893

Less: Current financiat assets

Cash and cash equivailents {7,366} (1,107) {7,366) (1,107)
Other receivables (118,302) {110,584) (118,302) (110,584}

Total non-current portion of receivables 795,203 795,202 795,203 795,202

1 Relaled party loans are interest-free and have nc fixed repayment terms.

The fair value of financial assets equals their carrying amount as they were repayable on demand.

b} Financial liabilities

Revolving credit facility

The Group has a revolving credit facility in place for a maximum aggregate amount of US$150 miltion, which was negotiated on 24 November 2010 with a
syndicate of commercial banks, led by Citbank. The facility has been provided to service the general corporate needs of the Group and to fund potential
acquisitions. All provisions contained in the credit facility documentation have been negotiated on normal commercial and customary terms for such finance
arrangements and when drawn the spread over LIBOR will be 350 basis points. The term of the facility was successfully extended to 2019 at a maximum
aggregate amount of US$150 million. At 31 December 2018, none of the funds were drawn under the facility. The shares of all significant subsidiaries have
been pledged as security for the loan. Costs associated with the revolving credit facility have been included in finance expenses.

17. Financial risk management
The Company has exposure to the following risks through its commercial and financial operations:

a) credit risk; and
b) liquidity risk.

This note presents information about the Company's exposure to each of the above risks and the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for
assessing and managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout the financial statements.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company's risk management framework.

The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls,
and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Company's activities. The Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

a) Credit risk
Credit risk Is the risk that a third party might fail to fulfil its performance obligations under the terms of a financial instrument. For cash and cash equivalents
and other receivables, credit risk represents the carrying amount on the balance sheet.

Credit risk arises from loans to two subsidiaries, receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks. The Company's financial assets are with
counterparties whom the Company considers to have an appropriate credit rating. Location of credit risk is determined by physical location of the bank
branch, customer or counterparty. The maximum allowable term of maturity for any individual security is 12 months. Investment counterparties must have a
credit rating of at least “Baa1” or better by Moody's Investor Services or “BBB+" by Standard and Poor's. No more than 25% of the aggregate market value of
the investment portfolio is maintained in any one country, with the exception of the United States of America, United Kingdom and Barbados, or in any one
industry group. Investments are held mainly in United States dollars and cash and cash equivalents in other foreign currencies are maintained for operational
requirements.

Company policies are aimed at minimising losses as a result of a counterparty’s failure to honour its obligations. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is
influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each counterparty. The Company's financial assets are with counterparties whom the Company
considers to have an appropriate credit rating. Maximum exposure to credit risk at each reporting date is the camrying value of each class of financial assets
in note 16. The Company does not hold collateral as security for any receivables. The Company does not grade the credit quality of receivables.

b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to mest its financial obligaticns as they fall due. The Company monitors its risk of a shortage of
funds using projected cash flows and by monitoring the maturity of both its financial assets and liabilities.

The following table outlines the expected maturity of the Company’s significant financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. As the amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, these
balances may not agree with the amounts disclosed in the balance sheel.



For the year ended 31 December 2018 Less than

(in thousands of United States dollars) 1 year 1to 3years 3to 5years Over 5 years Total
Other non-current liabilities - 383 - - 383
Other current liabilities 341,410 - - - 341,410
Total 341,410 383 - - 341,793
For the year ended 31 December 2017 Less than

(in thousands of United States dollars) 1 year 110 3 years 310 5 years Over 5 years Total
Other non-current liabilities - 1,041 - - 1,041
Other current liabilities 337,263 - — - 337,263
Total 337,263 1,041 — - 338,304

Management considers that the Company has adequate current assets and forecast cash flow from operations to manage liquidity rigks arising from

settlement of current liabilities and non-current liabilities,

Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong balance sheet and low gearing ratio to support its
business and provide financial flexibility in order to maximise shareholder value. In order to ensure a strong balance sheet and low gearing ratio,

management thoroughly evaluates all material projects and potential acquisitions and approves them at its Executive commitiee before submission fo the

Board for ultimate approval, where applicable.

18. Operating lease arrangements

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 Decembar 31 December

{in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised in income for the period 419 429
Total 419 429

At the balance sheet date, the Company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which

fall due as follows:

As at As at

31 December 31 December

{in thousands of United States dolkars} 2018 2017
Within one year 449 421
In the second to fifth years inclusive 225 632
After five years - -
Total 674 1,053




19. Related party balances and transactions
The Company had the following related party balances and transactions during the year ended 31 December 2018, Related parties are those entities owned
or controlied by Barrick, which is the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

Transactions with related parties are as follows:
a) Transactions

For the year For the year

ended ended

31 December 31 December

(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Management fees 7,669 10,850
Provision of goods and services 4,176 11,211
Purchase of goods and services (1,565) (1,894)
Dividends paid - (21,972}
Total 10,280 {1,805}

Management fees relate to an allocation of cost incurred based on time spent by management for the benefit of the related party; a 5% mark-up is applied to

these costs. Provision and purchase of goods and services to/from related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions. Provision of services
relates to costs incurred by the Company and recharged to related parties with no mark-up. Purchase of goods and services relates to costs incurred by

related parties and recharged to the Company with no mark-up. Services purchased relate mainly to insurance, software licences and professional services

including legal, audit and consulting charges.

b) Balances due from related parties

As at As at
31 Decembar 31 December
(in thousands of United States dollars) 2018 2017
Due from holding company:
Barrick Gold Corporation - -
Due from subsidiaries:
Bulyanhulu Gold Mine Ltd 34,073 17,352
Pangea Minerals Ltd 624 452
North Mara Gold Mine Ltd 5,201 3,227
Acacia Mining SA (Pty) Ltd 12,889 34,737
ABG Exploration Limited - -
Acacia Mining Exploration Kenya Ltd 57,312 50,606
Other 1,430 1,158
Total 111,529 107,532

The receivables from related parties arise mainly from the provision of goods and services. The receivables are unsecured in nature and bear no interest.

There are no provisions held against receivables from related parties.

¢) Balances due to related parties

As at As at

31 December 31 December

(in thousands of United States doliars) 2018 2017
Due to holding company:

Barrick Gold Corporation 1,254 1,046

Due to subsidiaries:

ABG Expleoration Limited 173 17

Acacla Mining (Barbados) Corp Ltd 329,532 326,023

Other 2,500 326,023

Total 333,459 327,086

The payables to Acacia Mining {Barbados) Corp Ltd arise mainly from operational funding transactions, noted above. Payables to Acacia Mining (Barbados)

Corp Ltd are interest free and have no fixed repayment terms.




d) Balances due from related parties (funding in nature)

As at As at

31 December 31 December

in thousands of United States dollars} 2018 2017
Due to fellow subsidiaries:

BUK Holdco Ltd 772,707 772,706

BUK East Africa Limited 22,496 22,496

[Total 795,203 795,202

Amounts due from BUK Holdco Ltd and BUK East Africa Limited are interest free and have no fixed repayment terms but are treated as iong-term loans as

there is no intention to recall the loan within 12 months.

20. Post balance sheet events
a) Dividends

Acacia has a cash flow based dividend policy where we aim to pay a dividend of between 15-30% of our operational cash flow after sustaining capital and
capitalised development but before expansion capital and financing costs. As a result of the inability to export concentrates following the imposition of the
concentrate ban in 2017, the uncertainty around a resolution of the ongoing dispute between the Company and the GoT, and the current liquidity

requirements, the Board of Directors has not recommended a final dividend for 2018.

b) Update on Discussions between Barrick and the GoT

On 20 February 2019 the Company noted further announcements by the GoT and by Barrick regarding their direct discussions, but has not yet received a
detailed proposal agreed in principle between Barrick and the GoT for a comprehensive resolution of Acacia’s disputes with the GoT. Acacia continues to

engage with Barrick to understand Barrick’s plans for the next steps in its direct discussions with the GoT. Any proposal received by Acacia in the future for a

comprehensive resolution of the Company’s disputes with the GoT that might be agreed in principle between Barrick and the GoT as a result of their direct

discussions will be subject to review by the Independent Committee of the Acacia Board of Directors.




GLOSSARY OF TERMS

The following definitions and terms are used throughout this Annual Report. In addition, specific terms and definitions relating to mineral
reserves and resources can be found on page 107.

lAcacia or the Company

IAcacia Mining plc, a company incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 and registered in England and
Wales with registered number 7123187

iAcacia Group or the Group

means the Acacia corporate group of companies, including Acacia Mining plc, the UK holding and parent
lcompany of the group; Bulyanhutu Gold Mine Limited, the owner and operator of the Bulyanhulu rmine; North
Mara Geld Mine Limited, the owner and operator of the North Mara mine; and Pangea Minerals Limited, the
owner and operator of the Buzwagi mine. Further information as to the status and role of each member of the
lAcacia corporate group is provided in Note 1 to the financial statements. In addition to the term “Acacia”, in this
Report “we”, “us” and “our” are also used to refer to the Company and its subsidiaries in general or to those
who work for them. These terms are also used where no useful purpose is served by identifying the particular
Entity or entities. The companies in which Acacia Mining pl¢ has a direct (or indirect) interest are separate
ntities.

IAGM annual general meeting

IAISC has the meaning given to it under non-IFRS measures on page 182

Articles the articles of association of the Company

IAssay la chemical test performed on a sample of ores or minerals to determine the amount of valuable metals
contained

AU jgold

IAverage head grade

laverage ore grade fed into the mill, expressed in grammes per metric tonne

IAverage realised gold price per ounce
lsold

has the meaning given to it under non-IFRS measures on page 182

Barrick

Barrick Gold Corporation, a company existing under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada

Barrick Group

Barrick and its subsidiary undertakings

Board or Board of Directors

the Board of Directors of Acacia

ICash cost per ounce sold

has the meaning given to it under non-IFRS measures on page 182

[Gash cost per tonne milled

lhas the meaning given to it under non-IFRS measures on page 182

ICIL icarbon in leach, a method of recovering gold and silver, in which a slurry of gold/silver bearing ore, carbon and
cyanide are mixed together. The cyanide dissolves the goid, which is subsequently absorbed by the activated
lcarbon whose base is usually ground coconut shells

ICIM the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum

ICode of Conduct Ihcacia’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

ICompanies Act 2006 the Companies Act 2006 of England and Wales, as amended

IConcentrate la fine, powdery product of the milling process containing an economic percentage of gold, silver and copper

IContained ounces

represents total ounces in a mineral reserve before reduction to account for ounces not able to be recovered by
the applicable metallurgical process

ICo-product la secondary metal or mineral product recovered in the milling process such as copper and silver

ICREST the computerised settlement system operated by Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited to facilitate the transfer of title
to shares in uncertificated form

ICrushing breaking of ore from the size delivered from the mine into smaller and more uniform fragments to be then fed to

igrinding mills or to a leach pad




SR

lcorporate social responsibility

Cu

copper

Development

hvork carried out for the purpose of opening up a mineral deposit. In 2n underground mine this includes shaft
lsinking, crosscutting, drifting and raising. In an open pit mine, development includes the removal of overburden

Directors

’the Directors of Acacia for the reporting pericd, details of whom are set out on pages 72 and 73 of this Annual
Report

Disclosure Guidance and
[Transparency Rules

fthe disclesure guidance and transparency rules made by the FCA under Part VI of FSMA

Dollar or US$ or §

United States dollars

Doré doré bullion is an impure alloy of gold and silver and is generally the final preduct of mining and processing; the
doré bullion will be transported to be refined o high purity metal

Drift harizontal underground opening that follows along the length of a vein or rock formation as opposed to a
Frosscul which crosses the rock formation

Drilling: core drilling metheod that uses a retating barrel and an annular-shaped, diamond-impregnated rock-cutting bit to
produce cylindrical rock ceres and lift such cores to the surface, where they may be collected, examined and

ssayed
Dritling: in-fill Eny method of drilling intervals between existing holes, used to provide greater geological detail and to help

stablish reserve estimates

Drilling: reverse circulation

drilling method that uses a rotating cutting bit circulation within a double-walled drill pipe and produces rock
chips rather than core. Air or water is circulated down to the bit between the inner and outer wall of the drill
pipe. The chips are forced to the surface through the centre of the drill pipe and are collected, examined and

lassayed

EBITDA

has the meaning given to it under non-IFRS measures on page 182

IELT or Executive Leadership Team or
[Senior Management

fthe individuals listed on page 74

Executive Director

fthe executive director of the Company, being as at year-end Peter Geleta

Exploration

prospecting, sampling, mapping, diamond drilling and other work involved in searching for ore

Financial Conduct Authority or FCA

llhe Financial Conduct Authority of the United Kingdom

Flotation

L milling process in which valuable mineral particles are induced to become attached to bubbles and float as
thers sink

Free cash flow

has the meaning given to it under non-IFRS measures on page 182

FSMA |lhe UK Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended)
Grade |lhe amount of metal in each tonne of ore, expressed as troy ounces per tonne or grammes per tonne for
precious metals and as a percentage for most other metals
it gramme per metric tonne
AS International Accounting Standards
||FRS International Financial Reporting Standards as adopled for use in the European Union
LPO lAcacia’s initial public offering on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange
SO International Organization for Standardisation
koz Ithousand ounces
KPls key performance indicators




lthousand metric tonnes

Kt

LIBOR IThe British Bankers' Association Interest Settliement Rate for the relevant curency and period displayed on the
Iappropn’ate page of the Reuters’ screen

Listing Rules —I;ne rules relating to admission to the Official List made in accordance with saction 73A{2) of FSMA

London Stock Exchange or LSE

London Stock Exchange plc

Long-hole stoping

la method of underground mining involving the drilling of holes up to 30 metres or longer inlo an ore bearing
zone and then blasting a slice of rock which falls into an open space. The broken rock is extracted and the
resulting open chamber may or may not be filled with supporting material

lMajority shareholder

Barrick

o

la mineral development agreement

la plant in which ore is treated and metals are recovered or prepared for smelting; also a revolving drum used
ffor the grinding of ores in preparation for treatment

|Moz million ounces

LM imillion metric tonnes

NGOs nen-governmental organisations

NI 43-101 ICanadian National Instrument 43-101

Non-Executive Directors

e non-executive directors of the Company, being as at year-end Rachel English, Andre Falzon, Michael
Kenyon, Steve Lucas and Stephen Galbraith

jOfficial List }lhe Official List of the Financial Conduct Authority
Open pit Ia mine where the minerals are mined entirely from the surface. Also referred to as open-cut or open-cast mine
Operating cash flow per share has the meaning given to it under non-IFRS measures on page 182

Ordinary Shares

KOrdinary Shares of 10 pence each in the capital of the Company

Ore rock, generally containing metallic or non-metallic minerals, which can be mined and processed at a profit
Ore body ra sufficiently large amount of ore that can be mined economically
Overburden Ls the material that lies above the area of economic interest, such as soil and ancillary material, that is removed
during surface mining
IOxide ore mineralised rock in which some of the original minerals have been oxidised. Oxidation tends to make the ore
more amenable to cyanide solutions so that minute particles of gold will be readily dissolved
0z |lroy ounce {31.1035g)
Reclamation e process by which lands disturbed as a result of mining activity are modified to support beneficial land use.
Reclamation activity may include the removal of buildings, equipment, machinery and cther physical remnants
f mining, closure of tailings storage faciltties, leach pads and other mine features, and contouring, covering
nd re-vegetation of waste rock and other disturbed areas
ecovery rate term used in process metallurgy to indicate the proportion of valuable material physically recovered in the
rocessing of ore. Itis generally stated as a percentage of the material recovered compared to the total
aterial originally present
L‘\’eﬁning }tﬁe final stage of metal production in which impurities are removed from the molten metal

IRelationship Agreement

—Lhe relationship agreement between Barrick and Acacia

ROM

run-of-mine, a term used loosely to describe ore of average grade




Isc

[Sustainable Communities

Services Agreement

the services agreement between Barrick and Acacia

[Shaf‘t

la vertical or inclined excavation in rock for the purpose of providing access to an ore bedy. Usually equipped
lwith a hoist at the top, which lowers and raises a conveyance for handling workers and materials

[Shareholders

holders of Ordinary Shares

pot or spot price

the purchase price of a commedity at the current price, normally at a discount to the long-term confract price

[Stripping

removal of overburden or waste rock overlying an ore body in preparation for mining by open pit methods

Tailings

the material that remains after all economically and technically recoverable precious metals have been
removed from the ore during processing

Tailings storage facility

la natural or man-made confined area suitable for depositing the material that remains after the treatment of ore

TANESCO ITanzanian Electric Supply Company Limited
TRA Tanzanian Revenue Authority

TRIFR [Total Reportable Injury Frequency Rate
[TZS or TSH [Tanzanian shilling

United Kingdom or UK

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northemn Ireland

UK Corporate Governance Code

the UK Corporate Governance Code issued by the UK Financial Reporting Council

United States or US ithe United States of America, its territories and possessions, any state of the United States of America and the
District of Columbia

VAT value-added tax

VBAS iillage benefit agreements

VBIAS vilage benefit implementation agreements

\Voluntary Principles

imeans the United Nations Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights

Non-IFRS Measures (Unaudited)

Acacia has identified certain measures in this report that are not measures defined under IFRS. Non-IFRS financial measures disclosed by management are
provided as additional information to investors in order to provide them with an altemative methed for assessing Acacia’s financial condition and operating
results, and reflects more relevant measures for the industry in which Acacia operates. These measures are not in accordance with, or a substitute for, IFRS,
and may be different from or inconsistent with non-IFRS financial measures used by other companies. These measures are explained further below.

Net average realised gold price per ounce scld is a non-IFRS financial measure which excludes from gold revenue:

+ Unrealised gains and lesses on non-hedge derivative contracts; and
» Export duties

It also includes realised gains and losses on gold hedge confracts reported as part of cost of sales.

Net average realised gold price per ounce sold have been calculated as follows:

Year ended 31
(US$'000) December
2ns 2017
Gokd revenus 660,029 744,294
Realised gold hedge gains (losses) 1,784 2,693
Net goid revenue 661,813 746,987
Gokd sold {ounces) 520,380 592,861
Net average realised gold price (US$/ounce) 1,272 1,260




Cash cost per ounce sold is 2 non-IFRS financial measure. Cash costs include all costs absorbed into inventery, as well as royalties, and production taxes,
and exclude capitalised production stripping costs, inventory purchase accounting adjustments, unrealised gains/losses from nen-hedge cumrency and
commodity contracts, depreciation and amortisation and corporate social responsibility charges. Cash cost is calculated net of co-product revenue. Cash
cost per ounce sold is calculated by dividing the aggregate of these costs by total ounces sold.

The presentation of these statistics in this manner allows Acacia to monitor and manage those factors that impact production costs on a monthly basis. Cash
costs and cash cost per ounce sold are calculated on a consistent basis for the periods presented.

The table below provides a reconciliation between cost of sales and total cash cost to calculate the cash cost per ounce sold.

Year ended 31
{US$'000) December
2018 2017
Tetal cost of sales 444 374 458 447
Deduct: depreciation and amortisation’ (88.497) (106,201)
Deduct realised losses on gold hedges 1,784 2,693
Deduct Co-product revenue (3,760) (7.221)
Cash cost 353,901 347,718
Total ounces sokd 520,380 592,861
Cash cost per ounce sold (US$/ounce) 680 587

1 Depreciation and amortisation includes the depreciation component of the cost of inventory sold

Allin sustaining cost (AISC) is a non-IFRS financial measure. The measure is in accordance with the World Gold Council's guidance issued in June 2013.
is calculated by taking cash cost per ounce scld and adding corporate administration costs, share-based payments, reclamation and remediation costs for
operating mines, corporate social responsibility expenses, mine exploration and study costs, realised gains and/or losses on operating hedges, capitalised
stripping and underground development costs and sustaining capital expenditure. This is then divided by the total ounces sold. A reconciliation between cash
cost per ounce sold and AISC for the key business segments is presented below:

{US$/oz soid) Year ended 31 December 2018
Bulyanhulu | North Mara Buzwagi Group®
Cash cost per ounce sold 599 591 906 680
Corporate administration 44 36 32 46
Share-based payments {11) - (1 -
Rehabilitation 28 7 7 9
CSR expenses 50 11 10 17
Capitalised development - 143 - 3]
Sustaining capital 76 78 23 62
Total AISC 786 866 977 905
KUS$/oz sold) Year ended 31 Decembaer 2017
Bulyanhulu | North Mara |  Buzwagi Group?
ICash cost per ounce sold 840 498 594 587
ICorporate administration 59 26 35 45
[Share-based payments (6 @ @ {14)
Rehakiltation 20 11 5 kb
ICSR expenses 10 11 8 14
[Capitaised development 367 188 - 170
[Sustaining capital 83 71 27 62
[Total AISC 1,373 303 667 875

1 Cash cost per ounce solg and AISC per ounce sold for the quarter are non-meaningful due to the impact of negligible sales ounces on the costs relating to reprocessed tailings.

"The Group total includes a cost of US$20/0z of unaliocated corporate related costs in Q4 2016 (Q4 2017: us$19/0z)

AISC is intended to provide additional information on the total sustaining cost for each ounce sold, taking into account expenditure incurred in addition to
direct mining costs and selling costs.

Cash cost per tonne milled is a non-!FRS financial measure, Cash costs include all costs absorbed into inventory, as well as royaliies, co-product credits,
and production taxes, and exclude capitalised production stripping costs, inventory purchase accounting adjustments, unrealised gains/losses from non-
hedge currency and commodity contracts, depreciation and amortisation and corporate social responsibility charges. Cash cost is calculated net of co-
product revenue. Cash cost per tonne milled is calculated by dividing the aggregate of these costs by total tonnes milled.



EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial measure. Acacia calculates EBITDA as net profit or loss for the period excluding:

+ Income tax expense;

s Finance expense;

« Finance income;

« Depreciation and amortisation; and

« Impairment charges of goodwill and other long-lived assets.

EBITDA is intended to provide additional information to investors and analysts. It does not have any standardised meaning prescribed by IFRS and should not
be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS. EBITDA excludes the impact of cash costs of

financing activities and taxes, and the effects of changes in operating working capital balances, and therefore is not necessarily indicative of operating profit or
cash flow from operations as determined under IFRS. Cther companies may caiculate EBITDA differently.

A reconciliation between net profit for the period and EBITDA is presented below:

Year anded 31
‘&SS'DOO) December
2018 2017
Net profit{loss) for the period 58,866 (707,394)
Pius income tax expense/ (credit) 37,905 {2,272}
Plus depreciation and amortisation’ 88,497 106,201
Plus impairment charges® 28,877 850,182
Plus finance expense 13,200 12,407
Less finance income (1,421} (1,944)
EBITDA 225924 257,180
Adjusted for:
Year ended 31
(US$’000) December
2018 2017
Restructuring cost - 34,988
Gain on sale of mineral royalty (45,000) -
One-off legal settiements 3,030 5,083
Discounting of indirect taxes {578} 13,276
Adjusted EBITDA 183,376 310,527

1 Depreciation and amortisation includes the depreciabion component of the ¢ost of inventory suki.
2 Refer to note § of the conselidated financial infermation.

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial measure. It is calculated by excluding one-off costs or credits relating to non-routine transactions from EBITDA. It
exciudes other credits and charges that, individually or in aggregate, if of a similar type, are of a nature or size that requires explanation in order to provide
additional insight into the underlying business performance. EBITDA is adjusted for items (a} to (e} as contained in the reconciliation to adjusted net eamings
below.

EBIT is a non-IFRS financial measure and reflects EBITDA adjusted for depreciation and amortisation and goodwill impairment charges.

Adjusted net earnings is a non-IFRS financial measure. It is calculated by excluding certain costs or credits relating to nen-routine transactions from net profit
attributed to owners of the parent. It includes other credit and charges that, individually or in aggregate, if of a similar type, are of a nature or size that
requires exptanation in order to provide additionai insight into the underlying business performance.

Adjusted net eamings and adjusted earnings per share have been calculated as follows:

T Year ended 31
(US$'000) December
2018 2017
Net {loss)/eamings 58.866| (707.394)
Adjusted for:
Gain on sale of mineral royalty (45,000) -
Restructuring cost - 34,9688
Discounting of indirect taxes (578) 13,276
One-off legal settiernents 3,030 5,083
Impairment chargeswrite-offs' 28,877 850,182
Provision for uncertain tax positions - 172,000
Tax impact of the above 909) | (221917)
Adjusted net eamings 44,286 146,218

1 Refer to note 6 of the consolidated financial information .



Adjusted net earnings per share is a non-IFRS financial measure and is calculated by dividing adjusted net eamings by the weighted average number of
Ordinary Shares in issue.
Free cash flow is a non-IFRS measure and represents the change in cash and cash equivalents in a given period.

Net cash is a non-IFRS measure. It is calculated by deducting total borrowings from cash and cash equivaients.

Mining statistical information
The following describes certain line items used in the Acacia Group’s discussion of key performance indicators:

« Open pit material mined — measures in tonnes the total amount of open pit ore and waste mined.

« Underground cre tonnes hoisted — measures in tonnes the total amount of underground ore mined and hoisted.

+ Underground ore tonnes trammed — measures in tonnes the total amount of underground ore mined and trammed.
¢ Total tonnes mined includes open pit material plus underground ore tonnes hoisted.

« Sftrip ratio — measures the ratio of waste to cre for open pit material mined.

« Ore milled — measures in tonnes the amount of ore material processed through the mill.

* Head grade — measures the metal content of mined ore going into a mill for processing.

» Milled recovery — measures the proportion of valuable metal physically recovered in the processing of ore. It is generally stated as a percentage of the
metal recovered compared to the total metal originally present.

Basis of preparation for the reporting of tax data
This basis of preparation supports the reporting of tax data contained on page 57 of this Annual Report. Generally, the references to "Tax" in this context
mean any amount of money required to be paid to, or repaid by, a Government.

In overview, the key information presented as regards Tax is as follows:

Taxes borne
These are taxes that the Acacia Group is obliged to pay to a Government on its own behalf, or taxes that it is obliged to pay to a third party and that
canicannot be recovered frem a Government. The main taxes that we have included in this category are:

Government royalties
These comprise payments made to Governments in the form of royalties. Typically these tend to become payable, and are paid, in the year to which they
relate. These taxes form part of our operating costs.

Corporate income tax
This comprises any tax on the business calculated on the basis of its profits, income or capital gains. Typically, these taxes would be reflected in corporate
income tax retums made to Governments.

Customs duties
These comprise all customs/excisefimport and export duties. Typically, these taxes tend to bacome payable and are paid to Governments at the point where
goods are imported and exported from territories, These taxes form part of our operating and capital incurred costs.

Employer payroll taxes

These comprise payroll and employer taxes payable as a result of a company's capacity as an employer. Typically, these taxes would be reflected in payroll
tax returns made to Governments and tend to be payable, and are paid, on a regular basis {often monthly) throughout the year shortly after the submission of
the return. These taxes form part of our operating costs.

Environmental taxes
These comprise levies or other payments to Governments relating to environmental policy. Typically, these taxes tend to be payable on an annual basis.
These taxes are also included in our gperating costs.

Indiract taxes
These comprise VAT and other fuel levies that arise on the purchase of goods and services and are paid to third parties, to be refunded by Governments.
Typically, these taxes would form part of a sales tax return made to Governments. Refunds received are included in the taxes refunded category.

Stamp duty
This comprises taxes that arise on transfers of assets or capital. Typically, these taxes would be reflected in stamp duty returns made to Governments and
tend to become payable, and are paid, to Governments shortly after capital or assets are fransferred.

Taxes collected
These are taxes that a company is obliged to collect from others and pay to Government. The main taxes that we have included in this category are:

Employee payroll taxes

These comprise payroll and employee taxes withheld from employee remuneration and paid to Governments, i.e. taxes collected by Acacia and remitted to
Govemments on behalf of employees under amangements such as PAYE schemes. Typically, these taxes would be reflected in payroll tax returns made to
Governments and tend to be payable, and are paid, on a regular basis (often menthly} throughout the year, shortly after submission of the return.

Withholding taxes collected from suppliers

These comprise taxes that are required to be withheld in advance on payments made to suppliers. Typically, these taxes would be reflected in income tax
returns made to Governments and tend to be payable, and are paid, on a regular basis (often monthly) throughout the year shortly after the submission of
the retum.

Taxes refunded
These are taxes that are refunded by Governments to Acacia, and mostly comprise the following:

Indirect taxes (mainly VAT and fuel levies)
Typically, indirect taxes would tend to become repayable and are repaid by Governments regularly (often quarterly} throughout the year, shortly after the
submission of relevant sales tax retums. Alsc included are other refunds received.



SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

All enquiries concerning shareholdings, including noftification of change of address or dividend payments, should be made to Acacia’s registrars,
Computershare Investor Services ple, whose contact details are as follows:

Computershare Investor Services plc
The Pavilions

Bridgwater Road

Bristol BS99 622

United Kingdomt

Helpline number; +44 (0} 370 707 1895

Computershare online enquiry service
Computershare provides a range of services through its online portal, Investor Centre, which can be accessed free of charge at www.investorcentre.ca.uk

This service enables sharehclders to check details of their shareholgings or dividends, downlpad forms to notify changes in personal details and access
other relevant information.

Payment of dividends

As a result of the inability to export concentrates following the impesition of the concentrate ban in 2017, the uncertainty around a reselution cf the ongoing
dispute between the Company and the GoT, and the eurrent liquidity requirements, no interim dividend was paid during 2018 and the Board has not
recommended the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Electronic communications
Acacia has obtained shareholders’ consent to send and supply documents and information to shareholders in electronic form and via Acacia's website, in
accordance with provisions contained in Acacia’s Articles of Association.

Increased use of electronic communications will deliver additional savings fo Acacia in terms of adminisiration, printing and postage cosis, as weli as
speeding up the provision of information to shareholders. The reduced use of paper will also have environmental benefits.

Shareholder security
Sharsholders should be cautious of any unsalicited financial advice, offers to buy shares at a discount or any other unselicited advice regarding investment
matters. More detailed information is provided at www.fca .org.uk/consumers

Financial calendar

Financial year-end 31 December 2018
Preliminary results for 2018 11 February 2019
Quarterly results Q1 2019 25 April 2019
Annual General Meeting 23 May 2019
Half year report 2019 July 2019
Quarterly resufts Q3 2018 October 2019
Production results Q4 2019 January 2020

Forward-looking statements

This report includes “forward-looking statements” that express or imply expectations of future events or results. Forward-looking statements are slatements that
are not historical facts. These statements include, without limitation, financial projections and estimates and their underlying assumptions, statements regarding
plans, objectives and expectations with respect to future production, operations, costs, projects, and statements regarding future performance. Forward-looking

statements are generally identified by the words “plans,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “believes,” ‘intends,” “estimates” and other similar expressions.

All forward-looking staterments invelve a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond the contrel of Acacia, which could cause
actual results and developments to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, the forward-leoking staterments contained in this report. Factors that
could cause or contribute to differences between the actual results, performance and achievements of Acacia include, but are not limited 1o, changes or
developments in political, economic or business conditions or national or local legisiation or regulation in countries in which Acacia conducts — or may in the
future conduct — business, industry trends, competition, fluctuations in the spot and forward price of gold or certain other commodity prices (such as copper and
diesel}, currency fiuctuations (including the US dollar, South African rand, Kenyan shilling and Tanzanian shilling exchange rates), Acacia’s ability to
successfully integrate acquisitions, Acacia’s ability to recover its reserves or develop new reserves, including its ability to convert its resources into reserves
and its mineral potential into resources or reserves, and {o process its mineral reserves successfully and in a timely manner, Acacia’s ability to complete land
acquisitions required to support its mining activities, operational or technical difficulties which may ocour in the context of mining activities, delays and technical
challenges associated with the completion of projects, risk of trespass, theft and vandalism, changes in Acacia‘s business strategy including, the ongaing
implementation of operationat reviews, as well as risks and hazards associated with the business of mineral exploration, development, mining and production
and risks and factors affecting the gold mining industry in general. Although Acacia’s management believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-
looking statements are reasonable, Acacia cannot give assurances thal such statements will prove to be correct. Accordingly, investors should not place
reliance on forward-looking statements contained in this report.

Any forward-looking statements in this report only reflect information available at the time of preparation. Save as required under the Market Abuse Regulation
or otherwise under applicabie law, Acacia explicitly disclaims any obfigation or undertaking publicly to update or ravise any forward-looking statements fn this
report, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Nothing in this report shouid be construed as a profit forecast or estimate and no
statement made should be interpreted to mean that Acacia‘s profits or earnings per share for any future period will necessarily match or exceed the historical
published profits or eamings per share of Acacia.
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